

Official Journal of the Malaysian Medical Association

The Medical Journal of Malaysia

Volume: 80

Issue No: 1

January 2025



MJM Official Journal of the Malaysian Medical Association

Volume 80 Number 1 January 2025

EDITORIAL BOARD

International Advisory Board Laureate Professor Dr Nicholas Talley Assoc Prof Dr Mahesh Choolani

Advisor Prof Datuk Dr Lekhraj Rampal

Editor in Chief Prof Victor Hoe Chee Wai

Handling Editor Prof Dr Chew Keng Sheng

> *Editors* **Prof Dr Shatriah Ismail**

Prof Dato' Dr NKS Tharmaseelan

Dr Liew Boon Seng

Prof Dr Andee Dzulkarnaen

Prof Dr Subapriya Suppiah

Dr Navin Kumar Devaraj

Dr Ravindran Vashu Prof Dr Irfan Mohamad

Assoc Prof Dr Sanjiv Rampal Lekhraj Rampal

ISSN 0300-5283

Editorial Manager Ms Mahaletchumy Alagappan

PP 2121/01/2013 (031329)

MCI (P) 124/1/91

The Medical Journal of Malaysia is published six times a year. MJM is published bimonthly ie. January, March, May, July, September and November. All articles which are published, including editorials, letters and book reviews represent the opinion of the authors and are not necessarily those of the

Malaysian Medical Association unless otherwise expressed.

Copyright reserved © 2025 Malaysian Medical Association

Advertisement Rates:

Enquiries to be directed to the Secretariat.

Subscription Rates: Price per copy is RM100.00 or RM360.00 per annum, for all subscribers.

Secretariat Address:

Malaysian Medical Association 4th Floor, MMA House, 124, Jalan Pahang, 53000 Kuala Lumpur. Tel: (03) 4042 0617, 4041 8972, 4041 1375 Fax: (03) 4041 8187 E-mail: info@mma.org.my / mjm@mma.org.my Website: www.mma.org.my

Printed by: Digital Perspective Sdn. Bhd. 42-1, Level 1, Plaza Sinar, Taman Sri Sinar, 51200 Kuala Lumpur. Tel: 03-6272 3767 Email: dpsbkl@gmail.com

The Medical Journal of Malaysia -MJJM INSTRUCTION TO AUTHORS

The Medical Journal of Malaysia (MJM) welcomes articles of interest on all aspects of medicine in the form of original papers, review articles, short communications, continuing medical education, case reports, commentaries and letter to Editor. Articles are accepted for publication on condition that they are contributed solely to *The Medical Journal of Malaysia*.

NOTE : MJM is published bimonthly ie. January, March, May, July, September and November.

REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL MANUSCRIPTS

Please ensure that your submission to MJM conforms to the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals.

Neither the Editorial Board nor the Publishers accept responsibility for the views and statements of authors expressed in their contributions.

The Editorial Board further reserves the right to reject papers read before a society. To avoid delays in publication, authors are advised to adhere closely to the instructions given below.

MANUSCRIPTS

Manuscripts should be submitted in English (British English). Manuscripts should be submitted online through *MJM Editorial Manager*, http://www.editorialmanager.com/mjm.

Instructions for registration and submission are found on the website. Authors will be able to monitor the progress of their manuscript at all times via the *MJM Editorial Manager*. For authors and reviewers encountering problems with the system, an online Users' Guide and FAQs can be accessed via the "Help" option on the taskbar of the login screen.

MJM charges a one-time, non-refundable Article Processing Charge (APC) upon submission. Waiver of the APC applies only to members of the editorial board, and authors whose articles are invited by the editor. In addition, recipients of the MJM Reviewer Recognition Award from the previous year may enjoy a waiver of the APC for the next calendar year (e.g. recipients of MJM Reviewer Recognition Award 2022 will enjoy waiver of APC for articles submitted between January and December 2023).

MJM Member: RM500 Non Member: RM800 Overseas: USD200

MJM Case Report Member: RM400 Non Member: RM500

Preparing your manuscript

The MJM Article Processing Charge is a non-refundable administrative fee. Payment of the APC does not guarantee acceptance of the manuscript. Submitted articles will only be sent for reviews once the MJM APC has been successful completed.

All submissions must be accompanied by a completed **Copyright Assignment Form**, **Copyright Transfer Form and Conflict of Interest Form** duly signed by all authors. Forms can be download from MJM website at https://www.e-mjm.org/

Manuscript text should be submitted as Microsoft Word documents. Tables and flowcharts should be submitted as Microsoft Word documents. Images should be submitted as separate JPEG files (minimum resolution of 300 dpi).

PEER REVIEW PROCESS

All submissions must include at least two (2) names of individuals who are especially qualified to review the work. All manuscripts submitted will be reviewed by the Editor incharge before they are send for peer review. Manuscripts that are submitted to MJM undergo a double-blinded peer review and are managed online. Proposed reviewers must not be involved in the work presented, nor affiliated with the same institution(s) as any of the authors or have any potential conflicts of interests in reviewing the manuscript. The selection of reviewers is the prerogative of the Editors of MJM.

ELIGIBILITY AS AN AUTHOR

MJM follows the recommendation of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) for eligibility to be consider as an author for submitted papers. The ICMJE recommends that authorship be based on the following four (4) criteria:

- recommends that authorship be based on the following four (4) criteria: 1 Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- 2 Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3 Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- 4 Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

TYPES OF PAPERS

Original Articles:

Original Articles are reports on findings from original unpublished research. Preference for publications will be given to high quality original research that make significant contribution to medicine. Original articles shall consist of a structured Abstract and the Main Text. The word count for the structured abstract should not exceed 500 words. The main text of the articles should not exceed 4000 words, tables/illustrations/figures/images up to five (5) and references up to 40. Manuscript describing original research should conform to the IMRAD format, more details are given below.

Original articles of cross-sectional and cohort design should follow the corresponding STROBE check-lists; clinical trials should follow the CONSORT check-list.

Review Articles:

Review Articles are solicited articles or systematic reviews. *MJM* solicits review articles from Malaysian experts to provide a clear, up-to-date account of a topic of interest to medical practice in Malaysia or on topics related to their area of expertise. Unsolicited reviews will also be considered, however, authors are encouraged to submit systematic reviews rather than narrative reviews. Review articles shall consist of a structured Abstract and the Main Text. The word count for the structured abstract should not exceed 500 words. Systematic Review are papers that presents exhaustive, critical assessments of the published literature on relevant topics in medicine. Systematic reviews should be prepared in strict compliance with MOOSE or PRISMA quidelines, or other relevant quidelines for systematic reviews.

Short Communications:

Shorts communication are short research articles of important preliminary observations, findings that extends previously published research, data that does not warrant publication as a full paper, small-scale clinical studies, and clinical audits. Short communications should not exceed 1,500 words and shall consist of a Summary and the Main Text. The summary should be limited to 100 words and provided immediately after the title page. The number of tables/illustrations/figures/images should be limited to three (3) and the number of references to ten (10).

Continuing Medical Education (CME) Articles:

A CME article is a critical analysis of a topic of current medical interest. The article should include the clinical question or issue and its importance for general medical practice, specialty practice, or public health. It shall consist of a Summary and the Main Text. The summary should be limited to 500 words and provided immediately after the title page Upon acceptance of selected articles, the authors will be requested to provide five multiple-choice questions, each with five true/false responses, based on the article. For guideline, please refer to: Sivalingam N, Rampal L. Writing Articles on Continuing Medical Education for Medical Journals. Med J Malaysia. 2021 Mar;76(2):119-124.

Case Reports:

Papers on case reports (one to five cases) must follow these rules: Case reports should not exceed 2,000 words; with a maximum of two (2) tables; three (3) photographs; and up to ten (10) references. It shall consist of a Summary and the Main Text. The summary should be limited to 250 words and provided immediately after the title page. Having a unique lesson in the diagnosis, pathology or management of the case is more valuable than mere finding of a rare entity. Being able to report the outcome and length of survival of a rare problem is more valuable than merely describing what treatment was rendered at the time of diagnosis. There should be no more than seven (7) authors.

Please note that all Case Reports will be published in the new MJM Case Reports Journal (www.mjmcasereports.org).

Commentaries:

Commentaries will usually be invited articles that comment on articles published in the same issue of the *MJM*. However, unsolicited commentaries on issues relevant to medicine in Malaysia are welcomed. They should not exceed 2,000 words. They maybe unstructured but should be concise. When presenting a point of view, it should be supported with the relevant references where necessary.

Letters to Editor:

Letters to Editors are responses to items published in *MJM* or to communicate a very important message that is time sensitive and cannot wait for the full process of peer review. Letters that include statements of statistics, facts, research, or theories should include only up to three (3) references. Letters that are personal attacks on an author will not be considered for publication. Such correspondence must not exceed 1,500 words.

Editorials:

These are articles written by the editor or editorial team concerning the MJM or about issues relevant to the journal.

STRUCTURE OF PAPERS

Title Page:

The title page should state the brief title of the paper, full name(s) of the author(s) (with the surname or last name bolded), degrees (limited to one degree or diploma), affiliation(s), and corresponding author's address. All the authors' affiliations shall be provided after the authors' names. Indicate the affiliations with a superscript number at the end of the author's degrees and at the start of the name of the affiliation. If the author is affiliated to more than one (1) institution, a comma should be used to separate the number for the said affiliation.

Do provide preferred abbreviated author names for indexing purpose, e.g. L Rampal (for Lekhraj Rampal), BS Liew (for Liew Boon Seng), B Abdullah (for Baharudin Abdullah), Hoe VC (for Victor Hoe Chee Wai).

Please indicate the corresponding author and provide the affiliation, full postal address and email.

The Medical Journal of Malaysia

Articles describing Original Research should consist of the following sections (IMRAD format): Abstract, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, Acknowledgment and References. Each section should begin on a fresh page. Scientific names, foreign words and Greek symbols should be in italic.

Abstract and Key Words:

A structured abstract is required for Original and Review Articles. It should be limited to 500 words and provided immediately after the title page. Below the abstract provide and identify three (3) to 10 key words or short phrases that will assist indexers in cross-indexing your article. Use terms from the medical subject headings (MeSH) list from Index Medicus for the key words where possible. Key words are not required for Short Communications, CME articles, Case Reports, Commentaries and Letter to Editors.

Introduction:

Clearly state the purpose of the article. Summarise the rationale for the study or observation. Give only strictly pertinent references, and do not review the subject extensively.

Materials and Methods:

Describe your selection of the observational or experimental subjects (patients or experimental animals, including controls) clearly, identify the methods, apparatus (manufacturer's name and address in parenthesis), and procedures in sufficient detail to allow other workers to reproduce the results. Give references to established methods, including statistical methods; provide references and brief descriptions of methods that have been published but are not well-known; describe new or substantially modified methods, give reasons for using them and evaluate their limitations.

Identify precisely all drugs and chemicals used, including generic name(s), dosage(s) and route(s) of administration. Do not use patients' names, initials or hospital numbers. Include numbers of observation and the statistical significance of the findings when appropriate.

When appropriate, particularly in the case of clinical trials, state clearly that the experimental design has received the approval of the relevant ethical committee.

Results:

Present your results in logical sequence in the text, tables and illustrations. Do not repeat in the text all the data in the tables or illustrations, or both: emphasise or summarise only important observations in the text.

Discussion:

Emphasise the new and important aspects of the study and conclusions that follow from them. Do not repeat in detail data given in the Results section. Include in the Discussion the implications of the findings and their limitations and relate the observations to other relevant studies.

Conclusion:

Link the conclusions with the goals of the study but avoid unqualified statements and conclusions not completely supported by your data. Avoid claiming priority and alluding to work that has not been completed. State new hypotheses when warranted, but clearly label them as such. Recommendations, when appropriate, may be included.

Acknowledgements:

Acknowledgements of general support, grants, technical assistance, etc., should be indicated. Authors are responsible for obtaining the consent of those being acknowledged.

Referencing guide:

The Medical Journal of Malaysia, follows the Vancouver numbered referencing style. Citations to someone else's work in the text, should be indicated by the use of a number. In citing more than one article in the same sentence, you will need to include the citation number for each article. A hyphen should be used to link numbers which are inclusive, and a comma used where numbers are not consecutive. The following is an example where works 1.3,4,5.have been cited in the same place in the text.

Several effective drugs are available at fairly low cost for treating patients with hypertension and reducing the risk of its sequelae. $^{\tt 1.3.5}$

The list of all of the references that are cited in the article should be presented in a list labelled as 'References'. This reference list appears at the end of the paper. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of cited references and these should be verified by the author(s) against the original documents before the manuscript is submitted. It is important that the author should never place in the list of references a document that he or she has not seen. The Journals names should be abbreviated according to the style used in the Index Medicus. All authors when six or less should be listed; when seven or more list only the first six and add et al.

If you are citingthe author's name in your text, you must insert the citation number as well. Jewell BL (8) underlined that as focus in the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic shifts to the emergence of new variants of concern (VOC), characterising the differences between new variants and non-VOC lineages will become increasingly important for surveillance and maintaining the effectiveness of both public health and vaccination programme. If you are citing more than one author's name in your text and you want to cite author names in your text, use 'et al.' after the first author. Example: Rampal et al. (9) highlighted that the. disregard of the manuscript guidelines and instruction to authors of the journal you submit, is one of the common reasons for 'Rejection' of the article.

Example references Journals:

Standard Journal Article

Rampal L and Liew BS. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. Med J Malaysia 2020; 75(2): 95-7.

Rampal L, Liew BS, Choolani M, Ganasegeran K, Pramanick A, Vallibhakara SA, et al. Battling COVID-19 pandemic waves in six South-East Asian countries: A real-time consensus review. Med J Malaysia 2020; 75(6): 613-25. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in hypertension prevalence and progress in treatment and control from 1990 to 2019: a pooled analysis of 1201 population-representative studies with 104 million participants. Lancet 2021; 11; 398(10304): 957-80.

Books and Other Monographs:

Personal Author(s) Goodman NW, Edwards MB. 2014. Medical Writing: A Prescription for Clarity. 4 th Edition. Cambridge University Press.

Chapter in Book

McLarland D, Holland JC. Distress, adjustments, and anxiety disorders. In: Watson M, Kissane D, Editors. Management of clinical depression and anxiety. Oxford University Press; 2017: 1-22.

Corporate Author

World Health Organization, Geneva. 2019. WHO Study Group on Tobacco Product Regulation. Report on the scientific basis of tobacco product regulation: seventh report of a WHO study group. WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1015.

NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Rising rural body-mass index is the main driver of the global obesity epidemic in adults. Nature 2019; 569: 260–64.

World Health Organization. Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Situation Report 85, April 14, 2020. [cited April 2020] Accessed from: https://www.who.int/docs/defaultsource/ coronaviruse/situationreports/20200414-sitrep-85-covid-19.

Online articles

Webpage: Webpage are referenced with their URL and access date, and as much other information as is available. Cited date is important as webpage can be updated and URLs change. The "cited" should contain the month and year accessed.

Ministry of Health Malaysia. Press Release: Status of preparedness and response by the ministry of health in and event of outbreak of Ebola in Malaysia 2014 [cited Dec 2014]. Available from: http://www.moh.gov.my/english.php/database_stores/store_view_page/21/437.

Other Articles:

Newspaper Article

Panirchellvum V. 'No outdoor activities if weather too hot'. the Sun. 2016; March 18: 9(col. 1-3).

Magazine Article

Rampal L.World No Tobacco Day 2021 -Tobacco Control in Malaysia. Berita MMA. 2021; May: 21-22.

Tables:

All tables and figures should have a concise title and should not occupy more than one printed page. The title should concisely and clearly explain the content of the table or figure. They should be numbered consecutively with Roman numerals (e.g. Table I) and figures with Arabic numerals (e.g. Figure 1), and placed after the sections of the manuscript which they reflect, particularly the results which they describe on separate pages. Cite tables in the text in consecutive order. Indicate table footnotes with lower-case letters in superscript font. Place the information for the footnote beneath the body of the table. If a table will be submitted as a separate document, the filename should contain the surname of the first author and match its label in the manuscript (e.g., SMITH Table I). Vertical lines should not be used when constructing the tables. All tables and figures should also be sent in electronic format on submission of the manuscript as supplementary files through the journal management platform. Clinical Photographs should concent the mages should be submitted as separate JPEG files (minimum resolution of 300 dpi).

Photographs of Patients:

Proof of permission and/or consent from the patient or legal guardian must be submitted with the manuscript. A statement on this must be included as a footnote to the relevant photograph.

Colour reproduction:

Illustrations and diagrams are normally reproduced in black and white only. Colour reproductions can be included if so required and upon request by the authors. However, a nominal charge must be paid by the authors for this additional service; the charges to be determined as and when on a per article basis.

Abbreviations:

Use only standard abbreviations. The full-term for which an abbreviation stands should precede its first use in the abstract, article text, tables, and figures, unless it is a standard unit of measurement. Abbreviations shall not be used in the Title. Abbreviations should be kept to a minimum.

Formatting of text:

Numbers one to ten in the text are written out in words unless they are used as a unit of measurement, except in tables and figures. Use single hard-returns to separate paragraphs. Do not use tabs or indents to start a paragraph. Do not use the automated formatting of your software, such as hyphenation, endnotes, headers, or footers (especially for references). Submit the Manuscript in plain text only, removed all 'field codes' before submission. Do not include line numbers. Include only page number.

BEST PAPER AWARD

All original papers which are accepted for publication by the MJM, will be considered for the 'Best Paper Award' for the year of publication. No award will be made for any particular year if none of the submitted papers are judged to be of suitable quality.

CONTENTS

Original Articles

•	Exploring the role of quantitative electroencephalography in ischaemic stroke through spectral and topographic mapping Kok Leong Liew, Juen Kiem Tan, Ching Soong Khoo, Kai Yi Ng, Wilbert Chong, Yuet Teng Lew, Chee-Ming Ting, Hernando Ombao, Nursyazwana Zolkafli, Zhen Yang Lee, Hui Jan Tan	1
•	Determinants of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapse tuberculosis patients in selangor registered in National Tuberculosis Registry from year 2015 – 2019 Nur Adila Che Rameli, Siti Sara Yaacob, Nurhuda Ismail, Meram Mohammed Ali Azzanni, Harishah Talib	9
•	The ten-year cardiovascular disease risk prediction among primary healthcare workers using the office-based globorisk tool: A cross-sectional study Zazarida Zakiman, Aimi Nadira Mat Ruzlin, Xin Wee Chen, Rosnawati Muhamad Robat	17
•	Association of cognitive function impairment in patients with psoriasis: A single-centre study in Malaysia Kam Veng Chan, Dy-Win Low, Kian Keong Kong	25
•	Short-term outcome of hodgkin lymphoma patients and its prognostic factors in northeast peninsular Malaysia: A single centre experience Nurul Fatin Nabilah Ab Wahab, Hany Haqimi Wan Hanafi, Najib Majdi Yaacob, Abu Dzarr Abdullah, Azlan Husin	31
•	Empathy and listening style among occupational therapists in Malaysia Nurizzati Aznan, Mohd Suleiman Murad, Sharifah Najwa Zulkifli, Usep Abdulmatin	37
•	Prognostic factors of the survival of pancreatic cancer patients in peninsular Malaysia: A survival analysis Myat Moe Thwe Aung, Nyi Nyi Naing, Muhammad Radzi Abu Hassan, Wan Arfah Nadiah Wan Abdul Jamil, Huan-Keat Chan, Harafinova Harman Shah, San San Oo, Mohd Salami Ibrahim	43
•	Proportions and determinants of successful tuberculosis treatment among tuberculosis patients with comorbidity registered in National Tuberculosis Registry in Negeri Sembilan from year 2018-2023 Abdul Rahman Dashuki, Aimi Nadira Mat Ruzlin, Mohd 'Ammar Ihsan Ahmad Zamzuri, Chen Xin Wee	50
•	Predictors of acupuncture referral for chronic non-specific low back pain among medical practitioners in Malaysia Sim Sze Kiat, Md Mizanur Rahman, Wong Hon Foong	60
•	A decade of intracapsular cataract extraction: Clinical profile and visual outcomes at Hospital Melaka, Malaysia Nur Faizah Harun, Nurul Hafizah Mohd Norizan, Juliana Jalaluddin, Wan Hazabbah Wan Hitam	68
•	Effectiveness of a developed module in improving quality of life among breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy at Institut Kanser Negara Suhasinee Subramaniam, Sherina Mohd Sidik, Lekhraj Rampal, Kulanthayan K.C. Mani, Siti Irma Fadhilah, Ummavathy Periasamy	72
•	A cross-sectional study on the second victim experience and support at Sarawak General Hospital: A tertiary public hospital in Borneo Island, Malaysia	81

Alex Ren Jye Kim, Yoon Khee Hon, Catherina Guan, Wei Hong Lai, Mohamad Adam Bujang, Sharlyn Peter, Zubalqiah Zulkifli, Nur Azziatul Ain Mohd Arif, Shirin Hui Tan, Sing Yee Khoo, Priscilla Bartholomew, Josephine Senok

CONTENTS

•	Quantitative characterisation of carotid atherosclerotic plaque neovascularisation using contrast-enhanced ultrasound imaging: A feasibility study Miao Tian, Nasibah Mohamad, Xiaozhan Gao, Nur Hartini Mohd Taib	88
•	Prevalence and risk factors of myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19: A retrospective study Siti Nurul Azimah Mat Jusoh, Laily Noor Zuliaty Anuar, Sharifah Shafinaz Sh Abdullah, Huzairi Sani	96
Sy	stematic / Narrative Review Article	
•	Exploring musculoskeletal disorders in end-stage kidney disease: a systematic review Sourabh Sharma, Sanjiv Rampal, Ashish Jaiman, Sujana LS, Saravanamuttu MD, Aryaman Jaiman Lydia Kamaruzaman, Claudia A Lopes, Mohammad Arshad Ikram	102
Co	mmentary	
•	Recommendations for enhancing research outcomes and the efficacy of transcranial direct current stimulation in post-stroke motor rehabilitation for local settings	108

Acknowledgement

Sim Sze Kiat

111

Exploring the role of quantitative electroencephalography in ischaemic stroke through spectral and topographic mapping

Kok Leong Liew, MMed¹, Juen Kiem Tan, MMed^{1,2}, Ching Soong Khoo, FRCP^{1,2}, Kai Yi Ng, BCS³, Wilbert Chong, BCS³, Yuet Teng Lew, BCS³, Chee-Ming Ting, PhD³, Hernando Ombao, PhD⁴, Nursyazwana Zolkafli, MLT^{1,2}, Zhen Yang Lee, MD¹, Hui Jan Tan, FRCP^{1,2}

¹Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, National University of Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ²Hospital Canselor Tuanku Muhriz, Cheras, Kuala Lumpur, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ³School of Information Technology, Monash University, Selangor, Malaysia, ⁴Statistics Program, King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Saudi Arabia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Stroke is a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. While electroencephalography (EEG) offers valuable data on post-stroke brain activity, qualitative EEG assessments may be misinterpreted. Therefore, we examined the potential of quantitative EEG (qEEG) to identify key band frequencies that could serve as potential electrophysiological biomarkers in stroke patients.

Materials and Methods: A single-centre case-control study was conducted in which patients admitted with stroke and healthy controls were recruited with consent. EEG was performed within 48 hours of admission for stroke patients and during outpatient assessments for controls. The EEG signals were pre-processed, analysed for spectral power using MATLAB, and plotted as topoplots.

Results: A total of 194 participants were included and equally divided into patients with ischemic stroke and controls. The mean age of our study cohort was 55.11 years (SD±13.12), with a median National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) score of 6 (IQR 4-6) and lacunar stroke was the most common subtype (49.5%). Spectral analysis, with subsequent topographic brain mapping, highlighted clustering of important channels within the beta, alpha, and gamma bands.

Conclusion: qEEG analysis identified significant band frequencies of interest in post-stroke patients, suggesting a role as a diagnostic and prognostic tool. Topographic brain mapping provides a precise representation that can guide interventions and rehabilitation strategies. Future research should explore the use of machine learning for stroke detection and provide individualized treatment.

KEYWORDS:

Quantitative EEG, qEEG, stroke, spectral EEG, topography

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is a heterogeneous disease that is characterized by various vascular, hemodynamic, and systemic abnormalities. It represents the second-leading cause of death and the thirdleading cause of disability worldwide, according to the 2017 Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors Study (GBD).¹ Structural brain lesions caused by stroke disrupt brain activity and reorganize functional connectivity, both locally and remotely from the affected site.² Electroencephalogram (EEG) enables non-invasive and continuous assessment of brain activity, providing qualitative or quantitative analysis of brain activity following a stroke.³ Despite the current neurodiagnostic assessment of stroke with brain and neurovascular imaging, EEG may offer the advantage of assessing neural function and electrophysiological activity in real-time. Numerous studies have been published regarding the role of EEG in early diagnosis, outcome prediction, clinical management, seizure detection, and prognosis of stroke.^{4,5}

Both qualitative and quantitative EEG (qEEG) provides valuable insights into brain activity following a stroke. In qualitative assessment, EEG patterns are divided into five main frequency bands: delta (0.5- 4 Hz), theta (4-8 Hz), alpha (8–13 Hz), beta (13–30 Hz), and gamma (30–100 Hz). However, EEG data may be fraught with misinterpretation and inter-rater variability, resulting in erroneous conclusions.⁶ Although sparsely used, EEG spectral analysis quantifies the amount of rhythmic activity of different frequencies to objectively measure the power of specific frequency bands and their spatial distribution. qEEG analysis provides well-defined features from EEG data, such as spectral power (through topological distribution on the scalp surface) and coherence (as a metric of association between channels).^{7,8} Commonly used indices to express relative power in qEEG include the relative delta power (RDP) at 1–3 Hz, delta/alpha power ratio (DAR), and delta + theta/alpha + beta power ratio (DTABR)⁹ and the brain symmetry index (BSI), which is a visual interpretation that quantifies ischemic damage over each hemisphere with good reproducibility.^{10,11} These indices have been used to investigate the associations between spectral EEGs and outcomes (such as stroke severity) following stroke.12

Each channel and its corresponding dominant band power may indicate variations in deficit manifestation or correlate with stroke severity. For example, band power, such as heightened beta band over the occipital region and alpha activity, are generally linked to visual performance and certain forms of attention, respectively. In this regard, the identification of the commonly affected band frequencies

This article was accepted: 27 September 2024 Corresponding Author: Hui Jan Tan Email: tanhuijan@ukm.edu.my

may guide supportive therapy in the future. Therefore, this study aimed to identify the potential electrophysiological biomarkers in stroke patients based on the EEG spectral content. Specifically, the observed EEG band power differences between stroke patients and those without stroke, in addition to identifying the brain regions and frequency bands that expressed the largest discrepancy between both groups.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This single-centre case-control study was conducted in Hospital Canselor Tuanku Muhriz, the National University of Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, from October 2021 to May 2023 with the approval from the local Ethics and Research Board (FF-2021-436). Patients admitted with a diagnosis of ischaemic stroke were recruited using convenience sampling. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to recruitment. The inclusion criteria were those age \geq 18 years, hospitalized with a diagnosis of ischemic stroke according to the Oxfordshire classification within 14 days of admission. Exclusion criteria were stroke mimics, such as overt infections or metabolic derangements, transient ischemic attack, neurodegenerative diseases, delirium, traumatic brain injury, previous history of neurosurgery, underlying psychiatric disorders, epilepsy, and brain tumours. The control group consisted of an equal number of participants but was not completely age- and sexmatched, in view of the difficulty in acquiring adequate participants. The participants for the control group were healthy patients receiving outpatient treatment without prior episodes of stroke or a history of epilepsy.

Clinicopathological information of each participant was collected using a data collection sheet and included sociodemographic information (e.g., age and sex), clinical history, type of stroke, risk factors, and stroke severity. To quantify the severity of stroke, we used the National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS), a quantitative assessment tool to measure deficits following a stroke that can be completed within ten minutes. It is a fifteen-item examination with a rating of three to five per item and serves as a quantitative assessment tool to measure deficits following stroke, with a total score ranging from 0 to 42. The severity can then be clinically stratified as mild (1 - 4), moderate (5 - 15), severe (16 - 24) or very severe (≥ 25).^{13,14} It has good interrater reliability (kappa = 0.69) and test-retest reliability (kappa = 0.67).¹⁵

An EEG was recorded within 48 hours of admission for all participants in the case group and on outpatient assessment for the control group by two neurodiagnostic technologists. The EEGs were recorded using the Nicolet One Extension (V32 Amplifier) with a sampling rate of 500 Hz according to the international 10–20 system with a bipolar montage. 24 reusable gold electrodes were fixed over the scalp and earlobes and cleaned with Nuprep. The abbreviations on the EEG are as follows: Fp, frontopolar; C, central; F, frontal; T-temporal; P, parietal; and O, occipital. Each recording lasted for a minimum of 30 minutes.

EEG Analysis

The raw EEG data obtained were exported to MATLAB 2020a, a programming software for preprocessing and spectral analysis. The raw EEG data underwent data preprocessing to filter out noise and myogenic artefacts. The EEG signals were filtered from power-line interference (PLI) using a notch filter at 50 Hz and then bandpass-filtered at a low cutoff frequency (0.5 Hz) and a high cutoff frequency (70 Hz) to allow only frequencies of interest to pass for subsequent analysis. The signal of each channel was standardized to have a mean of zero and variance of 1. Average referencing was further applied by computing the average of the signals at all channels and subtracting them from the EEG signal at every channel.

Subsequently, post-processing data were used for power spectral analysis based on Fourier transform analysis. A fast Fourier transform was applied to the EEG signals of each channel. The result of the frequency analysis is expressed as the spectral power based on Fourier periodograms, that is, the squared amplitude of the fast Fourier transform of the EEG (μ V2). The band-limited power spectra or band power was computed using Matlab2020a band power function for each of the five main EEG frequency bands (i.e., delta (0.5-4 Hz), theta (4-8 Hz), alpha (8-13 Hz), beta (13-30 Hz), and gamma (30-100 Hz)) across all channels for each subject. Topolot from the EEGLAB toolbox was used to graphically visualize the frequency content of the EEG signals over the channels and pinpoint areas of interest.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS Version 26 was used for the analysis of descriptive data. Categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages. Normality was tested using skewness and kurtosis for all continuous variables. The mean and standard deviation (SD) were for normally distributed continuous variables; however, non-parametric analysis was used when the data were not normally distributed. A paired t-test statistical analysis was performed to identify the significant difference in the EEG mean band-power differences between the stroke patient and control groups with a significant threshold set at p-value < 0.05 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons).

RESULTS

Clinicodemographic data

A total of 233 participants were screened. Eventually, a total of 194 participants (97 stroke patients and 97 controls) were recruited based on the study criteria and following informed consent. The mean age of the study population was 55.11 years (SD±13.12). One hundred participants were male (56 cases, 44 controls) and 94 were female (41 cases, 53 controls). Upon analysis of the patient group, the median NIHSS score at presentation was 6 (IQR 4-6). Almost half (49.5%) of the patients with stroke had lacunar stroke, followed by partial anterior circulation stroke (29.9%). Lacunar infarcts were the most commonly observed neuroimaging finding on computed tomography (CT) of the brain, accounting for 57.7%, with middle cerebral artery territory infarcts the 2nd most commonly encountered abnormality (32%). The EEG characteristics of 40 participants in the patient group were

normal. 57 had abnormalities in EEG recording, most notably focal slowing (34 patients). The control group had normal EEG findings in all 97 participants. The clinical characteristics of the patients are summarized in Table I.

Band power comparison over each channel

Following the sociodemographic analysis, we focused on identifying band power and channels of interest between the patient and control groups. We performed univariate sample analysis using an independent sample t-test to identify significant differences between the groups, accepting a p-value <0.05 as significant. Table II elaborates the p-values of all categories of band power and corresponding channels when comparing patients with and without stroke.

Topographic brain mapping

Subsequently, we plotted a topological map to delineate the spatial representation of data across the tested channels. Colour scales were used to display the strength of specific variables or measurements at each point to aid data visualization. The dark blue and red colours indicate values closer to 1.0 and 0.1, respectively. Figure 1 shows a topographical map of the p-values obtained by comparing the patient and control groups. To assist in visualizing the areas of interest, we projected another topoplot to highlight the areas where the p-value was significant and used different hues to signify lower p-values. This is illustrated in Figure 2a. The topographical brain mapping of p-values reveals that there are statistically significant differences in the mean band power between the patient and control groups in the alpha (8-13 Hz), beta (13-30 Hz), and gamma (30-100 Hz) frequency bands. These differences are indicated by the red regions in the corresponding maps, where the pvalues are below the common threshold of 0.05, suggesting a strong likelihood that these variations are not due to chance. In contrast, the delta (0.5-4 Hz) and theta (4-8 Hz) bands show no significant differences between the two groups, as indicated by the higher p-values (represented by blue and green regions).

Overall, these findings highlight that the most substantial and statistically significant differences in brain activity between the patient and control groups are present in the higher frequency bands (alpha, beta, and gamma), which may have important implications for understanding the underlying neurological or cognitive processes.

The analysis revealed that the important channels were predominantly clustered in the band power belonging to alpha, beta and gamma bands. We calculated the difference in the mean of all significant band powers by subtracting the mean of the control from the mean of the sample data. This was performed to quantify the average disparity or variation between the groups. A positive difference indicates higher values in the sample, whereas a negative difference indicates lower values. Table III illustrates the differences in mean band power between the two groups. The non-significant band powers were slashed to avoid confusion. Figure 2b depicts the findings in Table III in the form of a topoplot to aid visualization. The regions identified in Figure 1 as having significant p-values are the same regions in Figure 2b where there are substantial differences in mean band power. When these figures are considered together, they provide a more comprehensive view. The significant regions in Figure 1 are either positive or negative in Figure 2b, indicating whether the patient group has an increase (blue regions) or decrease (red regions) in band power. Merging these insights gives a full picture of where and how the patient group's brain activity differs from that of the control group, both in terms of significance and direction (increase or decrease). This combined analysis helps to clarify not only the presence of significant differences but also the nature of these differences in brain activity between the patient and control groups.

DISCUSSION

Demographic data

Our study population consisted mainly of patients with lacunar stroke. This could explain the lower NIHSS score in our cohort, with a mean of six (moderate severity). This is comparable to most studies in the region, with data from Asian countries suggesting a higher prevalence of small vessel disease subtypes, particularly in Southeast Asia.^{16,17} Studies from Thailand and Malaysia have suggested a high percentage of intracranial atherosclerosis (approximately 52.6% and 28%, respectively), although the current trend shows a decline.^{18,19}

Difference in EEG band power between patient and control group Qualitative analysis of EEG in our cohort showed epileptiform changes and focal and diffuse slowing. This finding concurred with the slowing of background activity, background asymmetry, and periodic discharges frequently observed in post-stroke patients and those with poor functional outcomes.²⁰ A study by Giaquinto et al. demonstrated a higher degree of slowing over the affected hemisphere, which may improve or outlast the clinical improvement.²¹ Therefore, they suggested a possible role of EEG in monitoring neural repair and guiding rehabilitation. Focal slowing accounted for 35.1% of the EEG changes observed in our cohort with stroke. This finding is similar to that of studies showing focal and diffuse slowing as the predominant abnormality observed post-stroke. These changes are associated with a lower risk of post-stroke seizures than abnormalities such as periodic lateralized discharges.²² However, there is a link between the slowing of EEG background and cognitive impairment, as reported by Moretti et al. in their cohort with greater cerebrovascular damage.23 Generalized slowing was also associated with poorer clinical outcomes.²⁴

We observed a significant association between alpha, beta, and gamma band powers when comparing both groups of patients. This is in line with studies demonstrating increased synchronization and lower frequency of alpha oscillations, increased high beta (21-30 Hz) compared to low beta (13-20 Hz) bands centrally, elevation of beta oscillatory power, and disruption of gamma oscillatory patterns following an acute stroke.25-27 Less efficient and more modular networks were observed, particularly in the beta and gamma bands, which explains the association in our study.27 However, these changes evolve during recovery, with alpha desynchronization observed weeks after an acute stroke. A greater degree of event-related desynchrony over the affected

Original Article

Clinical characteristics	n = 97 (%)	
National Institute of Health Scale Stroke		
Mild (1-4)	43 (44.3)	
Moderate (5-15)	33 (34.0)	
Severe (16-24)	15 (15.5)	
Very severe (≥25).	6 (6.2)	
Stroke Types:		
Total Anterior Circulation Infarct (TACI)	9 (9.3)	
Partial Anterior Circulation Infarct (PACI)	29 (29.9)	
Lacunar Infarct (LACI)	48 (49.5)	
Posterior Circulation Infarct (POCI)	11 (11.3)	
Hemispheric Involvement:		
Total Anterior Circulation Infarct (TACI)	L 4 (4.1)	
	R 5 (5.1)	
Partial Anterior Circulation Infarct (PACI)	L 16 (16.5)	
	R 13 (13.4)	
Lacunar Infarct (LACI)	L 26 (26.8)	
	R 22 (22.7)	
Posterior Circulation Infarct (POCI)	L 4 (4.1)	
	R 3 (3.1)	
Neuroimaging Characteristics:		
Middle Cerebral Artery (MCA)	31 (32.0)	
Anterior Cerebral Artery (ACA)	2 (2.1)	
Posterior Cerebral Artery (PCA)	5 (5.2)	
Lacunar Stroke	56 (57.7)	
Others	3 (3.1)	
EEG Characteristics:		
Normal	40 (41.2)	
Focal slowing	34 (35.1)	
Diffuse slowing	18 (18.6)	
Epileptiform	5 (5.2)	

Table I: Clinical characteristics of patient group

Note:

SD- Standard Deviation IQR - Interquartile Range R- Right L- Left

side correlated with a higher degree of clinical improvement.²⁸ The increase in beta activity over time at the central region contralateral to the affected side correlated with good functional motor recovery than if the increase is seen in the affected side suggesting a role in neuroplasticity in functional recovery.²⁶

Several studies have reported a high incidence of focal or diffuse slowing in patients with acute strokes.²⁹ Our analysis did not reveal a significant difference in delta and theta band power, but this could be explained by the type of stroke in our cohort. Only one-third of the patients in our cohort had middle cerebral artery territory infarcts, whereas the majority had lacunar infarcts. Delta activity is strongly correlated with regional cerebral blood flow; therefore, it is more prominent in middle cerebral and internal carotid artery territory strokes.³

Future applications

Identifying specific band powers of interest may be essential for post-stroke rehabilitation. Different band powers are linked to different motor and non-motor functions. Beta oscillations have been associated with movement production, whereas gamma rhythms are amplified during cognitive processes.^{30,31} These may be appreciated predominantly in different areas of the cortex. Numerous non-invasive neuromodulation techniques have been investigated, including transcranial magnetic stimulation, transcranial electrical stimulation, and transcranial focused ultrasound stimulation. Although the frequency and dosing for each indication may vary among studies, there is a need for accurate identification of the stimulation site, which could be aided by qEEG analysis.³² This would affect the overall efficacy of treatment.

The use of topographical brain mapping would further improve the identification of sites for intervention, based on the significance and area involved. This can be achieved with readily available software, as we have demonstrated that it can be integrated into the device used for neurorehabilitation. Another application is the use of qEEG in brain-computer interfaces, which could be used as a driving command for rehabilitation systems and exoskeletons or prostheses to improve overall functions. Raw

Channel	Delta	Theta	Alpha	Beta	Gamma		
Fp1	0.617	0.8409	0.22806	0.081487	0.25405		
Fp2	0.79612	0.91956	0.14324	0.10257	0.49415		
F3	0.62613	0.41135	0.059265	0.013185*	0.033681*		
F4	0.41968	0.83696	0.43514	0.19042	0.37654		
C3	0.14908	0.15116	0.035899*	0.032296*	0.14962		
C4	0.91018	0.83967	0.058827	0.046295*	0.12752		
P3	0.44359	0.23648	0.019362*	0.051704	0.1233		
P4	0.69974	0.78972	0.060861	0.24813	0.57825		
01	0.33701	0.59323	0.13111	0.074822	0.17522		
02	0.18071	0.3145	0.065623	0.074138	0.38033		
F7	0.20321	0.36221	0.067397	0.012234*	0.029692*		
F8	0.84855	0.89918	0.13684	0.038713*	0.10717		
Τ7	0.60718	0.86628	0.79646	0.031618*	0.034612		
Т8	0.053969	0.085305	0.49281	0.43906	0.24726		
P7	0.59615	0.34481	0.014077*	0.047394*	0.12412		
P8	0.23651	0.75712	0.56663	0.11144	0.095838		
Fz	0.45013	0.22602	0.03721*	0.18748	0.77028		
Cz	0.81084	0.41017	0.047992*	0.022214*	0.070232		
Pz	0.14433	0.1715	0.044783*	0.006018*	0.021365*		

Table II: P-values of t-test of mean EEG band power differences between patient and control groups for each channel and each frequency band

*p-value significant at <0.05

Fp: frontopolar, C: central, F: frontal, T: temporal, P: parietal, O: occipital

Table III: Difference in mean band power between patient and control groups for each channel and each frequency band

Channel	Delta	Theta	Alpha	Beta	Gamma
Fp1	0.00011	0.000015678	-0.00012	-0.00013	-0.00007185
Fp2	0.000066032	-0.000008498	-0.00015	-0.00015	-0.00004572
F3	-0.00022	-0.00018	-0.00042	-0.00073*	-0.00063*
F4	0.001673	-0.00015	-0.00065	-0.0015	-0.00094
C3	-0.00055	-0.00028	-0.00054*	-0.00061*	-0.00044
C4	-0.00022	-0.00016	-0.00187	-0.00256*	0.00142
P3	-0.0002	-0.00013	-0.00041*	0.00022	- 0.00009 173
P4	-0.00019	-0.000064653	-0.00064	-0.00028	0.000082449
01	0.000151	-0.000032812	-0.00012	-0.0001	-0.00005957
02	0.000226	-0.0001	-0.00025	-0.00013	-0.00003550
F7	-0.00027	-0.000070885	-0.00018	-0.00022*	-0.00025*
F8	0.000074323	-0.000020166	-0.00025	-0.00031*	-0.00027
Τ7	-0.00009208	0.000087818	-0.00002056	-0.00019*	-0.00026*
Т8	0.000504	0.000245	0.000121	-0.00012	-0.0002
P7	0.00006443	-0.000059889	-0.00018*	-0.00013	-0.00007399
P8	0.000216	0.000032279	-0.00012	-0.00017	-0.00013
Fz	-0.00008685	-0.000061502	-0.00012*	-0.00009225	-0.00001722
Cz	0.000031926	-0.000055273	-0.00017*	-0.00017*	-0.00009517
Pz	-0.00249	-0.00131	-0.0017*	-0.0025*	-0.00126*

*difference in mean of significant band power and channels in both groups Fp: frontopolar, C: central, F: frontal, T: temporal, P: parietal, O: occipital



Fig. 1: Topographical brain mapping of p-values obtained from t-test of the mean band power difference between patient and control group. The coloured scale indicates the p-value; red being the lowest p-value



Fig. 2: a) Topographical brain mapping demonstrates only significant p-values (p<0.05) when comparing band power of patient and control group. A darker hue of green indicates a lower p-value.
b) Topographical brain mapping of the difference in mean band power for each channel and frequency between patient and control groups. The positive values represent an increase in mean band power (displayed in blue) in patient group relative to the control group, while the negative values signify decrease in mean band power in patient group relative to control group (displayed in red).

EEG data can be converted to produce movements in actuators to allow gross and fine motor actions, which may require electromyography as an adjunct.^{33,34}

Moving forward, we plan to improve the graphical user interface to make the program more user-friendly so that data can be extracted and utilized by neurodiagnostic technicians and rehabilitative support staff. We intend to explore the use of machine learning, such as a Support Vector Machine, to investigate whether it is possible to use band power variations to detect acute stroke, especially in the setting of stroke mimics or a history of stroke. To improve the accuracy, we aim to recruit more participants once adjustments have been made to the software algorithms.

One limitation is that our cohort included all stroke subtypes, regardless of the etiology, type of therapy administered, and area involved. This may result in EEG changes following interventions such as mechanical thrombectomy or thrombolysis. The band power significance may be altered because of the different areas of the stroke. However, we could not standardize the side or territory involved because of the limited number of participants. In addition, the median NIHSS score in our study is on the lower end and mainly lacunar type stroke which would produce localized abnormalities. Therefore, increasing the number of EEG channels studied may increase the yield of the study.

CONCLUSION

Quantitative EEG is a viable tool to identify band frequencies of interest in post-stroke patients. Accompanied by a topograph, a more precise graphical representation of the areas involved may guide further intervention and rehabilitation. We believe that the data obtained from qEEG would be important in software programming to individualize treatment in the future and to gather data objectively when searching for the validity of biomarkers in stroke research.

DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have influenced the work reported in this paper.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the National University of Malaysia following approval from the local ethics and research board with the grant code: FF-2021-436.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine at the National University of Malaysia for allowing us to publish this manuscript.

CONTRIBUTIONS

Kok Leong Liew (KL): study concept and design, acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation, drafting the manuscript.

Juen Kiem Tan (JT), Ching Soong Khoo (CSK): acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation, and drafting the manuscript. Kai Yi Ng (KN), Wilbert Chong (WC), Yuet Teng Lew (YL), Chee-Ming Ting (CT): acquisition of data, data analysis and interpretation, revised manuscript and statistical analyses. Hernando Ombao (HO): data analysis and interpretation, revised manuscript, and statistical analyses. Nursyazwana Zolkafli (NZ): acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation, and revised manuscript Zhen Yang Lee (ZY Lee): acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation. Hui Jan Tan (HT): Study concept and design, methodology, funding acquisition, data acquisition, drafting and revised manuscript, and study supervision. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Roth GA, Abate D, Abate KH, et al. Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet 2018; 392: 1736-88.
- 2. Rossini PM, Calautti C, Pauri F, et al. Post-stroke plastic reorganisation in the adult brain. The Lancet Neurology 2003; 2: 493-502.
- 3. Luu P, Tucker DM, Englander R, et al. Localizing acute strokerelated EEG changes: assessing the effects of spatial undersampling. J Clin Neurophysiol 2001; 18: 302-17.
- 4. Finnigan S and van Putten MJ. EEG in ischaemic stroke: quantitative EEG can uniquely inform (sub-)acute prognoses and clinical management. Clin Neurophysiol 2013; 124: 10-9.
- Vatinno AA, Simpson A, Ramakrishnan V, et al. The Prognostic Utility of Electroencephalography in Stroke Recovery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2022; 36: 255-68.
- Azuma H, Hori S, Nakanishi M, et al. An intervention to improve the interrater reliability of clinical EEG interpretations. Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences 2003; 57: 485-9.
- Ombao H and Pinto M. Spectral Dependence. Econometrics and Statistics 2024; 32: 122-59.
- Ombao H and Pinto M. Spectral Analysis of Electrophysiological Data. Statistical Methods in Epilepsy, edited by Sharon Chiang, Vikram Rao, Marina Vannucci, Routledge, 2024; 201-26.
- 9. Claassen J, Hirsch LJ, Kreiter KT, et al. Quantitative continuous EEG for detecting delayed cerebral ischemia in patients with poor-grade subarachnoid hemorrhage. Clin Neurophysiol 2004; 115: 2699-710.
- 10. van Putten MJ. The revised brain symmetry index. Clin Neurophysiol 2007; 118: 2362-7. 20070920.
- 11. Sheorajpanday RV, Nagels G, Weeren AJ, et al. Reproducibility and clinical relevance of quantitative EEG parameters in cerebral ischemia: a basic approach. Clin Neurophysiol 2009; 120: 845-855. 20090416.
- 12. Sutcliffe L, Lumley H, Shaw L, et al. Surface electroencephalography (EEG) during the acute phase of stroke to assist with diagnosis and prediction of prognosis: a scoping review. BMC Emerg Med 2022; 22: 29. 20220228.
- 13. Goldstein LB, Bertels C and Davis JN. Interrater reliability of the NIH stroke scale. Arch Neurol 1989; 46: 660-62.
- 14. Lyden P, Raman R, Liu L, et al. National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale certification is reliable across multiple venues. Stroke 2009; 40: 2507-11.
- Brott T, Adams HP, Jr., Olinger CP, et al. Measurements of acute cerebral infarction: a clinical examination scale. Stroke 1989; 20: 864-70.
- Mehndiratta MM, Khan M, Mehndiratta P, et al. Stroke in Asia: Geographical Variations and Temporal Trends. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 2014; 85.

- 17. Kim JS and Bonovich D. Research on intracranial atherosclerosis from the East and west: why are the results different? J Stroke 2014; 16: 105-13.
- Ratanakorn D, Keandoungchun J and Tegeler CH. Coexistent extra- and intracranial stenosis, cervical atherosclerosis, and abnormal ankle brachial index in acute ischemic stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2012; 21: 782-9.
- Nazifah SN, Azmi IK, Hamidon BB, et al. National Stroke Registry (NSR): Terengganu and Seberang Jaya experience. Med J Malaysia 2012; 67: 302-4.
- 20. Bentes C, Martins H, Peralta AR, et al. Early EEG predicts poststroke epilepsy. Epilepsia Open 2018; 3: 203-12.
- 21. Giaquinto S, Cobianchi A, Macera F, et al. EEG recordings in the course of recovery from stroke. Stroke 1994; 25: 2204-9.
- 22. Silverman IE, Restrepo L and Mathews GC. Poststroke Seizures. Arch Neurol 2002; 59: 195-201.
- Moretti DV, Zanetti O, Binetti G, et al. Quantitative EEG Markers in Mild Cognitive Impairment: Degenerative versus Vascular Brain Impairment. Int J Alzheimers Dis 2012; 2012: 917537.
- 24. Wolf ME, Ebert AD and Chatzikonstantinou A. The use of routine EEG in acute ischemic stroke patients without seizures: generalized but not focal EEG pathology is associated with clinical deterioration. Int J Neurosci 2017; 127: 421-6.
- Petrovic J, Milosevic V, Zivkovic M, et al. Slower EEG alpha generation, synchronization and "flow"-possible biomarkers of cognitive impairment and neuropathology of minor stroke. PeerJ 2017; 5: e3839.
- Thibaut A, Simis M, Battistella LR, et al. Using Brain Oscillations and Corticospinal Excitability to Understand and Predict Post-Stroke Motor Function. Front Neurol 2017; 8.

- 27. de Vico Fallani F, Astolfi L, Cincotti F, et al. Evaluation of the brain network organization from EEG signals: a preliminary evidence in stroke patient. Anat Rec 2009; 292: 2023-31.
- Ray AM, Figueiredo TDC, López-Larraz E, et al. Brain oscillatory activity as a biomarker of motor recovery in chronic stroke. Hum Brain Mapp 2020; 41: 1296-308. 20191128.
- 29. Bouattour N, Farhat N, Bouchaala W, et al. EEG patterns and epileptic seizures in acute phase stroke. Neurophysiologie Clinique 2018; 48: 129.
- Darch HT, Cerminara NL, Gilchrist ID, et al. Pre-movement changes in sensorimotor beta oscillations predict motor adaptation drive. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 17946.
- Cannon J, McCarthy MM, Lee S, et al. Neurosystems: brain rhythms and cognitive processing. Eur J Neurosci 2014; 39: 705-19.
- Li KP, Wu JJ, Zhou ZL, et al. Noninvasive Brain Stimulation for Neurorehabilitation in Post-Stroke Patients. Brain Sci 2023; 13(3): 451.
- Orban M, Elsamanty M, Guo K, et al. A Review of Brain Activity and EEG-Based Brain-Computer Interfaces for Rehabilitation Application. Bioengineering 2022; 9(12): 768.
- 34. Chowdhury A, Raza H, Meena YK, et al. An EEG-EMG correlation-based brain-computer interface for hand orthosis supported neuro-rehabilitation. J Neurosci Methods 2019; 312: 1-11.

Determinants of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapse tuberculosis patients in selangor registered in National Tuberculosis Registry from year 2015 – 2019

Nur Adila Che Rameli, MD¹, Siti Sara Yaacob, DrPH¹, Nurhuda Ismail, DrPH¹, Meram Mohammed Ali Azzanni, DrPH¹, Harishah Talib, MPH²

¹Department of Public Health Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Sungai Buloh, Selangor, Malaysia, ²Tuberculosis/Leprosy Unit, Selangor State Health Department, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Despite the availability of highly effective treatment for tuberculosis (TB), patients with TB may experience a relapse, which can be either a result of the disease reactivating or a new episode induced by reinfection. In Malaysia, there has been a noticeable rise in relapse TB cases, with a substantial rate of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among this population. This study seeks to examine the trends of unsuccessful treatment outcomes in relapse TB patients and explore how factors such as sociodemographic characteristics, TB disease profile, TB treatment profile, and comorbidities contribute to the outcomes.

Materials and Methods: This is a retrospective cohort study utilising secondary data from the National Tuberculosis Registry (NTBR). The study was conducted in Selangor among relapsed TB patients who were registered in NTBR from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2019. TB disease profile, TB treatment profile, comorbidities, and sociodemographic data were examined. The determinants of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapsed TB patients were identified using multiple (binary) logistic regression analyses.

Results: 896 patients who experienced relapsed tuberculosis were included in this study. 32.25% were reported to have unsuccessful treatment outcomes. Multiple (binary) logistic regression revealed that the absence of sputum smear examination at 5 months and beyond was a determinant of unsuccessful treatment outcome (AOR 1.70 (95% CI: 1.19, 2.44). Additionally, being treated in government facilities, such as government hospitals and government primary health clinics, was a protective factor (AOR 0.06 (95% CI: 0.03, 0.15) and AOR 0.02 (95% CI: 0.01, 0.04), respectively.

Conclusion: The high proportion of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapse TB patients stresses the importance of adherence to routine sputum monitoring and public-private partnerships.

KEYWORDS:

Tuberculosis, Relapse, Recurrent, Retreatment

This article was accepted: 13 November .2024 Corresponding Author: Siti Sara Yaacob Email: sitisara@uitm.edu.my

INTRODUCTION

Adapting the World Health Organization (WHO) definition and reporting framework for tuberculosis (TB) in 2013¹, Malaysia uses the term "relapse" to describe all TB recurrences during programmatic assessments. The term "relapse" refers to patients who had previously received treatment for TB and were declared cured or completed treatment during their most recent treatment and are now being diagnosed with a recurrence episode of tuberculosis. It can be either due to a true relapse from reactivation of the disease or a new episode of TB caused by reinfection.² Many studies used the term "recurrent TB" to describe previously treated patients who had successfully treated and later presently had active TB.3,4 The WHO standard 6-month regimen is recognized as highly effective in drug-susceptible TB. However, even with effective treatment, patients can still develop a relapse TB.^{5,6} Approximately 2-4% of individuals who get the treatment in trial settings encounter a relapse and need retreatment over a span of 2 years.7 However, a higher proportion may be seen under programmatic conditions in high-burden regions.^{8,9} In 2015, the WHO estimated that 430,000 individuals who had previously received treatment for tuberculosis were diagnosed with relapse TB. This accounted for around 7% of all reported cases of TB.10

In Malaysia, an increasing trend in retreatment cases was reported between 2012 and 2015, from 6.4% to 6.7%, 7.3%, and 7.4%, respectively. In 2015, the highest proportion contributing to retreatment were relapse cases (4.71%), followed by treatment after default cases (2.33%) and treatment after failure cases (0.36%).² Rising relapse TB cases will contribute to an increasing number of TB incidences, and this vulnerable group of patients tends to have unsuccessful treatment outcomes. Unsuccessful treatment outcomes can be defined as treatment failure, loss to follow-up and death.^{1,2} Relapse TB patients are more inclined to suffer higher mortality, loss to follow-up and treatment failure compared to those with the first episode of TB.^{3,11,12}

Selangor is the most populated and multi-ethnic state in Malaysia and recorded the highest number of TB cases in 2018 with 5,071 cases and from 2019 to 2021, contributed up to 20% of total TB mortality in Malaysia.¹³⁻¹⁵ According to the National TB Registry data for 2019, only 70% of relapsed TB patients in Selangor had achieved treatment success.¹⁶

Among risk factors contributing to unsuccessful treatment outcome among relapsed TB patients reported in previous literatures worldwide were male, positive sputum smear after 3 months of treatment, alcohol abuse, inadequate adherence to treatment, substance abuse, being current smoker, homelessness, staying in rural areas, drug resistant TB, smear positive pulmonary TB, HIV co-infection, working while on treatment and lack of family support. ^{11,17-20}

Despite efforts made in the implementation of the TB control program and the availability of effective treatment, Malaysia is facing a challenge and has yet to achieve the target of 90% successful TB treatment set by the WHO. The proportion of successful treatment achieved is 81.5% for new cases and 77.1% for relapse TB cases.²¹ Numerous studies were conducted in Malaysia on unsuccessful TB treatment outcomes, but insufficient attention was given to relapse TB. Previous studies included overall and mixed categories of TB cases (combination of new cases, relapse cases, as well as return after loss to follow-up cases), however none of the previous studies focused specifically on relapse TB and how determinants such as sociodemographic, TB disease profile, TB treatment profile and comorbidities contribute to unfavourable treatment outcome. Relapse TB poses a significant threat to the emergence of drug resistance and its secondary spread in the community.^{22,23} Therefore, this study would like to investigate the determinants of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapsed TB patients to highlight various areas to focus on in tuberculosis control efforts.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This study is a retrospective cohort study utilizing secondary data acquired from the National Tuberculosis Registry (NTBR).

Locations and Study Population

The study was carried out in Selangor among relapsed TB patients who were registered in NTBR from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2019.

Data Collection and Sampling Strategy

The inclusion criteria encompassed all individuals aged 18 years or older who had been diagnosed with relapse TB. NTBR is an online tuberculosis registry utilized by the Ministry of Health Malaysia to oversee the national tuberculosis control program. TB case notification, investigation, and treatment is documented in the registry. The exclusion criteria were patients with insufficient data on treatment outcome, patients initially registered as TB cases but subsequently diagnosed with other conditions, patients whose treatment outcome remained incomplete (e.g., those still undergoing treatment with unknown outcome), and patients with Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB). As per WHO reporting system, it is recommended to separate and exclude cases with MDR-TB from the general TB main cohort when calculating treatment outcomes.¹ This is because the criteria for determining treatment outcome for MDR-TB cases are different. The study included all patients who met the eligibility criteria by using universal sampling.

Sample Size

The sample size was determined using OpenEpi for a single population proportion based on the largest sample size identified in a study by Tok et al.²¹ which reported a proportion of 22.9% for unsuccessful TB treatment outcomes in relapsed TB patients. With a 95% confidence interval (CI) and 5% desired precision, the minimum sample size required for this study was 354 after an estimated 30% was added to the final sample size estimates to account for potential incomplete data. Nevertheless, this study included all relapse TB patients registered in the Selangor NTBR database between 2015 and 2019, resulting in a total sample size of 896.

Operational Definition

The outcomes of TB treatment were defined and monitored during surveillance over a one-year period. The treatment outcome operational definitions employed in the study were based on the WHO definitions and reporting framework for TB, the Clinical Practice Guidelines for Management of Tuberculosis, and the Ministry of Health Malaysia National Tuberculosis Information System Manual (2018 Revision).^{1,24-27} The operational definition for treatment outcome in this study was as follows:

- 1. Cure: A tuberculosis patient who was initially bacteriologically confirmed and had a negative smear or culture during the last month of treatment or on at least one previous occasion.
- 2. Completed treatment: A tuberculosis patient who has successfully completed treatment without meeting the criteria for cure or failure.
- 3. Treatment Failure: A TB patient whose sputum smear or culture was positive at any point during treatment, whether it was at five months or later.
- 4. Loss to follow-up: A TB patient who failed to initiate treatment or whose treatment was interrupted for a period of two consecutive months or more.
- 5. Died: A TB patient who passes away for any reason prior to or during TB treatment (all-cause mortality).

In this study, the dependent variable for this study was the treatment outcome. It was categorized as a dichotomous variable, either an unsuccessful or successful treatment. Unsuccessful treatment was defined as treatment failure, mortality, and loss of follow-up. On the other hand, successful treatment was defined as completed treatment or the cure of patients. Relapse TB patients were defined by category of TB cases and according to their history of previous cases, individuals who were previously treated for tuberculosis and were declared cured or completed their treatment but presented again and diagnosed with a new recurrent episode of tuberculosis. This recurrence can be either a true relapse or a new episode of tuberculosis caused by reinfection.

Data Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed by using Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) software version 29.0. Descriptive statistics were used to describe the study population's characteristics. Categorical variables were presented in frequency and percentage (%), while numerical

Variables	Total	Unsuccessful TB treatment	Successful TB treatment
	(n = 896)	(n = 261)	(n = 635)
	n (%) a´	n (%) ه	n (%) ه`
Socio-demographic			
Age (in years) c	43.0 (23.0)	43.0 (20.0)	42.5 (23.0)
Personal income (in RM)	350 (2000)	400 (2000)	350 (2000)
Nationality			
Non-Malaysian	40 (4.5)	10 (3.6)	30 (4.9)
Malaysian	856 (95.5)	270 (96.4)	586 (95.1)
Gender			
Female	274 (30.6)	84 (30.0)	190 (30.8)
Male	622 (69.4)	196 (70.0)	426 (69.2)
Ethnicity			
Chinese	114 (12.7)	37 (13.2)	77 (12.5)
Malay	555 (61.9)	187 (66.8)	368 (59.7)
Indian	159 (17.7)	40 (66.82)	119 (59.7)
Others	52 (8.4)	16 (5.7)	68 (7.6)
Education status			
Tertiary	170 (19.0)	58 (20.7)	112 (18.2)
Secondary	535 (59.7)	161 (57.5)	374 (60.7)
Primary	72 (8.0)	26 (9.3)	46 (7.5)
Others	119 (13.3)	35 (12.5)	84 (13.6)
Employment status			
Yes	448 (50.0)	139 (49.6)	309 (50.2)
No	448 (50.0)	141 (50.4)	307 (49.8)
Location of residence			
Rural	189 (21.1)	52 (18.6)	137 (22.2)
Urban	707 (78.9)	228 (81.4)	479 (77.8)

Table I: Sociodemographic characteristic of Relapse TB patients (n=896)

^aWithin total sample. ^bWithin the relapse TB who had unsuccessful treatment ^cMedian (IQR)

variables were expressed in mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile range (IQR) depending on the normality of the data. Then, Inferential statistics were done to determine factors associated with unsuccessful TB treatment outcomes in relapse TB patients. Simple logistic regression analysis was used to determine the association between socio-demographic, TB treatment-related, TB disease-related, and comorbidities factors with unsuccessful TB treatment outcomes in relapsed TB patients. Only variables with a p-value <0.25 in simple logistic regression or that are clinically important were selected for multiple logistic regression (binary) analysis to obtain the adjusted odds ratio (aOR). A p-value of 0.05 with a 95% confidence interval was used to indicate statistical significance in all analyses.

Ethics Approval

This study utilized secondary data and did not contain any patient-identifying information. As all cases were anonymized, informed consent was not obtained from individual patients. The Medical Research and Ethics Committee, Ministry of Health Malaysia, Faculty Ethics Review Committee, Faculty of Medicine, MARA University of Technology (UiTM) approved this study.

RESULTS

From 2015 to 2019, 1291 relapse TB cases were recorded out of 24644 TB cases in the National TB registry in Selangor. The total number of relapse TB cases included in the analyses was 896, after excluding cases with incomplete data on treatment outcomes (n: 8), cases with a change of diagnosis (n: 54), and

MDR-TB (n: 38), and duplicated data (n: 284). By using a total number of relapse TB patients with complete treatment outcomes at one year of surveillance (N: 869), 32.25% of relapse TB patients had unsuccessful outcomes. The flow diagram of data extraction was summarized in Figure 1. The trends of unsuccessful outcomes among relapsed TB patients in Selangor were noted to increase from 2016 to 2019, with the highest being in 2018, which reported a 36% unsuccessful rate. (Figure 2)

Characteristics of relapses in TB patients

The sociodemographic characteristics of the study population were illustrated in Table I. The median age for overall relapse TB cases was 43 years (IQR 23). In terms of relapse TB patients with unfavourable treatment outcomes, most of them were Malaysian citizens (96.4%), the male was predominant (69.4%), 66.8% were Malays, 81.4% were from urban areas, and almost 80% had secondary, lower, and informal education.

Table II depicted clinical profiles of relapse TB patients, which combined TB disease profile, treatment profile, and comorbidities characteristics. Most patients with unsuccessful outcomes had smear-positive pulmonary TB (62.9%), follow-up sputum monitoring at 2 months noted that 3.9% still had positive smears, and 26.8% of them had no sputum examination done. For subsequent sputum monitoring at 5 months and beyond, 1.4% was noted to have positive smear, and unfortunately, 65.7% of patients had no sputum examination done at 5 months of treatment and upon treatment completion.

Original Article

Variables	Total	Unsuccessful TB treatment	Successful TB	
	(n = 896)	(n = 261)	(n = 635)	
	n (%) ª	n (%) ^b	n (%) ^b	
Clinical profile				
TB case detection				
Active	38 (4.2)	13 (4.6)	25 (4.1)	
Passive	858 (95.8)	267 (95.4)	591 (95 9)	
Anatomical site of TB infection		207 (001.1)		
Extrapulmonary	117 (13 1)	44 (15 7)	73 (11 9)	
Pulmonary	779 (86 9)	236 (84 3)	543 (88 1)	
Sputum AFB at diagnosis	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	250 (04.5)	545 (66.17	
Negative	300 (33 5)	98 (35 0)	202 (32.8)	
Positive	582 (65 0)	176 (62 9)	406 (65 9)	
Not done	14 (1 6)	6 (2.1)	8 (1 3)	
Southum AEP at 2 month	14 (1.0)	0 (2.1)	8 (1.5)	
Negative	668 (74 6)	104 (60 2)	474 (76.9)	
Desitive	22 (2 6)	11 (2.0)	21 (2 4)	
Net dono	52 (5.0) 106 (21.0)	75 (26 9)	21 (3.4)	
Southing AFR at > E month	196 (21.9)	75 (20.6)	121 (19.6)	
Sputum AFB at 2 5 month	200 (42 2)	02 (22 0)	205 (48.1)	
Negative	388 (43.3)	92 (32.9)	296 (48.1)	
Positive		4 (1.4)	7 (1.1)	
Not done	497 (55.5)	184 (65.7)	313 (50.8)	
Chest Radiography	24 (2.2)	20 (10 7)	51 (0.2)	
No lesion	81 (9.0)	30 (10.7)	51 (8.3)	
Minimal lesion	500 (55.8)	155 (55.4)	345 (56.0)	
Moderate lesion	2/1 (30.2)	82 (29.3)	189 (30.7)	
Far advanced	31 (3.5)	8 (2.9)	23 (3.7)	
Not done	13 (1.5)	5 (1.8)	8 (1.3)	
Type of health facilities				
Private	53 (5.9)	47 (16.8)	6 (1.0)	
Government Hospital	647 (72.2)	213 (76.1)	434 (70.5)	
Government Primary Health Clinic	196 (21.9)	20 (7.1)	176 (28.6)	
Treatment duration				
≥6 months	550 (61.4)	165 (58.9)	385 (62.5)	
<6 months	346 (38.6)	115 (41.1)	231 (37.5)	
DOTS (intensive)				
Yes	760 (84.8)	230 (82.1)	530 (86.0)	
No	136 (15.2)	50 (17.9)	86 (14.0)	
DOTS (Supervisor)				
Healthcare worker (HCW)	427 (47.7)	138 (49.3)	289 (46.9)	
Family member	422 (47.1)	124 (44.3)	298 (48.4)	
No supervisor	11 (1.2)	4 (1.4)	7 (1.1)	
Others	36 (4.0)	14 (5.0)	22 (3.6)	
BCG scar				
Yes	826 (92.2)	264 (94.3)	562 (91.2)	
No	70 (7.8)	16 (5.7)	54 (8.8)	
Smoking				
No	581 (64.8)	181 (64.6)	400 (64.9)	
Yes	315 (35.2)	99 (35.4)	216 (35.1)	
HIV				
No	771 (86.0)	235 (83.9)	536 (87.0)	
Yes	95 (10.6)	32 (11.4)	63 (10.2)	
Not known	30 (3.3)	13 (4.6)	17 (2.8)	
Diabetes	·			
No	675 (75.3)	210 (75.5)	465 (75.5)	
Yes	221 (24.7)	70 (25.0)	151 (24.5)	
	,			

Table II: Clinical profile of among Relapse TB patients (n=896)

^aWithin total sample. ^bWithin the relapse TB who had unsuccessful treatment

Determinant of unsuccessful treatment outcome among relapse TB patients

The study variables were analysed using simple logistic regression and multiple logistic (binary) regression, as shown in Table III. This study identified two factors that were linked to unsuccessful outcomes. The first factor was the lack of sputum examination at 5 months of treatment and upon treatment completion (AOR 1.70; 95% CI 1.19,2.44). The

second factor was the type of health facilities: government hospitals and government primary health clinics (AOR 0.06; 95% CI 0.03,0.15) and (AOR 0.02; 95% CI 0.01,0.04), respectively. The absence of Sputum AFB examination after the intensive phase was found to be a confounder as it was statistically significant in simple logistic regression; however, after adjustment was made in multiple logistic regression, this factor was found to be insignificant. The final model of

Variables	COR (95% CI) ^a	p-value ^a	AOR (95% CI) b	p-value ^b
Socio-demographic factor				
Age, (in years)	1.00 (0.99, 1.01)	0.397	1.00 (0.99, 1.01)	0.613
Gender				
Female	1	ref.	1	ref.
Male	0.44 (0.77, 1.42)	0.799	1.10 (0.78, 1.55)	0.596
Ethnicity				
Chinese	1	ref.	1	ref.
Malay	1.06 (0.69, 1.62)	0.799	0.66 (0.43, 1.00)	0.052
Indian	0.70 (0.41, 1.19)	0.187	0.68 (0.41, 1.13)	0.133
Others	0.64 (0.32, 1.27)	0.201	0.56 (0.30, 1.04)	0.068
Clinical factor				
DOTS (intensive)				
Yes	1	ref.	1	ref.
No	1.34 (0.92, 1.96)	0.133	1.06 (0.65, 1.74)	0.811
Type of health facilities				
Private	1	ref.	1	ref.
Government Hospital	0.06 (0.03, 0.15)	<0.001 *	0.06 (0.03, 0.15)	<0.001 *
Government Primary Health Clinic	0.01 (0.01, 0.04)	<0.001*	0.02 (0.01, 0.04)	<0.001 *
Sputum AFB at 2 month				
Negative	1	ref.	1	ref.
Positive	1.28 (0.61, 2.71)	0.52	1.62 (0.68, 3.85)	0.272
Not done	1.51 (1.09, 2.11)	0.015 *	0.98 (0.62, 1.56)	0.934
Sputum AFB at \geq 5 month				
Negative	1	ref.	1	ref.
Positive	1.84 (0.53, 6.42)	<0.001 *	2.10 (0.54, 8.10)	0.282
Not done	1.89 (1.41, 2.54)	<0.001 *	1.70 (1.19, 2.44)	0.004 *

Table III: Determinants of Unsuccessful treatment outcome among	a Relaps	se TB i	patients

AOR (Adjusted Odds Ratio), Confidence Interval (CI). The Cox & Snell R2 value is 0.150, indicating the proportion of variance explained by the model. The Hosmer and Lemeshow test yield a value of 0.687, suggesting good model fit. Classification: 73.5%, and the Area Under the Curve (AUC) is 70.0% (95% CI: 66.0-74.0; p-value=<0.001). ^aTest employed: Simple logistic regression ^bTest employed: Multiple Logistic Regression Analysis (Enter Method) Constant value: 0.842 and the model assumption is met. There is a no interaction and multicollinearity.



Fig. 1: Flow chart of data retrieval and extraction



Fig. 2: Trends of unsuccessful treatment outcome among relapse TB cases in Selangor from 2015 -2019

determinants comprised all significant factors and three clinically relevant factors: age, gender, and DOTs during the intensive phase.28-30 The prediction of this model was 70% (95% CI 66.4, 73.7).

DISCUSSION

In this retrospective cohort study, we highlighted the high proportion of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapse TB patients in Selangor. The increasing trends seen were alarming, especially from the year 2016 to the year 2019 (18.8%, 26.7%, 36%, and 34%), respectively. One of the critical indicators being monitored to achieve target under the End TB strategy by WHO is a successful TB treatment rate of 90%, thus allowing only 10% of unsuccessful rate.³¹ A study done using Malaysia's national-wide data (2014 until 2017), revealed a high rate of unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapse TB patients compared to new patients (22.9% and 18.5%) respectively.²¹ This current study suggests that Selangor had a high rate of unsuccessful treatment outcome that was above the national level.

A study from Tanzania utilizing national wide data however reported much lower rate of unfavourable outcome among relapse TB patients compared to Malaysia which was 10%.¹¹

Factors associated with unsuccessful treatment outcomes among relapse TB patients

We found that not doing Sputum AFB examination after 5 months and before the end of treatment, was associated with a higher likelihood of unfavourable outcomes in relapse TB patients AOR 1.70 (95% CI: 1.19,2.44). Furthermore, the current study revealed that 55% of relapse TB patients that had not been checked for sputum at 5 month and beyond reported much higher rate of incomplete monitoring

compared to a study done in Uganda that showed 16% of patients did not have sputum AFB follow up at 2 months, 39% at 3 months and 28% at 5 months and later. Lack of proper sputum monitoring has been linked to not being on DOTs, inability to produce sputum, long time spent at the laboratory, and poor health education among patients and health care providers.³² In Malaysia, for instance, according to the Clinical Practice Guideline (CPG) of Management of Tuberculosis, all patients with pulmonary tuberculosis must undergo routine monitoring during their treatment. This includes monitoring the presence of acid-fast bacilli (AFB) in sputum samples at specific intervals: during the initial assessment stage, after 2 weeks of commencing treatment, after 1 month, after 5 months, and at the end of treatment. This is in line with WHO's recommendation to use sputum smears to evaluate treatment outcomes and monitor the result of the treatment.^{25,33}

This study also found that being treated in government facilities that include government hospital and government primary health clinic were protective factor for an unsuccessful treatment outcome in relapse TB patients AOR 0.06 (95% CI 0.03, 0.15) and 0.02 (95% CI 0.01, 0.04) respectively compared to being treated in private facilities.

A mixed method study done in Nigeria³³ found that most patients diagnosed with TB in private sectors were referred to public facilities while 25% being treated in private facilities and reported that 10.5% of patient were treated with unconventional regimens, 21% were cured, 11% died, 16% loss to follow up and 53% were not evaluated. This study revealed that 5% of patients received unconventional treatment regimens, 21% of the patients were cured, 11% died, 16% defaulted, and 53% were not assessed. The knowledge about TB among the healthcare providers was not up to date, and most of the healthcare providers had not undergone any formal training in tuberculosis.^{34,35} Most patients that were suspected or confirmed to have TB were referred to the public sector without any feedback.³³ Also, the private healthcare providers were not very sure of the diagnostic procedures and necessary tests for the definite diagnosis of TB.³⁶

The findings are in line with other previous studies conducted in Malaysia's high TB burden neighbouring countries such as Indonesia and Pakistan.^{37,38} have also pointed to shortcomings in the diagnosis, management and treatment of TB patients by private practitioners. It was reported that 19-53% of TB cases and about 4-18% of smear-positive Pulmonary TB cases were not treated with standardized diagnosis and treatment.³⁷ A systematic review was conducted in India, which reported barriers to engagement with private sectors in TB care includes lack of coordination mechanisms and inadequate knowledge of private practitioner on programmatic aspects.³⁴

The study finding highlights the lack of routine sputum smear examination upon completion of 5 months of treatment and upon treatment completion. It is a predictor for poor treatment outcomes in relapse TB patients and signifies the importance of the clinical managing team adhering to the recommendations suggested by the CPG, which are routine monitoring of sputum smears being practiced, including the procedure to induce sputum in patients who have difficulty to produce the phlegm.

Apart from that, this study also highlighted the increased risk of unsuccessful treatment outcomes associated with private treatment facilities; this signifies that strengthening the multisectoral and TB public-private partnership and regular training to have updates on recent knowledge is important. TB program managers, public and private practitioners, and NGOs all have a critical role in TB prevention and Control efforts and to end TB epidemics.

The strength of our study is that it is the first study done in Selangor focusing solely on relapse TB patients and its associated factors for unsuccessful treatment outcomes. This evidence would be beneficial for TB Control teams to plan out tailored strategies and approaches specific to this group of patients which have a higher risk of unsuccessful treatment.

A limitation of our study is that this study utilized secondary data that have limited variables, for example, the factors that can affect the adherence to TB medication, including side effects of TB regimes, other comorbidities associated with TB, such as alcohol abuse, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

CONCLUSION

This study has identified one of the determinants of unsuccessful treatment among relapse TB patients is the lack of routine sputum smear examination after completing 5 months of therapy, and being treated in government facilities is a protective factor. The study also highlights the high proportion of unsuccessful treatment outcome among relapse TB patients and the importance of adherence to routine sputum monitoring and strengthening public-private partnerships.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We express our gratitude to the Director General of Health Malaysia for granting us permission to publish this material. We would like to extend our appreciation to the Selangor Health State Department for allowing us to carry out this research. We would like to express our gratitude to the Department of Public Health Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, UiTM for their invaluable support during the study.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Definitions and reporting framework for tuberculosis – 2013 revision: updated December 2014 and January 2020 [Internet]. Définitions et cadre de notification pour la tuberculose – révision 2013. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 [cited 2024 Jan 6]. Available from: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/79199
- MOH. Malaysia Ministry of Health. National strategic plan for tuberculosis control (2016-2020). Kuala Lumpur: MOH; 2016
- 3. Kim L, Moonan PK, Heilig CM, Woodruff RSY, Kammerer JS, Haddad MB. Factors associated with recurrent tuberculosis more than 12 months after treatment completion. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2016; 20(1): 49-56.
- Vega V, Rodríguez S, Van der Stuyft P, Seas C, Otero L. Recurrent TB: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the incidence rates and the proportions of relapses and reinfections. Thorax 2021; 76(5): 494-502.
- Dartois VA, Rubin EJ. Anti-tuberculosis treatment strategies and drug development: challenges and priorities. Nat Rev Microbiol 2022; 20(11): 685-701.
- 6. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2021.
- Romanowski K, Balshaw RF, Benedetti A, Campbell JR, Menzies D, Ahmad Khan F, et al. Predicting tuberculosis relapse in patients treated with the standard 6-month regimen: an individual patient data meta-analysis. Thorax 2019; 74(3): 291-7.
- Dooley KE, Lahlou O, Ghali I, Knudsen J, Elmessaoudi MD, Cherkaoui I, et al. Risk factors for tuberculosis treatment failure, default, or relapse and outcomes of retreatment in Morocco. BMC Public Health 2011; 11(1): 140.
- Anaam MS, Alrasheedy AA. Recurrence Rate of Pulmonary Tuberculosis in Patients Treated with the Standard 6-Month Regimen: Findings and Implications from a Prospective Observational Multicenter Study. Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease [Internet]. 2023 Feb 1 [cited 2024 Feb 8];8(2):110. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2414-6366/8/2/110
- Jiang H, Yin J, Liu F, Yao Y, Cai C, Xu J, et al. Epidemiology of recurrent pulmonary tuberculosis by bacteriological features of 100 million residents in China. BMC Infect Dis. 2022; 22(1): 638.
- 11. Njiro BJ, Kisonga R, Joachim C, Sililo GA, Nkiligi E, Ibisomi L, et al. Epidemiology and treatment outcomes of recurrent tuberculosis in Tanzania from 2018 to 2021 using the National TB dataset. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases 2024; 18(2): e0011968.
- Hermans SM, Zinyakatira N, Caldwell J, Cobelens FGJ, Boulle A, Wood R. High rates of recurrent tuberculosis disease: A population-level cohort study. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2020; 72(11): 1919-26.

- Kaur K, Said S, Norkhadijah S, Lim PY. Risk factors of unfavourable TB treatment outcomes in Hulu Langat, Selangor. Malaysian Journal of Medicine and Health Sciences 2022; 18: 52– 60.
- 14. Mohidem NA, Osman M, Hashim Z, Muharam FM, Mohd Elias S, Shaharudin R. Association of sociodemographic and environmental factors with spatial distribution of tuberculosis cases in Gombak, Selangor, Malaysia. Wen TH, editor. PLOS ONE 2021; 16(6): e0252146.
- 15. Mohammad Haikal Suhairi, Mohamad M, Mohamad Rodi Isa, Sherzkawee A, Ismail N. Risk factors for tuberculosis-related death among adults with drug-sensitive pulmonary tuberculosis in Selangor, Malaysia from 2013 to 2019: a retrospective cohort study using surveillance data. BMJ open 2024; 14(2): e080144-4.
- 16. Selangor Health State Department. National Tuberculosis registry (NTBR) [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://ntbr.moh.gov.my/
- 17. Mutembo S, Mutanga JN, Musokotwane K, Kanene C, Dobbin K, Yao X, et al. Urban-rural disparities in treatment outcomes among recurrent TB cases in Southern Province, Zambia. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19(1): 1087.
- Slama K, Tachfouti N, Obtel M, Nejjari C. Factors associated with treatment default by tuberculosis patients in Fez, Morocco. East Mediterr Health J 2013; 19(08): 687-93.
- Matulyte E, Davidaviciene E, Kancauskiene Z, Diktanas S, Kausas A, Velyvyte D, et al. The socio-demographic, clinical characteristics and outcomes of tuberculosis among HIV infected adults in Lithuania: A thirteen-year analysis. Lee YT, editor. PLOS ONE 2023; 18(3): e0282046.
- Velavan A, Purty AJ, Shringarpure K, Sagili KD, Mishra AK, Selvaraj KS, et al. Tuberculosis retreatment outcomes and associated factors: a mixed-methods study from Puducherry, India. Public Health Action. 2018; 8(4): 187-93.
- 21. Tok PSK, Liew SM, Wong LP, Razali A, Loganathan T, Chinna K, et al. Determinants of unsuccessful treatment outcomes and mortality among tuberculosis patients in Malaysia: A registrybased cohort study. Ehtesham HS, editor. PLOS ONE 2020; 15(4): e0231986.
- 22. Zong Z, Huo F, Shi J, Jing W, Ma Y, Liang Q, et al. Relapse versus reinfection of recurrent tuberculosis patients in a national tuberculosis specialized hospital in Beijing, China. Frontiers in Microbiology 2018; 9.
- 23. Zereabruk K, Kahsay T, Teklemichael H, Aberhe W, Hailay A, Mebrahtom G, et al. Determinants of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis among adults undergoing treatment for tuberculosis in Tigray Region, Ethiopia: a case–control study. BMJ Open Resp Res 2024; 11(1): e001999.
- 24. Ministry of Health, Malaysia. Manual Sistem Maklumat Tibi Kebangsaan (Semakan 2018). Putrajaya: Disease Control Division, Ministry of Health; 2019; 8-9.
- 25. Ministry of Health Malaysia. Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of Tuberculosis (4th edition). MOH/P/PAK/258.12(GU). Putrajaya: Ministry of Health Malaysia; 2012
- 26. Limenh LW, Kasahun AE, Sendekie AK, Seid AM, Mitku ML, Fenta ET, et al. Tuberculosis treatment outcomes and associated factors among tuberculosis patients treated at healthcare facilities of Motta Town, Northwest Ethiopia: a five-year retrospective study. Scientific Reports 2024; 14(1): 7695.

- 27. Debash H, Nega J, Bisetegn H, Tesfaw G, Feleke DG, Ebrahim H, et al. Tuberculosis treatment outcomes and its predictors among tuberculosis patients registered at Tefera Hailu Memorial General Hospital, Sekota Town, Northeast Ethiopia: a seven-year retrospective study. Sharma D, editor. Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology 2023; 2023: 1-9.
- 28. Rostam Niakan Kalhori S, Nasehi M, Zeng XJ. A logistic regression model to predict high risk patients to fail in tuberculosis treatment course completion. IAENG International Journal of Applied Mathematics 2010; 40.
- 29. Murphy ME, Wills GH, Murthy S, Louw C, Bateson ALC, Hunt RD, et al. Gender differences in tuberculosis treatment outcomes: a post hoc analysis of the REMoxTB study. BMC Medicine 2018; 16(1): 189.
- 30. Wang S. Development of a nomogram for predicting treatment default under facility-based directly observed therapy shortcourse in a region with a high tuberculosis burden. Ther Adv Infect Dis 2021; 8: 20499361211034066.
- 31. Global Tuberculosis Report 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023.
- Nakaggwa P, Odeke R, Kirenga BJ, Bloss E. Incomplete sputum smear microscopy monitoring among smear-positive tuberculosis patients in Uganda. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2016; 20(5): 594-9.
- 33. Chijioke-Akaniro O, Onyemaechi S, Kuye J, Ubochioma E, Omoniyi A, Urhioke O, et al. Challenges in engaging the private sector for tuberculosis prevention and care in Nigeria: a mixed methods study. BMJ Open 2023; 13(9): e069123.
- 34. PS R, Shannawaz M, Mathew ME, Sachdeva KS. Facilitators and barriers for private health sector engagement for tb care in india: A systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative research. Glob Health Sci Pract 2024; 12(4): e2400034.
- 35. Wippel C, Farroñay S, Gilbert HN, Millones AK, Acosta D, Torres I, et al. Exploring the role of the private sector in tuberculosis detection and management in Lima, Peru: a mixed-methods patient pathway analysis. medRxiv. 2023.
- 36. Shah HD, Chaudhary S, Desai B, Patel J, Yasobant S, Bhavsar P, et al. Exploring private sector perspectives on barriers and facilitators in availing tuberculosis care cascade services: a qualitative study from the Indian state. BMC Primary Care 2024; 25(1): 5.
- 37. Probandari A, Lindholm L, Stenlund H, Utarini A, Hurtig AK. Missed opportunity for standardized diagnosis and treatment among adult Tuberculosis patients in hospitals involved in Public-Private Mix for Directly Observed Treatment Short-Course strategy in Indonesia: a cross-sectional study. BMC Health Services Research 2010; 10(1): 113.
- Naseer M, Khawaja A, Pethani AS, Aleem S. How well can physicians manage Tuberculosis? A Public-Private sector comparison from Karachi, Pakistan. BMC Health Services Research 2013; 13(1): 439.

The ten-year cardiovascular disease risk prediction among primary healthcare workers using the office-based globorisk tool: A cross-sectional study

Zazarida Zakiman, MD¹, Aimi Nadira Mat Ruzlin, PhD¹, Xin Wee Chen, DrPH¹, Rosnawati Muhamad Robat, DrPH²

¹Department of Public Health Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Selangor, Malaysia, ²Occupational and Safety Unit, Selangor State Health Department, Ministry of Health, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) remain to be the leading cause of premature mortality worldwide, and healthcare workers (HCWs) are potentially at risk for developing CVDs. Office-based Globorisk is a ten-year risk prediction tool for CVDs risk scores. This present study aims to determine the prevalence of CVDs risk and risk factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk among primary HCWs in government health clinics in Selangor.

Materials and Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted on 543 HCWs from the KOSPEN WOW ("Komuniti Sihat Pembina Negara" or "Healthy Community Builds the Nation-Wellness of Workers") database in three district health offices (DHOs) under the Selangor State Health Department in Malaysia. To estimate the office-based Globorisk model, factors such as age, sex, current smoking status, systolic blood pressure (SBP), and body mass index (BMI) were included. Data analysis employed were Pearson chi-square test, Fisher's exact test, Welch's t-test and binary logistic regression.

Results: Among 543 participants, 453 (83.4%) were female, 439 (80.8%) were Malay with mean (SD) age of 44.4 (4.38). Majority of moderate-high CVDs risk identified among primary HCWs was male with 26 (86.7%), Malay with 25 (83.3%), and non-clinical group with 17 (56.7%). The prevalence of low CVDs risk was 94.5% (95% Cl: 92.2–96.2) and 5.5% (95% Cl: 3.8–7.8) for the moderate-high risk category. Factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk were job category with non-clinical group (95% Cl: 1.43, 6.85), elevated blood glucose (95% Cl: 3.25, 19.41) and anxiety symptom (95% Cl: 1.46, 13.86).

Conclusion: The KOSPEN WOW platform is effective for screening and guiding implementation of intervention programmes to prevent CVDs.

KEYWORDS:

Cardiovascular disease risk, primary healthcare workers, officebased Globorisk, KOSPEN WOW

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are a group of heart and blood vessel disorders, including coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, rheumatic heart disease, peripheral arterial disease, and congenital heart disease.¹ CVDs remain to be the leading cause of premature mortality worldwide, resulting in over 20 million deaths and more than 400 million disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) lost in 2021.² In Malaysia, cardiovascular and circulatory diseases, including ischemic heart disease (17.7%) and cerebrovascular disease or stroke (8.0%), were the primary causes of years of life lost (YLL).³

Healthcare workers (HCWs) are potentially at risk of developing CVDs⁴ due to high prevalence of CVDs risk factors. Studies among HCWs reported that 45.6% of primary HCWs practiced sedentary lifestyle⁵, 54.2 % were overweight and obese⁶, 46.7% had high blood glucose⁴, and 72.7% were smokers.⁴ HCWs were also more susceptible to psychological problems such as depression⁷ and stress⁸ which contributes to an increase of CVDs risk. In addition, a prior study also indicated that the prevalence of CVDs risk among HCWs in a tertiary healthcare facility in Kuala Lumpur was significant, with 30.8% of the HCWs classified as having a moderate and high ten-year CVDs risk.⁴

The Ministry of Health Malaysia (MOH) established the KOSPEN WOW ("Komuniti Sihat Pembina Negara" or "Healthy Community Builds the Nation Wellness of Workers"), a comprehensive workplace health intervention programme aimed at reducing the burden of Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs) such as CVDs and related risk factors among employees.9 There is a total of eight components in the KOSPEN WOW programme including health screening as one of the scopes, which is a good initiative to be able to detect CVDs risk in the early stages.9 HCWs in government health clinics, whether clinical or nonclinical, will undergo general health screenings at least once a year through this scope in the KOSPEN WOW programme.9 The Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Unit is responsible for ensuring the HCWs undergo health screenings, including anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, waist circumference, capillary glucose level, alcohol

This article was accepted: 06 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Aimi Nadira Mat Ruzlin Email: aiminadira@uitm.edu.my

and smoking status, as well as psychological screening in terms of stress, depression and anxiety.⁹ The other seven components of KOSPEN WOW intervention activities, such as healthy eating, non-smoking practice, active living, weight management, healthy mind, healthy workplace, as well as prevention and reducing harmful use of alcohol are applied based on the risk detected from the health screenings.⁹

Globorisk tool, including office-based and laboratory-based calculators, is effective for calculating CVDs risk.¹¹ The officebased Globorisk tool is useful when there is limited resources for blood testing.¹² Comparative studies between Globorisk and other CVDs risk tools showed that the Globorisk had good agreement with WHO risk scores.¹³ and moderate agreement with Framingham Risk Score.¹⁴ Globorisk had low sensitivity (27.5%¹⁵ and 21.9%¹⁶) and high specificity (89.0¹⁵ and 94.2%¹⁶) indicating that it is still a useful tool in CVDs risk screening.

According to WHO, an estimated 80% of CVDs is preventable and ideally CVDs risk among HCWs were expected to be low due to their adequate knowledge of CVDs risk prevention.¹⁷ However, despite their adequate knowledge and awareness of health, HCWs had a high prevalence of moderate and high ten-year CVDs risk⁴, including risk factors such as practicing a sedentary lifestyle⁵, being overweight or obese⁶, having high blood glucose⁴, and smoking.⁴ High prevalence of CVDs and its risk factors may cause low quality of life¹⁸, disrupt the quality of services, and leads to life-threatening complications.³ Majority of the CVDs risk studies in Malaysia were conducted at tertiary settings,⁴ and there were limited studies focusing on the primary HCWs. This study would also investigate psychological distress among HCWs and its association with CVDs risk, which has not been previously studied. The objectives of this study were to determine the prevalence of CVDs risk and risk factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk among primary HCWs in government health clinics in Selangor, Malaysia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This etiological research used a cross-sectional study design to determine the prevalence of CVDs risk and risk factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk among primary HCWs in Selangor, Malaysia. This study was conducted by obtaining secondary data from the KOSPEN WOW database under the Selangor State Health Department, Malaysia.

Location and Study Population

This study was conducted by randomly selecting three DHOs out of nine DHOs in Selangor State, Malaysia. The secondary data was extracted from the selected DHOs, Petaling, Hulu Langat and Kuala Selangor. The study population was primary HCWs working in government health clinics who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria were: i) HCWs aged \geq 40 years old (requirement from office-based Globorisk calculator); ii) must have undergone KOSPEN WOW general health and mental health screening from 1 January 2023 to 31 May 2024. Meanwhile, the exclusion criteria were: i) HCWs with incomplete data needed for office-based Globorisk calculator; ii) known history of

CVDs and; iii) workers who were not employed under the Ministry of Health, Malaysia such as cleaner or security guard.

Sample size

Sample size was estimated by using Open Source Epidemiologic Statistics for Public Health (OpenEpi) software for a single population proportion. The estimated primary HCWs population in Selangor is 7000. Based on a previous study by Che Muhammad et al, 2022, the prevalence of high CVDs risk among the population using Globorisk was 48.9%, and by taking the confidence interval of 95%, power of 80%, and 5% absolute precision, the estimated sample size required was 365. An additional 20% was included to the final sample size estimation to compensate any incomplete data, hence the minimum sample size required in this study was 438 subjects.

Universal sampling method was applied by including all sample from Petaling, Hulu Langat and Kuala Selangor DHOs who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Data Collection

The collection of secondary data from KOSPEN WOW database was conducted at the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) unit of the Selangor State Health Department, as well as from the Petaling, Hulu Langat, and Kuala Selangor DHOs.

Study Variables

The study's outcome, CVDs risk by definition, was a ten-year risk prediction for CVDs among primary HCWs working at government health clinics in Selangor. The CVDs risk scores were calculated using the office-based Globorisk tool and then categorized into low and moderate-high risk.¹⁸ A score less than 10% indicated low risk, and more than 10% indicated moderate-high risk prediction to develop CVDs in a ten-year period.¹⁹ The data required for office-based Globorisk calculator included height (cm), weight (kg), gender, age \geq 40 years old , smoking status (yes or no), and systolic blood pressure for the CVDs risk calculation.

The independent variables were divided into three groups: sociodemographic factors, such as ethnicity, job category, and family history of CVDs; lifestyle-related behaviours, such as alcohol consumption; and health-related factors, including a known case of diabetes mellitus (DM), hypertension (HPT), high cholesterol, waist circumference (WC), capillary blood glucose level, and psychological assessment. The psychological assessments were conducted by utilizing validated Whooley questionnaires for depression and the General Anxiety Disorder-2 (GAD-2) questionnaire for anxiety screening.

Data Management

Secondary data without identifiers from the KOSPEN WOW database were obtained from the data owner at the OSH Unit in Petaling, Hulu Langat and Kuala Selangor DHOs. The data was compiled into a Microsoft Excel Open XML Spreadsheet (xlsx) format. The process of data cleaning and checking missing data was conducted. Listwise deletion was used for missing data required for Globorisk calculator. The

The ten-year cardiovascular disease risk prediction among primary healthcare workers using the office-based globorisk tool

Variables		n-value		
Vanabico	Low (n=513)	Moderate-high (n=30)	Total (n=543)	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Cosio domo gran bis fostors	(///	().07	(//)	
	44.2 (4.14)	40.1 (F.62)	11 1 (1 20)	-0.0014
Age (years)	44.2 (4.14)	49.1 (5.02) E (16.7)	244.4 (4.30)	<0.001
40-44	337 (05.7)	5 (10.7)	342 (63.0)	
45-49	118 (23.0)	10 (33.3)	128 (23.6)	
50-54	40 (7.8)	6 (20.0)	46 (8.5)	
55-59	18 (3.5)	9 (30.0)	27 (5.0)	
Gender				
Female	449 (87.5)	4 (13.3)	453 (83.4)	<0.001°
Male	64 (12.5)	26 (86.7)	90 (16.6)	
Ethnicity				
Malav	414 (80.7)	25 (83.3)	439 (80.8)	0.722 ^b
Non-Malay	99 (19,3)	5 (16,7%)	104 (19.2)	
lob category			,	
Clinical	374 (72.9)	13 (43 3)	387 (71 3)	<0.001⁵
Non-clinical	139 (27 1)	17 (56 7)	156 (28 7)	<0.001
Eamily history of CVDs	155 (27.1)	17 (50.7)	150 (20.7)	
Family history of CVDs	450 (04 4)	20 (02 2)	407 (04 5)	
NO	469 (91.4)	28 (93.3)	497 (91.5)	4.000
Yes	44 (8.6)	2 (6.7)	46 (8.5)	1.000
Lifestyle-related behavior				
Smoking				
No	504 (98.2)	18 (60.0)	522 (96.1)	<0.001°
Yes	9 (1.8)	12 (40.0)	21 (3.9)	
Alcohol consumption				
No	459 (89.5)	26 (86.7)	485 (89.3)	0.549 ^c
Yes	54 (10.5)	4 (13.3)	58 (10.7)	
Health-related factors				
Height (m) ^a	1 58 (0 07)	1 67 (0 10)	1 59 (0 08)	<0.001₫
Weight (kg) ^a	69 7 (14 27)	84.8 (18.86)	70.6 (14.94)	<0.001
$PMI (kg/m^2)^a$	27.0 (5.25)	20.2 (4.60)	28.0 (5.22)	0.014
Divil (Kg/III)	27.9 (5.55)	30.2 (4.00)	20.0 (5.55)	
Normal	157 (30.8)	3 (10.0)	160 (29.7)	0.033
Overweight	199 (39.1)	13 (43.3)	212 (39.3)	
Obesity	153 (30.1)	14 (46./)	167 (31.0)	
Waist circumference (cm)				
Malea	88.2 (12.69)	100.7 (17.77)	91.8 (15.32)	<0.003
Femalea	87.8 (12.23)	93.1 (9.65)	87.8 (12.21)	0.351 ^d
Elevated waist circumference				
Yes	360 (70.2)	21 (70.0)	381 (70.2)	0.984 ^b
No	153 (29.8)	9 (30.0)	162 (29.8)	
Blood alucose (ma/d) ^a	5.4 (1.01)	7.5 (3.93)	5.5 (1.43)	<0.005d
Elevated blood glucose				
No	363 (70.8)	7 (23,3)	370 (68.1)	<0.001
Ves	150 (29 2)	23 (76 7)	173 (31.9)	0.001
Blood pressure (mmHa)	150 (25.2)	25 (70.77	175 (51.5)	
CDDa	110.0 (10.56)	126.0 (15.42)	120.8 (11.54)	<0.001 ^d
	75 4 (11 26)	79.1 (22.02)	76.1 (10.20)	<0.001
	75.4 (11.20)	/8.1 (22.93)	76.1 (10.29)	0.010
Elevated BP	207 (50.0)	20 (02 2)		0.004h
Yes	307 (59.8)	28 (93.3)	335 (61.7)	<0.001
No	206 (40.2)	2 (6.7)	208 (38.3)	
Known case of DM				
No	473 (92.2)	22 (73.3)	495 (91.2)	0.003°
Yes	40 (7.8)	8 (26.7)	48 (8.8)	
Known case of HPT				
No	440 (85.8)	21 (70.0)	461 (84.9)	0.032 ^c
Yes	73 (14.2)	9 (30.0)	82 (15.1)	
Known case of high cholesterol				
No	478 (93 2)	24 (80 0)	502 (92 4)	0.019
Ves	35 (6.8)	6 (20 0)	41 (7.6)	0.015
Depression	0.0)	0 (20.0)		
No	150 (00 2)	DE (00 0)	102 (00 0)	0.2610
NU	430 (03.3)	23 (03.3) E (16.7)	403 (03.0)	0.001
T ES	55 (10.7)	5 (16./)	60 (11.0)	
Anxiety			F00 (05 5)	0.025
No	483 (94.2)	25 (83.3)	508 (93.6)	0.036
Yes	30 (5.8)	5 (14.3)	35 (6.4)	

Table I: Characteristics of primary HCWs in Selangor according to CVDs risk outcomes

Abbreviation: SD = standard deviation, CVDs = cardiovascular disease, DM = diabetes mellitus, HPT = hypertension

^aMean (SD), ^bChi-square Test, ^cFisher's Exact Test, ^dWelch's t-test

Variables	Simple logistic regression					
	B (SE)	Wald (df)	Crude OR (95% CI)	p-value		
Sociodemographic factors						
Ethinicity						
Malay	0.18 (0.50)	0.13 (1)	1.2 (0.45, 3.20)	0.722		
Non-Malay			1			
Job category						
Non-clinical	1.26 (0.38)	10.87 (1)	3.52 (1.67, 7.43)	<0.001		
Clinical			1			
Family history of CVDs						
No	0.27 (0.749)	0.13 (1)	1.31 (0.30, 5.70)	0.716		
Yes			1			
Lifestyle-related behavior						
Alcohol consumption						
Yes	0.27 (0.56)	0.23 (1)	1.31 (0.44, 3.89)	0.629		
No			1			
Health-related factors						
Elevated WC						
Yes	0.48 (0.47)	1.07 (1)	1.62 (0.65, 4.05)	0.3		
No			1			
Elevated blood glucose						
Yes	2.07 (0.44)	21.96 (1)	7.95 (3.34, 18.93)	<0.001		
No			1			
Known case of DM						
Yes	1.459 (0.44)	10.77 (1)	4.3 (1.8, 10.28)	0.001		
No			1			
Known case of HPT						
Yes	0.95 (0.42)	5.16 (1)	2.59 (1.14, 5.86)	0.023		
No			1			
Known case of high cholesterol						
Yes	1.23 (0.49)	6.31 (1)	3.41 (1.31, 8.9)	0.012		
No			1			
Depression						
Yes	0.51 (0.51)	1.00 (1)	1.67 (0.61, 4.53)	0.317		
No			1			
Anxiety		= = = (1)				
Yes	1.17 (0.53)	5.00 (1)	3.22 (1.15, 9.01)	0.026		
No			1			

Abbreviation: B = Beta, SE = standard error, df = degree of freedom, OR = odd ratio, CI = confidence interval, CVDs = cardiovascular disease, WC = waist circumference, DM = diabetes mellitus, HPT = hypertension

Statistical test = Simple logistic regression, statistical significant = p-value <0.05

Table III: Factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk among primary HCW in Selangor (n=543)

Variables	B(SE)	Wald (df)	Adj. OR (95% CI)	p-value
Sociodemographic factors				
Job category				
Non-clinical	1.14 (0.399)	8.174 (1)	3.13 (1.43, 6.85)	0.004
Clinical			1	
Elevated blood glucose				
Yes	2.07 (0.46)	20.67 (1)	7.94 (3.25, 19.41)	<0.001
No			1	
Anxiety				
Yes	1.50 (0.57)	6.88 (1)	4.50 (1.46, 13.86)	0.009
No				

Abbreviation: B = Beta, SE = standard error, df = degree of freedom, Adj.= Adjusted, OR = odd ratio CI = confidence interval,

Hosmer and Lemeshow test: 0.626, No interaction or multicollinearity

Statistical test = Multiple logistic regression, Statistical significant = p-value <0.05

*Refer Table II for significant variables selected into the multiple logistic regression model.

final sample (n=543) were transferred and analysed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software version 29.0 IBM SPSS Inc..

To safeguard the privacy and confidentiality of the subjects, the researcher received data from the data owner without any identifier such as name, NRIC number, telephone number or home address. Identification running number for example "1, 2, 3..." were used to identify the subjects. The data received were safely kept in a password-protected computer, and only the research team members were able to access the data.



Fig. 1: Flow diagram of participants selection

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive and inferential statistics analysis were conducted using IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Inc. version 29.0. Descriptive statistics analysis was used to describe the prevalence and characteristics of CVDs risk among the study participants. The characteristics of primary HCWs according to CVDs risk were presented as proportions in frequency and percentages (%) for categorical variables. On the other hand, continous variables were presented as mean with standard deviation (SD).

Inferential statistics analysis was conducted to determine risk factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk among primary HCWs. Univariate analyses were conducted by using Pearson chi-square or Fisher's exact test for categorical variables and Welch's t-test for continuous variables. Multivariable analysis, binary logistic regression was used to identify factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk. Variables were included in the multiple logistic regression model based on a statistically significant p-value <0.05 in the simple logistic regression. Variable selection was conducted using the backward elimination method. The preliminary model was tested for linearity in the logit, interaction, and multicollinearity. The model's fitness was determined using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test and the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. The strength of association between each risk factors and outcome measure was reported as crude or adjusted odds ratios (OR), 95% confidence intervals (CI), and their corresponding p-values. The significance level for the statistical test was set at p-value <0.05.

Ethics Approval

This study was conducted in compliance with ethical principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki and Malaysian Good Clinical Practice Guideline. The ethical approval from UiTM Research Ethics Committee (REC) - (FERC-EX-24-08) and Medical Research and Ethic Committee (MREC) - NMRR ID-24-00930-EVZ (IIR) were obtained for this study.

RESULTS

Figure 1 shows the flowchart diagram of participant selection from three DHOs in Selangor, Malaysia. A total of 543 participants were analysed with 513 categorised as low-risk and 30 in the moderate-high risk category for the ten-year CVDs risk prediction. The prevalence of CVDs risk among the participants was 94.5% (95% CI: 92.2–96.2) for the low-risk category and 5.5% (95% CI: 3.8–7.8) for the moderate-highrisk category. The characteristics of the primary HCWs in Selangor are shown in Table I with most participants being female 453 (83.4%), Malay ethnicity 439 (80.8%), mean (SD) for age of 44.4 (4.38). Majority of primary HCWs with moderate-high CVDs risk were male, with 26 (86.7%), malay ethnicity, 25 (83.3%), non-clinical group, 17 (56.7%), and obesity, with a mean BMI of 30.2 kg/m^2 .

Table II shows factors associated with moderate-high CVDs risk among primary HCWs in Selangor. The simple logistic regression analysis produced a significant p-value <0.05 for six independent variables, prompting a subsequent multiple logistic regression analysis. The factors that were significant included sociodemographic factors; non-clinical job category with crude OR 3.52 (95% CI: 1.67, 7.43) and health-related factors; elevated blood glucose with crude OR 7.95 (95% CI: 3.34, 18.93), history of DM with crude OR 4.3 (95%CI: 1.8, 10.28), HPT with crude OR 2.59 (95% CI: 1.14, 5.86), and hypercholesterolemia with crude OR 3.41 (95% CI: 1.31, 8.9), as well as symptoms of anxiety with crude OR 3.22 (95% CI: 1.15, 9.01).

Table III displays the results of the multivariable analysis which showed three significant factors after adjustment of confounders, including non-clinical job category with aOR 3.13 (95% CI: 1.43,6.85), elevated blood glucose with aOR 7.94 (95% CI: 3.25, 19.41) and anxiety symptoms with aOR 4.50 (95% CI: 1.46, 13.86). We found that other factors that were not significant, including known case of DM, HPT and high cholesterol were confounders in this study.

DISCUSSION

The prevalence of moderate-high risk of developing CVDs among the primary HCWs was found to be lower compared to previous studies conducted in a tertiary center in Kuala Lumpur⁴ and among the general Malaysian population.¹⁹ This contrast could be due to an imbalanced proportion of HCWs, with the majority of the workers in government health clinics in Selangor being young age and female that contributed to lower CVDs risk.²¹

From the current findings, 61.7% of primary HCWs had modifiable CVDs risk factor, including elevated BP (\geq 140/90 mmHg). This findings were higher than the KOSPEN WOW 2022 report, where only 19% of the general workers in Malaysia had elevated BP.⁹ Despite their good knowledge and perception of health, HCWs were at risk of developing hypertension as they tend to consume fast foods and lack of physical activity duration.²³ Future health promotion programmes must be implemented, with a focus on changing lifestyle behaviours such as adopting healthy eating habits and engaging in active physical activity.

This study also found that primary HCWs in Selangor were mostly overweight and obese, including abdominal obesity with a waist circumference of \geq 80 cm in females and \geq 90 cm in males. These findings are consistent with other study findings in Africa²⁴, Palestine²⁵ and Malaysia^{6,26} with more than half of the HCWs being overweight and obese. The high prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary HCWs is a growing concern to MOH as Malaysia was even ranked as the most obese country in Southeast Asia.²⁷ On top of that, HCWs were also found to have abdominal obesity, which is related to developing other CVDs risk factors, including HPT, DM, hypercholesterolemia, and obstructive sleep apnea (OSA).^{28,29} The effects of OSA for example may cause a reduction in workplace performance ability, loss of focus and memory, fatigue, and emotional disturbance.³⁰ Furthermore, individuals with a normal BMI but a high waist circumference have poor life expectancy than overweight or obese individuals who do not have abdominal obesity.³¹ Therefore, a vigorous weight reduction programme among HCWs should not only target a normal BMI but also to achieve a normal waist circumference.

Our analysis showed that job category had a significant association with higher CVDs risk, with non-clinical HCWs having a higher odd to develop moderate-high risk of CVDs compared to the clinical group. A similar finding was found in Singapore, which showed that the modifiable risk factors for CVDs among non-healthcare professional were higher.³² This is due to the fact that HCWs in hospitals were required to move around frequently, compared to those in health clinics who were less physically active.⁵ Other than that, knowledge of CVDs is higher among the clinical group compared to the non-clinical group, which is related to their better attitude and perception about the disease.³³ Hence, it is crucial to prioritise health awareness and educational activities to enhance non-clinical HCWs' understanding of the issues before inviting them to join the programme aimed at mitigating the risk of CVDs.

This study also showed that primary HCWs with elevated capillary blood glucose levels during KOSPEN WOW screening had a significant association with an increased risk of CVDs. High glucose levels were associated with the progression of atherosclerosis or heart failure, which will lead to increased CVDs risk.³⁴ A hospital-based study conducted in Taiwan showed that there was a significant increase in blood glucose plasma among HCWs following the COVID-19 pandemic.³⁵ Due to workplace burden, HCWs were prone to chronic exhaustion, which affected their health behaviour, reduced their time for exercise, and led to unhealthy eating habits that resulted in elevated blood glucose levels.³⁵ Therefore, a preventative programme must target this group of HCWs to prevent them from developing DM as well as reduce the risk of CVDs.

Psychosocial factor was another factor that we found to have significant association with moderate-high risk of developing CVDs. Primary HCWs with anxiety had a 4.5 times odd to develop moderate-high CVDs risk compared to those without the condition. This was in congruent with other similar studies in German³⁶ and United States³⁷ communities, where generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) was significantly associated with CVDs. Anxious individuals tend to develop sympathetic nervous system hyperactivity, which can overstimulate heart rate and blood pressure, leading to the rapid progression of atherosclerosis.³⁸ In contrast, another study suggested anxiety as a cardio-protective factor in the CVDs context, where it reduced the risk of myocardial infarction.³⁹ This was related to a situation where anxiety arose due to a CVDs diagnosis whereby people tend to focus more on their health and took protective measures to avoid the CVDs events.³⁹ Although depression was found not to be significant, proper assessment and treatment of depression and anxiety symptoms among primary HCWs is necessary to prevent further health deterioration that may result in increased risk of CVDs.

This study indicated that the office-based Globorisk calculator is a valuable tool for predicting ten-year CVDs risk in primary HCWs over 40 years of age. We proposed that the estimation of CVDs risk should be mandatory via the use of this instrument. Moreover, the intervention planning strategies aimed at combating CVDs should prioritise the non-clinical HCWs due to their associated risk of developing a higher CVDs risk. We encourage the DHOs to implement the intervention strategies outlined in the KOSPEN WOW component, such as the promotion of active living, healthy eating, and weight management. It is also crucial to ensure that a significant number of primary HCWs participate in these intervention activities and to make it compulsory for those who are at risk. Furthermore, the intervention strategy must involve the participation of all HCWs to achieve an ideal waist circumference, which can serve as an effective foundation for a weight loss program. For instance, DHOs or MOH may mandate that all HCWs must achieve and maintain an ideal waist circumference as a component of workplace requirements. We also recommend that psychological distress, such as anxiety and depression among HCWs need to be properly assessed, and if the root cause is work-related, a proactive intervention must be implemented. Proactive interventions may include collaborative care, whereby an interprofessional team collaboratively manages cases and monitors HCWs, task or workplace shifting as necessary, and referral to a specialised care for more intensive treatment.⁴⁰ We strongly urge that these initiatives and activities require coordination and understanding among all stakeholders to ensure their effectiveness in reducing CVDs risk development among HCWs. This study may provide baseline data for further cohort studies related to CVDs risk involving HCWs.

Strength and limitations

This is the first study in Malaysia that employed office-based Globorisk tool as a CVDs risk prediction among HCWs. This study utilised reliable data obtained from medical officers responsible for yearly health screening among HCWs. The anthropometric and biological measurements were performed using calibrated instruments by well-trained health personnels who presumed to have good clinical skills. The use of a cross-sectional study design limited this study by the inability to establish a temporal relationship and a causality effect between the exposure and outcome. It was also necessary to exercise caution when generalizing the results of this study, as it was conducted in a single state, restricted to the primary HCWs population, imbalance percentage of gender and race where majority was conquered by female and Malay participants. Furthermore, the use of secondary data resulted in a lack of important factors, such as residential type, marital status, household income, stress symptoms, physical activity, and dietary habits, that may have been valuable for this study. Moreover, the lack of data on the percentage of HCWs participating in the health screening could potentially lead to selection bias in this study. The quality of data collected were solely based on the skills of health personnels in charged. Variables such as smoking status, alcohol consumption, history of illness and psychological screening relied on HCWs' responses, where information bias may occur.

CONCLUSION

The three main factors that have an association with a moderate-high risk of CVDs among primary HCWs are the non-clinical group, elevated capillary blood glucose levels, and anxiety. Therefore, it is crucial to employ intervention strategies considering these findings to reduce the risk of developing CVDs among HCWs. The KOSPEN WOW platform is effective for screening and guiding the implementation intervention programmes to prevent CVDs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We express our gratitude to the Director General of Health Malaysia for granting us permission to publish this article. We would like to thank to the Selangor State Health Department, as well as the District Health Offices in Petaling, Hulu Langat, and Kuala Selangor, for providing us secondary database to perform this study. We also would like to express our appreciation to the Department of Public Health Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM) for their valuable support during the study duration.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors have stated that they have no conflicting interests in the study, authorship, and publishing of this article.

FUNDS

None

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO. Cardiovascular Diseases (CVDs) [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2021. Available from: https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds).
- 2. Murray CJL. Findings from the global burden of disease study 2021. Lancet 2024; 403(10440): 2259–62.
- Khaw WF, Yee Mang Chan, Nur Hamizah Nasaruddin, Alias N, Tan L, Shubash Shander Ganapathy. Malaysian burden of disease: years of life lost due to premature deaths. BMC Public Health. 2023; 23(1).
- 4. Ahmad N, Panduragan SL, Chong Hong Soon, Gemini K, Yee San Khor, Bahrin NA, et al. Ten-year cardiovascular disease risk amongst workers in a tertiary healthcare institution in Kuala Lumpur. Borneo Epidemiology Journal 2020; 1(1): 35-45.
- Abu Saad H, Low PK, Jamaluddin R, Chee HP. Level of physical activity and its associated factors among primary healthcare workers in Perak, Malaysia. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17(16): 5947.
- Kunyahamu MS, Daud A, Jusoh N. Obesity among health-care workers: which occupations are at higher risk of being obese? Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021; 18(8): 4381.
- Fond G, Fernandes S, Lucas G, Greenberg N, Boyer L. Depression in healthcare workers: results from the nationwide AMADEUS survey. Int J Nurs Stud 2022; 135(135): 104328.
- Kuan PX, Chan WK, Chua PF, Yeo J, Sapri FE, Bujang MA, et al. Lifestyle factors associated with cardiovascular risk among healthcare workers from the tertiary hospitals in Sarawak. Malays Fam Physician. 2020 [cited 2023 Nov 8]; 15(1): 15-22.

- 9. Disease Control Division, Ministry of Health Malaysia. MYCDCGP - Guidelines on KOSPEN WOW 2022. BKPKKM.
- 10. Hajifathalian K, Ueda P, Lu Y, Woodward M, Ahmadvand A, Aguilar-Salinas CA, et al. A novel risk score to predict cardiovascular disease risk in national populations (Globorisk): a pooled analysis of prospective cohorts and health examination surveys. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015; 3(5): 339-55.
- 11. Ueda P, Woodward M, Lu Y, Hajifathalian K, Al-Wotayan R, Aguilar-Salinas CA, et al. Laboratory-based and office-based risk scores and charts to predict 10-year risk of cardiovascular disease in 182 countries: a pooled analysis of prospective cohorts and health surveys. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2017; 5(3): 196–213.
- 12. Jahangiry L, Dehghan A, Mojtaba Farjam, Aune D, Rezaei F. Laboratory-based and office-based Globorisk scores to predict 10year risk of cardiovascular diseases among Iranians: results from the Fasa PERSIAN cohort. BMC Med Res Methodol 2022; 22(1).
- 13. Dehghan A, Rezaei F, Aune D. A comparative assessment between globorisk and WHO cardiovascular disease risk scores: a population-based study. Scientific Reports 2023; 13(1).
- 14. Adil SO, Uddin F, Musa KI, Khan A, Shakeel A, Shafique K, et al. Risk assessment for cardiovascular disease using the framingham risk score and globorisk score among newly diagnosed metabolic syndrome patients. Int J Gen Med 2023; 16: 4295–305.
- 15. Mulugeta Molla Birhanu, Ayse Zengin, Evans RG, Joshi R, Kartik Kalyanram, Kamakshi Kartik, et al. Comparison of the performance of cardiovascular risk prediction tools in rural India: the Rishi Valley Prospective Cohort Study. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2023; 31(6): 723-31.
- 16. Derivation, internal validation, and recalibration of a cardiovascular risk score for Latin America and the Caribbean (Globorisk-LAC): a pooled analysis of cohort studies. Lancet Reg Health Am 2022; 9: 100258.
- 17. Osei-Yeboah J, Kye-Amoah KK, Owiredu WKBA, Lokpo SY, Esson J, Bella Johnson B, et al. Cardiometabolic risk factors among healthcare workers: a cross-sectional study at the sefwi-wiawso Municipal Hospital, Ghana. Biomed Res Int 2018; 2018: 1-9.
- 18. Martinelli LMB, Mizutani BM, Mutti A, Dèlia MPB, Coltro RS, Matsubara BB. Quality of life and its association with cardiovascular risk factors in a community health care program population. Clinics (Sao Paulo, Brazil) 2008; 63(6): 783-8.
- Che, Mohd Azahadi Omar, Keegan T, Yu YP, Kamarul Imran Musa. The Ten-year risk prediction for cardiovascular disease for Malaysian adults using the laboratory-based and office-based (globorisk) prediction model. Medicina (Kaunas) 2022; 58(5): 656–6.
- 20. Banks E, Welsh J, Joshy G, Martin M, Paige E, Korda RJ. Comparison of cardiovascular disease risk factors, assessment and management in men and women, including consideration of absolute risk: a nationally representative cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 2020; 10(12): e038761.
- 21. Kaneko H, Yano Y, Okada A, Itoh H, Suzuki Y, Yokota I, et al. Age-dependent association between modifiable risk factors and incident cardiovascular disease. J Am Heart Assoc 2023; 12(2).
- 22. Mwale M, Mulenga M, Milandu P, Bwalya T, Nkhama E, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of hypertension among health workers: a systematic review. International Research in Medical and Health Sciences 2024; 7(1).
- 23. Al Baalharith IM, Alawad ABS, Pappiya EM, Ahmed Halosh IH, Ahmed Alsherim M. The prevalence of hypertension and it determinants among health care professionals in Saudi Arabia. Saudi Journal of Nursing and Health Care 2020; 3(12): 397-402.
- 24. Skaal L, Pengpid S. Obesity and health problems among South African healthcare workers: do healthcare workers take care of themselves? S Afr Fam Pract 2011; 53(6): 563–7.

- 25. Younis J, Jiang H, Fan Y, Wang L, Li Z, Majed Jebril, et al. Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and associated factors among healthcare workers in the Gaza Strip, Palestine: a cross-sectional study. Front Public Health 2023; 11.
- 26. Kit LP, Abu Saad H, Jamaluddin R, Phing CH. Prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary healthcare workers in Perak, Malaysia. IIUM Medical Journal Malaysia 2020; 19(1).
- 27. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. Lancet 2014; 384(9945): 766-81.
- Darsini D, Hamidah H, Notobroto HB, Cahyono EA. Health risks associated with high waist circumference: a systematic review. J Public Health Res 2020; 9(2).
- Yacoub M, Youssef I, Salifu MO, McFarlane SI. Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Obstructive Sleep apnea: An update. Journal of Sleep Disorders & Therapy 2018; 07(01).
- Mulgrew AT, Ryan CF, Fleetham JA, Cheema R, Fox N, Koehoorn M, et al. The impact of obstructive sleep apnea and daytime sleepiness on work limitation. Sleep Med 2007; 9(1): 42-53.
- 31. Wise J. Waist measurement, not BMI, is stronger predictor of death risk, study finds. BMJ 2017; j2033.
- 32. Leong L, Chia SE. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors among healthcare staff in a large healthcare institution in Singapore. Singapore Med J 2012; 53(8): 517-21.
- 33. Hassan D, Patel KK, Peddemul A, Sikandar R, Singh Kahlon Simranjit, Nair S, et al. Knowledge, attitude and health practice towards cardiovascular disease in health care providers: a systematic review. Curr Probl Cardiol. 2022 Apr;101206.
- Poznyak AV, Litvinova L, Poggio P, Sukhorukov VN, Orekhov AN. Effect of glucose levels on cardiovascular risk. Cells 2022; 11(19): 3034-4.
- 35. Liao MH, Lai YC, Lin CM. Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Hospital Workers during the COVID-19 Pandemic: a hospital-based repeated measures study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022; 19(23): 16114.
- 36. Reiner IC, Tibubos AN, Werner AM, Ernst M, Brähler E, Wiltink J, et al. The association of chronic anxiousness with cardiovascular disease and mortality in the community: results from the Gutenberg Health Study. Sci Rep 2020; 10(1).
- 37. Liu H, Tian Y, Liu Y, Nigatu YT, Wang J. Relationship between major depressive disorder, generalized anxiety disorder and coronary artery disease in the US general population. J Psychosom Res 2019; 119: 8-13.
- Tokgozoglu L, Canpolat U. Does depression and anxiety increase subclinical atherosclerosis more in dyslipidemic women than men? Eur J Prev Cardiol 2019; 204748731988372.
- 39. Karlsen HR, Matejschek F, Saksvik-Lehouillier I, Langvik E. Anxiety as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of depression: a narrative review of current status and conflicting findings. Health Psychol Open 2021; 8(1): 205510292098746.
- 40. Henrique MG, de Paula Couto MCP, Araya R, Mendes AV, Nakamura CA, Hollingworth W, et al. Acceptability and fidelity of a psychosocial intervention (PROACTIVE) for older adults with depression in a basic health unit in São Paulo, Brazil: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health 2021; 21(1).

Association of cognitive function impairment in patients with psoriasis: A single-centre study in Malaysia

Kam Veng Chan, MRCP^{1,2}, Dy-Win Low, AdvMDerm¹, Kian Keong Kong, MSc³

¹Department of Dermatology, Sultanah Bahiyah Hospital, Alor Setar, Kedah, Malaysia, ²Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ³Clinical Research Center, Duchess of Kent Hospital, Ministry of Health, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory skin condition often associated with comorbidities that may impact cognitive function. This study aims to determine if psoriasis is associated with the risk of cognitive impairment and to assess the relationship between cognitive impairment and various disease-related factors, including psoriasis severity, disease duration, and the presence of psoriatic arthropathy, using the Virtual Cognitive Assessment Tool (VCAT).

Materials and Methods: A total of 160 individuals were selected, comprising 80 psoriasis patients and 80 controls, matched for age, gender, ethnicity, marital status, education levels, and prevalence of comorbidities. Cognitive function was assessed using the VCAT. The relationship between cognitive impairment and various disease-related factors, including psoriasis severity measured using Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PASI scores), disease duration, and the presence of psoriatic arthropathy, was examined.

Results: The mean VCAT scores for the psoriasis and control groups were 25.38 (SD = 3.18) and 25.94 (SD = 2.67), respectively, with no significant difference between the two groups (p = 0.227). While most cognitive domains showed no significant differences, the VCAT attention sub-score was significantly lower in psoriasis patients (p < 0.05). There was no significant association between psoriasis and cognitive impairment. No significant association was found between cognitive function and PASI scores nor psoriatic arthropathy. A negative association was found between disease duration and VCAT scores, suggesting longer disease duration correlates with lower cognitive function (p = 0.05).

Conclusions: This study did not find broad cognitive impairment in psoriasis patients compared to controls, the specific deficit in attention and its association with the duration of psoriasis warrants further investigation. Understanding and addressing the cognitive aspects of psoriasis could significantly improve the overall quality of life for these patients.

KEYWORDS:

Psoriasis, arthropathy, cognitive impairment, Virtual Cognitive Assessment Tool (VCAT)

INTRODUCTION

Psoriasis, a chronic inflammatory skin disorder affecting 0.91%–8.5% of adults, exhibits diverse clinical manifestations. Its onset typically peaks between 20 and 30 years and again between 50 and 60 years, although it can occur at any age.¹ The most prevalent subtype, chronic plaque psoriasis, presents as erythematous plaques with silvery-white scales, often involving the scalp and extensor surfaces. Approximately 20% of patients experience psoriatic arthropathy.² Psoriasis is primarily diagnosed clinically, with skin biopsy for confirmation. Its development is influenced by complex genetic and environmental factors, associations with HLA-Cw6, HLA-DR7, HLA-B13, HLA-B17, HLA-B37, and HLA-Bw16.³

Psoriasis is a well-known chronic systemic inflammatory disease that is associated with metabolic syndrome and various comorbidities, with particularly pro-inflammatory cytokines and adipocytokines contributing to these conditions.⁴ Recent years of research suggest a potential link between psoriasis and cognitive impairment, largely attributed to the cardiometabolic comorbidities that frequently accompany psoriasis, such as hypertension, diabetes, and obesity.⁵ It is plausible that the chronic systemic inflammation characteristic of psoriasis, in combination with these cardiometabolic factors, increased the risk of cognitive impairment in affected individuals. Although recent data suggest a higher risk of cognitive impairment and dementia in psoriasis patients, conflicting results exist,^{6.9} and there remains a lack of data on cognitive impairment in psoriasis, particularly among Asian populations.

Malaysia's has a highly diverse population, consisting 69.3% Malays, 22.8% Chinese, 6.9% Indians, and 1.0% from other ethnicities.¹⁰ In addition to the Malay language, other commonly spoken languages include English, Mandarin, and Tamil.¹¹ This linguistic and cultural diversity creates challenges for neuropsychological testing, as the need for translation can alter the accuracy of these assessments. Cognitive tests such as the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE), and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) are standard tools for measuring cognitive function. However, these tests were developed for English-speaking populations, and translating them for use in other languages can compromise their reliability.¹²

This article was accepted: 06 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Kam Veng Chan Email: ckveng@gmail.com

Virtual Cognitive Assessment Tool (VCAT) addresses this issue by offering a visual-based assessment that does not require translation. It evaluates five key cognitive domains memory, visuospatial function, executive function, language, and attention. VCAT has demonstrated sensitivity and specificity comparable to other tests like MoCA in diagnosing early cognitive impairment. Research shows that VCAT effectively detects cognitive impairment across multilingual and multicultural populations, making it particularly suited to diverse societies.¹³ Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the relationship between cognitive impairment and psoriasis using VCAT. In addition, the study also explored the impact of psoriasis severity, presence of psoriatic arthropathy, and duration of psoriasis on cognitive function to shed light on this relatively unexplored aspect.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

The study was conducted at the dermatology clinic of Sultanah Bahiyah Hospital, Alor Setar, Kedah, from June 2023 to December 2023. A total of 160 participants were enrolled, comprising individuals with psoriasis and an agesex-matched control group without psoriasis. Inclusion criteria for both groups were individuals aged 18 and above. Psoriasis patients were diagnosed at Sultanah Bahiyah Hospital, while the control group included non-psoriasis patients, their family members, and hospital staff. Exclusion criteria encompassed medical conditions such as stroke, Down syndrome, visual or hearing impairments, severe physical limitations affecting pen-holding ability, and depression (assessed using Patient Health Questionnaire-9 with a score >4).

Sample size calculation

To compare two means, a sample size of 71 (n1) for the baseline/control group and a sample size of 71 (n2) for the other group was required in order to detect the mean difference of 1.75 with a power of 0.80 (80%) and an alpha of 0.05. The mean difference of 1.75 was considered the smallest important difference to be detected. The SD of (the variable of interest) was estimated as 3.70^{7} . This calculation was done using ScalexMean version $1.0.2.^{14}$

Data collection and study tool

Data were collected using a questionnaire consisting of 3 domains. The first domain is the demographic data of the subjects such as age, gender, marital status, education level, and comorbid conditions; the second domain is the VCAT questions; and the third domain is the Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PASI)¹⁵ and presence of psoriatic arthropathy.

Cognitive function assessment

VCAT was conducted by the principal investigator using the Rater Stimulus Booklet for Memory and the VCAT Scoring Guide. The assessment included 14 questions across five domains: 6 for memory, 2 for language, 3 for executive function, 2 for visuospatial abilities, and 1 for attention. Diagnoses of mild cognitive impairment, dementia, or normal were based on total scores: Dementia (0–19), Mild Cognitive Impairment (20-23), and Normal (24-30).¹³

Dermatological assessment

Patients with psoriasis were clinically diagnosed and measured by using parameters such as PASI,¹⁵ and the involvement of psoriasis arthropathy.¹⁶ PASI categorised severity into mild (PASI <10), moderate (PASI >10 to 20), or severe psoriasis (PASI >20),¹⁷ however Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) was not assessed in this study and PASI is the tool for examine the severity. For the present study, all types of psoriasis were included, and disease duration was determined through patient history.

Statistical analysis

Data collected in this study were analysed using SPSS version 28.0 software. The normality of data distribution was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Parametric data were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD), while non-parametric data were expressed as median + interquartile range (IQR). Descriptive statistics, including mean and SD for numerical variables and percentage distribution for categorical variables, were calculated.

A comprehensive statistical analysis will involve univariate and multivariate regression models. The Logistics regression analysis was used to identify associations between VCAT score and factors such as PASI, psoriatic arthropathy, and total duration of psoriasis. The VCAT score was the dependent variable, and associations with predictor variables were assessed. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Ethical consideration

This study was registered with the National Medical Research Registry Malaysia and was approved by the Medical Research and Ethics Committee, Malaysia (NMRR ID-23-00581-JGY (IIR)).

RESULTS

A total of 160 individuals were recruited for this study, comprising an 80-member psoriasis group and an equally sized control group. Table I summarizes the demographics of both groups. The demographic characteristics were wellmatched, with both groups having an average age of 47.2 years and identical gender distribution (46.2% female and 53.8% male). The ethnic composition was predominantly Malay in both groups, with smaller proportions of Chinese, Indian, and other ethnicities. Marital status was also similar, with approximately 78% of participants being married. Educational attainment was comparable between the groups, with slightly more psoriasis patients having completed secondary school (61.3% compared to 50.0% in the control group). Both groups had similar proportions of participants with university education (26.3% in the control group vs. 23.8% in the psoriasis group), while the percentages of those with primary school education or other educational levels were low.

The prevalence of common comorbidities, including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and dyslipidaemia, was comparable between the psoriasis and control groups. Hypertension was present in 32.5% of the control group and 35.0% of the psoriasis group, while diabetes mellitus was

Variable	Control (n=80)	Psoriasis (n=80)	p-value
Age, vears	47.2 ± 15.5	47.2 ± 15.4	0.996
Gender			1.000
Female	37 (46.2)	37 (46.2)	
Male	43 (53.8)	43 (53.8)	
Ethnic			1.000
Malay	58 (72.5)	58 (72.4)	
Chinese	20 (25.0)	16 (20.0)	
Indian	2 (2.5)	3 (3.8)	
Other	0 (0)	3 (3.8)	
Marital status			0.850
Single	17 (47.2)	19 (52.8)	
Married	63 (50.8)	61 (49.2)	
Education level			0.429
Primary school	8 (10.0)	6 (7.5)	
Secondary school	40 (50.0)	49 (61.2)	
University	21 (26.3)	19 (23.8)	
Other	11 (13.7)	6 (7.5)	
Comorbidities			
Hypertension	26 (32.5)	28 (35.0)	0.867
Diabetes Mellitus	14 (17.5)	17 (21.3)	0.690
Dyslipidaemia	36 (45.0)	30 (37.5)	0.422

Table I: Social-demographic data of the participants

Table II: Disease characteristics among psoriasis patients (n = 80)

Variables	n (%)	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)
Disease onset age, year		32.5 (15.6)	32.0 (23.0)
Disease duration, year *		11.6 (10.7)	9.0 (17.0)
Psoriasis Area and Severity Index *		5.0 (4.7)	3.4 (4.2)
Body surface area*		10.7 (12.5)	5.0 (12.0)
Type of psoriasis			
Plaque	77 (96.3)		
Guttate	1 (1.3)		
Pustular	2 (2.5)		
Presence of arthropathy	19 (23.8)		

* Skewed distribution

SD = standard deviation

IQR = interquartile range

Table III: Differences in VCAT total score and subscales between the psoriasis patients and the control group(n=160)

Variable	Control (n=80)	Psoriasis (n=80)	Mean difference (95% CI)	t statistics (df)	p-value ^a
VCAT	25.94 (2.67)	25.38 (3.18)	0.56 (-0.35, 1.48)	1.21	0.227
VCAT memory	11.40 (1.31)	11.34 (1.53)			0.781
VCAT language	4.33 (0.79)	4.45 (0.83)			0.330
VCAT visuospatial	3.83 (0.38)	3.84 (0.37)			0.834
VCAT executive function	3.71 (1.43)	3.69 (1.44)			0.912
VCAT attention	2.67 (0.84)	2.06 (1.27)			<0.05

^a Independent t test

CI = confidence interval

df = degree of freedom

Table IV: Association of psoriasis and psoriatic arthropathy with cognitive impairment risk measured using VCAT

Variable		Odd Ratio, OR	(95% CI OR)	χ2 stat. (df)ª	p-value ^a
Psoriasis	Yes (n=80) No (n=80)	1.834 1	(0.845, 3.982)	2.408 (1)	0.125
Psoriasis Arthropathy	Yes (n=19) No (n=61)	1.415 1	(0.458, 4.379)	0.356 (1)	0.547

OR = odd ratio

CI = confidence interval

df = degree of freedom

Independent Variable	b (95% Cl β)	t statistics	r	r2	p-value
Psoriasis Area and Severity Index	0.046 (-0.105, 0.197)	0.606	0.068	0.005	0.546
Duration of psoriasis	-0.066 (-0.131, 0.000024)	-1.990	0.22	0.048	0.050

Table V: Simple linear regression analysis on the VCAT and other clinical parameters

b = VCAT unit score

r = correlation coefficient

 r^2 = coefficient of determination

observed in 17.5% and 21.3% of the control and psoriasis groups, respectively. Dyslipidaemia affected 45.0% of the control group and 37.5% of the psoriasis group.

Table II summarizes the disease characteristics among the psoriasis patients. Within the psoriasis group, the mean age of disease onset was 32.5 years, with an average disease duration of 11.6 years. The severity of psoriasis, as measured by the PASI, had a mean score of 5.0, and the mean BSA affected was 10.7%. Plaque psoriasis was the most common type, affecting 96.3% of patients, with smaller proportions presenting with pustular (2.5%) and guttate (1.3%) forms. Additionally, 23.8% of the psoriasis patients had psoriatic arthropathy, indicating joint involvement in a significant subset of patients.

Cognitive function was assessed using the VCAT across both groups, as shown in Table III. The overall VCAT scores did not differ significantly between the psoriasis and control groups, with mean scores of 25.38 (SD = 3.18) and 25.94 (SD = 2.67), respectively (p = 0.227). However, a closer examination of the VCAT sub-scores revealed a significantly lower score in the attention domain for psoriasis patients (p < 0.05), suggesting a possible association between psoriasis and specific cognitive impairments, particularly in attention.

The analysis of the association between psoriasis and cognitive impairment, presented in Table IV, did not reveal a statistically significant relationship. The odds ratio for cognitive impairment in psoriasis patients was 1.834 (95% CI: 0.845-3.982) with a p-value of 0.125, indicating that psoriasis alone may not be a strong predictor of cognitive impairment. Similarly, the presence of psoriatic arthropathy did not significantly increase the risk of cognitive impairment, with an odds ratio of 1.415 (95% CI: 0.458-4.379) and a p-value of 0.547.

Further investigation into the relationship between psoriasis severity, duration, and cognitive function was conducted using simple linear regression analysis, as shown in Table V. The analysis indicated no significant relationship between PASI scores and VCAT performance (p = 0.546, r = 0.068). However, there was a borderline significant negative association between the duration of psoriasis and VCAT scores (p = 0.05, r = 0.22), suggesting that prolonged psoriasis might be associated with a modest decline in cognitive performance. Although this finding suggests a potential impact of longer disease duration on cognitive function, the strength of the association was modest.

DISCUSSION

Demographics and disease characteristics

The demographic similarities between the psoriasis and control groups help ensure that the comparisons made in this study are not influenced by disparities in age and gender. This matching strengthens the validity of our findings. The disease characteristics such as age of onset, and psoriasis disease duration observed align with existing data from the Malaysian Psoriasis Registry.¹⁸ However, the predominantly Malay composition of our sample, which differs slightly from the national registry, reflects the specific demographic makeup of the Kedah region.¹⁹ The mean BSA involvement was 10.7%, and the mean PASI score was 5. In comparison, the Malaysian Psoriasis Registry reported a mean BSA involvement of 12.2% and a mean PASI score of 6.5 in adult psoriasis patients. These findings suggest that the patients in our study may have had a slightly lower disease severity than the broader population captured in the national registry.¹⁸ Outpatient clinics typically manage patients with less severe forms of psoriasis, as those with more severe diseases are treated in inpatient settings. Consequently, the patient population in this study may have skewed towards those with slight milder disease.

Cognitive function comparison and association between psoriasis and psoriasis severity

The findings demonstrate that overall cognitive function, as measured by the VCAT, did not significantly differ between the psoriasis and control groups. Specifically, the mean VCAT score was 25.94 ± 2.67 for the control group and 25.38 ± 3.18 for the psoriasis group, with a p-value of 0.227. This suggests that psoriasis, despite being a chronic inflammatory condition, does not independently lead to significant cognitive impairment across most cognitive domains. There was significantly lower VCAT attention sub-score in the psoriasis group compared to the control group (p < 0.05). While the attention sub-score for psoriasis patients was lower, it is essential to consider that this assessment is based on a single question, which may limit the reliability of the finding. The significant difference might not robustly reflect a true cognitive deficit but could be an artifact of the limited assessment scope. This result underscores the need for more comprehensive tools to assess attention and other specific cognitive domains in future studies.²⁰

The analysis of the association between psoriasis and cognitive impairment revealed an odds ratio of 1.834, with a p-value of 0.125. Although psoriasis patients showed a higher likelihood of cognitive impairment compared to controls, the result was not strong enough to confirm a definitive link. The PASI scores did not correlate significantly with VCAT scores (p = 0.546). This finding is consistent with previous studies,9 which reported similar results, reinforcing

the idea that cognitive impairment, when present, may be more closely related to the associated comorbidities or other factors rather than to psoriasis itself. It is noteworthy that metabolic syndrome, which is often associated with psoriasis,²¹⁻²³ has been significantly linked to cognitive impairment. This suggests that while psoriasis alone may not directly cause cognitive decline, the metabolic comorbidities frequently observed in psoriasis patients could contribute to the observed cognitive issues.²⁴⁻²⁶ Additionally, the use of the VCAT in our study, compared to other studies that employed tools like the MMSE or MOCA, may have contributed to the negative findings regarding the association between psoriasis and cognitive impairment. VCAT is particularly advantageous in minimizing language-related biases, which can be a limitation in other cognitive assessments, thereby providing a more accurate evaluation of cognitive function across diverse populations.¹²

Psoriatic Arthropathy and Cognitive Function

There was no significant association found between the presence of psoriatic arthropathy and cognitive impairment (p = 0.547), contrasting with studies suggesting a link between psoriatic arthritis and cognitive impairment.^{8,27} These studies highlight systemic inflammation, chronic pain, and longer disease duration as key contributors.^{8,27} Systemic inflammation, a hallmark of psoriatic arthritis, has been suggested to drive neurodegenerative changes or vascular impairments that affect cognitive function.^{8,27} Additionally, chronic pain and fatigue associated with psoriatic arthritis may create a mental burden that impairs attention and cognitive processing over time.27 A possible reason for this discrepancy could be the very small sample size in this study (n = 19) compared to other studies^{8,27} with larger sample sizes (n = 96 and n = 117, respectively), which have shown apositive relationship between psoriatic arthritis and cognitive impairment. The limited sample size in this study may have reduced the statistical power to detect such an association.²⁸

Duration of Psoriasis and Cognitive Function

The relationship between the duration of psoriasis and cognitive function was found to be negatively associated, with longer disease duration correlating with lower VCAT scores (p = 0.05). This finding suggests that the cumulative burden of living with psoriasis over many years may contribute to a decline in cognitive function. However, the data do not provide strong evidence of a true association between psoriasis and cognitive impairment. When considering the overall VCAT scores and most subscales, there is no significant difference between psoriasis patients and controls, except for attention. This suggests that while there might be a potential association between psoriasis duration and cognitive function, it does not appear to be robust across different cognitive domains. Notably, other research has observed an association between psoriasis duration and cognitive impairment, ²⁹ highlighting the need for larger sample sizes and longitudinal studies to better capture the potential long-term impact of psoriasis on cognitive function.

Limitations

This study has several limitations that must be considered. The sample size of 160 participants may be relatively small, which could limit the statistical power and generalizability of the findings. Additionally, the study population, predominantly Malay, may not represent the broader demographic diversity of psoriasis patients, restricting the applicability of the results to other ethnic groups. The use of the VCAT, while suitable for this population, may pose limitations in terms of comparability with other studies that utilize more widely validated cognitive assessment tools, such as the MoCA or MMSE. Furthermore, potential confounding factors, such as medication use and psychological stress, were not controlled for, which may influence cognitive outcomes independently of psoriasis. The cross-sectional design of the study limits the ability to establish causality between psoriasis and cognitive function, and the reliance on singleitem measures for attention domains may reduce the reliability of specific findings. Lastly, the exclusion of certain comorbid conditions and the potential for selection bias in the control group further limit the study's generalizability and comparability.

CONCLUSION

While this study did not find broad cognitive impairment in psoriasis patients compared to controls, the specific deficit in attention and its association with the duration of psoriasis warrants further investigation. Understanding and addressing the cognitive aspects of psoriasis could significantly improve the overall quality of life for these patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We would like to thank the Director General of Health Malaysia for his permission to publish this article.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

FUNDING

This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS STATEMENT

Conceptualization – C.K.V, L.D.W. and K.K.K.; Methodology – C.K.V. and K.K.K.; Software - C.K.V. and K.K.K.; Data curation – C.K.V. and K.K.K.; Visualization – L.D.W.; Investigation – C.K.V.; Validation – C.K.V. and K.K.K.; Formal analysis – C.K.V.and K.K.K.; Visualization – C.K.V. and K.K.K.; Project administration – C.K.V.; Writing – original draft – C.K.V. and K.K.K.; Writing – review & editing – C.K.V., L.D.W. and K.K.K.

REFERENCES

1. Parisi R, Symmons DP, Griffiths CE, Ashcroft DM, Identification, Management of P, et al. Global epidemiology of psoriasis: a systematic review of incidence and prevalence. J Invest Dermatol 2013; 133(2): 377-85.

- 2. Alinaghi F, Calov M, Kristensen LE, Gladman DD, Coates LC, Jullien D, et al. Prevalence of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational and clinical studies. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019; 80(1): 251-65.e19.
- 3. Umapathy S, Pawar A, Mitra R, Khuperkar D, Devaraj JP, Ghosh K, et al. Hla-a and hla-B alleles associated in psoriasis patients from Mumbai, Western India. Indian J Dermatol 2011; 56(5): 497-500.
- Takahashi H, Iizuka H. Psoriasis and metabolic syndrome. J Dermatol 2012; 39(3): 212-8.
- 5. Feinkohl I, Lachmann G, Brockhaus WR, Borchers F, Piper SK, Ottens TH, et al. Association of obesity, diabetes and hypertension with cognitive impairment in older age. Clin Epidemiol 2018; 10: 853-62.
- 6. Liu L, Chen S-T, Li H-J, Qiang Y, Sun X-Y, Zhou Y-Q, et al. Association between psoriasis and dementia: Current evidence. Front Aging Neurosci 2020; 12: 570992.
- Colgecen E, Celikbilek A, Keskin DT. Cognitive impairment in patients with psoriasis: A cross-sectional study using the Montreal Cognitive Assessment. Am J Clin Dermatol 2016; 17(4): 413-9.
- Di Carlo M, Becciolini A, Incorvaia A, Beci G, Smerilli G, Biggioggero M, et al. Mild cognitive impairment in psoriatic arthritis: Prevalence and associated factors. Medicine (Baltimore) 2021; 100(11): e24833.
- Pezzolo E, Mutlu U, Vernooij MW, Dowlatshahi EA, Gisondi P, Girolomoni G, et al. Psoriasis is not associated with cognition, brain imaging markers, and risk for dementia: The Rotterdam Study. J Am Acad Dermatol 2021; 85(3): 671-80.
- 10. Department of Statistics Malaysia (DoS). Current population estimates, Malaysia, 2018-2019. Department of Statistics Malaysia, Putrajaya; 2019.
- 11. Albury NJ. Mother tongues and languaging in Malaysia: Critical linguistics under critical examination. Lang Soc 2017; 46(4): 567-89.
- Kandiah N, Zhang A, Bautista DC, Silva E, Ting SK, Ng A, et al. Early detection of dementia in multilingual populations: Visual Cognitive Assessment Test (VCAT). J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2016; 87(2): 156-60.
- Li Yun N, Joo C, Danial M, Albart S, Suppiah PD, Ganasegeran K, et al. Validation of the Visual Cognitive Assessment Test (VCAT) for the early diagnosis of cognitive impairment in multilingual populations in Malaysia. Psych 2022; 4: 38-48.
- 14. Naing L, Winn T, Rusli BN. Practical issues in calculating the sample size for prevalence studies. Arch Orofac Sci 2006; 1: 9-14.
- Fredriksson T, Pettersson U. Oral treatment of pustulosis palmoplantaris with a new retinoid, Ro 10-9359. Dermatologica 1979; 158(1): 60-4.

- Moll JMH, Wright V. Psoriatic arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1973; 3(1): 55-78.
- 17. Choon S, Chan L, Choon SE, Jamil A, Chin CL, Cheng CH, et al. Malaysian Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Psoriasis Vulgaris: Summary of recommendations for management in primary healthcare setting. Malays Fam Physician 2014; 9(1): 16-21.
- Robinson S, Ramalingam R, Voo SYM, Selvarajah L, Jamil A, Kwan Z, Loo CH. The Twelfth Report of the Malaysian Psoriasis Registry 2020-2022, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. The Malaysian Psoriasis Registry, Malaysia; 2024.
- 19. Department of Information, Ministry of Communications and Multimedia, Malaysia. Population by states and ethnic group. Dep Inf Malaysia; 2016.
- 20. Allen MS, Íliescu D, Greiff S. Single-item measures in psychological science. Eur J Psychol Assess 2022; 38(1): 1-5.
- 21. Gisondi P, Fostini AC, Fossa I, Girolomoni G, Targher G. Psoriasis and the metabolic syndrome. Clin Dermatol 2018; 36(1): 21-8.
- 22. Azfar RS, Gelfand JM. Psoriasis and metabolic disease: Epidemiology and pathophysiology. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2008; 20(4): 416-22.
- Neimann AL, Shin DB, Wang X, Margolis DJ, Troxel AB, Gelfand JM. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2006; 55(5): 829-35.
- Wang X, Ji L, Tang Z, Ding G, Chen X, Lv J, et al. The association of metabolic syndrome and cognitive impairment in Jidong of China: A cross-sectional study. BMC Endocr Disord 2021; 21(1): 40.
- 25. Ng TP, Feng L, Nyunt MSZ, Gao Q, Lim ML, et al. Metabolic syndrome and the risk of mild cognitive impairment and progression to dementia: Follow-up of the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Study cohort. JAMA Neurol 2016; 73(4): 456-63.
- Qureshi D, Collister J, Allen NE, Kuzma E, Littlejohns T. Association between metabolic syndrome and risk of incident dementia in UK Biobank. Alzheimers Dement 2024; 20(1): 447-56.
- 27. Kleinert S, Schuch F, Rapp P, Ronneberger M, Wendler J, Sternad P, et al. Impairment in cognitive function in patients with axial spondyloarthritis and psoriatic arthritis. Rheumatol Int 2023; 43(1): 89-97.
- 28. Houle TT, Penzien DB, Houle CK. Statistical power and sample size estimation for headache research: An overview and power calculation tools. Headache 2005; 45(5): 414-8.
- 29. Padma K, Nanaware SS, Yadiyal A, Mathai PJ. Cognitive impairment in patients with psoriasis: A clinical study in teaching hospital. J Fam Med Prim Care 2020; 9(8): 4001-4.
Short-term outcome of hodgkin lymphoma patients and its prognostic factors in northeast peninsular Malaysia: A single centre experience

Nurul Fatin Nabilah Ab Wahab, MMed^{1,3}, Hany Haqimi Wan Hanafi, MMed^{1,4}, Najib Majdi Yaacob, DrPH^{2,4}, Abu Dzarr Abdullah, MMed^{1,4}, Azlan Husin, MMed^{1,4}

¹Clinical Haematology Unit, Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia, ²Unit of Biostatistics and Research Methodology, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia, ³Department of Medicine, Hospital Dungun, Jalan Paka, 23000 Dungun, Terengganu, Malaysia, ⁴Hospital Pakar Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

INTRODUCTION

а

between ages 25-29 and 70-74.²

bimodal

follows

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) is a hematopoietic malignancy characterized by the presence of Reed Sternberg cells, with generally favourable outcomes compared to other hematological malignancies. This study aims to determine the socio-demographic, clinical and treatment characteristics, as well as the short-term overall survival (OS) and progression-free survival (PFS) rates, of HL patients treated at Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM), a tertiary centre in northeast peninsular Malaysia.

Materials and Methods: We conducted a retrospective cohort study of HL patients treated from January 1, 2006, to December 31, 2018, with follow-up until December 31, 2021. Data on demographics, clinical features, treatments, and outcomes were analyzed. OS and PFS were estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method.

Results: Among 126 patients, the median follow up was 41 months. Most were male (55.6%) and of Malay ethnicity (97.6%). Nodular sclerosis was the predominant histology (52.4%), with 77.8% presenting with advanced-stage disease. All patients received chemotherapy, while 23.1% underwent combined modality therapy either with radiotherapy or immunotherapy. Post-treatment, only 34.1% achieved complete response. The 3-year OS and PFS rates were 74.9% and 59.5%, respectively-relatively lower than rates reported in developed countries. Independent adverse prognostic factors for OS and PFS included advanced-stage disease, bulky disease, elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate.

Conclusion: This study highlights the need for tailored treatment approaches to improve HL outcomes in northeast Peninsular Malaysia. The relatively modest OS and PFS rates compared to developed nations suggest potential benefits from enhanced access to advanced therapied and diagnostic tools like positron emission tomography computed tomography (PET-CT) scan.

KEYWORDS:

Hodqkin lymphoma, Malaysia, treatment outcome, prognostic factors, survival

This article was accepted: 24 November 2024 Corresponding Author: Hany Haqimi Wan Hanafi Email: whhany@usm.my

emerge as a cornerstone. Understanding the prevalence and treatment outcomes of HL, particularly in Malaysia, is vital for local clinical haematologists. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the short-term outcomes and prognostic factors among HL patients treated at a tertiary centre in northeast Peninsular

Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) exhibits varied epidemiological

patterns across gender, age, and geography. Its incidence

adolescence/young adulthood and later in individuals over

55-year-old.¹ In Malaysia, the highest incidence occurs

HL classification, primarily divided into classical and nodular

lymphocytes-predominant HL, quides treatment decisions. Furthermore, the Ann-Arbor staging system, supplemented

by additional risk factors, aids in this process. Early-stage HL

is often managed with combined modality therapy, whereas

advanced-stage disease may necessitate escalated

chemotherapy regimens. However, optimal treatment

strategies continue to evolve especially for relapsed or

refractory cases, in which highly active immunotherapies, such as brentuximab vedotin (an anti-CD30 monoclonal

antibody), checkpoint inhibitors like nivolumab and

pembrolizumab, along with high-dose chemotherapy (HDC)

followed by autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT),

distribution.

peakina

in

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Malaysia.

This study was a retrospective cohort study involving a review of medical records of HL patients undergoing treatment and follow-up at Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM), a tertiary referral centre for haematological cases in northeast Peninsular Malaysia. Data were collected from the medical records of HL patients in the database registry between January 1, 2006, and December 31, 2018, with an additional follow-up period of three years from January 1, 2019, until December 31, 2021. Thus, the total duration of this retrospective observation window was 192 months. During the follow-up period, patients were monitored through

scheduled clinical assessments, surveillance imaging studies, and laboratory evaluations. These measures were taken to assess treatment response, monitor for disease progression or relapse, and manage any treatment-related complications.

This study included patients diagnosed with HL within the specified period, aged over 12 years, who had received at least one cycle of induction chemotherapy after diagnosis. Patients with concurrent malignancy or another type of malignancy prior to the HL diagnosis, those who did not receive or refused any treatment during the study period, and those missing baseline evaluations for more than three variables were excluded. At Hospital USM, 138 HL patients were treated between January 1, 2006, and December 31, 2018, with 126 patients meeting the eligibility criteria. Therefore, no sampling method was applied, and all eligible patients were included in the study.

Data were entered and analysed using IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 26.0. For categorical variables, the frequency of observations and percentages were calculated. Survival analysis was chosen as the statistical test because the research objectives included time to an event i.e., death or relapse/progression of HL. Overall survival (OS) was defined as the duration from the date of diagnosis to the date of death. The event for survival time was death among HL patients during the study period, regardless of the cause of death. The censored observation for OS were either patients alive at the closure of the study or those lost to follow-up during the study period.

Progression-free survival (PFS) was defined as the duration from the date of diagnosis until the date of disease relapse/progression. The event of the study was the time to disease relapse/progression. The censored observation for PFS were either patients who achieved complete response (CR) at the closure of the study or those lost to follow-up during the study period.

A simple Cox proportional hazards model was conducted on selected independent variables to provide a preliminary idea of potential prognostic importance (p<0.25). The significant level was obtained from the Wald statistic. Subsequently, a multiple Cox proportional hazards model was used to identify prognostic factors for death and disease relapse/progression associated with OS and PFS. Two statistical analyses were executed for variables with a p-value less than 0.25 in univariate Cox regression analysis: forward stepwise (Wald) and backward stepwise (Wald). The second analysis included all independent variables in the model based on their statistical significance. The final model with adjusted hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval, Wald statistic and corresponding p-value were presented. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Among the 126 patients with HL, there was a slight male predominance, with 70 males (55.6%) and 56 females (44.4%). The median age was 28 years (range 12-78 years). Most patients were under 45 years old (84.9%) and predominantly Malay (97.6%).

Majority of patients presented with B symptoms (n=68, 54%) and nodal involvement (n=103, 81.7%). Biopsy-proven extra nodal involvement was identified in specific sites, including the bone marrow in 17 patients, the lungs in 5 patients, and the spleen in 1 patient. The most common histologic subtypes were nodular sclerosis (n=66, 52.4%), followed by mixed cellularity (n=35, 27.8%) and unclassified (n=11, 8.7%). Elevated LDH and ESR at diagnosis were recorded in 40.5% and 48.4% of patients, respectively. Among these patients, 98 patients (77.8%) had advanced-stage disease (stage III-IV) at presentation (Table I). Staging was based on the Ann Arbor staging system, which categorizes disease extent into stages I-IV, with further classifications based on symptoms (A or B) and bulk of disease.

The treatment characteristics are presented in Table II. Sixtytwo patients (49.2%) received front-line treatment within four weeks of diagnosis. Majority of HL patients received first-line treatment with the ABVD protocol (doxorubicin hydrochloride, bleomycin sulfate, vinblastine sulfate, and dacarbazine) (n=121, 96%). More than half of the patients received one line of treatment (n=67, 53.2%), while 59 patients (46.8%) received two or more lines of treatment. In term of treatment modality, 97 patients (77.0%) received chemotherapy alone, 23 patients (18.3%) received chemoradiotherapy, and 6 patients (4.8%) received chemoimmunotherapy. About 17.5% of patients (n=22) underwent HDC plus ASCT. Of the 22 transplanted patients, six received brentuximab vedotin during salvage therapy and/or as maintenance therapy.

Among the 126 patients treated, response data was available in 87% of patients either via contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CECT) scan or positron emission tomography computed tomography (PET-CT) scan. In a centre without inhouse PET-CT service, 78 patients (61.9%) underwent end-oftreatment (EOT) PET-CT scans, while 32 patients (25.4%) underwent EOT CECT scan. The complete response (CR) rate was 34.1%, partial response (PR) was 26.2%, while stable disease (SD) and progressive disease (PD) were 7% and 22.6%, respectively, after first-line treatment. We assessed treatment response according to the 2007 Cheson criteria for lymphoma, defining CR as the disappearance of all evidence of disease and PR as \geq 50% reduction in tumour burden, after completing first-line treatment.

With a median follow-up of 41 months, the 1-year and 3-year OS were 91.7% and 74.9%. Meanwhile, the 1-year and 3-year PFS were 83.4% and 59.5%, respectively (Figure 1). Various potential prognostic factors were evaluated using simple Cox proportional hazards regression to identify possible significant independent prognostic factors for death in HL patients. There factors included the presence of bulky disease (p=0.023), extranodal involvement (p=0.175), staging (p=0.037), elevated ESR (p=0.006), and elevated LDH (p=0.053) at diagnosis. These variables (with a p-value < 0.25) were then included in the multiple Cox regression analysis. Only two prognostic factors were found to be significant independent predictors of mortality among HL patients. Patients with bulky disease had a 1.9 times higher hazard of death compared to those without bulky disease (p= 0.041). Additionally, patients with elevated ESR had a 2.2fold higher risk of dying (p=0.018) (Table III).

The ten-year cardiovascular disease risk prediction among primary healthcare workers using the office-based globorisk tool

Baseline characteristics	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)	
B symptoms			
Yes	68	54.0	
No	58	46.0	
Bulky disease			
Yes	41	32.5	
No	85	67.5	
Elevated LDH at diagnosis (IU/L)			
Yes (≥500)	51	40.5	
No (<500)	75	59.5	
Extranodal involvement			
Yes	23	18.3	
No	103	81.7	
Elevated ESR at diagnosisa (mm/hr)			
Yes (>50)	59	48.4	
No (≤50)	63	51.6	
Histologic Subtypes			
Classical HL			
Nodular sclerosing	66	52.4	
Mixed cellularity	35	27.8	
Lymphocytes rich	6	4.8	
Lymphocytes depleted	1	0.8	
Unclassified	11	8.7	
Non-Classical HL			
Nodular lymphocytes predominant	7	5.6	
Stage of disease			
I	3	2.4	
IIA	25	19.8	
IIB	10	7.9	
III	37	29.4	
IV	51	40.5	
Early stage	28	22.2	
Advanced stage	98	77.8	

Table I: Baseline characteristics of the patients (n=126)

^aMissing data, n =4

n=frequency; %=percentage; SD=standard deviation ESR, erythrocytes sedimentation rate; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase

Early stage: (I-IIA); Advanced stage: (II with bulky disease, III, IV)

HL, Hodgkin lymphoma

Table II: Treatment characteristics of the HI natients	(n-126)
	(11=120)

Treatment Characteristics	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)	
Time from diagnosis to treatment (TDT)			
≤ 4 weeks	62	49.2	
5-8 weeks	29	23.0	
>8 weeks	35	27.8	
Line of treatment			
One line of treatment	67	53.2	
\geq 2 lines of treatment	59	46.8	
Treatment modalities			
Combination chemotherapy alone	97	77.0	
Chemo-radiotherapy	23	18.3	
Chemo-immunotherapy	6	4.8	
Received HDC with ASCT			
Yes	22	17.5	
No	104	82.5	

Descriptive statistics n=frequency; %=percentage HDC, high dose chemotherapy

ASCT, autologous stem cell transplantation

HL, Hodgkin lymphoma

Variables	b	Adjusted HR ^a (95% CI)	Wald statistic	p-value
Bulky disease				
No	0	1	4.169	0.041
Yes	0.662	1.938(1.027,3.657)		
Elevated ESR ^b				
No	0	1	5.580	0.018
Yes	0.795	2.215(1.145,4.285)		

Table III: Prognostic factors of death by using multiple Cox proportional hazards regression model (n=126)

^aBackward likelihood ratio multivariate cox proportional hazard regression b, Regression coefficient; HR, hazard ratio; CI, Confidence Interval

ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate

Table IV: Prognostic factors of relapse/disease progression by multiple Cox proportional hazards regression model (n=126)

Variables	b	Adjusted HR ^a	Wald statistic	p-value
		(95% CI)		
Bulky disease				
No	0	1	8.233	0.004
Yes	0.877	2.404(1.320,4.377)		
Elevated ESR ^b				
No	0	1	4.175	0.041
Yes	0.637	1.892(1.026,3.487)		

^aBackward likelihood ratio multivariate cox proportional hazard regression

b, Regression coefficient; HR, hazard ratio; CI, Confidence Interval

ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate

p-value < 0.05 is significant

Similarly, the presence of bulky disease (p<0.001), extranodal involvement (p=0.031), elevated ESR (p=0.004), staging (p=0.005), and treatment modality (p=0.039) were potential prognostic factors for disease relapse/progression via simple Cox proportional hazards regression. In multiple Cox regression analysis, two variables were identified as significant prognostic factors for disease relapse/progression: the presence of bulky disease (p=0.004) and elevated ESR (p=0.041) (Table 4). Notably, there was a 2.4 times increased risk of relapse/progressive disease in the presence of bulky disease, and 1.89 times increased risk in HL patients with elevated ESR.

DISCUSSION

Our study reported that the median age at presentation was 28 years, with a slight male preponderance. Majority of patients had classical HL with nodular sclerosis being the most common subtype (52.4%), followed by mixed cellularity subtype (27.8%). The overall age, gender, and HL subtype distribution resembled a previous study in Malaysia.³ However, our data contradicted results from several studies in developing countries including in Africa and India, where the mixed cellularity HL subtype was reported to be the predominant.^{4,5}

More than two-thirds of patients were diagnosed with advanced-stage disease (98 patients, 77.8%), with stage IV (51 patients, 40.4%) being the most frequently encountered. These findings corresponded with previous studies in developing countries.⁶⁷ In contrast, more than half of HL

patients in a retrospective study in Johor, Malaysia and in Iraq presented with stage II disease.^{3,8}

^bMissing data n=4

Our study revealed 1-year and 3-year OS rates of 91.7% and 74.9%, respectively, and 1-year and 3-year PFS rates of 83.4% and 59.5%, respectively. These figures are comparable to previous studies in India, which reported 5-year OS and PFS rates of 60% and 58%, respectively.⁹ However, our figures are significantly lower than those observed in developed countries, especially for advanced-stage disease. Recent studies by Radford et al. and Johnson et al. reported higher 3-year OS rates of 99.0% and 95.8% in early and advanced stages, respectively.^{10,11} Another study in Saudi Arabia also reported better survival with 3-year and 5-year OS rates of 93.0% and 91.0%, respectively.⁷

Our study demonstrated that older patients (> 45 years) had lower survival rates compared to the younger age group. This finding corresponds with another study that found younger age groups had greater survival rates across all stages of HL.¹² A study in the United States reported that patients aged 45 or older had a higher hazard ratio of 5.25 for mortality.¹³ Several factors could explain why older people had lower survival rates than younger age groups, including the presence of comorbidities, poor organ function and therefore, increased susceptibility to treatment-related toxicities and poor treatment tolerance.¹⁴ Additionally, older people are associated with a higher frequency of mixed cellularity subtypes compared to younger age groups (nodular sclerosing subtypes) and often present with advanced stages of HL.¹⁵



Fig. 1: Kaplan-Meier survival curve for 1-year and 3-year overall survival & 1-year & 3-year progression-free survival in HL patients in Hospital USM

In general, early initiation of combination chemotherapy alone or combined modality therapy provides better survival compared to patients without any treatment. However, in this study, there was no significant correlation between the time from diagnosis to treatment initiation (TDT), and OS and PFS. In a study by Brooks et al., investigating 810 patients with classical HL treated with ABVD, the 5-year OS was 92% for TDT <4 weeks, 92% for TDT 5–8 weeks, and 83% for TDT > 8 weeks (p=0.007).¹⁶ This is an area of interest that we would like to explore, as patient refusal for treatment following a cancer diagnosis remains a significant issue.

Our study demonstrates that bulky disease and high ESR are two significant prognostic factors for death and disease relapse/progression among our HL patients. This finding aligns with previous studies that highlighted the influence of bulky disease and high ESR on patient survival, in addition to factors like high LDH, low albumin level, poor performance status and B symptoms.^{17,18}

Several factors might have contributed to the low survival of our HL patients. Late presentation leading to advanced stage at diagnosis, difficult access to novel medications for salvage treatment such as highly active immunotherapy and checkpoint inhibitors, and most importantly, difficult access to PET-CT scans for staging and interim assessments make it challenging to adapt treatment escalation or de-escalation and decide on incorporating combined-modality treatment (chemo-radiotherapy). The use of early (interim) PET-CT scan for early treatment adaptation has significantly improved survival in HL patients.¹⁹

In relapse refractory setting, only small proportions of our patient received effective salvage therapy using novel agent modalities such as immunotherapy or check point inhibitor, mainly due to cost issue. This reflect the small proportion of our patients who were chemo sensitive able to undergo HDC plus ASCT. For patients with relapsed or refractory HL who do not respond adequately to standard therapies, allogeneic stem cell transplantation (allo-SCT) may be considered. However, none of our patients were able to undergo this procedure due to its complexity. Although allo-SCT offers the potential for long-term remission, it is associated with significant risks, including graft-versus-host-disease, and increased transplant-related mortality, making careful patient selection essential.

CONCLUSION

This study provides a comprehensive analysis of the shortterm outcomes and prognostic factors of HL in northeast Peninsular Malaysia, highlighting significant findings such as the predominance of nodular sclerosis subtype and the high prevalence of advances-stage disease at presentation. We observed relatively modest OS and PFS rates compared with those reported in more developed nations, with advanced-stage disease, bulky disease, and elevated ESR identified as significant adverse prognostic factors. These findings highlight the need for tailored treatment strategies that consider these risk factors and emphasize the importance of timely access to advanced diagnostic tools, such as PET-CT, to improve patient outcomes. Moving forward, longer-term studies are essential to refine treatment protocols, address the challenges of relapse and refractory cases, and enhance survival rates for patients in this setting.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We extend our sincere gratitude to the staff of the daycare and clinical haematology wards at Hospital Pakar USM for their invaluable technical contributions.

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

This study adhered to the ethical guidelines established by the 18th World Medical Assembly (Helsinki, 1964), including all subsequent revisions. Patient identities and clinical data were treated with strict confidentiality, reported only in aggregate form without personal identifiers. Approval for the study was granted by the USM Ethics Committee under JEPeM Code: USM/JEPeM/22010077 on March 13, 2022.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None

REFERENCES

- Bröckelmann PJ, Eichenauer DA, Jakob T, Follmann M, Engert A, Skoetz N. Hodgkin lymphoma in adults. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2018; 115(31-32): 535-40.
- Malaysia National Cancer Registry Report 2012-2016 [cited Oct 2022]. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.my/moh/resources/ Penerbitan/Laporan/Umum/2012-2016%20(MNCRR)/ MNCR_2012-2016_FINAL_(PUBLISHED_2019).pdf.
- 3. Boo YL, Ting HS, Yap DF, Toh SG, Lim SM. Clinical features and treatment outcomes of Hodgkin lymphoma: a retrospective review in a Malaysian tertiary hospital. Blood Res 2019; 54(3): 210-17.
- 4. Adam M, Bekueretsion Y, Abubeker A, Tadesse F, Kwiecinska A, Howe R, et al. Clinical characteristics and histopathological patterns of Hodgkin lymphoma and treatment outcomes at a tertiary cancer center in Ethiopia. JCO Glob Oncol 2021; 7(1): 277-88.
- 5. Jain H, Sengar M, Nair R, Menon H, Laskar S, Shet T, et al. Treatment results in advanced stage Hodgkin's lymphoma: a retrospective study. J Postgrad Med 2015; 61(2): 88-91.
- 6. Avagyan A, Danielyan S, Voskanyan A, Sargsyan L, Hakobyan L, Zohrabyan D, et al. Treating adults with Hodgkin lymphoma in the developing world: a hospital-based cohort study from Armenia. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2016; 17(1): 101-4.
- Shafi RG, Al-Mansour MM, Kanfar SS, Al Hashmi H, Alsaeed A, Al-Foheidi M, et al. Hodgkin lymphoma outcome: a retrospective study from 3 tertiary centers in Saudi Arabia. Oncol Res Treat 2017; 40(5): 288-92.

- Shamoon RP, Ali MD, Shabila NP. Overview and outcome of Hodgkin's lymphoma: experience of a single developing country's oncology centre. PLoS One 2018; 13(4): e0195629.
- 9. Jain H, Sengar M, Nair R, Menon H, Laskar S, Shet T, et al. Treatment results in advanced stage Hodgkin's lymphoma: A retrospective study. J Postgrad Med 2015; 61(2): 88-91.
- Radford J, Illidge T, Counsell N, Hancock B, Pettengell R, Johnson P, et al. Results of a trial of PET-directed therapy for early-stage Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2015; 372(17): 1598-607.
- 11. Johnson P, Federico M, Kirkwood A, Fosså A, Berkahn L, Carella A, et al. Adapted treatment guided by interim PET-CT scan in advanced Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2016; 374(25): 2419-29.
- 12. Mukhtar F, Boffetta P, Dabo B, Park JY, Tran CT, Tran TV, et al. Disparities by race, age, and sex in the improvement of survival for lymphoma: findings from a population-based study. PLoS One 2018; 13(7): e0199745.
- 13. Shenoy P, Maggioncalda A, Malik N, Flowers CR. Incidence patterns and outcomes for Hodgkin lymphoma patients in the United States. Adv Hematol 2011; 2011(1): 725219.
- Mukhtar F, Boffetta P, Risch HA, Park JY, Bubu OM, Womack L, et al. Survival predictors of Burkitt's lymphoma in children, adults and elderly in the United States during 2000–2013. Int J Cancer 2017; 140(7): 1494-502.
- 15. Evens AM, Carter J, Loh KP, David KA. Management of older Hodgkin lymphoma patients. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2019; 2019(1): 233-42.
- Brooks EG, Connors JM, Sehn LH, Gascoyne RD, Savage KJ, Shenkier TN, et al. Impact of time from diagnosis to initiation of curative-intent chemotherapy on clinical outcomes in patients with classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma 2016; 57(4): 872-9.
- Glimelius I, Molin D, Amini RM, Gustavsson A, Glimelius B, Enblad G. Bulky disease is the most important prognostic factor in Hodgkin lymphoma stage IIB. Eur J Haematol 2003; 71(5): 327-33.
- Kilickap S, Barişta İ, Ülger Ş, Çelik İ, Selek U, Yildiz F, et al. Clinical features and prognostic factors of Hodgkin's lymphoma: a single center experience. Balkan Med J 2013; 2013(2): 178-85.
- André MP, Girinsky T, Federico M, Reman O, Fortpied C, Gotti M, et al. Early positron emission tomography response–adapted treatment in stage I and II Hodgkin lymphoma: final results of the randomized EORTC/LYSA/FIL H10 trial. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35(16): 1786-94.

Empathy and listening style among occupational therapists in Malaysia

Nurizzati Aznan, BSc(OT)¹, Mohd Suleiman Murad, PhD², Sharifah Najwa Zulkifli, BSc (OT)², Usep Abdulmatin, PhD³

¹Hospital Enche Besar Hajjah Khalsom, Kluang, Johor, Malaysia, ²Centre of Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Health Sciences, Universiti Teknologi MARA Selangor, Puncak Alam Campus, Selangor, Malaysia, ³Faculty of Adab and Humanities, Universitas Islam Negeri Syarif Hidayatullah, Jakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: As an occupational therapist, listening and empathy are critical components of practice because they are the foundation for developing therapeutic rapport with patients and their relatives. Currently, there is still no study regarding the level of empathy and listening styles among Occupational therapists in Malaysia. This study investigates the level of empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists in Malaysia and to examine their correlations.

Materials and Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted with 244 occupational therapy practitioners; 43 males; and 181 females. The level of empathy and listening style were assessed using the Jefferson Scale of Empathy Health Professional version and Listening Styles Profile-Revised questionnaires. Data were collected using Google Form. Analysis data were done using IBM SPSS Statistical Software version 26.

Results: Statistical analysis showed that Malaysia occupational therapists preferred perspective taking (mean 55.67, Standard Deviation, SD 10.54) in empathy and the analytical listening in listening styles approach (mean 34.71, SD 6.76). In addition, there was a moderate to strong significant correlation between the level of empathy and listening styles (r = 0.419 to 0.648, p<0.05). Furthermore, there is significant difference between listening styles and empathy in relation to gender (male>female) p=0.001-0.038), race (Indian higher than Malay and Chinese) and areas of practice (paediatric higher than psychiatric) (p= 0.016 to 0.039).

Conclusion: The findings are helpful for occupational therapists to improve their quality services by being more listening and empathetic while providing proper intervention to the patients.

KEYWORDS:

Empathy, listening styles, occupational therapist, Jefferson Scale of Empathy, listening styles profile-revised

INTRODUCTION

Empathy is an essential skill for health care practitioners.^{1,2} Empathy-related emotional intelligence has been shown to

enhance several elements of healthcare practice. These include patient satisfaction, adherence to therapy, history-taking and diagnosis, resource use, and a decrease in patient lawsuits.³ Empathy in patient care is defined as the ability to understand what a patient is saying and experiencing and then verbally communicate this comprehension to the patient.^{2,3} Empathy is crucial for occupational therapists because it helps them focus on their patients' needs rather than their own to achieve the most beneficial occupational and therapeutic results possible for their patients.⁴

Two studies found that there is no evidence of different age affect a person's empathy style.^{5,6} Moreover, a study involving a large sample of persons aged 16 to 87 years old found no significant age differences in self-reported empathy.⁵ In addition, other study also found no significant age differences in empathy in a sample ranging from 15 to 87 years.⁶ However, other factors such as gender, professional aspirations, current course of study, family structure and environment, personality, and empathetic experiences are likely to influence empathy.⁷ Numerous studies have shown evidence that contradicts the widely held belief that women are more compassionate than males.⁸⁺¹⁰

Watson et al.,¹¹ defined listening as attitudes, beliefs, and distortions that constitute an individual's overall preference towards the how, where, when, who, and what of information intake and encoding. The study stated that occupational therapists could understand and explore client problem and give them the strength to deal with it, by listening to patients.¹² Listening is crucial to occupational therapy because it contributes to people's happiness.

Listening style refers to the method a person uses when listening, whereas attentive manner refers to the subject a person focuses on when listening. Good listening and communication positively impact the formation of health professional and patient relationships, improving patient knowledge, adherence to treatment routines, and patient satisfaction.

A skilled occupational therapist must demonstrate empathy and attentive listening while attending to a patient. Occupational therapists must visualise their clients in various roles and circumstances to tailor treatments to each client's particular goals.¹³ Effective listening and empathic

This article was accepted: 11 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Mohd Suleiman Murad Email: sulaiman450@uitm.edu.my

communication have beneficial effects on establishing healthcare provider-patient relationships, patient comprehension, treatment program adherence, and satisfaction levels.¹⁴

However, the information about empathy and listening style among occupational therapists in Malaysia is still unexplored. To date, there are no studies looking at empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists in Malaysia. Therefore, the aim of this study investigates the level of empathy and listening styles, as well as the association between empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists in Malaysia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

The study is a cross-sectional survey of occupational therapy practitioners in Malaysia.

Study Instruments

A questionnaire form was used as an instrument to collect data on empathy and listening styles. Data were collected using the standardised self-reporting questionnaires; Jefferson Scale of Empathy Health Professional version (JSE-HP)¹⁵ and Listening Styles Profile-Revised (LSP-R)¹⁶ questionnaires. Permission has been obtained from both main authors. The JSPE ¹⁵, and LSP-R 16 has proven to be reliable and valid. Both item-total score correlations were positive and statistically significant (p<0.01), and Cronbach alpha<0.82.^{15,16,17}

Sample size

A total of 1892 occupational therapy practitioners were identified from registered occupational therapists at Malaysia Occupational Therapist Association (MOTA, 2022) . The Raosoft online calculator was used to calculate the sample size. Consideration margin of error 5%, confident level 95%, and response distribution rate 50%. The recommended sample size is n=385. All occupational therapy practitioners working in government and private sectors in Malaysia were included in this study.

Procedures

Questionnaires were distributed using Google Form. It consists of questions on demographic profile, i.e., age, gender, place of practice, and work area; and the JSE-HP and LSP-R for assessing empathy and listening styles.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analysed using IBM SPSS Statistical Software version 26. Normality testing was conducted to determine proper statistical testing (i.e., parametric or non-parametric) for the demographic and the scores obtained from the participants. The Kolmogorov test was performed for the normality test because the sample size for this study is smaller than 100. The relationship between empathy and listening styles was conducted by Spearman correlation (rho). Spearman rank correlation is a non-parametric test used to measure the degree of association between two variables. Spearman correlation was also computed to examine the relationship between an occupational therapist's demographic factors (age and work experiences) and their empathy and listening styles. A Kruskal-Wallis test was conducted to compare the listening styles and empathy with demographic data (gender, race, work area, and area of practice).

RESULTS

Number of Participants

The questionnaire was distributed to all 1892 occupational therapy practitioners. However, only a 11.84 % (n=224) returned the questionnaire. The participants came from all the fifteen states in Malaysia. The highest number of participants came from Johor (29.0%). Perlis and WP Putrajaya had the lowest participant number (0.9%). There were more female compared to male participants in all states. All occupational therapists from the private sector (2.2%) have a degree in occupational therapists and earns an income equivalent to grade U41 in the government sector.

Table I shows the participants' demographic characteristics. The participants age between 23 and 58 years old, with a mean age of 32.71(SD=5.3) years. The majority of the participants was female (80.8%), Malays (79.5%) and works as occupational therapists (88.4%).

Participants' preference of the Listening Styles in the LSP-R

The Listening Styles Profile-Revised (LSP-R) consists of 24item. All the items were randomised before administration. Items 1,5,9,13,17 and 21 are for Relational Listening (RL), and items 2,6,10,14,18, and 22 are for Analytical Listening (AL). Task-Oriented Listening (TL) represents items 3,7,11,15,19, and 23 while critical listening (CL) represents items 4,8,12,16,20, and 24. As for the result, Table II shows the participants' most preference in their listening styles is the Analytical Listening styles (AL) (M=34.71, SD=6.76) and the least is Task-oriented Listening (M=27.98, SD=7.82).

Participants' preference of the Empathy in the JSE-HP

There are 20-item in JSE-HP. It was designed specifically for administration to health professions students and practitioners to evaluate empathy in the context of health professions education and patient care. The subscales factors are Perspective Taking (PT), Compassionate care (CC), and Walking in Patient's Shoes (PS). All the items were randomised before administration. Items 2,4,5,9,10,13,15,16,17 and 20 are for Compassionate care (CC), and items 3 and 6 are for Walking in Patient's Shoes (PS). The items were graded on a 7-point Likert scale (1=Strongly Disagree, 7=Strongly Agree). The results vary from a minimum of 20 to a maximum of 140. A higher score means a more empathic person. As for the result, Table II shows the participants' most preference in their empathy is Perspective Taking (M=55.67, SD=10.54); Compassionate Care (M=28.47, SD=10.37), and the least is walking in the patient's shoes (M=7.56, SD=2.86).

Correlation between Empathy and Listening Styles with Demographic Factors

The results in Table III shows a moderate correlation and significance between empathy and listening styles which are Perspective taking and Relational Listening (r = 0.679);

Characteristics	n	%
Gender		
Male	43	19.2
Female*	181	80.8
Race		
Malay*	178	79.5
Chinese	6	2.7
Indian	7	3.1
Others	33	14.7
Education level		
Diploma*	157	70.1
Bachelor's Degree	60	26.8
Master's Degree	7	3.1
Income		
RM 2000- RM 3999*	144	64.3
RM 4000- RM 5999	75	33.5
RM 6000- RM 7999	4	1.8
RM 8000 - RM 9999	1	0.4
Work setting		
Hospital*	173	77.2
Private sector	5	2.2
Clinic	38	17.0
Other	8	3.6
Position in Clinical setting		
occupational therapists *	198	88.4
occupational therapists' officer	26	11.6
Grade		
U29*	151	67.4
U32	45	20.1
U36	1	0.4
U38	2	0.9
U41	16	7.1
U44	9	4.0
Area Practice		
Paediatric	72	32.1
Psychiatric	40	17.9
Physical dysfunction*	112	50.0

Table I: Participants	Demographic	Characteristics
-----------------------	-------------	-----------------

Note: (*) indicated the highest

Table II: Analysis of the listening styles in the LSP-R and empathy score in each of the three factors of JSE

Listening styles	Mean	SD
Relational Listening	33.82	6.70
Analytical listening*	34.71*	6.76
Task-Oriented Listening	27.98	7.82
Critical Listening	29.07	6.49
Empathy score (Subscales)		
Perspective Taking*	55.67	10.54
Compassionate Care	28.47	10.37
Walking in Patient's Shoes	7.56	2.86

Note: (*) indicated the highest, SD – standard deviation.

Table IV: Correlation between occupational therapists' demog	graphic factors and their empathy and listening	styles.
--	---	---------

Variables	Age	Work Experience	
Relational listening (RL)	0.123	0.106	
Analytical Listening (AL)	0.083	0.055	
Task-Oriented Listening (TL)	0.039	-0.013	
Critical Listening (CL)	0.000	-0.062	
Perspective Taking (PT)	0.113	0.42	
Compassionate Care (CC)	0.061	0.017	
Walking in Patient's Shoes (PS)	0.050	-0.033	

Original Article

Domain	Groups	Mean	Н	Р
	Gender			
Analytical Listening	Male	140.69*	10.145	0.001*
	Female	105.80		
Perspective Taking	Male	131.87*	4.492	0.034*
	Female	108.14		
Compassionate Care	Male	130.87*	4.285	0.038*
	Female	108.14		
	Race			
Relational Listening	Malay	106.35	10.536	0.015*
-	Chinese	141.75		
	Indian	171.36*		
	Other	127.89		
Perspective Taking	Malay	105.31	11.112	0.011*
	Chinese	124.75		
	Indian	145.71*		
	Other	142.00		
	Area of practice			
Critical Listening	Pediatric	126.52	8.272	0.016*
	Psychiatric	89.95		
	Physical dysfunction	111.54		
Compassionate Care	Pediatric	123.02	6.482	0.039*
	Psychiatric	124.38		
	Physical dysfunction	101.50		
	Work Area setting			
Walking in Patient's Shoes	Hospital	115.88	9.195	0.027*
	Private	108.90		
	Clinic	88.63		
	Other	154.94*		
			1	1

Table V: The significant differences between listening	g styles and empathy with the demographic data
--	--

*Statistically significant difference

Perspective taking and Analytical Listening (r = 0.648); Compassionate Care and Critical Listening (r = 0.444) and Perspective taking and critical listening (r = 0.419).

Spearman correlation analysis was computed to examine the relationship between an occupational therapist's demographic factors (age and work experiences) and their empathy and listening styles. Table IV shows a correlation between age and work experience with empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists. Based on the result of this study, there is a low association between an occupational therapist's demographic factors (age and work experiences) and their empathy and listening.

There was a statistically significant difference between Listening styles and empathy in relation to gender (p=0.001 to 0.038), race (p=0.015 to 0.011), and area of practice (p=0.016 to 0.039). However, in empathy only Walking in Patient's Shoes was found statistically significant in relation to work area (H= 9.195, p=0.027) (Table V).

DISCUSSION

Mostly occupational therapists in Malaysia preferred analytical listening styles with patients. However, in empathy they preferred the factor that has therapeutic value. Malaysia Occupational therapists preferred perspective taking in empathy. This is where, perspective taking is a cognitive-based intervention that promotes another focus by directing one to imagine how a person's suffering affects that person's life.¹⁸ All three studies by Blatt et al.,¹⁴ show patients' increased satisfaction when giving perspective taking intervention. Perspective taking as a means of improving patient satisfaction deserves further exploration in clinical training and practice. It has been shown to increase empathy, help, and neural level responses to others' pain, thus promoting positive intergroup attitudes.¹⁹

Occupational therapists in Malaysia preferred analytical listening as a listening style during conducting sessions and implying empathy with patients. Thus, information verified that occupational therapists background in healthcare is linked to analytical listening. Analytical listening is also suitable for getting complex information. This showed that occupational therapists act assertively when there were misunderstandings occur. They also pay attention in interactions by asking clarifying questions to form objective opinions.²⁰ In addition, Villaume and Bodie²¹ reported that there was a link between analytical listening, open communication, and accurate argumentation about conversational information. Moreover, analytical listeners can check information to reduce medical interpretation mistakes because they need to think and handle complex information. Hence, analytical listening should ensure correct information during a medical consultation.

There is no correlation between occupational therapists' demographic factors (age and work experiences) with their empathy and listening styles. This study confirmed with the other two studies where no evidence of age variations in empathy.^{5,6} In contrary, three studies reported of negative age differences.^{22,23} According to Phillips²³, young adults reported

higher empathy than older adults. However, once education was factored in, the age impact was no longer significant, they suggested that age-related variations in empathy were mainly due to age differences in education. Furthermore, Schieman¹⁹ identified a negative relationship between age and self-reported empathy among 1581 persons (aged 22 to 92). Nevertheless, the negative association between age and empathy remained significant even after adjusting for several sociodemographic, health-related, and psychological factors.

Occupational therapists in Malaysia have significant difference between empathy and listening styles in relation with gender (male higher than female), race (Indian higher than Malay and Chinese), and area of practice (paediatric higher than psychiatric). This study refuted by Maccoby and Jackling²³ findings, where females outperform males in verbal memory, listening to nonverbal behaviours such as facial expression, especially when exposed to both visual and auditory stimuli²³, and in perceiving gender-related traits. Moreover, empathy is probably influenced by various factors, including gender, intention to pursue a future career, the current course of study, family structure and environment, personality, and empathetic experiences.7 Furthermore, it can also be influenced by the socio-cultural, socio-cultural environment and, the scale of ethical.8,20 Different cultural characteristics of the participants also appear to influence their listening effectiveness. For example, Kiewitz et al.,¹⁵ found that various cultural traits affect participants' listening effectiveness. They reported that Americans pay close attention to a speaker's feelings, Israelis pay attention to the accuracy of the information, and Germans participate in oral communication by interrupting with questions as the speaker talks.

The outcomes of this study are helpful for occupational therapists to improve quality services by being more listening and empathetic while providing proper assessment and intervention to the patient. Besides, this study can embrace the core concepts of occupational therapists' attitudes toward giving patient services. This study's implication would interest scholars in occupational therapy and practicing students for highlighting empathy and proper listening while handling patients. However, there many limitations in this study. First, the sample size not within the ideal sample size. Second, random sampling could not be done, thus can affect the ideal representatives among area of practice. Third, the questionnaires should be translated into Malay language so that it is easily understood among occupational therapists' study background in Malay medium language.

CONCLUSION

This study provided information regarding empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists in Malaysia and insights into factors that influenced the empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists in Malaysia. Furthermore, the result of this study indicates Malaysian occupational therapists need to improve quality services by being more listening and empathetic while providing proper assessment and intervention to the patient. Besides, this study can embrace the core concepts of occupational therapists' attitudes toward giving patient services. This study's implication would be of interest to scholars in occupational therapy as well as to practicing student for highlighting empathy and proper listening while handling patients. However, this study only identifies baseline empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists in Malaysia. More study needed especially introducing causal effect that can improve empathy and listening styles among occupational therapists or other health professional in Malaysia.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to all the participants among occupational therapists in all sectors who participated in this research.

ETHICS APPROVAL AND INFPRMED CONSENT

The Research Ethics Committee (REC), Institute of Research Management and Innovation (IRMI), Universiti Teknologi MARA, Shah Alam, Selangor approved this study: 500-FSK (PT. 23/4).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

We would like to express our gratitude to all the participants.

FUNDING

Funding received from University Teknologi MARA Selangor Grant DUC-S (600-UITMSEL (PI. 5/4) (084/2022)).

AUTHORS CONTRIBUTION

Conceptualisation: NA, MSM; data curation and formal analysis: NA, MSM; Methodology: NA, MSM, II; writing original draft: NA, MSM; writing review and editing: NA, MSM, SNZ, UA.

REFERENCES

- 1. Spiro HM, Curnen MGM, Peschel E, James DS, editors. Empathy and the Practice of Medicine: Beyond Pills and the Scalpel. New Haven: Yale University Press; 1993.
- 2. Hojat M. Empathy in Patient Care: Antecedents, Development, Measurement, and Outcomes. New York, USA: Springer; 2007.
- Hojat M, Mangione S, Nasca TJ, Gonnella JS, Magee M. Empathy scores in medical school and ratings of empathic behavior in residency training 3 years later. J Soc Psychol 2005; 145(6): 663-72.
- amieson M, Krupa T, O'Riordan A, O'Connor D, Paterson M, Ball C, et al. Developing empathy as a foundation of client-centred practice: evaluation of a university curriculum initiative. Can J Occup Ther 2006; 73(2): 76-85.
- Eysenck SBG, Pearson PR, Easting G, Allsopp JF. Age norms of impulsiveness, venturesomeness and empathy in adults. Pers Individ Dif 1985; 6: 613-9.
- 6. Diehl M, Coyle N, Labouvie-Vief G. Age and sex differences in strategies of coping and defense across the life span. Psychol Aging 1996; 11(1): 127-39.
- Smith MK, Dundes L. The implications of gender stereotypes for the dentist-patient relationship. J Dent Educ 2008; 72(5): 562-70.
- 8. Mercer SW, Reynolds WJ. Empathy and quality of care. Br J Gen Pract 2002; 52 (Suppl): S9-12.

- 9. Halpern J. What is clinical empathy? J Gen Intern Med 2003; 18(8): 670-4.
- Watson K, Barker L, Weaver J. The listening styles profile (LSP-16): Development and validation of an instrument to assess four listening styles. Int J Listen 1995; 9: 1-13.
- 11. Koskinen CA-L, Lindström UÅ. An envisioning about the caring in listening. Scand J Caring Sci 2015; 29(3): 548-54.
- Gray JM. Putting occupation into practice: Occupation as ends, occupation as means. Am J Occup Ther 1998; 52(5): 354-64.
- 13. Batson CD, Early S, Salvarani G. Perspective taking: Imagining how another feels versus imagining how you would feel. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 1997; 23: 751-8.
- 14. Blatt B, LeLacheur SF, Galinsky AD, Simmens SJ, Greenberg L. Does perspective-taking increase patient satisfaction in medical encounters? Acad Med 2010; 85(9): 1445-52.
- 15. Kiewitz C, Weaver III JB, Brosius HB & Weimann G. Cultural differences in listening style preferences: a comparison of young adults in Germany, Israel, and the United States. Int J Public Opin Res 1997; 9(3): 233-47.
- Hojat M, Gonnella JS, Mangione S, et al: Physician empathy in medical education and practice: experience with the Jefferson Scale of Physician Empathy. Semin Integr Med 2003; 1(1): 25-41.

- 17. Bodie GD, Worthington DL & Gearhart CC. (2013). The listening styles profile-revised (LSP-R): a scale revision and evidence for validity. Commun Q 61(1), 72-90.
- Lamm C, Batson CD, Decety J. The neural substrate of human empathy: effects of perspective-taking and cognitive appraisal. J Cogn Neurosci 2007; 19: 42–58.
- 19. Schieman S, Van Gundy K. The personal and social links between age and self-reported empathy. Soc Psychol Q 2000; 63: 152-74.
- 20. Rahimi-Madiseh M, Tavakol M, Dennick R, Nasiri J. Empathy in Iranian Medical Students: A Preliminary Psychometric Analysis and Differences by Gender and Year of Medical School. Med Teach 2010; 13: e471-8.
- 21. Villaume WA, Bodie GD. Discovering the listener within us: the impact of trait-like personality variables and communicator styles on preferences for listening style. Int J Listen 2007; 21(2): 102-23.
- Phillips LH, MacLean RDJ, Allen R. Age and the understanding of emotions: Neuropsychological and sociocognitive perspectives. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2002; 57(6): P526-30
- 23. Maccoby EE, Jacklin CN. Myth, reality and shades of gray: what we know and don't know about sex differences. 1974. psycnet.apa.org

Prognostic factors of the survival of pancreatic cancer patients in peninsular Malaysia: A survival analysis

Myat Moe Thwe Aung, MPH¹, Nyi Nyi Naing, MMedStats¹, Muhammad Radzi Abu Hassan, FRCP², Wan Arfah Nadiah Wan Abdul Jamil, PhD³, Huan-Keat Chan, PhD², Harafinova Harman Shah, MRCP¹, San San Oo, MSc¹, Mohd Salami Ibrahim, MAClinEd¹

¹Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Kampus Perubatan, Jalan Sultan Mahmud, Kuala Terengganu, Malaysia, ²Clinical Research Center, Hospital Sultanah Bahiyah, KM6, Jalan Langgar, Alor Setar, Kedah, Malaysia, ³Faculty of Health Sciences, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Kampus Gong Badak, Jln Sultan Mahmud, Kuala Nerus, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Pancreatic cancer incidence in Malaysia is steadily on the rise, now ranking as the 14th most common malignancy in the country. Despite this upward trend, research on prognostic factors affecting pancreatic cancer survival remains limited, highlighting the need for ongoing investigation to improve patient survival outcomes.

Materials and Methods: This study was conducted retrospectively by reviewing records of pancreatic cancer patients hospitalized between January 2011 and December 2018 across multiple health centres in Malaysia. Using Cox proportional hazards regression analysis, several prognostic factors were identified.

Results: The study revealed that being Chinese, having a family history of pancreatic cancer, having hepatitis C, presenting with jaundice, experiencing pale stools, having a palpable mass in the abdomen, the presence of ascites, receiving palliative care and end-of-life care were associated with higher mortality risk. Conversely, being female, having hypertension, and higher haemoglobin levels were linked to decreased mortality risk.

Conclusions: These study findings offer valuable insights into prognostic factors for predicting patient outcomes and optimizing individual prognosis in pancreatic cancer cases within Malaysia context. Future research should build on these findings, exploring how these factors can be integrated into comprehensive care plans that address the specific needs of diverse patient populations.

KEYWORDS:

Pancreatic cancer, prognostic factors, Cox regression, survival, Malaysia, retrospective record review

INTRODUCTION

Pancreatic cancer has become as an emerging noncommunicable disease, manifesting a gradual escalation in its incidence over recent years. Currently ranked as the 12th most common oncological disease globally,¹ its prevalence is rising by 1.1% annually.² Understanding its potential risk factors and recognizing its signs and symptoms are of ultimate importance for primary prevention and early diagnosis of the disease. However, pancreatic cancer is often clinically silent, and patients are frequently diagnosed at advanced stages. Consequently, its survival rate is exceedingly low compared to other malignancies.³ In the year 2020, the disease was responsible for 466,003 global fatalities,⁴ nearly matching the number of new cases annually.² Pancreatic cancer fatalities contribute to 4.7% of all global cancer-related deaths, making it the seventh leading cause of cancer mortality among all oncological diseases.⁴

Prognosis in pancreatic cancer patients depends on several factors. Prognostic factors are variables that indicate which patients are likely to do better or worse over time. Data on prognostic factors provide insights on the natural history of a disease, and these data are crucial to predict patients' probable outcomes and optimise patient individual's prognosis.⁵ In Malaysia, the incidence of pancreatic carcinoma is on the rise, with reported cases increasing from 976 in 2018⁶ to 1089 in 2020,⁷ representing the 14th most common malignancy in the country.⁷ Despite this upward trend, research on prognostic factors affecting survival of pancreatic cancer patients in Malaysia remains limited. A comprehensive understanding and identification of these factors are imperative for effective management. To date, the prognostic factors of pancreatic carcinoma are still insufficiently known. Therefore, ongoing research aimed at elucidating prognostic factors and improving survival rates for pancreatic cancer patients is essential. This study aims to provide further insights into the influencing factors on the overall survival of pancreatic cancer patients through a multicentre retrospective cohort study in Malaysia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A retrospective cohort study was conducted by comprehensively reviewing the medical records pertaining to pancreatic cancer patients aged 18 years and above, who were admitted to State hospitals in Terengganu, Kelantan, Penang, and Kedah between January 2011 and December 2018. Inclusion criteria encompassed patients with confirmed pancreatic cancer diagnoses, established through histopathology examination or various diagnostic imaging modalities. Patients with incomplete medical records exceeding 30% and those diagnosed with secondary pancreatic cancer were excluded from the study.

This article was accepted: 06 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Nyi Nyi Naing Email: syedhatim@unisza.edu.my

The event in this study was pancreatic cancer cases who died from pancreatic cancer, and their survival time was defined as the duration in months from the date of diagnosis to the date of death. For censored cases and individuals lacking information on the date of expiry, survival time was calculated from the date of diagnosis to the last-recorded follow-up date. All relevant and eligible data were collected utilizing a constructed proforma. Treatment modalities included surgical resection followed by adjuvant therapy, palliative care and end-of-life care. Anticipating a potential 10% rate of missing values, the study aimed for a total sample size of 335 patients. Details regarding its sample size calculation and the proforma except blood test results have been previously published elsewhere.⁸

The statistical analysis was performed using statistical software for data science (STATA) version 17.0.⁹ The data was evaluated using descriptive statistics and Cox regression analysis. Quantitative variables were summarized with mean and standard deviation (SD), while qualitative variables were presented as counts and percentages. For the univariable analysis step of survival analysis, simple Cox regression was utilized to identify potential prognostic factors. Covariates with a significance level (p-value) of 0.25 or lower were selected for inclusion in subsequent multivariable modelling.

Multiple Cox proportional hazards regression was then employed to determine the prognostic factors of the malignancy. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. The parsimonious model, incorporating the fewest significant variables, resulting from the forward stepwise selection method, was chosen in this study. Next, the linearity of continuous variables was assessed using the multivariable fractional polynomials approach via the Fracpoly command. Multicollinearity was then evaluated through a comprehensive examination of the correlation matrix, variance inflation factor (VIF) and tolerance tests. Subsequently, potential two-way biologically or clinically meaningful interaction terms between significant independent variables were evaluated.

After that, the model's specification error was examined using the link test, while the proportional hazard assumptions were evaluated both graphically and through mathematical approach such as the scaled and unscaled Schoenfeld tests and C-statistics. As for model adequacy assessment, regression diagnostic statistics such as checking Martingale residuals, Cox-Snell residuals, deviance residuals and influence analysis were performed. Remedial measures were applied for the influential observations detected from the regression diagnostics. Any observations having regression coefficient changes of more than 20% were deleted from the model.

Final results were presented with both crude and adjusted hazard ratios, accompanied by 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), and their corresponding p-values. The study protocol and ethical aspects were approved by Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin Human Research Ethics (UHREC) (Study protocol code: UniSZA/UHREC/2020/169) and the Medical Research and Ethics Committee (MREC), Ministry of Health Malaysia (NMRR-20-1339-52843 (IRR)).

RESULTS

Between 2011 and 2018, the medical records of total 376 pancreatic cancer patients could be retrieved. Detailed information on these patients, including their baseline characteristics, lifestyle, family cancer history, comorbidities, signs and symptoms at diagnosis, pathological findings, and treatment methods, has been reported previously elsewhere.8 Among the haematological variables, haemoglobin values could be retrieved for only 359 patients. The mean haemoglobin level among pancreatic cancer patients was found to be 12.86 g/dL (SD=1.23). Due to missing values exceeding 30% for other laboratory parameters, those variables were excluded from the analysis.

The potential significant survival predictors of pancreatic cancer were identified by means of simple Cox proportional regression analysis. Considering no other confounding variables, the results of univariable analysis revealed several factors associated with increased risk of mortality among pancreatic cancer patients. These factors included age 60 years and above, female patients (HR: 0.78; 95%CI: 0.57, 1.06), Chinese ethnicity (HR: 1.40; 95%CI: 1.02, 1.91), being married, being widowed or divorced, having history of smoking, alcohol consumption, having family history of pancreatic cancer (HR: 1.39; 95%CI: 0.89, 2.18), comorbidities such as pancreatitis, type II diabetes, hepatitis C (HR: 2.17; 95%CI: 1.01, 4.64), cirrhosis, hypertension (HR: 1.36; 95%CI: 0.99, 1.87), and ischemic heart disease.

Additionally, symptoms at presentation such as abdominal pain, back pain, loss of appetite, fatigue, nausea and vomiting, jaundice (HR: 8.27; 95%CI: 5.67, 12.06), lack of colour in faeces (HR: 7.07; 95%CI: 4.31, 11.60), dark colour urine, fever, abdominal distension, dyspepsia, presence of mass in abdomen (HR: 4.35; 95%CI: 2.72, 6.94) along with haemoglobin levels (HR: 0.40; 95%CI: 0.34, 0.47) were found to significantly impact survival. Furthermore, diagnosed with neuroendocrine tumours, location of tumour at body, receiving palliative treatment (HR: 1.92; 95%CI: 1.25, 2.95) or best supportive care (HR: 14.82; 95%CI: 9.12, 24.10), hepatomegaly and ascites (HR: 6.74; 95%CI: 4.10, 11.09) demonstrated potential effect on survival of the patients.

In the final model after removing two influential observations, several variables were found to be significant prognostic factors for the pancreatic cancer patients' survival. These variables included being female (HR: 0.11; 95%CI: 0.06, 0.17), being of Chinese ethnicity (HR: 1.46; 95%CI: 1.04, 2.06), having a family history of pancreatic cancer (HR: 1.86; 95%CI: 1.13, 3.04), having hepatitis C (HR: 3.90; 95%CI: 1.69, 9.00), having hypertension (HR: 0.61; 95%CI: 0.42, 0.88), presenting with jaundice (HR 8.60; 95%CI: 4.95, 14.94), experiencing a lack of colour in faeces (HR: 3.15; 95%CI: 1.49, 6.64), having a palpable mass in the abdomen (HR: 2.35; 95%CI: 1.34, 4.13), the presence of ascites (HR: 2.52; 95%CI: 1.31, 4.86), haemoglobin (HR: 0.22; 95%CI: 0.16, 0.29), receiving palliative care (HR: 2.28; 95%CI: 1.39, 3.73), and end-of-life/ supportive care (HR: 6.47; 95%CI: 3.54, 11.85). All identified factors were associated with increased risk of mortality while being female, having hypertension, and higher haemoglobin values were linked with decreased mortality risk among pancreatic cancer patients. Table I presents the results of significant variables in univariable and

Variables	Simple Cox Hazard F	Proportional Regression	Multiple Cox Pr Hazard Regi	oportional ression
	Crude Hazard Ratio (95% CI)	p-value	Adjusted Hazard Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Age group				
≤60 years old	1.00			
>60 years old	1.88 (1.37, 2.57)	<0.001		
Sex	1.00		1.00	
Female	0.78 (0.57, 1.06)	0 108	0 11 (0 06 0 17)	<0.001
Ethnicity		0.100		0.001
Malay	1.00		1.00	
Chinese	1.40 (1.02, 1.91)	0.037	1.46 (1.04, 2.06)	0.031
Indian	1.09 (0.63, 1.89)	0.747	0.84 (0.46, 1.56)	0.587
Marital status	1.00			
Single	1.00	0 1 2 7		
Widow/Divorced	2.01 (0.82, 4.94)	0.127		
Smoking	2.07 (1.05, 0.77)	0.058		
No	1.00			
Yes	1.48 (1.08, 2.02)	0.014		
Alcohol drinking				
No	1.00			
Yes	2.21 (1.18, 4.12)	0.013		
Family history of CA pancreas	1.00		1.00	
NO Yes	1 39 (0 89 2 18)	0 153	1.00	0.014
Having pancreatitis	1.55 (0.05, 2.10)	0.155	1.00 (1.13, 5.04)	0.014
No	1.00			
Yes	1.80 (0.91, 3.58)	0.093		
Having type II diabetes				
No	1.00			
Yes	1.79 (1.32, 2.42)	<0.001		
Having Hepatitis C	1.00		1.00	
Yes	2 17 (1 01 4 64)	0.047	3 90 (1 69 9 00)	0.001
Having cirrhosis	2.17 (1.01, 4.04)	0.047	5.50 (1.05, 5.00)	0.001
No	1.00			
Yes	5.29 (1.28, 21.86)	0.021		
Hypertension				
No	1.00		1.00	
Yes	1.36 (0.99, 1.87)	0.054	0.61 (0.42, 0.88)	0.009
No	1.00			
Yes	1.84 (1.06, 3.21)	0.031		
Abdominal pain				
No	1.00			
Yes	1.59 (1.18, 2.14)	0.002		
Back pain				
No	1.00	0.004		
res Loss of appetite	1.76 (1.20, 2.58)	0.004		
No	1.00			
Yes	2.17 (1.61, 2.93)	<0.001		
Fatigue				
No	1.00			
Yes	1.65 (1.20, 2.26)	0.002		
Nausea and vomiting	1.00			
		0.056		
laundice	1.55 (0.99, 1.62)	0.000		
No	1.00		1.00	
Yes	8.27 (5.67, 12.06)	<0.001	8.60 (4.95, 14.94)	<0.001
Lack of colour in faeces				
No	1.00		1.00	
Yes	7.07 (4.31, 11.60)	<0.001	3.15 (1.49, 6.64)	0.003

Table I: Prognostic factors on survival	of pancreatic cancers	s after removing influentia	l observations (n =357)
---	-----------------------	-----------------------------	-------------------------

Original Article

Variables	Simple Cox Proportional Hazard Regression		Multiple Cox Pr Hazard Regr	Multiple Cox Proportional Hazard Regression	
	Crude Hazard Ratio (95% CI)	p-value	Adjusted Hazard Ratio (95% CI)	p-value	
Dark colour urine					
No	1.00				
Yes	5.67 (3.09, 10.43)	<0.001			
Fever					
No	1.00				
Yes	3.75 (2.57, 5.49)	<0.001			
Abdominal distension					
No	1.00				
Yes	2.12 (1.40, 3.19)	<0.001			
Dyspepsia					
No	1.00				
Yes	2.12 (1.46, 3.10)	<0.001			
Mass in abdomen					
No	1.00		1.00		
Yes	4.35 (2.72, 6.94)	<0.001	2.35 (1.34, 4.13)	0.003	
Having hepatomegaly					
No	1.00				
Yes	2.40 (1.67, 3.44)	<0.001			
Having ascites					
No	1.00		1.00		
Yes	6.74 (4.10, 11.09)	<0.001	2.52 (1.31, 4.86)	0.006	
Haemoglobin	0.40 (0.34, 0.47)	<0.001	0.22 (0.16, 0.29)	<0.001	
Type of carcinoma					
Exocrine tumour	1.00				
Neuroendocrine tumour	0.39 (0.19, 0.80)	0.010			
Location of tumour					
Head	1.00				
Body	1.34 (0.84, 2.13)	0.221			
Tail	0.80 (0.47, 1.34)	0.395			
Treatment modality					
Surgery& adjuvant therapy	1.00		1.00		
Palliative care	1.92 (1.25, 2.95)	0.003	2.28 (1.39, 3.73)	0.001	
End-of-life care	14.82 (9.12, 24.10)	<0.001	6.47 (3.54, 11.85)	< 0.001	

Table I: Prognostic factors on survival of pancreatic cancers after removing influential observations (n =357)

HR: Hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval; Forward stepwise variable selection method was applied. Checking the linearity of the continuous variable, multicollinearity and two-way interaction terms, and no problem was identified. The preliminary final model was properly specified (_hat: P<0.037) (_hatsq: P=0.679). The Cox model assumptions were checked graphically by employing various diagnostic plots including the Hazard function plot, Log-minus-log plot, and Schoenfeld partial residuals plot. Additionally, the proportional hazard assumption was assessed for each individual variable in the preliminary final model using both the scaled Schoenfeld test (Separate test) and the unscaled Schoenfeld residuals, Deviance residuals and influential analysis. Remedial measures were applied, and two influential observations were omitted from the model.

multivariable analyses in terms of crude and adjusted hazard ratios (HR), their respective 95% CI values, and p-value.

DISCUSSION

Pancreatic cancer is a rapidly lethal malignant neoplasm with poor prognosis, characterized by the mortality to incidence ratio as high as 98%.¹⁰ Given the severity of this disease, there is an urgent need for ongoing research efforts aimed at alleviating suffering and improving survival rates. With regards to this issue, the present study focused on 376 pancreatic cancer patients treated at State Hospitals in Malaysia, examined the multifaceted nature of its prognosis.

Globally, pancreatic cancer exhibits a slight male predominance in both the occurrence of new cases and mortality rates.⁴ Consistent with these trends and previous local studies in Malaysia,¹¹⁻¹² our study documented that nearly 60% of diagnosed cases were male, and female patients had 89% decreased risk of mortality compared to men. The effect of gender on survival outcomes is conflicting; some studies reported poorer survival outcomes among males,¹³ while others found no significant gender impact.¹⁴ The influence of gender on cancer survival is likely multifaceted, encompassing factors such as sex differences in molecular or genetic predisposition,¹⁴ and variations in risk exposure, sex hormones, treatment allocation and treatment responses.¹⁵ Furthermore, research exploring these aspects could provide deeper insights into how these factors influencing on gender disparity on pancreatic cancer survival.

Concerning ethnicity, Chinese individuals have historically shown higher rates of pancreatic cancer compared to other ethnicities in Malaysia.¹⁶ However, in the present study, Malays constituted the majority of diagnosed patients, with

Chinese patients representing only 33.2% of the total patient population. This observed ethnic distribution discrepancy may stem from the fact that the majority of data for this study were obtained from State Hospitals which typically serve regions with a higher Malay resident population. In terms of survival outcomes, this study documented a higher mortality risk among Chinese patients compared to Malay cases. Racial disparities in pancreatic cancer incidence and survival may result from modifiable factors such as lifestyle, diet, and physical activity.17 Genetic and molecular differences unique to each ethnic group could also affect the survival outcomes.18 Furthermore, variations in cancer awareness and accessibility to healthcare among ethnic groups may contribute to these disparities.¹⁹ However, this study lacked detailed data on these factors, highlighting the need for further research to identify the underlying mechanisms driving these disparities.

There is increasing evidence suggesting an association between a family history of pancreatic cancer and an elevated risk for non-affected family members to develop the disease.20 In this study, 9.8% of the patients reported the family history, and they exhibited an 86% higher risk of mortality compared to those without such history. These findings are consistent with prior research by Ji et al. in 2008,²¹ which also highlighted poorer survival in familial pancreatic cancer cases compared to sporadic cases. Conversely, a study by Omer, Boucher, and DiSario in 2004²² observed that individuals with a family history of the disease exhibited longer survival, even after accounting for birth year and age at diagnosis. The existing literature on the impact of family history on the survival of pancreatic cancer cases remains limited and inconclusive. Nevertheless, it remains imperative to identify and conduct pancreatic cancer screening among familial high-risk individuals for early detection and timely treatment to promote longer survival.

Hepatitis B and hepatitis C viral infections are primarily linked to liver diseases. However, recent evidence suggests their potential association with extrahepatic malignancies, such as pancreatic cancer. A meta-analysis of observational studies done by Xu et al. in 2013²³ and a meta-analysis of cohort studies by Zhao et al. in 2023²⁴ provided compelling evidence that an increased risk of pancreatic cancer development with chronic infection of these viruses. In this current study, 2.9% and 2.1% of the total patients had hepatitis B and hepatitis C infection, respectively. Moreover, the study findings suggested that hepatitis C infection, rather than hepatitis B, was associated with a higher risk of mortality. Despite hepatitis B being more infectious than hepatitis C,²⁵ the latter lacks a vaccine and is more prone to becoming a chronic condition.²⁶ Their interplay with pancreatic cancer prognosis remains unclear, and understanding their relationship could offer valuable insights into the management and treatment of this malignancy.

Among patients with pancreatic cancer, hypertension is a frequently observed comorbidity, as evidenced by a retrospective study conducted in Poland revealing that 52.6% of such patients presented with hypertension.²⁷ In this study, 31.1% of the total patients were either on anti-hypertensive medication or had documented hypertension in their medical

records. Given its prevalence and potential impact of coincidence of cancer survival, their association is an area of growing interest, and has inspired its own field of oncohypertension.²⁸ Owing to a paucity of data, the literature on their association with survival outcomes remains inconclusive. Interestingly, in our study, hypertension was found to be inversely related with pancreatic cancer mortality which is consistent with findings of 25-year mortality surveillance study.²⁹ A recent large population-based study in 2022 further demonstrated that pancreatic cancer patients with hypertension who were treated with angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs) or angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors experienced significantly longer survival. These medications are believed to exert protective effects by modulating pathways involved in tumour growth and metastasis.³⁰ It is plausible that the hypertensive patients in our study were more likely to be on these medications, which may have contributed to the observed inverse association between hypertension and mortality. However, our study lacked specific data on antihypertensive therapy, limiting our ability to confirm this hypothesis. This underscores the critical need for future research to explore the role of antihypertensive medications in pancreatic cancer survival.

Anaemia is a common occurrence in cancer patients. It affects around half of those undergoing systemic treatment and one-third prior to therapy initiation,³¹ with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) patients being particularly susceptible.³² The current study underscores the significance of haemoglobin levels as a crucial prognostic marker for pancreatic cancer patient survival, with lower values indicating an elevated risk of mortality. The literature suggested that nutritional deficiencies and systemic inflammation may impede haemoglobin synthesis, particularly in patients with advanced disease stage.³³ Furthermore, compelling evidence indicates that low haemoglobin levels are associated with poor response to treatment, especially in those with late-stage disease.³⁴ As a result, those with low haemoglobin values may face higher mortality risk.

In its early stages, pancreatic cancer is clinically asymptomatic. By the time symptoms become apparent, the disease has locally advanced or spread to nearby organs, most commonly to the liver.³⁵ The clinical presentations documented in this study were nearly comparable to the other studies.12 Additionally, a considerable portion of patients exhibited clinical indicators suggestive of liver or peritoneal cavity metastasis, including jaundice, palecoloured stools, abdominal mass, and ascites. The presence of these manifestations indicates advanced-stage disease, and those with such complications may receive less aggressive treatment³⁶ and might have negative impact on a patient's quality of life.³⁷ Consequently, in this study, individual presenting signs and symptoms of metastasis were found to have worse prognosis compared to those without such manifestations.

Pancreatic cancer remains a challenging malignancy with limited treatment options, among which surgical resection remains the primary curative approach. Consistent with existing literature, our study demonstrated that patients undergoing surgical resection with curative intent had the longest survival, whereas those receiving palliative therapy or best supportive care had the poorest outcomes. This aligns with the clinical expectation that patients referred for palliative or supportive care are typically those with advanced, inoperable disease and poor prognoses. These findings underscore the critical importance of early diagnosis and timely surgical intervention. Previous reports have similarly emphasized that surgical resection offers the only chance for cure, although only 15%-20% of cases are diagnosed at a stage where surgery is feasible.³⁸ However, our study lacked detailed data on the specifics of surgical procedures and the types of chemotherapy or radiotherapy administered, limiting the scope of further analysis. Future research should address these gaps to provide a more comprehensive understanding of treatment approaches and their effects on survival outcomes.

CONCLUSIONS

This retrospective review over an 8-year period provides valuable insights into the prognostic factors influencing the survival of patients with pancreatic cancer, particularly within the Malaysian context. By identifying specific clinical and demographic variables-such as ethnicity, familial history, co-infections, and comorbidities-this research underscores the complexity and multifaceted nature of pancreatic cancer prognosis. The significant association of factors like hepatitis C co-infection, jaundice, and end-of-life care with poorer survival outcomes emphasizes the need for targeted clinical interventions and tailored patient management strategies. Conversely, the identification of protective factors, such as female gender, hypertension, and higher haemoglobin levels, offers new perspectives that could guide future therapeutic approaches. Understanding these prognostic indicators can aid health personnels in more accurately assessing patient risk profiles, thereby facilitating earlier and more personalized interventions. Future research should build on these findings, exploring how these and other factors can be integrated into comprehensive care plans that address the specific needs of diverse patient populations.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors extend their deepest gratitude to all the patients who participated in this study, as well as to the dedicated staff from Hospital Sultanah Nur Zahirah (Terengganu), Hospital Raja Perempuan Zainab II (Kelantan), Hospital Pulau Pinang (Penang), and Hospital Sultanah Bahiyah (Kedah) for their invaluable assistance in data collection.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

FUNDING

This research received no external funding.

REFERENCES

 World Cancer Research Fund (WCRFI). Pancreatic cancer statistics - WCRF International. 2022. [cited March 2022]. Available from: https://www.wcrf.org/cancer-trends/pancreaticcancer-statistics/

- 2. Hu JX, Lin YY, Zhao CF, Chen WB, Liu QC, Li QW, et al. Pancreatic cancer: A review of epidemiology, trend, and risk factors. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27(27): 4298.
- 3. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Facts and Figures 2021. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71(1): 7-33.
- 4. Ilic I and Ilic M. International patterns in incidence and mortality trends of pancreatic cancer in the last three decades: A joinpoint regression analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(32): 4698-715.
- 5. Halabi S and Owzar K. The importance of identifying and validating prognostic factors in oncology. Semin Oncol 2010; 37(2): e9-18.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Malaysia (Source: Globocan 2018). 2019. [cited July 2020]. Available from: https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/populations/458malaysia-fact-sheets.pdf
- World Health Organization (WHO). Malaysia (Source: Globocan 2020). 2021. [cited February 2021]. Available from: https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/populations/458malaysia-fact-sheets.pdf
- 8. Aung MMT, Naing NN, Hassan MRA, Wan-Arfah N, Chan H, Oo SS, et al. The median survival time of pancreatic cancer patients in Malaysia. Malaysian J Public Heal Med 2022; 22(3): 355-64.
- 9. StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 17. Published online 2021.
- Capasso M, Franceschi M, Rodriguez-Castro KI, Crafa P, Cambiè G, Miraglia C, et al. Epidemiology and risk factors of pancreatic cancer. Acta Biomed 2018; 89(Suppl 9): 141-6.
- 11. Malwinder S, Wi WZ, Cimmeran K, Vce P, Austin TM. Prognostic factors for survival in pancreatic cancer patients from University Malaya Medical Centre, Malaysia. J Heal Transl Med 2018; 21(1): 6-13.
- 12. Norsa'adah B, Nur-Zafira A, Knight A. Pancreatic cancer in Universiti Sains Malaysia Hospital: a retrospective review of years 2001-2008. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev 2012; 13(6): 2857-60.
- 13. Pijnappel EN, Schuurman M, Wagner AD, de Vos-Geelen J, Geest LGM vanDer, de Groot JWB, et al. Sex, gender and age differences in treatment allocation and survival of patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer: a nationwide study. Front Oncol 2022; 12: 1-9.
- 14. Önal Ö, Yılmaz SD, Eroğlu HN, Eroğlu İ, Koçer M. Survival analysis and factors affecting survival in patients with pancreatic cancer. Med Sci Discov 2020; 7(2): 412-18.
- Radkiewicz C, Johansson ALV, Dickman PW, Lambe M, Edgren G. Sex differences in cancer risk and survival: a swedish cohort study. Eur J Cancer 2017; 84: 130-40.
- 16. Ministry of Health Malaysia. Press Release: Malaysia National Cancer Registry Report (MNCR) 2012-2016; 2019. [cited May 2021]. Available from: https://drive.google.com/file/d/1BuPWrb05N2Jez6sEP8VM5r6JtJt lPN5W/view
- Rawla P, Sunkara T, Gaduputi V. Epidemiology of Pancreatic Cancer: Global Trends, Etiology and Risk Factors. Rev World J Oncol 2019; 10(1): 10-27.
- 18. Yamaguchi K, Chijiiwa K, Torato N, Kinoshita RTM, Tanaka M. Ki-ras codon 12 point and P53 mutations: a molecular examination of the main tumor, liver, portal vein, peripheral arterial blood and para-aortic lymph node in pancreatic cancer. Am J Gastroenterol 2000; 95(8): 1939-45.
- 19. Khalaf N, Xu A, Wenker TN, Kramer JR, Liu Y, Singh H, et al. The impact of race on pancreatic cancer treatment and survival in the nationwide veterans affairs healthcare system. Pancreas 2024; 53(1): e27–33.
- Porter N, Laheru D, Lau B, He J, Zheng L, Narang A, et al. Risk of pancreatic cancer in the long-term prospective follow-up of familial pancreatic cancer kindreds. J Natl Cancer Inst 2022; 114(12): 1681-88.
- 21. Ji J, Försti A, Sundquist J, Lenner P, Hemminki K. Survival in familial pancreatic cancer. Pancreatology 2008; 8(3): 252-6.
- Omer N, Boucher K, DiSario J. Survival outcomes in familial pancreatic cancer. Pancreas 2004; 29(4): 348.

- 23. Xu JH, Fu JJ, Wang XL, Zhu JY, Ye XH, Chen SD, et al. Hepatitis B or C viral infection and risk of pancreatic cancer: A metaanalysis of observational studies. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19(26): 4234-41.
- 24. Zhao JF, Teng QP, Lv Y, Li XY, Ding Y. Association between hepatitis B or hepatitis C virus infection and risk of pancreatic cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Ther Adv Infect Dis 2023; 10: 1-4.
- 25. Hepatitis B Foundation. What's the difference: hepatitis B vs hepatitis C? 2019. [cited April 2019]. Available from: https://www.hepb.org/blog/whats-the-difference-hepatitis-b-vshepatitis-c/
- 26. MedicalNewsToday (MNT). What is the difference between hepatitis B and C. 2023. [cited April 2023]. Available from: https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/323455
- 27. Fudalej M, Cichowska I, Badowska-kozakiewicz A, Deptała A. The prevalence and impact of overweight and hypertension among patients with pancreatic cancer. Oncol Clin Pract 2024: 1-13.
- Gudsoorkar P, Ruf R, Adnani H, Safdar K, Sparks MA. Oncohypertension: an emerging specialty. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2021; 28(5): 477-89.
- 29. Batty GD, Shipley MJ, Marmot MG, Davey Smith G. Blood pressure and site-specific cancer mortality: Evidence from the original Whitehall study. Br J Cancer 2003; 89(7): 1243-7.
- 30. Keith SW, Maio V, Arafat HA, Alcusky M, Karagiannis T, Rabinowitz C, et al. Angiotensin blockade therapy and survival in pancreatic cancer: a population study. BMC Cancer 2022; 22(1): 1-9.

- Ludwig H, Müldür E, Endler G, Hübl W. Prevalence of iron deficiency across different tumors and its association with poor performance status, disease status and anemia. Ann Oncol 2013; 24(7): 1886-92.
- 32. Osmola M, Gierej B, Mleczko-Sanecka K, Jończy A, Ciepiela O, Kraj L, et al. Anemia, iron deficiency, and iron regulators in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma patients: a comprehensive analysis. Curr Oncol 2023; 30(8): 7722-39.
- Xu SS, Li S, Xu HX, Li H, Wu CT, Wang WQ, et al. Haemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte and platelet predicts postoperative survival in pancreatic cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2020; 26(8): 828.
- McGrane JM, Humes DJ, Acheson AG, Minear F, Wheeler JMD, Walter CJ. Significance of anemia in outcomes after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2017; 16(4): 381-5.
- 35. Liu Z, Gou A, Wu X. Liver metastasis of pancreatic cancer: the new choice at the crossroads. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr 2023; 12(1): 88-91.
- Han MY and Borazanci EH. Malignant ascites in pancreatic cancer: Pathophysiology, diagnosis, molecular characterization, and therapeutic strategies. Front Oncol 2023; 13.
- 37. Czerw A, Partyka O, Pajewska M, Badowska-kozakiewicz A, Fudalej M, Sygit K, et al. Quality of life in patients with pancreatic cancer — a literature review. Int J Env Res Public Heal 2023; 20(6): 1-11.
- De La Cruz MSD, Young AP, Ruffin MT. Diagnosis and management of pancreatic cancer. Am Fam Physician 2014; 89(8): 626-32.

Proportions and determinants of successful tuberculosis treatment among tuberculosis patients with comorbidity registered in National Tuberculosis Registry in Negeri Sembilan from year 2018-2023

Abdul Rahman Dashuki, MPH^{1,2}, Aimi Nadira Mat Ruzlin, PhD¹, Mohd 'Ammar Ihsan Ahmad Zamzuri, DrPH², Chen Xin Wee, DrPH (Epidemiology)¹

¹Department of Public Health Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Sungai Buloh, Selangor, Malaysia, ²Sector of TB/Leprosy, Public Health Division, Negeri Sembilan State Health Department, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Tuberculosis (TB) is one of the major global health challenges and concerns. Despite the availability of effective treatment in Malaysia, it remained a consistently high notification rate of TB cases. The objective of this study was to determine the proportion of successful TB treatment outcomes and its determinants among TB with comorbidities patients in Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia.

Methods: This is a retrospective cohort study among TB with Comorbidities cases in Negeri Sembilan using multiple secondary surveillance databases: National Tuberculosis Registry (NTBR), National Aids Registry (NAR) and National Diabetic Registry (NDR). The data review was from April 2024 until June 2024. All registered TB cases with comorbidities in Negeri Sembilan from the year 2018 to 2023 were analysed to determine the determinants of successful TB treatment among TB with comorbidities patients.

Results: Out of 712 TB cases with comorbidities, 541 (76.0%) achieved a successful TB treatment outcome, and 171 (24.0%) did not. The successful TB treatment among TB with comorbidities showed predominantly among male (72.5%), Malay ethnicity (65.4%), secondary education level (60.3%), and unemployed working status (70.1%). Diabetes mellitus (DM) was the most common comorbidity (70.4%), followed by hypertension (44.8%), dyslipidaemia (36.0%), HIV (19.5%), and viral hepatitis (18.1%). Factors significantly associated with successful TB treatment were those who had a secondary education level (AOR: 2.222; 95% CI: 1.129, 4.374) and a tertiary education level (AOR: 4.474; 95% CI: 1.428-14.01), were diagnosed with TB in the government hospital (AOR: 0.053; 95% CI: 0.008-0.376), and were not done Acid-Fast Bacillus sputum in the intensive phase of treatment (AOR: 0.191; 95% CI: 0.046, 0.785), cases followed the Directly Observed Therapy at the intensive phase (AOR: 9.045; 95% CI: 4.604, 17.770), and the treatment duration was more than 6 months (AOR: 6.511; 95% CI: 3.383, 12.532).

Conclusion: The successful treatment outcome for TB with comorbidities still falls short of the target and, if not treated well, could potentially lead to prolonged disease transmission, higher mortality rates, and increased healthcare costs. Identifying the proportion of successful treatment rates and their determinants provides insight into the disease burden and helps the public health sector and medical professionals assess and take appropriate action to improve local integration and collaborative service approaches for TB patients with concurrent comorbidities.

KEYWORDS:

Tuberculosis, comorbidity, registry, Directly Observed therapy, treatment outcome

INTRODUCTION

Tuberculosis (TB) is a global health challenge and concern, with alarming rates of incidents in various parts of the world. The latest global report has revealed that in 2022, 7.5 million persons were newly diagnosed with TB, making it the world's second leading cause of death from a single infectious agent after COVID-19.1 Patients who had both comorbidities and health-related risk factors, such as diabetes, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), alcohol use disorders, tobacco smoking, mental disorders, malnutrition, and viral hepatitis, accounted for 4.5 million (45%) of the reported new and relapsed TB cases.² However, the COVID-19 pandemic has temporarily altered the pattern of TB incidence worldwide and masked the true extent of the disease.³ The pandemicinduced disruptions in healthcare institutions have resulted in a lack of reporting, distorting data, and impeding an appropriate evaluation of the incidence of TB.⁴

Malaysia, an intermediate burden country with TB, remained a consistently high incidence notification case despite the availability of effective treatment that can complete recovery when diagnosed and treated properly. According to data from the Malaysia Ministry of Health (MOH), there was an increase in the incidence of TB cases by 17% from 2021 to 2022.⁵ Negeri Sembilan is one of the states in Malaysia, having an estimated 1.2 million population that showed the highest annual increase with a 5.1% annual increase (ARR: 5.1%) from the year 2012 to 2016.^{6,7}

Patients who are incomplete in their treatment for TB will impose a substantial financial burden on the government.

This article was accepted: 06 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Xin Wee Chen Email: drchenxw@uitm.edu.my

The average cost per patient in this group is RM901.63 (215.49 USD), which is four times more than the cost of therapy for patients who have completed their treatment.⁸ The cost of treating patient TB with comorbidities and hospital stays was 4.5 times higher than that of treating TB without comorbidities.⁸

One of the significant challenges in the current effort to control TB spread would be managing TB patients with comorbidities, in which the comorbidities worsen the effects of TB, particularly resulting in a lower success rate in treatment and a higher incidence of death. Evaluating the treatment success rate outcome is a crucial measure in the End TB Strategy 2035. It is recommended that a tuberculosis program must achieve a treatment success rate of at least 90% and a cure rate of 85% to operate effectively.^{9,10}

Nevertheless, Malaysia recently reported a successful treatment rate of 79% in 2021 among TB patients who received treatment at the national level, which is far from the target.⁹ Besides that, data regarding the proportion of successful treatment rates among TB patients with comorbidities is scarce in Malaysia compared to the general population. This disparity highlights a critical gap in the healthcare system's ability to address the unique challenges faced by these specific populations effectively. The treatment success gap between the general TB population and those with comorbidities results in prolonged disease transmission, higher mortality rates, and increased healthcare costs.¹¹

To achieve this goal, it is important to address health-related risk factors and comorbidities such as Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (HIV/AIDS), diabetes mellitus (DM), viral hepatitis, depression, and malnutrition as components of pillar 1 of the End TB Strategy, which focuses on integrated patient-centred care and prevention, including action on TB and comorbidities.¹² This study aims to determine the proportion of successful TB treatment outcomes and its determinants among TB patients with comorbidities in Negeri Sembilan from 2018-2023.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A retrospective cohort study involving TB patients with comorbidities in Negeri Sembilan was conducted by utilising the secondary data obtained from the Malaysian National Tuberculosis Registry (NTBR) and only TB data that was registered under the Negeri Sembilan State Health Office (Jabatan Kesihatan Negeri, Negeri Sembilan, JKNNS) surveillance registry was selected for the present study.

The NTBR is a web-based system managed by the Ministry of Health Malaysia. Its purpose is to continuously collect data and manage actions pertaining to the notification, registration, investigation, and treatment of TB cases across all states in Malaysia. The Prevention and Control of Infectious Diseases Act 1988 (Act 342) mandates the notification of all TB cases to the district health office.¹³

The NTBR in JKNNS consisted of data from seven district health offices (Seremban, Port Dickson, Kuala Pilah, Rembau, Tampin, Jempol, and Jelebu) that were responsible for monitoring the surveillance system of TB cases registered at all the health facilities in Negeri Sembilan. The sampling frame for this study consisted of all TB registered under NTBR and follow-up in health facilities in the year 2018-2023 in Negeri Sembilan.

The study included TB patients with comorbidities who met the inclusion criteria; patients who did not match these criteria were excluded. The inclusion criteria were: (i) newly diagnosed TB-comorbidities cases from 1st January 2018 until 31st December 2022; (ii) TB-comorbidities cases notified through the NTBR from January 2018 until December 2022; and (iii) TB-comorbidities aged > 18 years old. Exclusion criteria included (i) incomplete data on the independent variable, (ii) the case with incomplete data on treatment outcome (transferred to another state or defaulter), and (ii) multidrug-resistant tuberculosis.

The sample size for this study was determined using OpenEpi software version 3.01 using a single proportion formula with a 95% confidence interval (CI) and 5% absolute precision, applying an 81.49% proportion of TB treatment success among the TB-DM based on the largest sample size from a previous study performed in Malaysia.¹⁴ The minimum sample required in this study was 279, including a 20% attrition rate. Given that the present study utilised secondary data, all cases fulfilling the inclusion criteria would be included in the analysis.

TB and HIV are mandatory notifiable diseases by law under Act 342.¹³ Each respective district needs to register all TB cases that have been notified into the NTBR system. The definition stated in Malaysia's case definition of infectious disease confirmed both cases.¹⁵ All confirmed DM patients must register at National Diabetes Registry (NDR) for surveillance and monitoring.¹⁶

This study used three national databases. The main data and variables were extracted from the NTBR under health facilities in Negeri Sembilan. The National AIDS Registry (NAR) and the NDR were cross-referenced as additional information to ensure comprehensive comorbidities data. The data owner performed the confirmatory process using the deterministic matching method, where three national databases were used to connect by using the unique identification number.

Twenty-three variables were extracted from the NTBR for the present analysis. The outcome variables for this study were coded as successful (yes/no). Successful TB treatment outcomes included TB patients who are (i) cured (bacteriologically confirmed TB patient who subsequently smear/culture negative during the last month of the treatment or on at least one previous occasion and was input in NTBR as 'cured'.) and ii) completed treatment (patient who completed TB treatment without meeting the criteria for cure or treatment failure was input in NTBR as 'completed treatment'.)¹⁷

People who finished TB treatment but did not meet the criteria for cure or treatment failure were also entered into NTBR. Unsuccessful TB treatment included (i) treatment failure (TB patient whose sputum smear or culture was

positive at 5 months or later during treatment and was input in NTBR as 'treatment failure'.), (ii) death (passes away for any reason before or during TB treatment all-cause mortality and was input in NTBR as 'died') or (iii) loss of follow-up (patient who did not initiate treatment or whose treatment was interrupted for two consecutive months or more and entered into NTBR as 'loss to follow up'). The twenty-three independent variables were categorised into three main domains. Seven variables were sociodemographic factors, twelve variables related to the TB disease profile and four variables related to the TB treatment profile.

Data Management and Analysis

Figure 1 depicted the data retrieval and extraction process which incorporated three national data sources in the form of Microsoft Excel Open XML Spreadsheet (xlsx) format. Data received from JKN Negeri Sembilan was 754. Data from NAR (n= 737) and NDR (n=126,689) had been confirmed for comorbidities with the NTBR data. The data owner performed this data linkage using the deterministic matching method, where three national databases were linked by using the unique identification number. Data cleaning was performed using the final database (n = 754). Of 754 total samples, 712 (94.4%) were found eligible for analysis after applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The final database (n = 712)was imported into IBM SPSS version 29.0 for further statistical analysis. The analysis used in this study included descriptive and inferential analysis. The TB treatment success rate (proportion of subjects having successful TB treatment in the present study) was calculated by using the formula as follows:

Rate of successful TB treatment =

Number of successful TB treatment among TB patient with comorbidity Total number of newly diagnosed TB patient with comorbidity in year 2018-2023

Estimation of the rate of successful TB treatment (95% confidence interval for the proportion interval) was calculated using the formula below:

95% Confident interval (CI) =
$$p\pm z^* \frac{p(1-p)}{n}$$

Descriptive analysis was performed to describe the characteristics of participants (sociodemographic), TB disease profile and TB treatment profile determinants. The mean (standard deviation, SD) was presented for the continuous variable. The frequency (n) and percentage (%) were presented for the categorical variables. The distribution of TB with comorbidities was presented in general and based on their treatment outcomes. The distribution was compared using descriptive and univariable analysis, such as the chi-square test for homogeneity. independent t-test and the continuity correction test.

Logistic regression analyses were performed to estimate the crude and adjusted effect of the independent variables of successful TB with comorbidities treatment. The variables were included in the multiple logistic regression model based on the statistical significance of a p-value (< 0.25). The backward LR method was used to select the variables. Subsequently, the initial model was evaluated for,

interaction, linearity in the logit and multicollinearity. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test, classification table, and receiving operating characteristic (ROC) curve were used to confirm the model's fitness. The crude/adjusted odds ratio (OR), 95% CI, and their respective p-values were used to demonstrate the strength of association between all variables and the outcome measure. The statistical test was performed with a significance level of 0.05.

Ethics Approval

Two institutional review boards approved this study, which adhered to the standards outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. The study gained ethical clearance from two institutions in May 2021: i) the Research Ethics Committee (REC) at UiTM (100 - FPR (PT.9/19) (FERC-EX-24-02)), and ii) the Medical Research Ethics Committee (MREC) of the Ministry of Health Malaysia (NMRR ID-24-00551-JKK (IIR)). The data owner secured the anonymity of participants by deleting all identifying information from the database, thereby maintaining confidentiality in this study. All data was submitted to a password-protected computer belonging to a researcher. Researchers were the sole recipients of the data. The research findings did not reveal any personal information, and the participants could not be identified.

RESULTS

A total of 712 TB patients with comorbidities were recruited, with 541 (76.0%) achieving a successful TB treatment outcome and 171 (24.0%) experiencing an unsuccessful TB treatment outcome. Table I shows the trend rate of successful TB treatment among TB patients with comorbidities, which ranged from 70.3% (62.7%–77.9%) to 79.9% (73.2%–86.6%) from 2018 to 2022. Table II shows the characteristics of TB with comorbidities, which are predominantly male (74.0%), the mean age 53 (14) years old, and Malay ethnicity (66.3%). The successful TB treatment among TB with comorbidities was predominantly found among Malaysian males aged 40 to 59 years old (50.5%), Malay ethnicity (65.4%), residing urban area (60.3%), secondary education level (60.3%), and unemployed working status (70.1%).

DM was the most common comorbidity (70.4%), followed by hypertension (44.8%), dyslipidaemia (36.0%), HIV (19.5%), and viral hepatitis (18.1%). Patients with TB and DM showed a high percentage of successful TB treatment (76.0%) compared to other comorbidities, ranging between 13.5% and 48.6%. Regarding the characteristics of the TB treatment profile, a high percentage of successful TB treatment was found in patients who were Acid-Fast Bacillus (AFB) converted in the intensive phase (84.5%) and patients who followed Directly Observed Therapy (DOT) during the intensive phase (95.0%).

Simple logistic regression analysis demonstrated that fourteen variables (i.e., education level, occupation, citizenship, TB anatomy location, sputum AFB (diagnosis), CXR upon diagnosis, health facility: TB diagnosis, AFB sputum in the intensive phase, DOTs (intensive), health facility: initiated TB treatment, treatment duration, age, gender, and ethnicity) were significantly associated with successful TB treatment at the level of significance set at p =0.25 (Table III).

Table I: The rate of successful TB treatment trend among TB with comorbidities from 2018-2023 in Negeri Sembilan

	Rate successful treatment among TB with comorbidities from 2018-2022				
	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Total TB patients with comorbidities cases registered	122	179	139	134	138
Successful treatment Outcome	95	134	111	104	97
Rate of Successful Treatment (%)	77.9%	74.9%	79.9%	77.6%	70.3%
(95%CI)	(70.5%-85.3%)	(68.5%-81.3%)	(73.2% - 86.6%)	(70.5%-84.7%)	(62.7%-77.9%)
Cured	75	107	77	85	67
Completed treatment	20	27	34	19	30
Unsuccessful Treatment Outcome	27	45	28	30	41
Loss to follow-up	5	7	4	5	1
Treatment Failed	0	2	0	1	0
Died	22	36	24	24	40

Table II: Characteristics of TB with comorbidities in total and according to the TB treatment outcomes, 2018-2023 (n= 712)

Variables	Total (n = 712)	Successful TB	Unsuccessful	*p-value
	Mean (SD)/n (%)	Ireatment	IB Ireatment	
		(n = 541) Mean (SD)/n (%)	(n = 171) Mean (SD)/n (%)	
Socio-demographic				
Age	53 (14)	53 (13)	54 (16)	0.457°
18 to 39 year old	131 (18.4)	96 (17.7)	35 (20.5)	0.320 ^c
40 to 59 year old	348 (48.9)	273 (50.5)	75 (43.8)	
≥ 60 year old	233 (32.7)	172 (31.8)	61 (35.7)	
Gender				
Male	527 (74.0)	392 (72.5)	135 (78.9)	0.092 °
Female	185 (26.0)	149 (27.5)	36 (21.1)	
Ethnicity				
Malay	472 (66.3)	354 (65.4)	118 (69.0)	0.119°
Chinese	95 (13.3)	72 (13.3)	23 (13.5)	
Indian	114 (16.0)	95 (17.6)	19 (11.1)	
Others	31 (4.4)	20 (3.7)	11 (6.4)	
Location of residence				
Rural	287 (40.3)	215 (39.7)	72 (42.1)	0.583 °
Urban	425 (59.7)	326 (60.3)	99 (57.9)	
Education level				
No Formal Education	120 (16.9)	74 (13.7)	46 (26.9)	< 0.001°
Primary Education	95 (13.3)	73 (13.5)	22 (12.9)	
Secondary Education	413 (58.0)	326 (60.3)	87 (50.9)	
Tertiary Education	84 (11.8)	68 (12.5)	16 (9.3)	
Occupation				
Unemployed	517 (72.6)	379 (70.1)	138 (80.7)	0.007°
Employed	195 (27.4)	162 (29.9)	33 (19.3)	
Citizenship				
Malaysian	694 (97.5)	531 (98.2)	163 (95.3)	0.076°
Non-Malaysian	18 (2.5)	10 (1.8)	8 (4.7)	
TB-Disease Profile				
Detection Mode				
Active	72 (10.1)	51 (9.4)	21 (12.3)	0.281°
Passive	640 (89.9)	490 (90.6)	150 (87.7)	
TB Anatomy Location				
Pulmonary TB	624 (87.6)	488 (90.2)	136 (79.5)	< 0.001°
Extrapulmonary TB	88 (12.4)	53 (9.8)	35 (20.5)	
Sputum AFB (diagnosis)				
Positive	518 (72.8)	419 (77.4)	99 (57.9)	< 0.001°
Negative	157 (22.1)	101 (18.7)	56 (32.7)	
Not Done	37 (5.2)	21 (3.9)	16 (9.4)	
Smoking	205 (42.0)	227 (42.0)		0.4264
Smoking	306 (43.0)	237 (43.8)	69 (40.4)	0.426
Non-Smoking	406 (57.0)	304 (56.2)	102 (59.6)	
BCG Scar	72 (10 1)			0.421.0
Absent	/2 (10.1)	52 (9.6)	20 (11./)	0.431
Present	640 (89.9)	489 (90.4)	151 (88.3)	

Original Article

		Treatment (n = 541) Mean (SD)/n (%)	TB Treatment (n = 171) Mean (SD)/n (%)	
CXR upon diagnosis				
No Lesion	82 (11.5)	61 (11.3)	21 (12.3)	0.154
Minimal	337 (47.3)	258 (47.7)	79 (46.2)	
Moderate	270 (38.0)	209 (38.6)	61 (35.7)	
Advanced	23 (3.2)	13 (2.4)	10 (5.8)	
Health Facility: TB Diagnosis				
Private	28 (3.9)	26 (4.8)	2 (1.2)	< 0.001 °
Government Clinic	222 (31.2)	212 (39.2)	10 (5.8)	
Government Hospital	462 (64.9)	303 (56.0)	159 (93.0)	
Diabetes Mellitus				
No	211 (29.6)	130 (24.0)	81 (47,4)	< 0.001 °
Yes	501 (70.4)	411 (76.0)	90 (52.6)	
Hypertension				
No	393 (55.2)	278 (51.4)	115 (67.3)	< 0.001 °
Yes	319 (44 8)	263 (48.6)	56 (32 7)	
Dyslipidaemia	515 (11.6)	203 (10.0)	50 (52.77	
No	456 (64 0)	329 (60.8)	127 (74 3)	0.001
Yes	256 (36.0)	212 (39.2)	44 (25 7)	0.001
HIV	230 (30.0)	212 (33.2)		
No	573 (80.5)	468 (86.5)	105 (61.4)	< 0.001 °
Yes	139 (19.5)	73 (13.5)	66 (38.6)	
Viral Hepatitis	,			
No	583 (81.9)	451 (83.4)	132 (77.2)	0.068
Yes	129 (18.1)	98 (18.1)	39 (22.8)	0.000
TB-Treatment Profile AFB Conversion in the Intensive Phase				
No	41 (5.8)	38 (7.0)	3 (1.8)	< 0.001 [°]
Yes	503 (70.6)	457 (84.5)	46 (26.9)	
Not Done	168 (23.6)	46 (8.5)	122 (71.3)	
DOTS (intensive)				
No	134 (18.8)	27 (5.0)	107 (62.6)	< 0.001 [°]
Yes	578 (81.2)	514 (95.0)	64 (37.4)	
Treatment duration	6 (3.5)	7 (1.3)	2 (1.2)	< 0.001°
< 6 Month	453 (63.6)	298 (55.1)	155 (90.6)	< 0.001°
> 6 Month	259 (36.4)	243 (44.9)	16 (9.4)	
Health Facility: Initiated				
TB Treatment				
Private	26 (3.6)	25 (4.6)	1 (0.6)	< 0.001
Government Clinic	222 (3.0)	210 (38.8)	12 (7 0)	\$ 0.001
Government Hospital	464 (65 2)	306 (56 6)	158 (92 4)	

Table II: Characteristics of TB with comorbidities in total and according to the TB treatment outcomes, 2018-2023 (n= 712)

Notes: AFB =Acid Fast Bacillus; BCG= Bacillus Calmette–Guérin vaccine; CXR = Chest X-ray; DOT = Directly Observed Therapy; Human Immunodefiency Virus=HIV; SD = standard deviation; ^aIndependent t-test/ ^bcontinuity correction (Yates' correction); ^cChi-square test for homogeneity.

Subsequently, when adjusted, those who had a secondary education level (AOR: 2.222; 95% CI: 1.129, 4.374) and a tertiary education level (AOR: 4.474; 95% CI: 1.428-14.01), were diagnosed with TB in the government hospital (AOR: 0.053; 95% CI: 0.008-0.376), and were not done AFB sputum in the intensive phase of treatment (AOR: 0.191; 95% CI: 0.046, 0.785), cases followed the DOTs at the intensive phase (AOR: 9.045; 95% CI: 4.604, 17.770), and the treatment duration was more than 6 months (AOR: 6.511; 95% CI: 3.383, 12.532) were associated with successful TB treatment (Table IV).

DISCUSSION

This study is intended to determine the success rate of TB treatment and its determinants among TB patients with comorbidities in Negeri Sembilan in 2018-2023. Our study data demonstrated that TB patients with comorbidities accounted approximately 24.0% of the reported new and relapsed TB cases and had successfully achieved TB treatment outcomes ranging between 70.3% and 79.9%.¹⁸ This finding is significantly lower than the previous study carried out in India and Poland, which documented a success rate of 86.67% and 88% among TB cases with comorbidities.^{11,19} The successful treatment rate showed slightly decrease from the year 2020 to 2022. This finding could be possible due to the disruption of TB management and treatment during the COVID-19 pandemic.²⁰

				*B welve
variables	B (5E)	Wald (df)	Crude OR (95% CI)	[•] P- value
Sociodemographic				
Age				
18 to 39 year old			1	ref.
40 to 59 year old	0.283 (0.237)	1.43 (1)	1.327 (0.835-2.11)	0.232*
>60 year old	0.028 (0.247)	0.012 (1)	1.028 (0.633-1.669)	0.911
Gender				
Male		/	1	ret.
Female	0.354 (0.211)	2.826 (1)	1.425 (0.943-2.155)	0.093*
Ethnicity				
Malay			1	ref.
Chinese	0.043 (0.262)	0.026 (1)	1.043 (0.624-1.744)	0.871
Indian	0.511 (0.273)	3.505 (1)	1.667 (0.976-2.845)	0.061*
Others	-0.501 (0.39)	1.648 (1)	0.606 (0.282-1.302)	0.199*
Location of residence				
Rural			1	ref.
Urban	0.098 (0.178)	0.302 (1)	1.103 (0.778-1.563)	0.583
Education level				
No Formal Education			1	ref.
Primary Education	0.724 (0.307)	5.552 (1)	2.063 (1.13-3.767)	0.018*
Secondary Education	0.846 (0.223)	14.353 (1)	2.329 (1.504-3.607)	<.001*
Tertiary Education	0.971 (0.335)	8.392 (1)	2.642 (1.369 -5.098)	0.004*
Occupation				
Unemployed			1	ref.
Employed	0.581 (0.215)	7.276 (1)	1.787 (1.172-2.726)	0.007*
Citizenship				
Non-Malaysian			1	ref.
Malaysian	0.958 (0.483)	3.938 (1)	2.606 (1.012-6.713)	0.047*
-				
TB-Disease Profile				
Detection Mode				
Active			1	ref.
Passive	0.296 (0.276)	1.157 (1)	1.345 (0.784-2.308)	0.282
TB Anatomy Location				
Extrapulmonary TB			1	ref.
Pulmonary TB	0.863 (0.238)	13.094 (1)	2.37 (1.485-3.781)	<.001*
Sputum AFB (diagnosis)				
Not Done			1	ref.
Positive	1.171 (0.35)	11.181 (1)	3.225 (1.623-6.405)	<.001*
Negative	0.318 (0.371)	0.733 (1)	1.374 (0.664-2.845)	0.392
Smoking				
Smoking			1 1	ref.
Non-Smoking	-0.142 (0.178)	0.633 (1)	0.868 (0.612-1.231)	0.426
BCG Scar				01.120
Absent			1	ref.
Present	0.22 (0.279)	0.619 (1)	1.246 (0.721-2.152)	0.431
CXR upon diagnosis				
Advanced			1	ref.
Moderate	0.969 (0.445)	4,741 (1)	2,636 (1,102-6,306)	0.029*
Minimal	0.921 (0.44)	4 386 (1)	2 512 (1 061-5 949)	0.036*
No Lesion	0.804 (0.491)	2,683 (1)	2.234 (0.854-5.848)	0.101*
Health Facility: TB Diagnosis	0.004 (0.451)	2.005 (1)	2.234 (0.034 5.040)	0.101
Private			1	ref
Government Clinic	0 489 (0 802)	0 372 (1)	1 631 (0 339-7 853)	0 542
Government Hospital	-1 92 (0.802)	6 727 (1)	0 147 (0 034-0 626)	0.042
Government nospital	-1.32 (0.074)	0.727 (1)	0.147 (0.034-0.020)	0.009
TB Treatment Profile				
AFR Conversion in the Intensivo				
Phase				
No			1	rof
Voc	_0.242 (0.610)	0 154 (1)		0.605*
Not Dopo		0.134(1)	0.704 (0.233-2.04)	<pre>>0.035*</pre>
DOTS (intensive)	-3.314 (0.024)	51.702 (1)	0.05 (0.009-0.101)	<.001"
No			1	rof
NO	2 46 (0 252)	407 220 (4)		ret.
Y es	3.46 (0.253)	187.229 (1)	31.828 (19.388-52.24/)	<.001*
			4	rof
	2.007 (0.270)	FE 00C (4)		ret.
> 6 Month	2.067 (0.276)	55.896 (1)	7.9 (4.595-13.58)	<.001*

Table III, Hubbarieta Analysia of Determinant TD Overseeful Teactment Outcome Among TD with Osmanhis	
Iable III: Univariate Analysis of Determinant IB Successful Treatment Outcome Amond IB with Comordio	itv (n= 712)

Variables	B (SE)	Wald (df)	Crude OR (95% CI)	*P- value
Health Facility: Initiated TB				
Treatment				
Private			1	ref.
Government Clinic	-0.357 (1.062)	0.113 (1)	0.7 (0.087-5.613)	0.737
Government Hospital	-2.558 (1.024)	6.234 (1)	0.077 (0.01-0.577)	0.013*

Table III: Univariate Analysis of Determinant TB Successful Treatment Outcome Among TB with Comorbidity (n= 712)

Notes: B = unstandardised regression weight; CI = Confidence interval; df = degree of freedom; SE = Standard error; OR = odds ratio; BCG= Bacillus Calmette–Guérin vaccine; CXR = Chest X-ray; DOT = Directly Observed Therapy; AFB =Acid Fast Bacillus; *level of significance set at 0.25

Table IV: Multivariable Analysis of	f Determinant TB Successful	Treatment Outcome Among TB	with Comorbidity (n= 712)
-------------------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------------	---------------------------

Variables	B (SE)	Wald (df)	AOR (95% CI)	*P- value
Education level				
No Formal Education			1	ref.
Primary Education	0.916 (0.474)	3.730 (1)	2.499 (0.986-6.333)	0.053
Secondary Education	0.798 (0.346)	5.340(1)	2.222 (1.129-4.374)	0.021
Tertiary Education	1.498 (0.583)	6.614 (1)	4.474 (1.428-14.01)	0.010
Health Facility: TB Diagnosis				
Private			1	ref.
Government Clinic	-0.983 (1.064)	0.855 (1)	0.374 (0.047-3.008)	0.355
Government Hospital	-2.928 (0.999)	8.596 (1)	0.053 (0.008-0.376)	0.003
AFB Conversion in the Intensive Phase				
No			1	ref.
Yes	0.557 (0.689)	0.654 (1)	1.746 (0.453-6.734)	0.419
Not Done	-1.656 (0.721)	5.267 (1)	0.191 (0.046-0.785)	0.022
DOTS (intensive)				
No			1	ref.
Yes	2.202 (0.345)	40.846 (1)	9.045 (4.604-17.770)	<0.001
Treatment duration				
< 6 Month			1	ref.
> 6 Month	1.873 (0.334)	31.445 (1)	6.511 (3.383-12.532)	<0.001

Notes: AOR = adjusted odds ratio; B = unstandardised regression weight; CI = confidence interval; df = degree of freedom; SE = Standard error;*level of significance set at 0.05; Cox & Snell R Square:0.435; Constant = 0.831; Backward LR method was applied; No multicollinearity and no interaction; Hosmer Lemeshow test, P-value = 0.063; Classification table 90.9% correctly classified; Area under Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) curve = 0.92

In recent years, the treatment success rates for new tuberculosis cases in Malaysia increased steadily from 76% in 2013 to 81% in 2017 for the group of patients studied. Nevertheless, the rates remained below the target of \geq 90%.²¹ In Negeri Sembilan in 2021, the success rate among general TB cases was 92%, which met the recommendation target.¹⁸ However, the success treatment rate among TB with comorbidities remains low. Therefore, these findings underscore the significance of tuberculosis in the comorbidities population, emphasizing the need for TB management and treatment to meet the success rate target.

The demographic characteristics observed in this study, such as the higher representation of middle-aged adult groups (40 - 59 years old) and males, were consistent with the prevailing global trends in tuberculosis epidemiology.²² One study found that males are more likely to have multiple comorbidities than females due to more exposure to risk factors.²³ Furthermore, older age increases the risk associated with multiple comorbidities compared to younger age.²⁴ In terms of treatment outcome, males and older adults have a lower successful treatment outcome compared to females and younger adults.²⁵ Thus, these findings suggest a more comprehensive gender-responsive approach to addressing the dual challenge of infectious diseases and non-communicable diseases in an ageing population, particularly among patients with tuberculosis and chronic illnesses.

We also found the predominance of DM as a comorbidity compared to other diseases. A similar finding reported in Poland, where DM was the most common comorbidity (5.9%).¹¹ The TB treatment outcome among TB patients with DM shows a high success rate compared to other diseases. This finding is in concordance with another local study in Kelantan, which reported a high success rate for treatment among TB and DM.¹⁴ This could shed light on the significant efforts made by the Ministry of Health to provide exceptional care and enhance the dual management of patients with comorbidities within the existing health system. The latest Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPG) for Managing Tuberculosis recommends that all newly diagnosed with tuberculosis undergo regular screening for DM and HIV.²⁶

Furthermore, TB cases with comorbidities having higher education levels were found to have higher odds of achieving successful TB treatment compared to those with low



Fig. 1: Flow chart of data retrieval and extraction

education levels. Congruently, a local retrospective cohort study reported lower education levels associated with unsuccessful TB treatment outcomes.²¹ These findings could be associated with health literacy and better understanding of treatment regimens. Educated patients are more likely to adhere to medication and follow the instructions, thereby improving treatment outcomes.²⁷

This study also found that TB patients with comorbidities diagnosed at government hospitals were found to have lower odds 0.053 (95% CI: 0.008-0.376) of achieving successful treatment outcomes compared to private facilities. According to this finding, corresponding to another study in Lagos, Nigeria,²⁸ the treatment success rate among private health facilities was 78.09%, which was relatively higher compared to government health facilities. However, studies from Thailand and Vietnam showed that private health facilities were associated with poor TB treatment outcomes.²⁹⁻³⁰ This finding may stem from the fact that patients who delay or present late for TB cases typically end up in a government hospital, potentially influencing the treatment outcome. The comorbidity, particularly HIV co-infection, can influence treatment delay.³¹ Moreover, government hospitals also normally receive more patients in comparison to private hospitals, which can strain their capacity to provide individualised care.³² Poor TB outcomes may result from overburdened healthcare systems delivering suboptimal care. Therefore, managing TB with comorbidities requires integration and collaboration between government hospitals, primary health clinics, and private health facilities. It includes strong and effective active case detection for early detection and treatment, given the effectiveness of integrating dual management between TB and DM in increasing successful TB treatment.³³

Additionally, patients who were consistently on DOTs during the intensive phase were nine times more likely to have TB treatment success than those who were not on DOTs. Other studies strongly support this finding, demonstrating that DOTs can enhance the cure rate.³⁴ On the other hand, findings from a local study showed that not adhering to DOTs is one of the determinants of unsuccessful TB treatment outcomes among TB and HIV patients.³⁵ One possible reason is that TB patients with comorbidities perceive a greater risk of complications from tuberculosis, which may increase their motivation to adhere to their treatment regimens rigorously. Better compliance may be stimulated by the perceived severity of their condition.³⁶⁻³⁷ Furthermore, the other significant determinant of successful treatment was the duration of treatment more than six months. This study found that the odds of successful TB treatment were four times higher if the treatment lasted more than six months compared to less than six months. This finding is similar to a cross-sectional study conducted in Kelantan, which also found that the duration of treatment for TB patients with HIV was a significant determinant of successful treatment outcomes.³⁸ The prolonged therapy regimens ensure that all tuberculosis bacteria are eradicated, as they may be inactive or slow-growing. Shorter courses of antibiotics are less effective in eliminating all microorganisms from the body, increasing the likelihood of a relapse. WHO strongly recommends a six-month treatment period for all drug-susceptible TB patients, with high certainty of evidence.39

The retrospective cohort study design facilitates a better understanding of the determinant of successful TB treatment outcome among TB with comorbidities compared to the usual studies that focus on TB with single comorbidity as the study population.^{35, 38} To the best of our knowledge, we report the latest original study assessing the determinants of successful treatment of TB with comorbidities in Negeri Sembilan. In addition, this study uses three national registry databases, which minimizes data missingness on comorbidities within the study population. The integration and merging into multi-centre registry will provide more accurate data sources and facilitates better coordination and continuity of care.⁴⁰ This study also emphasised the importance of collaborative and integrated activity in managing TB patient with comorbidities to improve the treatment outcomes.

One limitation of this study is that the analysis based on secondary surveillance data is limited by the data's completeness, such as insufficient data on other health-related factors, such as alcohol status, malnutrition and depression status.² Although this study demonstrates internal validity, it cannot be generalised to other states due to its single-state setting, however present findings could alert the state authorities for future policy making.

CONCLUSION

The successful treatment outcome for TB with comorbidities still falls short of the target and, if not treated well, could potentially lead to prolonged disease transmission, higher mortality rates, and increased healthcare costs. Identifying the proportion of successful treatment rates and their determinants provides insight into the disease burden. It helps the public health sector and medical professionals assess and take appropriate action to improve local integration and collaborative service approaches for TB patients with concurrent comorbidities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to the Director-General of Health of the Ministry of Health Malaysia for giving permission to access the national data sources and approving the dissemination of the research findings. We also express our sincere gratitude to the Negeri Sembilan Health State Department for permitting us to conduct this study and for the assistance provided by their dedicated health staff during data collection. Additionally, we would like to extend our appreciation to the Department of Public Health Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM) for their valuable support throughout the study.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND FUND

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2023. [cited Dec 2024]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240083851.
- 2. Framework WHO-. Framework for collaborative action on tuberculosis and comorbidities 2022.
- 3. Jeong Y, Min J. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on tuberculosis preventive services and their post-pandemic recovery strategies: a rapid review of literature. J Korean Med Sci. 2023; 38(5): e43.
- 4. Surendra H, Elyazar IRF, Puspaningrum E, Darmawan D, Pakasi TT, Lukitosari E, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on tuberculosis control in Indonesia: a nationwide longitudinal analysis of programme data. Lancet Glob Health 2023; 11(9): e1412-e21.
- 5. Monihuldin M. TB cases in Malaysia up by 17% last year, says Health Minister. The Star 2023.
- 6. NIH M. Malaysian Health at a Glance 2018. Malaysia Ministry of Health Malaysia: Putrajaya.; 2020.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia Official Portal nd. Population and Housing Census [Available from: https://v1.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cone&menu_i d=bDA2VkxRSU40STcxdkZ4OGJ0c1ZVdz09.
- 8. Fun WH. Health and economic impact of tuberculosis management in Malaysia: Monash University; 2017.
- 9. Tuberculosis country profiles: Malaysia [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/teams/global-tuberculosisprogramme/data.
- Izudi J, Tamwesigire IK, Bajunirwe F. Treatment success and mortality among adults with tuberculosis in rural eastern Uganda: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Public Health 2020; 20(1): 501.
- 11. Nowinski A, Wesolowski S, Korzeniewska-Kosela M. The impact of comorbidities on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Poland: a national cohort study. Front Public Health 2023; 11: 1253615.
- 12. Harries AD, Lin Y, Kumar AMV, Satyanarayana S, Zachariah R, Dlodlo RA. How can integrated care and research assist in achieving the SDG targets for diabetes, tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS? Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2018; 22(10): 1117-26.
- Prevention and Control of Infectious Disease Act 1988, P.U. (A) 374/2006, (2006).
- 14. Siti Rohana A, Nor Y, Mat J, Zalmizy H, Wan Mohd WM. Effect of diabetes mellitus on tuberculosis treatment outcomes among tuberculosis patients in Kelantan, Malaysia. Iranian Journal of Public Health 2020; 49(8).
- 15. Ministry of Health Malaysia. Case Definitions for Infectious Diseases in Malaysia 3rd Edition 2017. [cited Dec 2024]. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.my/moh/resources/ Penerbitan/Garis%20Panduan/Pengurusan%20KEsihatan%20& %20kawalan%20pykit/Case_Definition_Of_Infectious_Disease_3 rd_Edition_2017.pdf
- 16. Ministry of Health Malaysia. 2021. National Diabetes Registry Report 2020. [cited Dec 2024]. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.my/moh/resources/Penerbitan/Rujukan/N CD/Diabetes/National_Diabetes_Registry_Report_2020.pdf
- World Health Organization. Treatment outcome definitions. [cited Dec 2024]. Available from: https://tbksp.who.int/en/ node/1974
- 18. Department NSSH. Annual Report of Negeri Sembilan Health State Department 2021. 2022.

- 19. Kunoor A, Reddy SC, Gopalakrishnan V, Rakesh PS, Kadayara AR, Haridas N, et al. Burden of comorbidity and treatment outcome in tuberculosis a descriptive study from a tertiary care center, Kerala, India. Pulmon 2023; 25(2): 44-8.
- 23. Narasimhan P, Wood J, MacIntyre CR, Mathai D. Risk factors for tuberculosis. Pulm Med 2013; 2013(1): 828939.
- 24. Salive ME. Multimorbidity in older adults. Epidemiologic Reviews 2013; 35(1): 75-83.
- 25. Kwon Y-S, Chi SY, Oh I-J, Kim KS, Kim YI, Lim SC, et al. Clinical characteristics and treatment outcomes of tuberculosis in the elderly: a case control study. BMC Infectious Diseases 2013; 13: 121 -
- 26. Minsitry of Health Malaysia. 2021. Management of Tuberculosis 4th Edition. [cited Dec 2024]. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.my/moh/resources/Penerbitan/CPG/Respi ratory/CPG-_Management_of_Tuberculosis_(4th_Edition).pdf
- 27. Chauhan A, Parmar M, Dash GC, Chauhan S, Sahoo KC, Samantaray K, et al. Health literacy and tuberculosis control: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bull World Health Organ 2024; 102(6): 421-31.
- Oladimeji O, Adepoju V, Anyiam FE, San JE, Odugbemi BA, Hyera FLM, et al. Treatment outcomes of drug susceptible Tuberculosis in private health facilities in Lagos, South-West Nigeria. PLOS ONE 2021; 16(1): e0244581.
- 29. Chengsorn N, Bloss E, Anekvorapong R, Anuwatnonthakate A, Wattanaamornkiat W, Komsakorn S, et al. Tuberculosis services and treatment outcomes in private and public health care facilities in Thailand, 2004-2006. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2009; 13 7: 888-94.
- Quy H, Lan N, Lönnroth K, Buu T, Dieu N, Hai L. Public-private mix for improved TB control in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam: An assessment of its impact on case detection. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2003; 7: 464-71.

- 31. Nogueira BMF, Rolla VC, Akrami KM, Kiene SM. Factors associated with tuberculosis treatment delay in patients coinfected with HIV in a high prevalence area in Brazil. PLoS ONE 2018; 13.
- 32. Jawahir S, Ganapathy S, Jailani A-S, Bakar S. NHMS 2019 -Healthcare Demand 2020.
- 33. Mohd ZW, Ahmad SR, Yaacob NA, Mohd Shariff N, Jaeb MZ, Hussin Z. Innovative integrated motivational interviewing for dual management in tuberculosis patients with diabetes (MID-DOT) in Malaysia. Healthcare 2023; 11(13): 1929.
- 34. Joseph MR, Thomas RA, Nair S, Balakrishnan S, Jayasankar S. Directly observed treatment short course for tuberculosis. What happens to them in the long term? Indian J Tuberc 2015; 62(1): 29-35.
- 35. Selimin DS, Ismail A, Ahmad N, Ismail R ,Azman NF, Azman A. Tuberculosis treatment outcome in patients with TB-HIV coinfection in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 2021.
- Munro SA, Lewin SA, Smith HJ, Engel ME, Fretheim A, Volmink J. Patient adherence to tuberculosis treatment: a systematic review of qualitative research. PLOS Medicine 2007; 4(7): e238.
- Dimatteo MR, Haskard KB, Williams S. Health beliefs, disease severity, and patient adherence: a meta-analysis. Med Care 2007; 45: 521-8.
- Romaino SM, Naing NN, MJ MZ. Factors associated with tuberculosis treatment success among tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infected patients in Kelantan. The Medical Journal of Malaysia 2022; 77(6): 696-703.39.
- 39. WHO. WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: World Health Organization; 2022.
- Lu HT, Nordin RB. Ethnic differences in the occurrence of acute coronary syndrome: results of the Malaysian National Cardiovascular Disease (NCVD) Database Registry (March 2006 -February 2010). BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2013; 13(1): 97.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Predictors of acupuncture referral for chronic non-specific low back pain among medical practitioners in Malaysia

Sim Sze Kiat, MS^{1,2}, Md Mizanur Rahman, PhD¹, Wong Hon Foong, PhD²

¹Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Malaysia Sarawak, Kota Samarahan, Sarawak, Malaysia, ²School of Alternative and Complementary Medicine, IMU University, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Chronic non-specific low back pain (cnLBP) is a common primary care health issue. While acupuncture offers promising potential as a complementary treatment, its acceptance and integration into standard medical care for cnLBP remains inconsistent. This study investigated the predictors of acupuncture referral for cnLBP using the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB).

Materials and Methods: This was a cross-sectional observational study. Medical practitioners were recruited from the Malaysian Medical Association via email invitations. Data were collected via a validated online questionnaire and analysed using SPSS, employing bivariate correlation and multiple linear regression analyses to examine the predictors of referral behaviour.

Results: A total of 389 medical practitioners were recruited. The respondents were predominantly general practitioners aged 35-44 years, with 10-19 years of clinical experience, and approximately 90.0% managed cnLBP. Despite the high awareness of the Traditional and Complementary Medicine Act (92.0%), only 33.2% referred patients to acupuncture. Few had acupuncture training (3.6%) or personal experience (7.7%), and services were available in 12.1% of the workplaces. Medical practitioners possess substantial knowledge about acupuncture treatment for cnLBP; however, misconceptions and uncertainties regarding its mechanisms persist. Using multiple linear regression analysis, the significant predictors of acupuncture referral were self-experience (β =0.151, p<0.01), attitude (β =0.189, p<0.001), and perceived behavioural control (β =0.101, p<0.05).

Conclusions: Despite positive attitudes and substantial awareness, barriers hinder the broader integration of acupuncture in cnLBP treatment. Targeted education, institutional support, and enhanced research collaborations are essential for improving referral rates and expanding the treatment options for cnLBP.

KEYWORDS:

Acupuncture referral, chronic low back pain, planned behaviour

INTRODUCTION

Acupuncture is a longstanding therapeutic practice, having roots in China for over 2,500 years.¹ It has attracted interest

within the modern medical community, with studies demonstrating its effectiveness in treating various health conditions.^{2,3} In 2020, given the increased demand for acupuncture, the "WHO Benchmark for the Practice of Acupuncture" was published to emphasise critical elements for the safe practice of acupuncture.⁴ The National Policy of Traditional and Complementary Medicines (T&CM) proposed the integration of T&CM into the national healthcare system.⁵ Therefore, acupuncture is now recognised in Malaysia under the T&CM Act.⁶ There are 16 T&CM units in the Ministry of Health (MOH) hospitals offering various modalities, and acupuncture is offered in 14 units. Registered medical practitioners refer patients seeking treatment to T&CM units after definitive diagnoses.7 Patients are then further screened by T&CM unit healthcare staff to ensure they are suitable for T&CM treatment. Furthermore, to ensure standardisation of care, the MOH has published guidelines on acupuncture use, and the indicated conditions include chronic pain, stroke rehabilitation, and post-chemotherapy nausea and vomiting.8

Chronic low back pain affects millions of people globally, is commonly seen in primary care settings, and is often difficult to treat.^{9,10} Chronic low back pain is defined as prolonged lower back pain for >12 weeks.¹¹ It is usually associated with movement limitation, reduced life quality, work productivity loss, and financial burden on healthcare institutions.^{9,12} Chronic low back pain is a serious concern in Malaysia among several occupational groups.¹³ Age, sex, body mass index, working posture, lifting heavy objects, lifestyle, working hours, and mental health have been identified as risk factors for lower back pain in Malaysia.13 Chronic nonspecific low back pain (cnLBP) occurs when no specific disease or structural pathology has been identified to explain the pain, and approximately 90% of chronic low back pain cases are non-specific.¹¹ Conventional cnLBP management includes non-pharmacological (activity modification, physical therapy, and psychological approach) and pharmacological (analgesic) approaches.¹¹ However, acupuncture has been used as a therapeutic approach for cnLBP in several countries. Notably, studies have found that acupuncture can alleviate symptoms and enhance physical function in individuals with cnLBP, and its beneficial effects might endure over time.14-16

The Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) is a psychological framework that aims to predict and understand human behaviour by considering individuals' attitudes, subjective

This article was accepted: 30 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Sim Sze Kiat Email: sksim@unimas.my

norms, and perceived behavioural control.¹⁷ These three factors collectively influence behavioural intentions, predicting actual behaviour. Therefore, by examining these factors, researchers can gain insights into the psychological determinants that impact health-related decisions and actions,^{18,19} which are essential for designing interventions, enhancing the effectiveness of healthcare practices, and improving patient outcomes. cnLBP is a prevalent condition that significantly affects patients' quality of life and substantially burdens healthcare systems globally.9,10,12 Acupuncture, a complementary medicine, has shown promise in managing cnLBP.^{12,15,16} However, its acceptance and integration into mainstream medical practice remain inconsistent due to varying attitudes within the healthcare system and cultural perceptions in Malaysia. Acupuncture has roots in Malaysian society, particularly among the Chinese population; however, its recognition in the broader medical community faces challenges. Notably, some healthcare professionals remain skeptical, citing a lack of standardised training, limited experience with acupuncture, and insufficient evidence-based research. Additionally, limited exposure among other ethnic groups has led to hesitation in its adoption as a treatment option, slowing its incorporation into mainstream practice. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to determine medical practitioners' knowledge regarding the use of acupuncture for cnLBP and identify the factors influencing acupuncture referral for cnLBP under the TPB conceptual framework.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and setting

This cross-sectional observational study employed an online questionnaire based on the TPB Model framework to have an overview of medical practitioners' knowledge, attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioural control regarding acupuncture referral for cnLBP. Data collection was conducted over 5 weeks between March 1, 2024, and April 5, 2024. The study targeted medical practitioners registered with the Malaysian Medical Association (MMA), which is the largest association representing Malaysia's medical community. Inclusion criteria were full registration with the Malaysian Medical Council (MMC) and active clinical practice as a medical practitioner. Therefore, medical practitioners with temporary MMC registration and medical students were excluded from the study.

Sampling method

Participants for this study were recruited using convenience sampling, with all registered MMA practitioners invited to participate through email. The invitation included a subject information sheet and a link to the questionnaire on Google Forms, with only those providing implied consent being able to proceed. The sample size was calculated using the Open Epi online calculator (https://www.openepi.com/Menu/ OE_Menu.htm) based on a projected total of 10,000 registered MMA members and a reported 37% prevalence of complementary therapy referrals by medical professionals.² With a 95% confidence level and 5% margin of error, the calculated sample size for this study was 346 participants.

Research instrument

A newly developed, self-administered questionnaire was used to collect data based on the effectiveness of online surveys in reaching medical practitioners across a wide geographical area. This approach also enhanced accessibility, allowing participants to respond at their convenience and ensuring a diverse and representative sample.

The questionnaire included seven main sections. The first section was the demographic segment to collect personal and professional data (sex; age; years of clinical practice; area of expertise; practice entity; involvement in managing cnLBP; prior acupuncture experience, whether by training, self-experience, or referral; awareness of the T&CM Act's implementation; and acupuncture service facility in the workplace). The following six sections had 5–16 items each, designed to evaluate knowledge, attitudes, subjective norms, perceived behavioural control, intention, and action based on the TPB framework. Standard wording was used in these items, as recommended in the technical report Constructing a Theory of Planned Behaviour Questionnaire, to measure the TPB components.²⁰

Responses for knowledge questions were "True," "False," or "Unsure." Furthermore, to assess the knowledge level, one mark was given for correct answers and zero for wrong and unsure answers. Knowledge level was classified based on total score percentiles; the lower two quartiles were "Very Poor" and "Poor," and the upper two quartiles were "Good" and "Excellent". TPB component responses used a 5-point Likert scale: "Agree," "Strongly Agree," "No Opinion," "Disagree," and "Strongly Disagree." AND "Never," "Rarely,"' "Sometimes," "Often," and "Always". The mean of the five responses for each item was calculated for analysis.

Questionnaire content was validated based on the items' relevance, clarity, simplicity, and ambiguity, and modifications were made according to experts' recommendations. Subsequently, the questionnaire underwent a pilot test to test its consistency and reliability using Cronbach's alpha before full-scale adoption. In addition, any shortcomings were addressed based on respondent feedback to finalise the questionnaire.

Data analysis

Data were analysed using the SPSS (version 27.0; IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Numerical variables were expressed as means, standard deviations, medians, and interquartile ranges, while categorical variables were expressed as frequencies and percentages. Bivariate correlation and multiple regression analyses were applied to ascertain the relationship among knowledge level, attitudes, subjective norms, perceived behavioural control, intention, and action of acupuncture referral. Multiple regression analysis is suitable for a cross-sectional study based on the TPB framework because it allows for the assessment of the contributions of each TPB construct to predict behavioural intentions or actions while also controlling for confounding factors outside of the TPB framework. This enables a more accurate evaluation of how TPB and additional factors jointly influence the outcome. Statistical significance was set at P values < 0.05.



Fig. 1: Clinical characteristics (n=389)

Ethics approval and confidentiality

Participant anonymity was maintained throughout. The study was approved by the UNIMAS Medical Ethics Committee (UNIMAS/TNC(PI)/09 - 65/01 Jld.3 (29) and the IMU University Joint Committee for Research and Ethics (4.15/JCM-281/2024).

RESULTS

Respondent characteristics

In total, 389 medical practitioners responded to the questionnaire. The data were screened, and no missing values were found. The gender distribution showed a slight male predominance, with 217 male respondents (55.8%) compared to 172 female respondents (44.2%). The respondents' mean age was 42.0 years (standard deviation [SD]=7.9; range, 29–78 years). The mean practising years was 16.2 (SD=7.5; range, 2–50 years). Notably, most respondents (75.3%) were general practitioners (including medical officers at health clinics), and the remaining (24.7%) were specialists (family medicine specialists, 4.9%; medical-based specialists, 9.5%; and surgical-based specialists, 10.3%). The place of practice was predominantly in private clinics or hospitals, with 70.4% of respondents working in these settings. Table I shows the respondents' characteristics.

Clinical characteristics

Figure 1 illustrates clinical characteristics among 389 respondents, with a focus on managing cnLBP and their experience with acupuncture. A majority (90%) reported involvement in cnLBP management, yet only a small portion (3.6%) had formal training in acupuncture. Additionally, personal experience with acupuncture was limited, with just 7.7% of respondents having tried it themselves. Only 12.1% reported access to acupuncture services at their workplace, underscoring restricted availability in clinical settings. Awareness of the T&CM Act was notably high at 92%,

suggesting a strong familiarity with regulatory guidelines for acupuncture. Despite this, only 33.2% had referred patients for acupuncture treatment for cnLBP, pointing to a gap between awareness of acupuncture's potential benefits and its practical application in patient referrals.

Factors affecting behavioural action for acupuncture referral for cnLBP treatment

Spearman's rho was used to measure the strength and direction of the relationship between the independent variables and behavioural actions for acupuncture referral (Table II). The percentage score of behavioural action for acupuncture referral showed a moderate positive correlation with received acupuncture training (ρ =0.12, p<0.05), acupuncture self-experience (ρ =0.18, p<0.01), attitude towards referral (ρ =0.19, p<.01), and perceived behavioural control (ρ =0.13, p<0.05), suggesting that training, personal experience, positive attitudes, and better perceived behavioural control were positively correlated with actual referral behaviours. The results also showed that the availability of acupuncture facilities in the workplace was positively correlated with the intention to refer patients for acupuncture treatment (ρ =0.11, p<0.05), suggesting that workplace service availability may influence referral intentions. Acupuncture knowledge, training, and selfexperience were positively correlated with attitudes (ρ =0.11, p<0.05; $\rho=0.15$, p<0.01; and $\rho=0.20$, p<0.01, respectively) and perceived behavioural control (ρ =0.10, p<0.05; ρ =0.18, p<0.01; and ρ =0.16, p<0.01, respectively) among the respondents. These findings highlight the crucial role that knowledge, training, and personal experience play in shaping practitioners' attitudes and self-efficacy toward acupuncture referral.

There was a strong correlation between age and years of practice (ρ =0.97, p<0.01), indicating that their clinical experience also increased as practitioners aged. Additionally,

Characteristics	n	%	
Sex			
Male	217	55.8	
Female	172	44.2	
Age in years			
< 35	50	12.9	
35–44	223	57.3	
45–54	92	23.7	
≥55	24	6.2	
Years of practice			
< 10	59	15.2	
10–19	226	58.1	
20–29	86	22.1	
≥30	18	4.6	
Type of practice			
General practitioner	293	75.3	
Specialist	96	24.7	
Place of practice			
Private clinic/hospital	274	70.4	
Govt. clinic/hospital	115	29.6	

Table I: Respondent characteristics (n=389)

Table II: Relationship between behavioural action for acupuncture referral for cnLBP and selected variables: Bivariate correlation analysis (n=389)

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
0.09													
0.97**	-0.09												
-0.04	0.05	-0.01											
0.12*	-0.05	0.12*	-0.03										
0.02	-0.07	0.01	-0.03	0.62**									
0.09	-0.04	0.09	0.07	0.10	0.01								
-0.05	0.06	-0.06	0.28**	-0.10	-0.09	-0.01							
0.07	-0.03	0.05	-0.04	0.15**	0.20**	0.04	0.03						
-0.05	0.09	-0.04	0.10	0.09	0.05	0.00	0.01	0.09					
0.00	-0.01	0.01	0.02	0.18**	0.16**	0.06	-0.03	0.15**	0.06				
0.01	0.07	-0.01	0.01	0.05	-0.03	0.02	0.07	0.11*	0.03	0.10*			
0.06	0.07	0.07	0.05	0.09	0.13*	0.11*	-0.02	-0.01	0.09	0.04	-0.01		
0.01	0.08	0.02	-0.10	0.12*	0.18**	0.04	-0.03	0.19**	0.05	0.13*	0.05	0.07	
	1 0.09 0.97** -0.04 0.12* 0.02 0.09 -0.05 0.07 -0.05 0.00 0.01 0.06 0.01	1 2 0.09 0.97** -0.09 -0.04 0.05 0.12* -0.07 0.09 -0.04 -0.09 -0.04 0.02 -0.07 0.09 -0.04 -0.05 0.06 0.07 -0.03 -0.05 0.09 0.00 -0.01 0.01 0.07 0.06 0.07 0.01 0.07 0.02 0.01	1 2 3 0.09 0.97** -0.09 -0.04 0.05 -0.01 0.12* -0.05 0.12* 0.02 -0.07 0.01 0.09 -0.04 0.09 -0.05 0.06 -0.06 0.07 -0.03 0.05 -0.05 0.09 -0.04 0.00 -0.01 0.01 0.01 0.07 -0.01 0.05 0.09 -0.04 0.00 -0.01 0.01 0.01 0.07 -0.01 0.02 -0.01 0.01	1 2 3 4 0.09 0.97** -0.09 -0.04 0.05 -0.01 0.12* -0.05 0.12* -0.03 0.02 -0.07 0.01 -0.03 0.09 -0.04 0.09 0.07 -0.05 0.06 -0.06 0.28** 0.07 -0.03 0.05 -0.04 -0.05 0.09 -0.04 0.10 0.00 -0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.07 -0.04 0.10 0.00 -0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.07 -0.01 0.01 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.05 0.01 0.08 0.02 -0.10	1 2 3 4 5 0.97** -0.09 0.97** -0.09 0.12* -0.05 0.12* -0.03 0.02 -0.07 0.01 -0.03 0.62** 0.09 -0.04 0.09 0.07 0.10 -0.05 0.06 -0.06 0.28** -0.10 0.07 -0.03 0.05 -0.04 0.15** -0.05 0.09 -0.04 0.10 0.09 0.00 -0.01 0.01 0.02 0.18** -0.05 0.09 -0.01 0.01 0.05 0.00 -0.01 0.01 0.05 0.09 0.01 0.07 0.07 0.05 0.09 0.01 0.08 0.02 -0.10 0.12*	1 2 3 4 5 6	1 2 3 4 5 6 7	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 <td>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 0.09 <td>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 </td><td>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 0.09 </td><td>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 0.09 </td></td>	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 0.09 <td>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 </td> <td>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 0.09 </td> <td>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 0.09 </td>	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 0.09	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 0.09

*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Table III: Predictors of behavioural action for acupuncture referral for cnLBP: Multiple regression analysis (n=389)

Variables	Beta	SE	β	p-value	95% CI		
					LL	UL	
(Constant)	0.560	19.949	-	0.978	-22.166	17.579	
Age	-0.109	0.638	-0.044	0.864	-1.363	1.144	
Sex	3.926	1.940	0.100	0.044*	0.285	7.892	
Years of practice	0.136	0.672	0.052	0.840	-0.221	0.237	
Acupuncture self-experience	11.051	3.739	0.151	0.003**	3.648	18.612	
Acupuncture service							
availability at the workplace	1.816	2.943	0.030	0.538	-3.881	7.811	
Aware of the T&CM Act							
implementation	-1.902	3.540	-0.026	0.591	-8.694	5.048	
Acupuncture knowledge	0.012	0.048	0.001	0.829	-0.105	0.083	
Attitude	0.282	0.075	0.189	0.001***	0.125	0.444	
Subjective norms toward							
referral	0.092	0.084	0.054	0.276	-0.088	0.259	
Perceived behavioural control	0.218	0.108	0.101	0.044*	0.023	0.436	
Intention to refer for							
acupuncture	0.033	0.055	0.030	0.554	-0.076	0.133	

*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

years of practice were positively correlated with receiving acupuncture training (ρ =0.12, p<0.05), suggesting that more experienced practitioners were more likely to explore complementary therapies, such as acupuncture, to treat cnLBP. The awareness of the T&CM Act was moderately correlated with managing cnLBP (ρ =0.28, p<0.01), indicating that those aware of the Act were more likely to manage cnLBP using acupuncture.

Table III presents the bootstrap regression analysis examining the influence of various predictors on behavioural action for acupuncture referral. Acupuncture self-experience significantly impacted referral behaviour (β =0.151, p<0.01), highlighting the importance of personal acupuncture experience in influencing referral decisions. The finding suggests that practitioners with personal experience using acupuncture are more likely to refer patients for acupuncture treatment. Furthermore, attitudes towards acupuncture also significantly affected referral behaviour (β =0.189, p<0.001), indicating that more positive attitudes towards acupuncture were associated with increased referral actions. Perceived behavioural control was another significant predictor (β =0.101, p<0.05), suggesting that the more control practitioners felt over referring patients for acupuncture, the more likely they were to do so. Notably, there was no significant relationship between the subjective norms and acupuncture referral (β =0.054, p=0.276), suggesting that peer opinions did not directly influence the decision-making process for referring patients for acupuncture treatment. Furthermore, the regression analysis revealed that sex was statistically significant (β =0.100, p<0.05), indicating that sex differences influenced referral behaviour, with male practitioners being more likely to refer patients for acupuncture treatment. However, other demographic and professional characteristics, such as age, years of practice, availability of acupuncture service, awareness of T&CM Act implementation, and knowledge of acupuncture, did not show any significant relationship with referral behaviour for acupuncture treatment.

DISCUSSION

cnLBP is a highly prevalent condition that significantly impairs the quality of life for many individuals.^{9,10} However, despite the availability of various treatment modalities, managing cnLBP remains a challenge in clinical practice.¹¹ Our results showed that a substantial majority of respondents (90.0%) are involved in managing cnLBP in their clinical practice. However, over time, medical practitioners may recognise the limitations of conventional methods in treating cnLBP, prompting them to explore complementary therapies. This may explain the positive correlation between years of practice and receiving acupuncture training (ρ =0.12, p<0.05) and that between managing cnLBP and the awareness of the T&CM Act's implementation (ρ =0.28, p<0.01). However, while there is high awareness of the T&CM Act (92.0%) and recognition of acupuncture as an approved T&CM modality (82.5%), the actual referral rate for acupuncture treatment remains considerably low at 33.2%. This discrepancy highlights the need for increased efforts to promote the acceptance and integration of acupuncture into cnLBP treatment protocols. Notably, most of those who made referrals were general practitioners (73.5%), predominantly male (59.7%). The significant relationship between sex and acupuncture referrals found in this study could be due to several factors. Male practitioners may feel more confident in recommending acupuncture, possibly due to cultural or social norms that make them more open to nonconventional treatments. They might also perceive acupuncture as lower risk or have more exposure to it through education or personal interest. Additionally, male practitioners may interpret patient needs differently, being more likely to see acupuncture as a beneficial option for cnLBP.

Understanding the medical practitioners' knowledge levels regarding specific therapies or health conditions is essential for improving treatment efficacy, patient outcomes, guideline adherence, and overall healthcare quality.^{2,21,22} Herein, the general awareness and knowledge about acupuncture among medical practitioners were positive, with most respondents demonstrating a good understanding of the role of acupuncture in managing cnLBP. However, some misconceptions persist, which may hinder the referral process. Notably, some medical practitioners misunderstood or were uncertain about acupuncture procedures, such as whether local anaesthesia was required before acupuncture (17.7%), whether acupuncture needles worked by blocking the regional nerves (38.6%) and the safety of acupuncture in patients with diabetes (41.6%). Regarding the effectiveness of in treating cnLBP, acupuncture there was misunderstanding or uncertainty regarding acupuncture needles soaked with herbs to gain analgesic effects (27.8%). These misunderstandings highlight the need for focused educational efforts. Notably, pre-congress workshops and interdisciplinary forums could serve as platforms to address these knowledge gaps. These educational initiatives would likely improve the understanding of medical practitioners and correct misconceptions, fostering a more favourable attitude towards acupuncture referral. Our findings align with previous studies that indicate a positive correlation between the level of knowledge and attitudes of practitioners towards their practice behaviour.23-26

Interestingly, the study also corroborated earlier research, showing that healthcare practitioners with a positive attitude toward complementary medicine are more likely to accept and incorporate it into their clinical practice.²⁷ This indicates that fostering positive attitudes through education and awareness campaigns could be pivotal in enhancing the integration of acupuncture and other complementary therapies. However, it is important to note that while there is a positive relationship between knowledge and attitudes, the study found no significant relationship between the level of knowledge and the actual referral action (β =0.001, p=0.829). This indicates that other factors, such as established clinical practices and the availability of institutional facilities, could influence the decision-making process. Similarly, previous studies have demonstrated that knowledge alone does not necessarily translate into action.^{28,29} The gap between knowledge and actual practice highlights the importance of a well-planned process and the motivation to implement change. Notably, institutional support is crucial, suggesting that for integrative healthcare systems to develop effectively, education and knowledge must be paired with strong institutional backing. This combined approach could bridge

the gap between knowledge and practice, facilitating the integration of acupuncture into mainstream medical care.

Moreover, the study's findings were consistent with those of earlier studies, indicating that healthcare professionals with prior training and self-experience in complementary therapies, such as acupuncture, exhibit higher acceptance and integration rates of these therapies into their practice.^{2,30,31} Training and self-experience help medical practitioners recognise the value of acupuncture and feel more confident in recommending it to patients. This emphasises the need to include complementary medicine subjects in undergraduate medical programs, giving students early exposure and practical experience with these treatment modalities. This educational strategy could create a new generation of medical practitioners who are more open to integrating complementary therapies into their practice.

Furthermore, we evaluated the perceived behavioural control in two aspects: self-efficacy and barrier. The results showed a moderate positive correlation between perceived behavioural control towards acupuncture referral (β =0.101, p<0.05). This is consistent with previous studies,^{8,18,32} indicating that healthcare practitioners were more likely to perform behavioural actions when they had higher perceived behavioural control. Practitioners who feel confident and have the necessary resources, support, and knowledge to refer patients to acupuncture are more likely to do so. However, despite the positive perceived behavioural control towards acupuncture referral, barriers are preventing its broader adoption. Notably, concerns about the lack of scientific evidence supporting acupuncture (53.0%) and the quality of acupuncturists (63.0%) were major deterrents. These concerns highlight the need for stronger research and collaboration between modern and complementary medicine professional bodies. Healthcare providers should prioritise enhancing education and training, promoting scientific evidence, and raising awareness of relevant policies, such as the T&CM Act.

Additionally, establishing clear referral systems and supportive institutional policies will facilitate the integration of acupuncture into conventional medical practice. Strategies to overcome existing barriers include streamlining referral processes, reducing paperwork, providing directories of acupuncturists, and educating patients about the benefits of acupuncture in managing cnLBP. We found that many respondents (81.2%) expressed interest in learning more about acupuncture as a treatment option for cnLBP. However, confidence in identifying suitable patients for acupuncture treatment was relatively low, with only 28.1% of practitioners feeling assured in their ability to do so. This gap highlights the need for more continuous medical education programs and professional development modules focused on enhancing knowledge and confidence in selecting suitable patients with cnLBP for acupuncture treatment.

Finally, we found no significant correlation between subjective norms and the action to refer patients with cnLBP for acupuncture treatment (β =0.054, p=0.276). This indicates that the opinions and expectations of colleagues, peers, and the broader medical community may not strongly influence individual practitioners' choices to recommend acupuncture.

This finding is consistent with previous research, which has identified subjective norms as a weak predictor of behavioural actions.^{27,32,33} Notably, several factors may explain this result. First, practitioners may rely more on their own clinical experience and training than the opinions of others. Second, the perceived lack of scientific evidence supporting acupuncture could lead practitioners to prioritise their own judgment or institutional guidelines over peer influence. Third, time constraints in busy clinical settings may prompt practitioners to make independent decisions, minimising the role of social or professional expectations. Ultimately, this suggests that personal attitudes and clinical autonomy are likely stronger drivers in the decision to refer patients for acupuncture than subjective norms.

This study has several strengths and some limitations. As the first investigation into Malaysian medical practitioners' behavioural actions regarding acupuncture referrals for cnLBP, it provides valuable insights into the complex relationships among predictors, intentions, and actions in this decision-making process. Furthermore, the study's findings contribute to the understanding of areas for improvement in healthcare integration and patient care optimisation. Furthermore, the recruited participants (n=389) exceeded the calculated sample size of 346, which enhanced the reliability and statistical power of the findings.

However, the limitations of this study include potential bias from convenience sampling of a single association's members, which may affect generalizability to the broader population of Malaysian medical practitioners. The crosssectional study design also poses a limitation in establishing causality. The use of a self-administered online questionnaire offered advantages such as cost-effectiveness, wide reach, and convenience; however, it also presented challenges. Online surveys can reach diverse audiences and potentially increase participation rates through anonymity and convenience; however, they may exclude certain demographics (senior practitioners) owing to technological barriers, potentially skewing the sample. Additionally, the lack of supervision in online surveys may lead to lower-quality data due to hurried responses.

CONCLUSION

This study reveals significant relationships between various factors and medical practitioners' acupuncture referral behaviours for cnLBP. Personal experience with acupuncture, positive attitudes, and higher perceived behavioural control were associated with increased referral rates, while the availability of acupuncture facilities in the workplace positively influenced referral intentions. Notably, greater acupuncture knowledge was associated with more favourable attitudes and higher perceived behavioural control. These findings have important implications for medical education and healthcare policy. Therefore, incorporating acupuncture education into medical training can foster more informed attitudes and boost practitioners' confidence in recommending it as a treatment option. Hands-on experience or exposure to acupuncture in clinical settings could further enhance referral behaviours. From a policy perspective, improving access to acupuncture services in healthcare facilities may promote its wider use, particularly for managing cnLBP.

Future research could explore sex differences in referral behaviours, examining whether male and female practitioners differ in their attitudes, personal experience, or perceived control when referring patients for acupuncture. Additionally, qualitative studies could investigate barriers preventing practitioners from acting on their intention to refer, such as lack of institutional support or patient-related concerns. A comparative analysis of referral patterns between private and public sector practitioners could also provide insights into how different healthcare settings and policies influence referral behaviours and whether disparities in access to acupuncture services exist.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank Universiti Malaysia Sarawak for its continuous support in conducting this study. Special thanks go to the IMU University, Malaysia Medical Association, and the individuals who participated in this study.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

All authors declare that there are no competing interests associated with this study.

FUNDING

This was a self-funded study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Xinnong C. 2019. Chinese acupuncture and moxibustion. 4th Edition. Beijing (CHN): Foreign Languages Press.
- Liu L, Tang Y, Baxter GD, Yin H, and Tumilty S. Complementary and alternative medicine - practice, attitudes, and knowledge among healthcare professionals in New Zealand: an integrative review. BMC Complement Med Ther 2021; 21(1): 63.
- 3. Hopton AK, Curnoe S, Kanaan M, and MacPherson H. Acupuncture in practice: mapping the providers, the patients and the settings in a national cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open 2012; 2: e000456.
- World Health Organisation. WHO benchmarks for the practice of acupuncture Geneva: World Health Organisation 2020 [cited Mar 2024]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/ 10665/340838.
- Traditional and Complementary Medicine Division. National policy of traditional and complementary medicine Kuala Lumpur: Ministry of Health Malaysia; 2007. [cited Mar 2024]. Available from: https://hq.moh.gov.my/tcm/en/index.php/ policy/national.
- 6. Park JE, Yi J, and Kwon O. Twenty years of traditional and complementary medicine regulation and its impact in Malaysia: achievements and policy lessons. BMC Health Serv Res 2022; 22: 102.
- 7. Traditional and Complementary Medicine Division. Consumer guideline for proper use of traditional and complementary medicine services in Malaysia Kuala Lumpur: Ministry of Health Malaysia 2019 [cited May 2024]. Available from: https://hq.moh.gov.my/tcm/en/index.php/publication/consume r-guideline.

- 8. Traditional and Complementary Medicine Division. Traditional and complementary medicine guideline on acupuncture Kuala Lumpur: Ministry of Health Malaysia 2017 [cited May 2024]. Available from: https://hq.moh.gov.my/tcm/en/upload/ garispanduan/amalan/acupuncture2017.pdf.
- 9. GDB 2021 Low Back Pain Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of low back pain, 1990-2020, its attributable risk factors, and projections to 2050: a systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2021. Lancet Rheumatol 2023; 5: e316-29.
- 10. Hani SS and Liew SM. The views and experiences of Malaysian primary care doctors in managing patients with chronic low back pain: A qualitative study. Malays Fam Physician 2018; 13: 18-27.
- 11. Malaysian Association for the Study of Pain, Spine Society. The Malaysian low back pain management guidelines Kuala Lumpur: Malaysian Association for the Study of Pain 2009 [cited Apr 2024]. Available from: https://www.masp.org.my/ index.cfm?&menuid=23.
- 12. Boutevillain L, Dupeyron A, Rouch C, Richard E, and Coudeyre E. Facilitators and barriers to physical activity in people with chronic low back pain: A qualitative study. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0179826.
- 13. Abas AH, Daud A, Mohd Hairon S, and Shafei MN. Prevalence and risk factors of low back pain in Malaysia: A scoping review. Malays J Med Sci 2023; 30: 32-41.
- 14. Vickers AJ, Vertosick EJ, Lewith G, MacPherson H, Foster NE, Sherman KJ, et al. Acupuncture for chronic pain: update of an individual patient data meta-analysis. J Pain 2018; 19: 455-74.
- Liu L, Skinner M, McDonough S, Mabire L, and Baxter GD. Acupuncture for low back pain: An overview of systematic reviews. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2015; 2015: 328196.
- 16. Giovanardi CM, Gonzalez-Lorenzo M, Poini A, Marchi E, Culcasi A, Ursini F, et al. Acupuncture as an alternative or in addition to conventional treatment for chronic non-specific low back pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Integr Med Res 2023; 12: 100972.
- 17. Dzulkipli MR, Azizam NA, Maon SN, Aziz NISA, Azlan NM, Razak NS, et al. Application of theory of planned behaviour to predict the intention to purchase complementary and alternative medicine. Int Tourism Hospitality J 2019; 2: 1-7.
- Hagger MS, Cheung MWL, Ajzen I, and Hamilton K. Perceived behavioural control moderating effects in the theory of planned behaviour: A meta-analysis. Health Psychol 2022; 41: 155-67.
- 19. Shanka MS and Gebremariam Kotecho M. Combining rationality with morality - integrating theory of planned behavior with norm activation theory to explain compliance with COVID-19 prevention guidelines. Psychol Health Med 2023; 28: 305-15.
- 20. Ajzen I. Constructing a theory of planned behavior questionnaire 2006 [Cited Nov 2023]. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/235913732_Construct ing_a_Theory_of_Planned_Behavior_Questionnaire/citation/do wnload.
- 21. Dickinson BL, Gibson K, VanDerKolk K, Greene J, Rosu CA, Navedo DD, et al. It is this very knowledge that makes us doctors: an applied thematic analysis of how medical students perceive the relevance of biomedical science knowledge to clinical medicine. BMC Med Educ 2020; 20: 356.
- 22. Memarpour M, Fard AP, Ghasemi R. Evaluation of attitude to, knowledge of and barriers toward research among medical science students. Asia Pac Fam Med 2015; 14: 1.
- 23. Rich A, Medisauskaite A, Potts HWW, and Griffin A. A theorybased study of doctors' intentions to engage in professional behaviours. BMC Med Educ 2020; 20: 44.
- 24. Zanaridah MN, Norhayati MN, Rosnani Z. Knowledge, attitude and practice of evidence-based medicine among primary care practitioners in Malaysia: A cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 2021; 11: e044372.
- 25. Thi Nguyen VA, Könings KD, Scherpbier AJJA, and van Merriënboer JJG. Attracting and retaining physicians in less attractive specialties: the role of continuing medical education. Hum Resour Health 2021; 19: 69.
- 26. Hanlon HR, Prihodova L, Russell T, Donegan D, O'Shaughnessy A, and Hoey H. Doctors' engagement with a formal system of continuing professional development in Ireland: a qualitative study in perceived benefits, barriers and potential improvements. BMJ Open 2021; 11: e049204.
- 27. Onche EJ, Oluwasanu MM, and John-Akinola YO. Knowledge, perception, attitude, and practice of complementary and alternative medicine by health care workers in Garki hospital Abuja, Nigeria. BMC Complement Med Ther 2024; 24: 177.
- van Osch I, Beenackers M, Reubsaet A, Lechner L, Candel M, and de Vries H. Action planning as predictor of health protective and health risk behavior: an investigation of fruit and snack consumption. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2009; 13: 69.
 Fishman J, Lushin V, and Mandell DS. Predicting
- 29. Fishman J, Lushin V, and Mandell DS. Predicting implementation: comparing validated measures of intention and assessing the role of motivation when designing behavioral interventions. Implement Sci Commun 2020; 1: 81.

- 30. Zhang NM, Vesty G, and Zheng Z. Healthcare professionals' attitudes to integration of acupuncture in western medicine: A mixed-method systematic review. Pain Manag Nurs 2021; 22: 684-93.
- 31. Phutrakool P and Pongpirul K. Acceptance and use of complementary and alternative medicine among medical specialists: a 15-year systematic review and data synthesis. Syst Rev 2022; 11: 10.
- 32. Huang C, Lushaobo S, Zengping S, Yi X, and Dong W. Factors influencing physician's behavioral intention to use Traditional Chinese Medicine to treat coronavirus disease 2019 based on the theory of planned behavior. J Tradit Chin Med 2022; 42: 633-40.
- 33. Park YL and Canaway R. Integrating traditional and complementary medicine with national healthcare systems for universal health coverage in Asia and the Western Pacific. Health Syst Reform 2019; 5: 24-31.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

A decade of intracapsular cataract extraction: clinical profile and visual outcomes at Hospital Melaka, Malaysia

Nur Faizah Harun, MD^{1,2}, Nurul Hafizah Mohd Norizan, B.Optom(Hons)¹, Juliana Jalaluddin, M.S.Ophthal¹, Wan Hazabbah Wan Hitam, MSurg(Ophthal)²

¹Department of Ophthalmology, Hospital Melaka, Jalan Mufti Haji Khalil, Melaka, Malaysia, ²Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Science, School of Medical Sciences, Health Campus, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Cataract is a leading cause of visual impairment globally and in Malaysia, with surgery being the definitive treatment. While intracapsular cataract extraction (ICCE) is now less commonly performed due to advancements in surgical techniques, it remains essential in specific cases, such as those with weak zonular support. This study aims to evaluate the incidence, clinical profiles, and visual outcomes of patients who underwent ICCE, with or without intraocular lens (IOL) implantation, at Hospital Melaka, Malaysia, over the past decade.

Materials and Methods: A retrospective review was conducted on patients who underwent ICCE at Hospital Melaka, Malaysia, from January 2014 to December 2023.

Results: A total of 143 ICCE surgeries were performed on 135 patients. Most patients were male (n=88, 65.2%), with females comprising 34.8% (n=47). Most surgeries were performed on patients aged 60–69 years (n=48, 35.5%), followed by those aged 50–59 years (n=31, 23.0%) and 70–79 years (n=28, 20.7%). Incidence was lower among patients below 50 years and above 80 years. In terms of ethnicity, the highest incidence was among Malays (n=77, 57.0%), followed by Chinese (n=42, 31.1%) and Indians (n=15, 11.1%).

The leading cause of ICCE was senile cataract with weak zonular support (n=58, 40.6%), followed by trauma (n=33, 23.1%), intraoperative complications (n=30, 21.0%), congenital cataracts (n=14, 9.8%), pseudoexfoliation (n=4, 2.8%), and lens-induced glaucoma (n=4, 2.8%).

Post-surgery, 76 patients (53.1%) were left aphakic. Among those receiving IOL implants, 21.0% (n=30) had anterior chamber IOL, 14.7% (n=21) received an iris-claw IOL, and 11.2% (n=16) had a scleral-fixated IOL. Twelve weeks after IOL implantation, 60.9% (n=39) achieved good visual acuity of 6/12 or better, while 17.2% (n=11) had moderate vision (6/18 to 6/36), and 21.9% (n=14) had poor vision (worse than 6/60).

Conclusion: The incidence of ICCE was low, accounting for only 0.66% of the 21,596 cataract surgeries performed at Hospital Melaka, Malaysia, during the study period. The primary indication was senile cataracts with weak zonular support. Most patients achieved favourable visual outcomes at 12 weeks postsurgery following IOL implantation, with the

KEYWORDS:

Intracapsular cataract extraction, cataract, visual outcomes, intraocular lens, aphakia

INTRODUCTION

Cataract remains one of the leading causes of visual impairment and blindness globally, including in Malaysia. Although cataracts primarily affect the elderly, they can also manifest in early childhood due to intrauterine infections, chromosomal abnormalities, or metabolic disorders.^{1,2} Trauma is another significant factor contributing to cataract development. According to the National Eye Survey, 39.11% of bilateral blindness cases in Malaysia are attributed to cataracts.² Fortunately, cataract-induced blindness is preventable with cataract surgery, which remains the most frequently performed refractive procedure in government hospitals across Malaysia and worldwide.

Cataract surgery techniques have evolved substantially, progressing from intracapsular cataract extraction (ICCE) to extracapsular cataract extraction (ECCE) and, more recently, to phacoemulsification. The choice of surgical approach depends on the patient's visual needs and eye condition, as each technique carries distinct indications and associated risks.3 While ICCE is less commonly performed in highincome countries compared to ECCE or phacoemulsification, it remains a viable option in low and middle-income settings, especially where other methods are not feasible.⁴ During ICCE, various intraocular lenses (IOLs) may be implanted in different anatomical locations. such as the anterior chamber. iris-claw, or scleral-fixated positions. However, ICCE is associated with a higher risk of complications, such as endophthalmitis, which has led to its decreased use, although it is still indicated in cases with weak zonules or other specific conditions.

This study aims to evaluate the incidence, clinical profiles, and visual outcomes of patients who underwent ICCE, with or without IOL implantation, at Hospital Melaka over the past decade.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This retrospective study analysed ten years of data from

iris-claw IOL showing superior postoperative visual results compared to other IOL types.

This article was accepted: 12 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Wan Hazabbah Wan Hitam Email: hazabbah@usm.my, hazabbah@yahoo.com

Gender	Frequency, n (%)	
Male	88 (65.2)	
Female	47 (34.8)	
Age (Years Old)		
1 - 9	4 (3.0)	
10 - 19	2 (1.5)	
30 - 39	5 (3.7)	
40 - 49	5 (3.7)	
50 - 59	31 (23.0)	
60 - 69	48 (35.5)	
70 - 79	28 (20.7)	
>80	12 (8.9)	
Race		
Malay	77 (57.0)	
Chinese	42 (31.1)	
Indian	15 (11.1)	
Non-Malaysian	1 (0.74)	
Aphakia	76 (53.1%)	
Types of IOL		
a. AC IOL	30 (21.0%)	
b. Iris claw IOL	21 (14.7%)	
c. Scleral fixated IOL	16 (11.2%)	

Table I: Clinica	I profile of patients	who underwent intracapsular	cataract extraction (ICCE)
------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------------

Abbreviations: IOL: intraocular lens; AC IOL: anterior chamber intraocular lens

Lens status	6/6 to 6/12	6/18 to 6/36	6/60 and worse	Missing data
Aphakia	0 (0%)	7 (9.2%)	57 (75.0%)	12 (15.8%)
ACIOL	17 (56.6%)	5 (16.7%)	6 (20.0%)	2 (6.7%)
Iris-claw IOL	16 (76.2%)	5 (23.8%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Scleral-fixated IOL	6 (37.5%)	1 (6.25%)	8 (50.0%)	1 (6.25%)

Abbreviations: IOL: intraocular lens; AC IOL: anterior chamber intraocular lens

patients who underwent ICCE at Hospital Melaka, Malaysia, between January 2014 and December 2023. Data were sourced from the National Eye Database (NED), which includes the Cataract Surgical Registry. The study adhered to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and received approval from the Malaysian Medical Research Ethics Committee (NMRR ID-24-02322-FYK (2)). Data collection was facilitated by doctors assisting in the operating theatres at Hospital Melaka, Malaysia. Hospital Melaka is a government-funded public hospital that serves as a referral centre for patients from primary care facilities and private hospitals in Melaka and northern Johor. It also serves as a teaching hospital for Melaka Manipal Medical College medical students.

This study included all patients who underwent ICCE, with or without IOL implantation, between January 2013 and December 2023. Data collected encompassed patients' clinical profiles, including age, gender, ethnicity, indications for surgery, type of IOL implantation, and visual outcomes. The World Health Organization (WHO) established the International Classification of Diseases 11 (2018) criteria for visual impairment. According to these standards, visual acuity is categorised as follows: good vision (6/6 to 6/12), moderate visual impairment (6/18 to 6/60), and poor vision (worse than 6/60). Patients who underwent phacoemulsification or ECCE were excluded from the study.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows, version

29.0. Categorical variables are presented as frequencies and percentages. Descriptive analysis was used to summarise the data. The Wilcoxon Signed Ranks test was employed to compare pre-and postoperative visual acuity, measured in LogMAR, for each type of IOL.

RESULTS

A total of 143 ICCE surgeries were performed on 135 patients at Hospital Melaka from 2014 to 2023. The incidence of ICCE was notably low, with only 143 cases (0.66%) out of 21,596 cataract operations. The majority of cases involved male patients and those of Malay ethnicity, with the highest incidence of ICCE surgeries occurring in patients aged 60 to 69 years (Table I). Senile cataracts with weak zonular support were the leading cause of ICCE among male patients, followed by trauma and intraoperative complications (Figure 1 and Figure 2). Post-operatively, more than half of the patients (53.1%) remained aphakic. In contrast, the others received various intraocular lens implants, including anterior chamber IOLs, iris-claw lenses, and scleral-fixated lenses (Table I).

Figure 3 illustrates the best corrected visual acuity (BCVA) outcomes in LogMAR before and after surgery for different types of IOL implants, excluding cases of aphakia. Visual outcomes 12 weeks post-surgery were favourable in patients with primary IOL implantation, with the iris-claw IOL group showing the best results, followed by anterior chamber and scleral-fixated IOLs. Patients left aphakic generally had poorer outcomes.



Fig. 1: Indications for intracapsular cataract extraction surgery



Fig. 3: Pre- and Post-Operative Visual Acuity (LogMAR) by Type of Intraocular Lens Abbreviations: AC IOL: anterior chamber intraocular lens; SF IOL:

scleral fixated intraocular lens; IOL: intraocular lens, LogMAR: Logarithm of the Minimum Angle of Resolution

Tables I and II summarise further details of patient demographics, causes, and visual outcomes, with Figures 1–3 illustrating key surgical indications and postoperative visual acuity.

DISCUSSION

This study offers valuable insights into the outcomes of ICCE surgeries conducted at Hospital Melaka from 2014 to 2023. Among the 143 ICCE surgeries performed, the leading cause was senile cataracts with weak zonular support, particularly in patients aged 60 to 69 years. Weak zonules often necessitate ICCE over other cataract surgery techniques, such as ECCE or phacoemulsification, due to an increased risk of complications such as posterior capsule rupture or vitreous loss.⁵ These complications prolong surgical time, elevate the risk of retinal detachment, and impair proper IOL placement,



Fig. 2: Indications for intracapsular cataract extraction categorised by gender Abbreviation: ICCE: intracapsular cataract extraction

frequently resulting in aphakia or necessitating anterior chamber IOL placement.

Our findings align with Berler et al.⁶, who reported that older cataract patients, particularly those over 88 years, experience higher complication rates, including posterior capsule tears and poorer visual outcomes, than younger patients.⁶ In our cohort, a significant portion of patients with weak zonular support underwent ICCE, highlighting the importance of early detection of zonular instability and the potential role of capsular support devices in improving outcomes.

Male patients comprised the majority of ICCE cases, with trauma being a significant contributing factor, particularly among those aged 50 to 59 years. This finding is consistent with studies by Özbilen et al.⁷, as well as Wong et al.⁸, both of which reported a higher incidence of traumatic cataracts in men, often resulting from motor vehicle accidents and sports injuries.^{7,8} Mariya et al.⁹ stated that there is a higher incidence of traumatic cataracts in moles due to their involvement in outdoor activities and sports.⁹ Our study further supports these findings, with 19.6% of male patients undergoing ICCE due to trauma. However, types of trauma are not further evaluated. Given the substantial impact of trauma on male patients, especially those of working age, public health efforts should focus on prevention, particularly in high-risk occupations and environments.

In paediatric patients, congenital diseases, such as Marfan's syndrome, accounted for 9.8% of cases. This is consistent with previous studies indicating that systemic disorders like Marfan's syndrome, homocystinuria, and sulfite oxidase deficiency are associated with lens subluxation due to zonular weakness.¹⁰ However, Kabylbekova et al.¹¹ have highlighted Down syndrome as the most common syndrome associated with cataracts.¹¹ Our study identified Marfan's syndrome as the predominant congenital condition in paediatric ICCE cases, emphasising the need for early diagnosis and appropriate surgical intervention in these patients.

A significant proportion of patients in this study were left aphakic post-ICCE (53.1%), particularly those in the 60 to 69 age group. Aphakia, in these cases, may have been planned, with secondary IOL implantation intended, but patients failed to return for follow-up. Barriers to follow-up may include socioeconomic challenges, transportation difficulties, or a lack of understanding about the importance of further treatment. This finding underscores the need for improved postoperative care and patient education to ensure optimal visual rehabilitation.

Postoperatively, patients with IOL implantation demonstrated better visual outcomes compared to those left aphakic. Among aphakic patients, 9.2% (n=7) had a BCVA between 6/18 and 6/36. In contrast, 58.2% (n=39) of patients who received IOL implants achieved good visual acuity, with vision of 6/12 or better. Notably, the iris-claw IOL provided superior visual outcomes compared to AC IOL and scleralfixated IOLs. This could be attributed to the younger age of patients receiving iris-claw IOLs, which may contribute to better postoperative results. Additionally, the stability offered by iris-claw IOLs, particularly in patients with Marfan's syndrome, makes them a preferred option over scleralfixated IOLs, as shown by studies like Al-Dwairi et al.14 and Muthukumar et al.¹⁵

Patients who underwent ICCE or ECCE faced a significantly higher risk of postoperative BCVA of 6/18 or worse compared to those who had phacoemulsification, primarily due to increased postoperative astigmatism, discomfort, and slower visual recovery.16 This underscores the importance of innovating surgical techniques, especially for complex cases requiring ICCE.

Aphakic patients need thorough visual prognosis assessments before secondary IOL implantation, with temporary corrective lenses improving their quality of life while awaiting implantation. Post-ICCE refractive monitoring is vital to address high astigmatism from sutures. Factors like intraoperative complications, surgeon experience, and operation time significantly influence visual outcomes, emphasising the need for skilled surgeons and efficient procedures to reduce risks such as posterior capsule rupture or prolonged inflammation. Enhancing follow-up rates through community outreach and rehabilitation programs can improve postoperative care, particularly for remote patients. Limitations, such as the absence of longterm follow-up data and variability in surgeon expertise, highlight the need for future research on extended outcomes, IOL types, less invasive trauma case alternatives, and improved postoperative care to optimise ICCE results.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, ICCE accounted for a small fraction of cataract surgeries performed at Hospital Melaka, with senile cataracts and weak zonular support being the predominant causes. Notably, ICCE represented only 0.66% of the 21,596 cataract surgeries conducted during the study period. Trauma was a significant contributor, especially among male patients. Although patients with IOL implants generally experienced better visual outcomes, those left aphakic faced greater difficulties in achieving good vision. Patients with iris-claw IOLs, particularly those with Marfan syndrome, showed positive visual results postoperatively. Strengthening postoperative care, particularly in follow-up and rehabilitation, is essential. Further studies are needed to evaluate alternatives to ICCE and to better understand longterm outcomes, especially for aphakic patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We would like to thank the Ministry of Health and the Director General of Health, Malaysia, for the permission to publish this article. We would also like to thank the site coordinators, doctors, optometrists and paramedics for their contributions to the data entry in the National Eye Database: Cataract Surgery Registry.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pichi F, Lembo A, Serafino M, Nucci P. Genetics of congenital cataract. Dev Ophthalmol 2016; 57:1-14.
- Zainal M, Ismail SM, Ropilah AR, Elias H, Arumugam G, Alias D, et al. Prevalence of blindness and low vision in Malaysian population: results from the National Eye Survey 1996. Br J Ophthalmol 2002; 86: 951-6.
- 3. Ang M, Evans JR, Mehta JS. Manual small incision cataract surgery (MSICS) with posterior chamber intraocular lens versus extracapsular cataract extraction (ECCE) with posterior chamber intraocular lens for age-related cataract. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev 2014; 2014(11): CD008811.
- Shrestha P, Sharma S, Suwal R, Joshi P, Subedi P. Surgeries and outcomes in subluxated and dislocated lens in Eastern Nepal. Nepal J Ophthalmol 2023; 15(30): 8-16.
- 5. Fontana L, Coassin M, Iovieno A, Moramarco A, Cimino L. Cataract surgery in patients with pseudoexfoliation syndrome: Current updates. Clin Ophthalmol 2017; 11: 1377-83.
- 6. Berler DK. Intraoperative complications during cataract surgery in the very old. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc 2000; 98: 127-32.
- Özbilen KT, Altınkurt E. Impact of the possible prognostic factors for visual outcomes of traumatic cataract surgery. Int Ophthalmol 2020; 40(11): 3163-73.
- 8. Wong TY, Klein BEK, Klein R. The prevalence and 5-year incidence of ocular trauma the Beaver Dam Eye Study. Ophthalmology 2000; 107(12): 2196-2202.
- Mariya Nazish M, Ashok Kumar N, Noor Bukht N. Visual outcome of unilateral traumatic cataract. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2012; 22(8): 497-500.
- Cionni RJ, Osher RH, Marques DMV, Marques FF, Snyder ME, Shapiro S. Modified capsular tension ring for patients with congenital loss of zonular support. J Cataract Refract Surg 2003; 29(9): 1668-73.
- Kabylbekova A, Meirmanov S, Aringazina A, Orazbekov L, Auyezova A. Clinical characteristics of congenital and developmental cataract in Kazakhstan. Indian J Ophthalmol 2022; 70(12): 4325-30.
- Faria MY, Ferreira N, Neto E. Retropupillary iris-claw intraocular lens in ectopia lentis in Marfan syndrome. Int Med Case Rep J 2016; 9: 149-53.
- Görkem Çevik S, Çevik MÖ, Özmen AT. Iris-claw intraocular lens implantation in children with ectopia lentis. Arq Bras Oftalmol 2017; 80(2): 114-7.
- 14. Al-Dwairi RA, Shihadeh WA, Alqudah AA, Alqudah NM, Msallam M, Alrazem F, et al. Outcomes of iris-claw intraocular lens implantation in patients with Marfan's syndrome in Jordan. Clin Ophthalmol 2022; 16: 3811-9.
- 15. Muthukumar B, Chhablani PP, Salman A, Bhandari V, Kapoor R. Comparison of retropupillary fixated iris-claw lens versus sclera fixated lens for correction of pediatric aphakia secondary to ectopia lentis. Oman J Ophthalmol 2021; 14(1): 20-6.
- Yong GY, Mohamed-Noor J, Salowi MA, Adnan TH, Zahari M. Risk factors affecting cataract surgery outcome: the Malaysian cataract surgery registry. PLoS One 2022;17(9): e0274939.

Effectiveness of a developed module in improving quality of life among breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy at Institut Kanser Negara

Suhasinee Subramaniam, M. Psy.Med¹, Sherina Mohd Sidik, PhD¹, Lekhraj Rampal, PhD², Kulanthayan K.C. Mani, PhD², Siti Irma Fadhilah, PhD¹, Ummavathy Periasamy, PhD³

¹Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, UPM, Serdang, Malaysia, ²Department of Community Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Science, UPM, Serdang, Malaysia, ³Klinik Kesihatan Seksyen 7, PKD Petaling, Ministry of Health Malaysia, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Cancer is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Breast cancer risk has risen due to lifestyle choices and genetic factors. Women with breast cancer symptoms experience lower quality of life (QoL), particularly in psychological and physical domains, compared to healthy women. Several studies reveal that poor QoL among breast cancer patients increases the risk of psychological distress. This study aimed to develop, implement, and evaluate the effectiveness of a counselling module in improving the QoL among breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy at the Institut Kanser Negara (IKN).

Materials and Methods: A single-blinded Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial was conducted at the IKN between January 2023 and June 2023. The estimated sample size was 120 participants. A sequential numbering system assigned a unique identifier to each participant until a total of 120 participants were recruited, with 60 participants in both the intervention and control groups. The intervention group received chemotherapy counselling using a newly developed module. QoL and depression were assessed at multiple time points using a validated questionnaire. Data were analysed using SPSS version 26, with independent tests and two-way repeated measures ANOVA. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant, and partial eta squared was used to measure effect size.

Result: Overall, in age distribution, the intervention group had the highest percentage of participants in the 41-60 years category (40.0%), whereas the control group had the highest percentage of participants aged \geq 61 years (38.3%). The counselling module was effective in improving QoL and depression among participants at baseline and for three consecutive follow-ups following interventions. The QoL showed improvement in all four domains in the intervention group, which were Physical Health (p < 0.001), Psychological (p < 0.001), Social Relationship (p < 0.001), and Environment (p = 0.001). There was also a moderate effect reduction on depression (p < 0.001).

Conclusion: The newly developed counselling module was effective in improving the QoL and depression among breast

cancer patients. Repetitive counselling sessions by pharmacists, which were conducted during the module implementation, played a key role in ensuring the well-being of breast cancer patients throughout the treatment journey.

KEYWORDS:

Cancer, chemotherapy, breast cancer, quality of life, depression

INTRODUCTION

Cancer, known as malignant tumors and neoplasms, occurs due to the uncontrolled growth of abnormal cells in the body.¹ It is one of the primary contributors to global mortality, responsible for nearly 10 million deaths in 2020.² That year, breast cancer diagnoses reached 2.3 million among women globally, resulting in 685,000 deaths. By the end of 2020, 7.8 million women who had been diagnosed with breast cancer in the previous five years were still alive, making it the most widespread cancer worldwide. Developed countries see higher breast cancer rates, and the incidence is rising almost everywhere.¹

In Malaysia, cancer prevalence has risen over the past decade (2007-2016) among both men and women.3 According to 2022 data from Global Cancer Observatory (GLOBOCAN), breast cancer accounted for the highest proportion (16.2%) of all new cancer cases in Malaysia, with 8,371 new cases diagnosed that year.4 The Malaysian National Cancer Registry reported 115,238 new cancer cases between 2012 and 2016. Despite advanced health facilities, Malaysia's cancer mortality rate remains high. Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer deaths among women in Malaysia, with the highest prevalence recorded among the Chinese ethnic population.⁴ Chemotherapy, often combined with radiation or surgery, is the most common treatment for breast cancer.⁵ Despite its benefits for survival, chemotherapy causes significant side effects, particularly impacting psychological health and physical well-being.6.7

Quality of life is a key measure of quality care in oncology.⁸ Women with breast cancer symptoms experience lower QoL, particularly in psychological and physical domains, compared to healthy women.⁹ Increased psychological distress negatively impacts illness perception and body

This article was accepted: 12 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Sherina Mohd Sidik Email: sherina@upm.edu.my

image.¹⁰⁻¹² Chemotherapy can further decline QoL and psychological health. Iddrisu et al. (2020) noted that some patients defaulted on their next chemotherapy cycle due to the disruptive effects on their daily routine.¹³ Depression is a common psychological effect of chemotherapy among breast cancer patients, affecting about 20% of women.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Depression leads to emotional distress and significantly reduces QoL.¹⁷⁻¹⁸

Educational counselling has been shown to effectively manage cancer patients and mitigate some negative consequences of chemotherapy.¹⁹ Iddrisu et al. (2020) recommended educating breast cancer patients on coping strategies and lifestyle activities to aid their recovery.¹³ However, there are limited studies on educational interventions among breast cancer patients in Malaysia. This study aimed to develop, implement, and evaluate the effectiveness of a counselling module to improve the QoL of breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy at Institute Kanser Negara (IKN).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Setting

A randomised controlled trial (RCT) with a single-blinded study design was used in the study. This study was carried out at IKN. Participants were recruited from the oncology ward at the IKN. Eligible patients met the following criteria: (i) aged above 18; (ii) undergoing chemotherapy at the IKN; (iii) able to communicate verbally. Patients with language barriers or severe illnesses were excluded. The patients were randomly assigned into 2 groups by the pharmacist on duty for the day. The 2 groups consisted of the intervention group and control group. A total of 120 participants were randomly selected and allocated into intervention and control groups using a randomization method based on odd and even numbers, with each group consisting of 60 participants. The control group adhered to the standard IKN counselling protocol for breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy, while the intervention group received quality-of-life counselling using a specific module developed by a pharmacist. Data collection at IKN spanned six months, from January 2023 to July 2023. Counselling sessions for the intervention group began during their initial visit and continued through the first cycle of chemotherapy, with ongoing sessions up to the third followup appointment. Following a single-blinded approach, both groups were kept unaware of their assigned group. The effectiveness endpoints were evaluated over three consecutive chemotherapy cycles, with varying time intervals between each cycle ranging from 3 to 6 weeks. The study flow is depicted in Figure 1. A validated, pretested questionnaire was used to measure the QoL and depression at baseline, first follow-up, second follow-up, and third follow-up. Data were analysed using SPSS version 26. Independent tests were used to compare the variables at baseline. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA tests were used to assess the effectiveness of the intervention. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant and partial eta squared was used to measure effect size.

Intervention module

The newly developed intervention module, 'Improving Quality of Life in Breast Cancer Patients Undergoing Chemotherapy,' integrates components of QoL and Depression. The final version of the module was established after a pilot test conducted with breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy treatment, followed by a comprehensive review and revision by a panel of experts. The module provides an overview of key topics related to breast cancer and chemotherapy treatment. Chapter One covers the basics of breast cancer, chemotherapy, and dietary recommendations. Chapter Two focuses on chemotherapy drugs and their potential side effects. Chapter Three addresses managing physical side effects of chemotherapy, while Chapter Four discusses non-pharmacological techniques for coping with symptoms of depression. The primary objective of this module is to alleviate the depression levels experienced by breast cancer patients, ultimately improving their overall QoL. The module was implemented through repetitive pharmacist counselling following each cycle of chemotherapy for patients in the treatment group. Each counselling session lasted approximately 30-40 minutes per patient. These counselling sessions were conducted by pharmacist individually and face-to-face with patients, typically at their bedside, known as bedside counselling. Meanwhile, patients in the control group received counselling sessions using the hospital's existing counselling practices

Questionnaire

This study employed a questionnaire consisting of sociodemographic data, including age, race, education, income, marital status, and cancer stage. The World Health Organization Quality of Life Brief Version (WHOQOL-BREF) questionnaire to assess the patient's QoL, comprising four domains: physical health, psychological, and social relationships, and environment. Each question in WHOQOL-BREF was scored from one to five, with higher scores indicating better evaluation. For depression assessment, the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) was utilised, consisting of nine items derived from DSM-IV Criteria for Major Depressive Disorder. The PHQ-9 has demonstrated good sensitivity and specificity in detecting depression. These questionnaires were validated among the Malaysian population and are available in English and Malay languages.

Data analysis

The data were entered into the statistical program SPSS version 26 (IBM SPSS Statistics 26, 2019). Analysis was done using descriptive and inferential statistical methods. An independent samples t-test was conducted to evaluate baseline differences between the intervention and control groups, as well as to compare changes in QoL domains and depression scores between the groups across the baseline, 1st counselling, 2nd counselling, and 3rd counselling sessions. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was utilised to examine the primary and interaction effects within and between groups concerning the average scores of QoL and depression. An analysis was undertaken to compare group times using multiple pairwise comparisons, which were conducted with a predetermined level of significance, denoted as alpha (α), set at 0.05 using the Bonferroni correction. This study's confidence interval (CI) was established at a 95% level, with a significance level of 0.05.

Ethical consideration

The ethical clearance for this study was obtained from the Medical Research and Ethics Committee (MREC) NMRR-20-3209-54195 (IIR), Ministry of Health Malaysia, and IKN. Each patient has distributed an information sheet about the study before data collection. Participants' participation was voluntary, and informed consent was obtained from them before the conduct of the study.

RESULTS

Table I shows the baseline socio-demographic characteristics of both the intervention and control groups. In the age distribution analysis, the intervention group had the highest percentage of participants in the 41-60 years category (40.0%), whereas the control group had the highest percentage of participants aged ≥ 61 years (38.3%). Approximately 51.0% of participants in both groups identified as Chinese. Most participants in the intervention group (52.2%) and the control group (47.8%) were married. Regarding education levels, the majority of participants in the intervention group (56.6%) had no formal education or only primary education, while 43.2% had secondary education and 47.8% had tertiary education. In the control group, a higher percentage had secondary education (56.8%) compared to those with no formal/primary education (43.3%) and tertiary education (52.2%). Employment status was similar between groups, with 52.0% of participants in the intervention group and 48.0% in the control group being employed. Most households in both groups reported an income of less than RM 2,000.00. Most participants in both groups were in stage 2 of cancer and were undergoing their second and third cycles of chemotherapy. Many participants expressed concerns about chemotherapy-related pain and adverse effects, and most did not participate in cancer support groups. These characteristics were comparable between the two groups, with no statistically significant differences observed. Consequently, prior to the introduction of the intervention module, both groups displayed similar outcome measures.

Effectiveness of the Newly Developed Intervention Module on Quality of Life

Table II compares the mean scores for QoL and each domain between the intervention and control groups at baseline until the 3rd follow-up. At baseline, there were no statistically significant differences between physical health (p = 0.502), psychological (p = 0.260), social relationships p = 0.225), and environment (p = 0.725) between the intervention and control groups. Initially, there were no statistically significant differences in mean QoL ratings for Physical Health, Psychological Health, Social Relationships, and Environment between the intervention and control groups at baseline. For Physical Health, the intervention group showed a significant increase in mean scores at the first follow-up (M = 71.92, SD = 14.81), continuing to improve in the 2nd (M = 76.62, SD = 15.02) and 3rd (M = 79.30, SD = 14.63) follow-ups, remaining significantly higher than both baseline and control group levels (mean difference = 1.82, 95% CI = -3.53, 7.16, p = 0.502).

For Psychological Health, the intervention group exhibited significant improvement at the first follow-up (M = 60.92, SD = 15.27), with further positive changes in the 2nd (M = 63.00, SD = 14.89) and 3rd (M = 65.55, SD = 18.37) follow-ups. In contrast, the control group showed a significant decrease in mean Psychological Health scores from the first follow-up (M = 52.03, SD = 17.79) (mean difference = -3.35, 95% CI = -8.34, 1.63, p = 0.185).

For Social Relationships, the baseline differences were not statistically significant (mean difference = -5.31, 95% CI = -13.02, 2.40, p = 0.176). However, the intervention group showed a substantial improvement at the first follow-up (mean difference = -15.13, 95% CI = -22.7, -7.56, p < 0.001), which continued to the 2nd (mean difference = -27.6, 95% CI = -34.71, -20.48, p < 0.001) and 3rd follow-ups (mean difference = -33.47, 95% CI = -40.52, -26.42, p < 0.001).

For the Environment, no significant differences were noted at baseline (mean difference = -0.97, 95% CI = -4.46, 6.39, p = 0.725). However, significant improvements were seen in the intervention group at the first follow-up (M = 71.97, SD = 18.75), 2nd (M = 75.15, SD = 16.54), and 3rd follow-ups (M = 77.85, SD = 15.11). In contrast, the control group showed a significant decrease from the first follow-up (M = 54.57, SD = 17.45) onwards. Overall, the intervention group exhibited significant and sustained improvements across all QoL domains compared to the control group, highlighting the effectiveness of the intervention.

In Table III, the results of the two-way repeated measures ANOVA analysis for each domain of QoL on both groups (intervention and control) and time (baseline until 3rd follow-up) effects and interaction between group and time showed that; in physical health, there were significant main effects for the group (F (1, 118) = 22.952, p < 0.001, partial η 2 = 0.163), Time (F (3, 182.940) = 10.472, p < 0.001, partial η2 = 0.082), and the interaction between group and time (F (1.550, 182.940) = 61.446, p < 0.001, partial $\eta 2 = 0.342$); in psychological, there were significant main effects for group (F (1, 118) = 58.937, p < 0.001, partial $\eta 2 = 0.333$), time (F (1.555, 183.542) = 5.181, p = 0.012, partial $\eta 2 = 0.042$), and the interaction between group and time (F (1.555, 183.542) =63.878, p < 0.001, partial $\eta 2 = 0.351$). Regarding social relationship, there were significant main effects for group ((F $(1, 118) = 44.860, p < 0.001, partial \ \Pi 2 = 0.275);$ time (F $(1.678, 198.038) = 10.465, p < 0.001, partial \eta 2 = 0.081);$ and interaction between group and time (F (1.678, 198.038) =173.392, p < 0.001, partial $\eta_2 = 0.595$). Finally, in environment also, there were significant main effects for group Group (F (1, 118) = 65.327, p <0.001, partial Ŋ2 = 0.356), time (F (1.872, 226.248) = 7.174, p = 0.001, partial η2 = 0.057), and the interaction between group and time (F $(1.872, 226.248) = 129.437, p = <0.001, partial \eta 2 = 0.523).$

Effectiveness of the Newly Developed Intervention Module on Depression

Table IV compares the mean scores for depression between the intervention and control groups at baseline until 3rd follow-up. At baseline, there were no significant differences in depression (p = 0.749) between the intervention and control groups. Initially, no statistically significant differences in

Characteristics		Frequen	cv. n (%)				
		Control group	Intervention group	Total	Chi-square value	p-value	
		11=00	11=00				
1.	Age						
	≤40	15(42.9)	20(57.1)	35	2.058	0.357	
	41-60	22(47.8)	24(52.2)	46			
_	≥ 61	23(59.0)	16(41.0)	39			
2.	Race						
	Malay	21(45.7)	25(54.3)	46	1.491	0.684	
	Chinese	31(51.7)	29(48.3)	60			
	Indian	7(53.8)	6(46.2)	13			
_	Others	1(100)	0(0)	1			
3.	Marital Status						
	Single	14(53.8)	12(46.2)	67	1.214	0.545	
	Married	35(52.2)	32(47.8)	26			
	Widowed/Divorced	11(40.7)	16(59.3)	27			
4.	Education level						
	No formal education/primary	30(56.6)	23(43.3)	53	1.786	0.409	
	Secondary	19(43.2)	25(56.8)	44			
	Tertiary	11(47.8)	12(52.2)	23			
5.	Working						
	Yes	39(52.0)	36(48.0)	75	0.320	0.572	
	No	21(46.7)	24(53.3)	45			
6.	Monthly Income						
	No income	21 (53.8)	18(46.2)	39	3.869	0.276	
	≤ 2000	23(59.0)	16(41.0)	39			
	2001-3500	11(37.9)	18(62.1)	29			
	≥3501	5 (38.5)	8(61.5)	13			
7.	Cancer Stage						
	Stage 1	23(54.8)	19(45.2)	42	0.844	0.656	
	Stage 2	29(46.0)	34(54.0)	63			
	Stage 3	8 (53.3)	7(46.7)	15			
8.	Number of Chemotherapy cycle						
	1st cycle	22(56.4)	17(43.6)	39	1.421	0.491	
	2nd cycle & 3rd cycle	21(43.8)	27(56.3)	48			
	4th cycle & above	17(51.5)	16(48.5)	33			
9.	Pain due to Chemotherapy						
	Yes	48(49.5)	49(50.5)	97	0.054	0.817	
	No	12(52.2)	11(47.8)	23			
10.	Worried of adverse effect						
	due to chemotherapy						
	Yes	60 (100)	60 (100)	120	0	-	
11.	Joined Cancer Support Society						
	Yes	1 (20.0)	4 (80.0)	5	1.878	0.171	
	No	59 (51.3)	56 (48.7)	115			

Table I: Baseline comparison of socio-demographic characteristics between the intervention and control groups (n=120)

* p <0.05

mean depression ratings were observed between the intervention and control groups at baseline (mean difference = 0.048, 95% CI = -0.345, 0.479, p = 0.749). However, at the first follow-up (M = 1.400, SD = 1.123) in the intervention group, a significant increase in mean score compared to the control group was observed in Depression. Positive significant changes were noted in the 2nd (M = 0.833, SD = 0.905) and 3rd (M = 0.617, SD = 0.993) follow-ups, with Depression scores remaining significantly higher than baseline and control group levels. In contrast, in the control group, Depression showed a significant decrease in mean score from the 1st follow-up (M = 1.883, SD = 1.151) followed by subsequent follow-ups. In Table V the results of the two-way repeated measures ANOVA analysis for depression on both groups (intervention and control) and time (baseline, until 3rd follow-up) effects and interaction between group and time showed that there were significant main effects for the group (F (1, 118) = 94.519, p < 0.001, partial $\eta 2$ = 0.158) and the interaction between group and time (F (1.997, 241.72) = 72.539, p < 0.001, partial $\eta 2$ = 0.381). Additionally, there were significant findings for time (F (2.502, 241.72) = 10.383, p <0.001, partial $\eta 2$ = 0.381). These results suggest that depression levels varied across different time points, independent of the intervention effect.

DISCUSSION

QoL

The QoL in the present study was evaluated through four domains (Physical health, Psychological, Social relationship, and Environment). A study showed that patient information on the side effects of chemotherapy treatment is essential and should be an important part of supportive care. Especially in palliative care settings, where symptom control is the main

Outcome measures	Mean ± SD		Mean difference	T statistic (df)	p-value
	Intervention group	Control group	(95%CI)		-
	(n=60)	(n=6)			
Physical Health					
Baseline	63.28±14.51	65.10±15.05	1.82 (-3.53, 7.16)	0.673(118)	0.502
1st follow-up	71.92±14.81	60.98±14.78	-10.93 (-16.28, -5.59)	-4.048(118)	<0.001**
2nd follow-up	76.62± 15.02	59.60±14.79	-17.02 (-22.41, -11.63)	-6.253(118)	<0.001**
3rd follow-up	79.30± 14.63	58.33±14.38	-20.97 (-26.21, -15.72)	-7.917(118)	<0.001**
Psychological					
Baseline	59.15±12.55	56.23±15.53	-2.917 (-8.022, 2.189)	-1.13(118)	0.260
1st follow-up	60.92±15.27	52.03±17.79	-8.883 (-14.877,		
-2.890)	-2.94(118)	0.004*			
2nd follow-up	63.00±14.89	41.22±17.18	-21.783 (-27.596, -15.970)	-7.42(118)	<0.001**
3rd follow-up	65.55±18.37	36.88±15.26	-28.667 (-34.770, -22.563)	-9.30(118)	<0.001**
Social relationships					
Baseline	63.12±20.44	58.87±17.59	-4.25 (-11.14, 2.64)	-1.22(118)	0.225
1st follow-up	67.28±18.89	50.73±17.67	-16.55 (-23.16, -9.94)	-4.96(118)	<0.001**
2nd follow-up	71.77±16.74	44.10±16.56	-27.67 (-33.69, -21.65)	-9.10(118)	<0.001**
3rd follow-up	74.18±15.37	40.60±15.44	-33.58 (-39.15, -28.02)	-11.94(118)	<0.001**
Environment					
Baseline	61.37±17.40	62.33±12.14	0.97(-4.46, 6.39)	0.353(118)	0.725
1st follow-up	71.97±18.75	54.57±17.45	-17.4 (-23.95, -10.85)	-5.262(118)	<0.001**
2nd follow-up	75.15±16.54	43.77±15.40	-31.38 (-37.16, -25.60)	-10.755(118)	<0.001**
3rd follow-up	77.85±15.11	40.13±15.59	-37.72 (-43.27, -32.16)	-13.451(118)	<0.001**

Table II: Comparison of mean score changes in quality of life between intervention and control groups across three follow-up assessments

* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.001

therapeutic aim, the impact of treatment on QoL is important to be monitored as well. The present study showed that there was a significant improvement in this study's QoL in all domains (Physical health, Psychological, Social relationship, and Environment) and improved over time with repetitive counselling among patients in the intervention group. In comparison to the control group, there were significant increases in the QoL during the subsequent followups. The present study showed that patients who had depression were associated with poor QoL. A randomized control study supported the present study, where continuous counselling by pharmacists improved the QoL of cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. Another study also mentioned that the QoL and emotional well-being significantly improved among breast cancer patients who underwent group therapy intervention.²⁰ The study also reported that group therapy reduced the depression level among breast cancer patients, and the QoL was enhanced.²¹ Adding on to that, a prospective observational single-center cohort study was conducted among early-stage breast cancer patients where depression and QoL were measured among the breast cancer patients, and a dynamic change in depression and QoL was observed when monitoring the depression level and support for breast cancer patients.²²

Depression

In this study, there were no significant differences in depression between the intervention and control groups at baseline. These percentages include mild, moderate, and severe depression. Depression is a common comorbidity in cancer patients, with a prevalence rate ranging from 15% to 50% according to various studies.²³⁻²⁵ For example, a systematic review conducted in 2017 aimed to assess the levels of depression among Iranian women diagnosed with breast cancer found that while mild depression was present, 69.4% of participants had serious levels of depression.²⁶

In this current study, the intervention group that received repetitive counselling showed significant improvement in depression levels, with a decrease in mean scores over time. Compared to the control group, the intervention group exhibited substantial decreases in depression severity during subsequent follow-up assessments. Spending quality time with patients and engaging in frequent interactions were beneficial in fostering a positive attitude toward disease management. Moreover, the involvement of pharmacists presented an opportunity to impact both the patients' wellbeing and treatment outcomes positively. For instance, a study by Umma mentioned that chemotherapy counselling conducted by a pharmacist significantly improved the QoL and psychological outcomes of oncology patients undergoing treatment in Malaysia.¹⁹ This underscores the critical role pharmacists play in supporting cancer patients' emotional well-being and enhancing their overall treatment experience.¹⁹

Another study revealed that incorporating psychosocial interventions, such as counselling, is a vital component of comprehensive cancer care.²⁷ These intervention help address the emotional well-being of cancer patients, improve their QoL, enhance coping strategies, and reduce the burden of depression during their cancer journey.²⁷ Additionally, a study by Vimala (2012) also revealed that cancer patients are invariably exposed to psychosocial stress due to the disease and the treatment strategy.²⁸ Implementing counselling practices can prepare cancer patients to manage depression and psycho-social challenges better.²⁷

The significance of repetitive counselling by pharmacists among breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy

A pharmacist can be a valuable information hub for families navigating cancer treatments. Having a fundamental grasp of various chemotherapy types and the reasons behind side

Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean square	F	p-value	Partial Ŋ2
Physical Health						
Group	16638.075	1	16638.075	22.952	< 0. 001**	0.163
Error (Between)	85537.792	118	724.897			
Time	1520.517	3	980.765	10.472	<0.001**	0.082
Group*Time	8922.108	1.550	5754.944	61.446	<0.001**	0.342
Error (within)	17133.875	182.940	93.658			
Psychological						
Group	35793.802	1	35793.802	58.937	<0.001**	0.333
Error (Between)	71663.696	118	607.319			
Time	1509.323	1.555	970.352	5.181	0.012*	0.042
Group*Time	18607.773	1.555	11963.041	63.878	<0.001**	0.351
Error (within)	34373.654	183.542	187.280			
Social Relationships						
Group	50491.519	1	50491.519	44.860	<0.001**	0.275
Error (Between)	132813.563	118	1125.539			
Time	909.290	1.678	541.795	10.465	<0.001**	0.081
Group*Time	15065.973	1.678	8976.971	173.392	<0.001**	0.595
Error (within)	10252.988	198.038	51.773			
Group	54869.633	1	54869.633	65.327	<0.001**	0.356
Environment						
Group	54869.633	1	54869.633	65.327	<0.001**	0.356
Error (Between)	99110.233	118	839.917			
Time	1466.817	1.872	783.493	7.174	<0.001**	0.057
Group*Time	26465.017	1.872	14136.160	129.437	<0.001**	0.523
Error (within)	24126.667	226.248	106.638			

Table III: Effectiveness of intervention module on quality of life between intervention and control groups over time

*p < .05, **p < .001

Table IV: Comparison of mean score changes in depression between intervention and control groups across three follow-up assessments

Outcome measures	Mean ± SD		Mean difference	T statistic (df)	p-value	
	Intervention group (n=60)	Control group (n=60)	(95%CI)		-	
Baseline	1.733±1.102	1.800±1.176	0.067 (-0.345, 0.479)	0.320(118)	0.749	
1st follow-up	1.400±1.123	1.883±1.151	0.483 (0.722, 0.894)	2.328(118)	0.022*	
2nd follow-up	0.833±0.905	2.050±1.126	1.217 (0.8477, 1.586)	6.522(118)	<0.001**	
3rd follow-up	0.617±0.993	2.400±1.304	1.783 (1.364,2.203)	8.426(118)	<0.001**	

*p < .05, **p < .001

Table V: Effectiveness of intervention module on depression between intervention and control groups over time

Source	Type III Sum	df	Mean square	F	p-value	Partial
	of Squares					Π2
Group	94.519	1	94.519	22.201	<0.001**	0.158
Error (Between)	502.379	118	4.257			
Time	7.506	3	2.502	10.383	<0.001**	0.381
Group*Time	52.440	1.997	26.260	72.539	<0.001**	0.381
Error (within)	85.304	241.72	0.362			

*p < .05, **p < .001



Fig. 1: CONSORT diagram of the study participants

effects is essential for effectively conveying this information to patients. Additionally, being well-versed in prevalent side effects, both in terms of pharmacological and nonpharmacological management, as well as understanding when to refer patients to physicians and the significance of support groups, are all pivotal aspects. Across numerous countries, the role of pharmacists is shifting from conventional drug-centred services to patient-centric services. This shift includes providing detailed information about chemotherapy regimens and potential side effects to individuals undergoing cancer treatment.²⁹ These findings align with previous research, suggesting that consistent and ongoing counselling, support, and patient care indirectly enhance mental and physical recovery.

Pharmacists play a distinct role in partnering with healthcare experts to enhance patient care. Furthermore, research has shown that continuous counselling by pharmacists improves the QoL among cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy.^{20,30} The introduction of counselling sessions at the outset of systemic therapy has been associated with improved QoL outcomes. Consequently, it is recommended that pharmacists implement regular counselling sessions during cancer patients' treatment to effectively enhance their QoL both during and after the treatment period These results hold valuable implications for preserving patients' QoL throughout their cancer treatment journey.³⁰ Pharmacists should play a pivotal role in treating and caring for cancer patients, functioning as an integral part of the crucial

interdisciplinary oncology team. This was similarly concluded in a study where pharmacists provided continual counselling led to an enhancement in the QoL among cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy.²⁰ The introduction of counselling by pharmacists at the outset of systemic therapy led to improved QoL. Consequently, it is recommended that pharmacists implement counselling sessions during cancer patients' treatment to effectively enhance their QoL both during and after the treatment period.²⁰

RECOMMENDATIONS

This module shows promise for hospital implementation, particularly for breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. It can enhance QoL and manage depression associated with chemotherapy. The module's guidance enables pharmacists to spend quality time with each patient, addressing the psychological effects of chemotherapy and improving overall QoL. Incorporating repetitive counselling sessions at regular intervals allows for ongoing monitoring of the intervention's impact. Given the module's demonstrated effectiveness, it could be proposed to Pharmacy Practice & Development Division, Ministry of Health, Malaysia for further research and broader implementation in clinical practice. The outcomes of this study suggest avenues for further research. Future studies should use a larger sample size to better assess side effects and depression management among breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. Extending the intervention duration and incorporating caregiver support could clarify its impact. Additionally, a multisite study with a more diverse population would enhance heterogeneity and reduce cross-contamination, preserving the findings' internal validity.

This study's findings can aid future researchers in identifying the specific needs of cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. It highlights the importance for health professionals to consider factors impacting chemotherapy patients' QoL. However, a limitation is that the study only included patients from one centre, potentially limiting generalizability. Also, due to time constraints, the study only followed up on the first three chemotherapy cycles. Stage 4 cancer patients, who are often in palliative care, were excluded due to the self-administered questionnaire's nature, which could pose participation challenges. Despite these limitations, the study underscores the significance of counselling for breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. The findings demonstrate the value of implementing counselling interventions to consistently monitor and enhance QoL during treatment.

CONCLUSION

The newly developed counselling module was effective in improving the QoL among breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy at the IKN. Notably, this study marks one of the pioneering efforts in Malaysia, as it evaluates the effectiveness of repetitive chemotherapy counselling conducted by pharmacists among breast cancer patients. The outcomes of this study hold significant value and relevance for breast cancer patients, as they present a way to uphold QoL throughout the chemotherapy treatment. Due to that, it is suggested to propose repetitive counselling sessions by pharmacists during the treatment of cancer patients, with the objective of enhancing their QoL both during and after the chemotherapy treatment.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to extend our sincere gratitude to everyone who has participated in this study. We would like to also thank the Director General of Health Malaysia for his permission to publish this article.

Ethical Approval - NMRR-20-3209-54195 (IIR)

Conflict of Interest: The authors assert that there are no conflicts of interest associated with the publication of this paper

Self-sponsored study.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization (WHO). Global Health Observatory. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 [cited 2024 Feb]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/breast-cancer
- World Health Organization (WHO). GLOBOCAN 2020: World Fact Sheet. International Agency for Research on Cancer. [cited Feb 2024] Available from https://gco.iarc.who.int/media/ globocan/factsheets/populations/900-world-fact-sheet.pdf
- Azizah AM, Hashimah B, Nirmal K, Siti Zubaidah AR, Puteri NA, Nabihah A, et al. Malaysia National Cancer Registry Report (MNCR) 2012-2016. Putrajaya: National Cancer Registry Department, National Cancer Institute, Ministry of Health, Malaysia; 2019. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.my/moh/ resources/Penerbitan/Laporan/Umum/2012-2016%20(MNCRR)/ MNCR_2012-2016_FINAL_(PUBLISHED_2019).pdf
 International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), World
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), World Health Organization. Malaysia. Source: Globocan 2022. Lyon: IARC; 2022 Dec. Available from: https://gco.iarc.who.int/media/ globocan/factsheets/populations/458-malaysia-fact-sheet.pdf
- Chan RJ, McCarthy AL, Devenish J, Sullivan KA, Chan A. Systematic review of pharmacologic and non-pharmacologic interventions to manage cognitive alterations after chemotherapy for breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2015; 51(4): 437– 50.
- 6. Waks AG, Winer EP. Breast cancer treatment: A review. JAMA 2019; 321(3): 288-300.
- Nadia H, Frédérique PL, Javier C, Gnant M, Houssami N, Poortmans P, et al. Breast cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2019; 5(1): 66.
- 8. Rakhshani T, Dada M, Kashfi SM, Kamyab A, Jeihooni AK. The effect of educational intervention on knowledge, attitude, and practice of women towards breast cancer screening. Int J Breast Cancer 2022; 2022: 5697739.
- Ng CG, Mohamed S, Kaur K, Sulaiman AH, Zainal NZ, Taib NA; MyBCC Study group. Perceived distress and its association with depression and anxiety in breast cancer patients. PLoS One 2017; 15; 12(3): e0172975.
- 10. Karlsen RV, Frederiksen K, Larsen MB, von Heymann-Horan AB, Appel CW, Christensen J, et al. The impact of a breast cancer diagnosis on health-related quality of life: a prospective comparison among middle-aged to elderly women with and without breast cancer. Acta Oncol 2016; 55(6): 720-7.
- 11. Fang SY, Cheng HR, Lin CY. Validation of the modified Chinese Cancer Survivor's Unmet Needs (CaSUN-C) for women with breast cancer. Psychooncology 2018; 27(1): 236-42.

- 12. Ahadzadeh AS, Sharif SP. (2018). Uncertainty and quality of life in women with breast cancer: Moderating role of coping styles. Cancer Nurs 41(6): 484-90.
- 13. Iddrisu M, Aziato L, Dedey F. Psychological and physical effects of breast cancer diagnosis and treatment on young Ghanaian women: A qualitative study. BMC Psychiatry 2020;20(1):353.
- 14. Boing L, Pereira GS, Araújo CDCR, Sperandio FF, Loch MDSG, Bergmann A, Borgatto AF, Guimarães ACA. (2019). Factors associated with depression symptoms in women after breast cancer. Revista de Saúde Pública 53, 30.
- 15. Kaminska M, Kubiatowski T, Ciszewski T, Czarnocki KJ, Makara-Studzińska M, Bojar I, et al. Evaluation of symptoms of anxiety and depression in women with breast cancer after breast amputation or conservation treated with adjuvant chemotherapy. Ann Agric Environ Med 2015; 22(1): 186-9.
- Kaminska, M., Ciszewski, T., Lopacka-Szatan, K., Miotła, P., & Starosławska, E. (2015). Breast cancer risk factors. Prz Menopauzalny 14(3): 196-202.
- 17. Rogers LQ, Courneya KS, Anton PM, Verhulst S, Vicari SK, Robbs RS, McAuley E. Effects of a multicomponent physical activity behavior change intervention on fatigue, anxiety, and depressive symptomatology in breast cancer survivors: Randomized trial. Psychooncology 2017; 26(11): 1901-6.
- Tsaras K, Papathanasiou IV, Mitsi D, Veneti A, Kelesi M, Zyga S, Fradelos EC. Assessment of depression and anxiety in breast cancer patients: Prevalence and associated factors. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2018; 19(6).
- 19. Periasamy U, Mohd Sidik S, Rampal L, Fadhilah SI, Akhtari-Zavare M, Mahmud R. Effect of chemotherapy counselling by pharmacists on quality of life and psychological outcomes of oncology patients in Malaysia: a randomized control trial. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2017; 15: 1-10.
- 20. Periasamy U, Sherina MS, Akhtari-Zavare M, Rampal L, Ismail SIF, Mahmud R. Effects of counselling on quality of life among Cancer patients in Malaysia: a randomized controlled trial. Iran J Public Health 2020; 49(10): 1902.
- 21. Bellver-Pérez A, Peris-Juan C, Santaballa-Beltrán A. Effectiveness of therapy group in women with localized breast cancer. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2019; 19(2): 107-14.

- 22. Lan B, Lv D, Yang M, Sun X, Zhang L, Ma F. Psychological distress and quality of life in Chinese early-stage breast cancer patients throughout chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Center 2022; 2(3): 155-61.
- 23. Belete AM, Alemagegn A, Mulu AT, Yazie TS, Bewket B, Asefa A, Shiferaw WS. Prevalence of depression and associated factors among adult cancer patients receiving chemotherapy during the era of COVID-19 in Ethiopia: Hospital-based cross-sectional study. PLoS One 2022; 17(6): e0270293.
- 24. Naser AY, Hameed AN, Mustafa N, Alwafi H, Dahmash EZ, Alyami HS, Khalil H. Depression and anxiety in patients with cancer: a cross-sectional study. Front Psychol 2021; 12: 1067.
- 25. Krebber AMH, Buffart LM, Kleijn G, Riepma IC, De Bree R, Leemans CR, et al. Prevalence of depression in cancer patients: a meta-analysis of diagnostic interviews and self-report instruments. Psychooncology 2014; 23(2): 121-30.
- 26. Jafari A, Goudarzian AH, Nesami MB. Depression in women with breast cancer: a systematic review of cross-sectional studies in Iran. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2018; 19(1): 1.
- 27. Guo Z, Tang HY, Li H, Tan SK, Feng KH, Huang YC, et al. The benefits of psychosocial interventions for cancer patients undergoing radiotherapy. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2013; 11(1): 1-12.
- Vimala G. Effectiveness of counselling on depression among cancer patients admitted in Pravara rural hospital, Loni (Bk). JKIMSU 2012; 1(2): 133-6.
- Ibrahim NA, Björnsdottir I, Al Alwan AS, Honore PH. Insights about health-related quality of life in cancer patients indicate demands for better pharmaceutical care. J Oncol Pharm Pract 2014; 20(4): 270-7.
- 30. Tanaka K, Hori A, Tachi T, Osawa T, Nagaya K, Makino T, et al. Impact of pharmacist counselling on reducing instances of adverse events that can affect the quality of life of chemotherapy outpatients with breast cancer. J Pharm Health Care Sci. 2018; 4: 1-14

A cross-sectional study on the second victim experience and support at Sarawak General Hospital: A tertiary public hospital in Borneo Island, Malaysia

Alex Ren Jye Kim, MHA¹, Yoon Khee Hon, BPharm², Catherina Guan, BSc³, Wei Hong Lai, PhD³, Mohamad Adam Bujang, PhD³, Sharlyn Peter, MD¹, Zubalqiah Zulkifli, MHLM¹, Nur Azziatul Ain Mohd Arif, MSc³, Shirin Hui Tan, BPharm³, Sing Yee Khoo, MBBS³, Priscilla Bartholomew, BSc¹, Josephine Senok, DN¹

¹Sarawak General Hospital, Ministry of Health Malaysia, Kuching, Sarawak, Malaysia, ²Institute for Clinical Research, National Institutes of Health (NIH), Ministry of Health Malaysia, Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia, ³Clinical Research Centre, Sarawak General Hospital, Ministry of Health Malaysia, Kuching, Sarawak, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Second victim experience (SVE) refers to the emotional and psychological impact experienced by healthcare providers who are involved in patient safety incidents (PSIs). Despite growing awareness of patient safety in healthcare organizations, remedial actions often focus only on the first victim, the patient. Therefore, it is important to recognize and address the emotional and physical toll that PSIs to ensure the well-being of and to promote a culture of safety in healthcare settings. Hence, this study was initiated to determine the prevalence of SVE, assess symptoms related to SVE and evaluate the level of support needed by healthcare providers.

Materials and Methods: The Second Victim Experience and Support Tool for Recovery (SVEST-R) questionnaire was utilized to conduct an anonymous survey on the healthcare providers in Sarawak General Hospital (SGH) from August to October 2018.

Results: A total of 482 respondents participated in the survey and 46.1% of the respondents reported SVE following their involvement in PSIs. Notably, symptoms such as flashbacks, fear, and stress tend to persist for longer durations compared to other symptoms. It is worth noting that non-work-related support received the highest mean (medical doctors = 3.83; nurses = 3.70), indicating that respondents preferred to seek emotional support from their friends and families. Furthermore, nurses reported a significantly higher experience of absenteeism following PSIs than doctors (p=0.003). In addition, most respondents expressed a desire for discussion or counselling with a respected peer or supervisor following their involvement in PSIs.

Conclusion: Present study reported a relatively high prevalence of SVE among healthcare providers at SGH. Hence, proactive measures, including non-work related and supervisor support, are essential in facilitating their overall well-being and successful recovery.

KEYWORDS:

Patient safety incident, second victim, second victim experience, second victim phenomenon, support resource

INTRODUCTION

Fast-paced healthcare environments and complex systems often give rise to medical errors that can harm patients or, in severe cases, lead to fatalities.¹ Unintended or unexpected patient outcomes, commonly referred to as patient safety incidents (PSIs), are unavoidable in healthcare settings and may result in adverse outcomes not directly attributable to the patient's underlying condition.² Near misses, which are incidents that do not result in harm, are also considered PSIs. According to Reason's Swiss Cheese Model, PSIs are typically systemic rather than isolated events.³ Patients directly affected by PSIs are termed "first victims," while healthcare providers experiencing emotional distress from such events are considered "second victims," and healthcare organizations suffering reputational and operational consequences are identified as "third victims".⁴

Despite growing recognition of patient safety within healthcare organizations, interventions often focus solely on protecting patients while neglecting the profound impact on healthcare providers.⁵ Second Victim Experience (SVE), a concept first described by Wu in 2000 ⁶, highlights the emotional and physical toll on healthcare providers involved in PSIs.⁶ These individuals may experience diminished confidence, stress, and burnout, which can impair their professional performance.^{7,8} Although research has broadened the understanding of SVE, studies reveal that over two-thirds of healthcare providers experience it during their careers, yet fewer than a third receive institutional support.^{9,10} Addressing the needs of these providers is crucial to fostering resilience, ensuring their well-being, and promoting a culture of safety.

Globally, prompt emotional support and structured debriefing techniques have shown promise in mitigating the impact of SVE.^{11,12} In Malaysia, limited data exist on the

This article was accepted: 22 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Alex Ren Jye Kim Email: alexkimsgh@gmail.com

prevalence and symptoms of SVE, particularly in tertiary public hospitals. Sarawak General Hospital (SGH), a major tertiary hospital in Kuching, Malaysia, presents a unique setting to explore this issue due to its diverse patient population and resource constraints. Previous studies have identified gaps in SGH's patient safety culture, emphasizing the need for enhanced resources and training.¹³ This study aims to determine the prevalence of SVE, assess its symptoms, and evaluate support needs among healthcare providers using the validated Second Victim Experience and Support Tool for Recovery (SVEST-R).¹⁴ Findings will provide critical insights into improving patient safety and healthcare quality in Malaysia, advocating for targeted interventions, policies, and research to support affected healthcare providers and ultimately enhance patient care outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design & study participants

A cross-sectional study via a paper-based, self-administered questionnaire was conducted in SGH with approximately 4,568 staff and 995 beds, from August to October 2018. Convenience sampling was employed due to challenges to openly recruiting healthcare providers who have encountered PSIs, as there are perceptions that PSIs reflect a lack of competency and hinder open discussion about such experiences.¹⁵ In addition, this exploratory study invited only medical doctors or nurses providing direct patient care in SGH. Sample size was calculated using an overall probability of the prevalence of second victims (p = 0.5), probability of the first type error (alpha = 0.05) and the precision (d = 0.05). Hence, the required sample size was 384.¹⁶

Study instrument

The distributed questionnaire comprised three sections namely, (1) sociodemographic characteristics which include profession, gender, age, ethnicity, education level and occupational tenure; (2) SVEST-R; and (3) the desired forms of support by the second victim. The SVEST-R is a validated instrument that consists of 29 items and seven dimensions to measure SVE and support received. The seven dimensions assess the desirability of different forms of support needed which includes psychological distress, physical distress, colleagues' support, supervisors' support, organizations' support, non-work-related support, and professional selfefficacy. Additionally, there are two outcomes measured by instrument, namely turnover intentions and the absenteeism. Participants were to respond using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly do not desire) to 5 (strongly desire). Burlison et al. state that the higher a score is for a specific dimension, the greater it indicates in terms of the level of psychological distress, physical distress, a decreased level of self-efficacy, and a perceived lack of support.¹⁷ In addition, the desired forms of support were rated using the 5-point Likert scale, where the desired options are 5 (strongly desired) or 4 (desired), 3 (neutral) represents the neutral option, and the not desired options are 2 (not desired) or 1 (strongly not desired).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22.0. Standard

descriptive statistics were used to summarize the demographic data by using counts with percentages for categorical variables and means with standard deviations (SD) for the scores from SVEST-R were regarded as the outcome variables. The p value was determined by one-sample independent t-tests. All calculated p values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Ethical consideration

This study was registered with National Medical Research Register (NMRR) with registration number NMRR-18-1953-43147 and ethical approval from Medical Research and Ethics Committee (MREC) was obtained prior to the recruitment of study subject/participant.

RESULTS

Demographic characteristics

The survey had a total of 482 respondents, surpassing the minimum requirement of 384 to account for non-response. Majority of the respondents were in the age group of 26 to 30 years (n=169, 35.1%), while 82% of the respondents were nurses (n=395) (Table I). The respondents in this study represented a diverse range of ethnic backgrounds, including Chinese, Malay, Indian, Iban, Bidayuh, and others. The largest ethnic group was Malay, accounting for 31.7% of the total respondents (n=153). Additionally, the highest education attainment of the respondents varied, spanning from diplomas to Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degrees, encompassing specialty trainings such as post-basic and subspecialty certifications. The majority of respondents (47.3%) held a diploma, which is the minimum qualification required for nurses in Malaysia. The occupational tenure of the respondents also varied, ranging from less than one year to over twenty years; with the majority of respondents having an occupational tenure of one to five years (n=152, 31.5%).

Symptoms and duration of second victim experience

The symptoms and duration of second victim experience varies among respondents. Present finding shows the 19 most commonly associated symptoms with SVE and their corresponding duration which can vary from as short as 24 hours to over a year (Figure 1). These symptoms encompass a spectrum of severity, ranging from mild manifestations like feelings of shame to more severe effects such as burnout or leaving their profession. Notably, symptoms such as hypervigilant, flashbacks, fear, and stress tend to persist for longer durations compared to other symptoms. Present findings corroborated with the study by Vanhaect et al. where the most common symptoms that bothered second victims were hypervigilance, flashbacks, and fear.18 In addition, 40 to 50% of the respondents had experienced more severe symptoms such as intention to leave a discipline or profession, wanting to move to another organisation or even fear of losing their job. The impact of these symptoms may be influenced by the severity of PSIs, which could explain the variability in durations observed.19

Prevalence of SVE and degree of harm in the PSI

Present finding shows that the prevalence of SVE among medical doctors and nurses was 46.1% (n=222) (Table II) which corroborated with study conducted by Mayo Clinic,

Items	n=482 (%)	_
Profession		
Doctor	87 (18)	
Nurse	395 (82)	
Gender		
Male	76 (15.8)	
Female	406 (84.2)	
Age range		
20-25	27 (5.6)	
26-30	169 (35.1)	
31-35	100 (20.7)	
36-40	67 (13.9)	
41-45	63 (13.1)	
46-50	27 (5.6)	
51 and older	29 (6)	
Ethnicity		
Malay	153 (31.7)	
Chinese	78 (16.2)	
Indian	20 (4.1)	
Iban	98 (20.3)	
Bidayuh	102 (21.2)	
Othersa	31 (6.4)	
Education level		
Diploma	228 (47.3)	
Diploma with post-basic qualifications	132 (27.4)	
Degree	97 (20.1)	
Master	21 (4.4)	
Master (with sub-specialty)	2 (0.4)	
PhD	2 (0.4)	
Occupational tenure (year)		
< 1	9 (1.9)	
1-5	152 (31.5)	
6-10	125 (25.9)	
11-15	65 (13.5)	
16-20	64 (13.3)	
20 and above	67 (13.9)	

Table I: Socio-demographic characteristics of respondents

°Others include the minority ethnic groups such as Kenyah, Lun Bawang and Kelabit.

Table II: Prevalence of SVE and degree of harm in the PSIs

Prevalence of SVE and degree of harm	Doctors	Nurses	Total
	n	n	n (%)
Ever felt like a second victim after PSI			
No	46	214	260 (53.9)
Yes	41	181	222 (46.1)
Degree of harm in the PSIa			
No harm	22	138	160 (72.1)
Temporary harm	13	37	50 (22.5)
Permanent harm	2	2	4 (1.8)
Fatal harm/Death	4	4	8 (3.6)

^aDegree of harm in the PSI among respondents who answered "Yes"

United States where the prevalence was reported at 47.8%.¹⁸ In addition, other studies found that healthcare providers are likely to experience PSIs at least once in their careers with varying percentages, ranging from 10.4% to 30%.²⁰⁻²²

Domain descriptive findings from SVEST-R

Present survey findings reported a higher mean score for psychological distress (medical doctors = 3.35; nurses = 3.22) than physical distress (Table III). Psychosomatic symptoms such as sleep disturbances and appetite change are physical symptoms that are caused or exacerbated by psychological factors. Physical distress may arise because of the toll that the SVE takes on the individual's overall health and resilience.

Desired forms of support by the second victim

Second victim support opinions desirability by respondents is presented using the 7 survey items in Table IV. Findings from Table IV shows that 53.5% of the respondents desired to discuss the event with their manager or supervisor, and only 15.6% did not desire this option (mean = 3.46, SD =1.06).

Original Article

SVEST Measuresa	uresa De		Measuresa Doctor (n=87)			Nurse	(n=395)	P-value ^₅
	No.of items	n (%) for mean score ≥ 4	Group mean (SD)	n (%) for mean score ≥ 4	Group mean (SD)			
Dimensionc								
1) Psychological distress	4	30 (34.5)	3.35 (0.90)	116 (29.4)	3.22 (0.87)	0.225		
2) Physical distress	4	23 (26.4)	3.01 (0.98)	107 (27.1)	3.06 (0.88)	0.666		
3) Colleague support	4	23 (26.4)	3.44 (0.65)	134 (33.9)	3.53 (0.67)	0.253		
4) Suçervisor support	4	21 (24.1)	3.47 (0.49)	87 (22.0)	3.38 (0.61)	0.159		
5) Institutional support	3	21 (24.1)	3.23 (0.71)	117 (29.6)	3.37 (0.66)	0.073		
6) Non-work-related support	2	58 (66.7)	3.83 (0.76)	264 (66.8)	3.70 (0.77)	0.171		
7) Professional self-efficacy	4	15 (17.2)	3.13 (0.64)	84 (21.3)	3.10 (0.73)	0.694		
Outcomed								
8) Turn-over intention	2	22 (25.3)	3.09 (0.89)	94 (23.8)	2.96 (0.89)	0.229		
9) Absenteeism	2	11 (12.6)	2.59 (0.96)	89 (22.5)	2.92 (0.89)	0.003		

Table III: SVEST dimensions and outcome variables

^aThe respondent's score for each dimension or outcome was defined as the mean of 2–4 items each rated on a 5-point scale of 1 = strongly disagree and 5 = strongly agree.

^bP-value is determined by one-sample independent t-tests.

A higher score for each specific dimension represents experiencing more psychological distress, more physical distress, decreased professional selfefficacy, and a greater degree to which support is perceived as inadequate.

dA higher score for each specific outcome represents more turnover intention and absenteeism.

Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; SVEST, Second Victim Experience and Support Tool.

Table IV: Second victim support opinions desirability by respondents

Su	rvey Item	Des	sire	Not d	lesire	Neutral		Mean	SD
		n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)		
1)	The ability to immediately take away from my unit for a little while	162	(33.6)	161	(33.4)	159	(33.0)	2.94	1.18
2)	A specified peaceful location that is available to recover and recompose after one of these types of events	196	(40.7)	121	(25.1)	165	(34.2)	3.15	1.12
3)	A respected peer to discuss the details of what happened	242	(50.2)	87	(18.0)	153	(31.7)	3.37	1.02
4)	An employee assistance program that can provide free counselling to employees outside of work	225	(46.7)	97	(20.1)	160	(33.2)	3.30	1.12
5)	A discussion with my manager or supervisor about the event	258	(53.5)	75	(15.6)	149	(30.9)	3.46	1.06
6)	The opportunity to schedule a time with a counsellor at my hospital to discuss the event	217	(45.0)	107	(22.2)	158	(32.8)	3.23	1.12
7)	A confidential way to get in touch with someone 24 hours a day to discuss how my experience may be affecting me	222	(46.1)	107	(22.2)	153	(31.7)	3.26	1.16

Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation

DISCUSSION

Prevalence of SVE and degree of harm in the PSI

Present findings depict a significantly higher proportion of nurses who experienced SVE compared to doctors which could be attributed to the fact that nurses typically spend more time at the bedside, providing direct care and interacting closely with patients. Nurses close proximity with the patients makes them more likely to witness adverse events or errors first-hand, thus intensify feelings of guilt, self-doubt, and responsibility.²⁰⁻²² Furthermore, it is worth noting that nursing is a predominantly female profession, while the medical field is relatively gender-balanced in Malaysia. Gender disparity between the medical doctors and nurses could contribute to differences in SVE as female nurses may experience more emotional distress, guilt, and self-blame after adverse events.

Findings from this survey also shows that 72.1% (n=160) of the respondents were involved in PSI without any harm to patients because healthcare providers need adhere to ethical principles and have a duty to provide safe and effective care. However, when PSIs occurs, healthcare providers may question whether they could have prevented the incident or if their actions were in line with their professional obligations. Regardless of patient harm, moral distress and ethical uncertainties can contribute to the SVE.

There was a higher proportion of respondents (3.6%) who admitted they had been involved in fatal PSIs as compared to PSIs resulting in permanent harm (1.8%). Fatal harm or death PSIs could have a potentially detrimental effect on the second victim such that having an ingrained memory of a past event in question can make a healthcare providers inculcate a tendency to minimise it in the future, which



Fig. 1: Symptoms and durations of second victim experience in the aftermath of a patient safety incident (Note: Results were based on 222 respondents (of the 482 respondents) who answered the question about whether they felt like a second victim after a patient safety incident)

might invariably affect decision-making.^{23,24} Healthcare providers may even refuse to accept similar patients because of that inculcated fear, which can be considered as "negative defensive medicine".²⁵

Domain descriptive findings from SVEST-R

Interestingly, respondents' professional self-efficacy was not significantly affected by the occurrence of PSIs to the same extent as psychological and physical distress. Present finding highlights the importance of identifying which stressor category might have a severe impact on respondents' professional self-efficacy in the event of a medical error, and of taking appropriate measures to minimise the impact of these stressors and focus on addressing psychological and physical distress rather than professional self-efficacy. Therefore, it is essential that all healthcare providers are equipped with high resilience, the capacity to manage with stress and stressors within an environment and the ability to interact in a way to promote personal well-being.²⁶

In addition, findings reported in Table III shows that nonwork-related support received the highest mean (medical doctors = 3.83; nurses = 3.70), indicating that respondents preferred to seek emotional support from friends and families. Whereas the mean for colleague support (medical doctors = 3.44; nurses = 3.53), supervisor support (medical doctors = 3.47; nurses = 3.38), and institutional support (medical doctors = 3.23; nurses = 3.37) received lower mean scores. Only 24.1% of medical doctors and 29.6% of nurses expressed a desire for support that could be offered by the hospital. Therefore, the SVEST-R tool is important in evaluating the quality of support resources for improvement within the organisation and offering site-specific preferred support options. Second victim tend to have an intention to turn-over and be absent from work if support is perceived as inadequate and SVE occurs.²⁷ Present findings show that a greater proportion of respondents (25.3% of medical doctors and 23.8% of nurses) reported having turn-over intentions, while 12.6% of medical doctors and 22.5% of nurses reported the possibility of being absent from work as a result of SVE. Healthcare providers who experienced being a second victim often feel as though they let down the patient and often question their career path. In addition, healthcare providers that experienced SVE have even decided to leave their chosen profession, and tragically, a few have resorted to suicide as a means to escape their anguish. To alleviate the suffering and facilitate the recovery of second victims, it is vital for healthcare organisations to establish organised support systems, especially for PSI with severe or fatal outcomes.²⁸

However, there were no significant statistical differences between medical doctors and nurses for all dimensions and outcomes, except for absenteeism. Nurses reported a significantly higher experience of absenteeism following PSIs than medical doctors (p=0.003). This is consistent with the finding from this study in which nurses experienced a higher degree of SVE than doctors. Nurses may be more susceptible to absenteeism associated with SVE because of proximity to patients and greater emotional attachment. As a result, they may feel a greater sense of personal responsibility for adverse events or patient outcomes, leading to increased emotional distress. Such emotional distress experienced by nurses may contribute to increased absenteeism.²⁹

Desired forms of support by the second victim

Present findings corroborated with a study by Burlison et al.²⁹ such that the most desired second victim support option was

"a respected peer to discuss the details of what happened." Gathering input from healthcare providers on their desired forms of support can furnish tailored guidance for augmenting provisions for individuals who have experienced SVE. Moreover, healthcare providers who interact with respected peers or supervisors feel valued and cared for, which assists them in moving forward.²⁹

Meanwhile, the least desirable option of support is item 1 which is ('the ability to immediately take away from my unit for a little while') with 33.6% of respondents desired, and 33.4% of respondents did not desire this support item (mean = 2.94, SD =1.18). The mean for other support items was higher than the neutral score of 3. Senior management and intermediate managers must be committed to building a non-punitive culture in response to errors, thereby encouraging reporting and learning from errors to prevent recurrence.³⁰

Coping strategies and recommendations

The emotional impact of a PSI and the appropriate coping strategies to mitigate it have a dynamic relationship which can evolve according to varying circumstances. A mistake can elicit a specific emotional response, which may prompt a second victim to choose a particular coping strategy that can, in turn, elicit another response. Therefore, it is crucial to select appropriate coping strategies to overcome the impact of SVE, as dysfunctional coping strategies can adversely affect health worker well-being, reduce self-confidence, and increase fear of making mistakes, hence potentially leading to increased risk for future PSIs.31,32 Literature reveals two main coping strategies: the problem-focused strategy and the emotion-focused strategy. These are crucial for second victims to develop an effective coping strategy by dealing with the error, analysing it, and learning from it, either alone or in collaboration with colleagues.33,34

Debriefing sessions have been identified as beneficial for assisting second victims to cope with the emotional impact and demands of their daily workload. Debriefing is a discourse that focuses on sharing and analysing information after an incident occurred. It may follow a simulated or actual experience and provides learners with a forum to reflect on and learn from their mistakes.³⁵ The process of debriefing can be initiated promptly following a PSI. Debriefing sessions may involve the participation of a skilled facilitator. However, it is also possible for teams to conduct self-debriefing exercises with the aid of debriefing scripts and cognitive aids.³⁶ During debriefing sessions, second victims could analyse the PSIs that happened and evaluate their actions and clinical decision-making.

A supportive and non-punitive culture within the healthcare setting is recommended to help mitigate the severity of SVE.^{37,38} Such culture fosters learning and continuous improvement, as well as reducing the burden of blame and self-doubt on second victims. In addition, leadership plays a crucial role in creating and sustaining these cultures. Leaders should demonstrate a commitment to patient safety, learning, and the well-being of healthcare providers by promoting a blame-free environment, encouraging open communication, and recognizing the importance of psychological support. Leaders who prioritise the well-being

of their staff contribute to a culture where second victims feel supported, valued, and empowered to engage in error prevention and recovery processes.

Peer responders can assist and facilitate the second victims to effective psychological first aid, according to the experience of a group at Johns Hopkins.³⁹ The peer responders are professional colleagues who, in most cases, are the first to give the second victims the support they need, and hence these peer responders should ideally be trained in psychological first aid. In addition, it is important for experienced and senior healthcare providers to render appropriate guidance to the junior healthcare providers when discharging their services to provide optimal patient care.

Limitations

First, the causal effect relationship could not be established due to the nature of a cross-sectional study. Second, convenience sampling can be liable to selection bias because it does not offer representativeness. Third, it is also possible that the response rate of this self-administered questionnaire would be negatively impacted by potential respondents' fear of admitting that something went wrong, and of the possible repercussions, since blame culture is not uncommon in Malaysia. Lastly, we did not conduct a multivariate analysis since this study is mostly exploratory and is intended to generate hypotheses. This study serves a basis for further research in Malaysia, hence both clinical significance and statistical significance shall not be within the remit of our study.

CONCLUSIONS

This study demonstrated a relatively high prevalence of SVE among healthcare providers in a tertiary public hospital in Borneo Island. Furthermore, present findings highlight the importance of implementing proactive measures to support second victims and underscores the significance of non-work related support, as well as supervisor support. These endeavours play a vital role in safeguarding the well-being and sustained effectiveness of healthcare providers, ultimately benefiting both individuals and the quality of care provided to patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank the Director General of Health Malaysia for his permission to publish this article.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- 1. Great Britain. Department of Health. An organisation with a memory: report of an expert group on learning from adverse events in the NHS. Stationery Office, 2000.
- 2. Shin S, Won M. Trend analysis of patient safety incidents and their associated factors in Korea using National Patient Safety Report Data (2017~2019). Int J Environ Res Public Health; 18. Epub ahead of print 2 August 2021.

- 3. Reason J. Human error: models and management. BMJ 2000; 320: 768-70.
- 4. Mira JJ, Lorenzo S, Carrillo I, et al. Interventions in health organisations to reduce the impact of adverse events in second and third victims. BMC Health Serv Res 2015; 15: 341.
- 5. Wu AW, Steckelberg RC. Medical error, incident investigation and the second victim: doing better but feeling worse? BMJ Qual Saf 2012; 21: 267-70.
- Wu AW. Medical error: the second victim. BMJ 2000; 320: 726– 727.
- Mira JJ, Carrillo I, Lorenzo S, et al. The aftermath of adverse events in Spanish primary care and hospital health professionals. BMC Health Serv Res; 15. Epub ahead of print 9 April 2015.
- 8. Schrøder K, Jørgensen JS, Lamont RF, et al. Blame and guilt a mixed methods study of obstetricians' and midwives' experiences and existential considerations after involvement in traumatic childbirth. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2016; 95: 735-45.
- 9. Edrees H, Connors C, Paine L, et al. Implementing the RISE second victim support programme at the Johns Hopkins Hospital: A case study. BMJ Open; 6. Epub ahead of print 1 September 2016.
- Scott SD, Hirschinger LE, Cox KR, et al. The natural history of recovery for the healthcare provider "second victim" after adverse patient events. BMJ Qual Saf 2009; 18: 325–330.
- 11. O'Donovan R, Ward M, De Brún A, et al. Safety culture in health care teams: A narrative review of the literature. J Nurs Manag 2019; 27: 871-83.
- 12. Rinaldi C, Leigheb F, Vanhaecht K, et al. Becoming a 'second victim' in health care: Pathway of recovery after adverse event. Rev Calid Asist 2016; 31 Suppl 2: 11-9.
- Kim ARJ, Chin ZH , Peter S, et al. Hospital survey on patient safety culture in Sarawak General Hospital: A cross sectional study. Med J Malaysia. 2019; 74(5): 385-8.
- 14. Burlison JD, Scott SD, Browne EK, et al. The second victim experience and support tool: validation of an organizational resource for assessing second victim effects and the quality of support resources. J Patient Saf 2017; 13: 93-102.
- Lee W, Pyo J, Jang SG, et al. Experiences and responses of second victims of patient safety incidents in Korea: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res; 19. Epub ahead of print 6 February 2019.
- 16. Shuangjiang Z, Huanhuan H, Ling X, et al. Second victim experience and support desire among nurses working at regional levels in China. J Nurs Manag 2022; 30: 767-76.
- 17. Burlison JD, Quillivan RR, Scott SD, et al. The effects of the second victim phenomenon on work-related outcomes: connecting self-reported caregiver distress to turnover intentions and absenteeism. J Patient Saf 2021; 17: 195.
- 18. Vanhaecht K, Seys D, Schouten L, et al. Duration of second victim symptoms in the aftermath of a patient safety incident and association with the level of patient harm: a cross-sectional study in the Netherlands. BMJ Open 2019; 9: e029923.
- 19. Engel KG, Rosenthal M, Sutcliffe KM. Residents' responses to medical error: coping, learning, and change. Acad Med 2006; 81: 86-93.
- Lander LI, Connor JA, Shah RK, et al. Otolaryngologists' responses to errors and adverse events. Laryngoscope 2006; 116: 1114-20.

- 21. Scott SD, Hirschinger LE, Cox KR, et al. Caring for our own: deploying a systemwide second victim rapid response team. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2010; 36: 233-40.
- 22. Abd Elwahab S, Doherty E. What about doctors? The impact of medical errors. Surgeon 2014; 12: 297-300.
- 23. Leape LL. Error in Medicine. JAMA 1994; 272: 1851-1857.
- 24. Berlin L. Medical errors, malpractice, and defensive medicine: an ill-fated triad. Diagnosis (Berl) 2017; 4: 133-9.
- 25. Wu AW, Folkman S, McPhee SJ, et al. How house officers cope with their mistakes. West J Med. 1993; 159: 565-9.
- Polk L V. Toward a middle-range theory of resilience. ANS Adv Nurs Sci 1997; 19: 1-13.
- 27. Burlison JD, Quillivan RR, Scott SD, et al. The effects of the second victim phenomenon on work-related outcomes: connecting self-reported caregiver distress to turnover intentions and absenteeism. J Patient Saf 2021; 17: 195.
- 28. Ozeke O, Ozeke V, Coskun O, et al. Second victims in health care: current perspectives. Adv Med Educ Pract 2019; 10: 593-603.
- Stone M. Second victim support: nurses' perspectives of organizational support after an adverse event. Journal of Nursing Administration 2020; 50: 521-5.
- Zhang X, Li Q, Guo Y, et al. From organisational support to second victim-related distress: role of patient safety culture. J Nurs Manag 2019; 27: 1818-25.
- 31. Patient safety curriculum guide : multi-professional edition. World Health Organization, 2011.
- Busch IM, Moretti F, Purgato M, et al. Dealing with adverse events: a meta-analysis on second victims' coping strategies. J Patient Saf 2020; 16: E51-E60.
- 33. Aasland OG. Impact of feeling responsible for adverse events on doctors' personal and professional lives: the importance of being open to criticism from colleagues. Qual Saf Health Care 2005; 14: 13-7.
- Chard R. How perioperative nurses define, attribute causes of, and react to intraoperative nursing errors. AORN J 2010; 91: 132-45.
- 35. Cho SJ. Debriefing in pediatrics. Korean J Pediatr 2015; 58: 47–51.
- Salik I, Paige JT. Debriefing the interprofessional team in medical simulation. StatPearls, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK554526/ (2023, accessed 30 June 2023).
- Cabilan CJ, Kynoch K. Experiences of and support for nurses as second victims of adverse nursing errors: a qualitative systematic review. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep 2017; 15: 2333-64.
- Quillivan RR, Burlison JD, Browne EK, et al. Patient safety culture and the second victim phenomenon: connecting culture to staff distress in nurses. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2016; 42: 377-84.
- Edrees H, Connors C, Paine L, et al. Implementing the RISE second victim support programme at the Johns Hopkins Hospital: A case study. BMJ Open; 6. Epub ahead of print 2016.
- 40. Nibbelink CW, Brewer BB. Decision-making in nursing practice: An integrative literature review. J Clin Nurs 2018; 27: 917-28.

Quantitative characterisation of carotid atherosclerotic plaque neovascularisation using contrast-enhanced ultrasound imaging: A feasibility study

Miao Tian, MBiomed (Eng)^{1,2}, Nasibah Mohamad, MMed (Radiology)^{1,3}, Xiaozhan Gao, MMed (Imaging)², Nur Hartini Mohd Taib, PhD^{1,3}

¹Department of Radiology, School of Medical Sciences, Health Campus, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia, ²Department of Ultrasound, The Second People's Hospital of Yichang, Yichang, Hubei Province, China, ³Department of Radiology, Hospital Pakar Universiti Sains Malaysia, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Health Campus, Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS), an in vivo imaging tool for evaluating intraplaque neovascularisation (IPN), is an increasingly researched marker of susceptible atherosclerotic plaque. This study aims to assess the feasibility of quantifying carotid IPN using CEUS and to identify and characterise the neovascularisation in carotid plaques. The hospital's ethical committee approved the study, and the informed individual consent form of CEUS was obtained from all patients before the examination.

Materials and Methods: Seventy-one patients with carotid atherosclerotic plaques (95 plaques) were studied on CEUS. Contrast enhancement in the plaque was evaluated with visual interpretation and quantitative analysis. The intraplaque neovascularisation (IPN) test was graded on a 3point scale. IPN was quantified using dedicated software for CEUS image analysis.

Results: It was found that the CEUS quantitative parameters were significantly different for plaques with varying types of echoes. The quantitative parameters also differed in soft, hard, and mixed plaques. The quantification of carotid IPN using CEUS was found feasible. The quantitative parameters measured from CEUS provide multiple references for carotid IPN of different echo types. This can help identify and monitor unstable atherosclerotic plaques.

Conclusion: CEUS has the potential to be an important tool in clinical application, specifically for diagnosing carotid atherosclerotic plaque features and vulnerability.

KEYWORDS:

Arteriosclerosis, Atherosclerotic plaques, Contrast-enhanced ultrasound, Contrast sensitivity, Neovascularisation

INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is characterised by the constriction of arteries due to lipid and calcium-forming plaques that impede the normal flow of oxygenated blood and increase the risk of cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction, stroke,

and transient ischemic attack.¹ The latest report shows that about 270 million people in China currently have carotid atherosclerosis, and 200 million have carotid artery plaques.² Neovascularisation, the growth of microvascular networks within plaques, plays a critical role in plaque vulnerability and increases the risk of rupture, leading to adverse cerebrovascular events.³ It has been established that plaque vulnerability and intraplague neovascularisation (IPN) are related to the progression of atherosclerotic disease. Neovascularisation is the emergence of functional microvascular networks perfused by red blood cells. The body promotes the growth of blood vessels to supply the tissue that forms within an arterial wall, plaques, by providing a place for these tissues to grow. Recent advances in contrastenhanced ultrasonography (CEUS) have demonstrated that ultrasound contrast agents allow for visualising these small microvasculature networks with a slow flow.¹

Invasive and non-invasive testing techniques are the primary categories of carotid plaque examination techniques. Ultrasound, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography angiography (CTA), digital subtraction angiography (DSA), and other techniques are used to assess carotid plaque. DSA is the "gold standard," but it is invasive, expensive, and uses ionising radiation. It also cannot evaluate the wall and plaque interior.4 CTA offers more intuitive images through three-dimensional reconstruction technology and is more sensitive to intra-plaque calcification. However, apart from its inability to detect neovascularisation in plaque, it also uses ionising radiation and there is a possibility of allergic reactions in patients due to the use of contrast material. Whereas MRI takes a long scanning time, as well as significantly impacted by motion and breathing artifacts. High-resolution magnetic resonance imaging (HRMRI) is time-consuming, expensive, not conducive to follow-up, and not suitable for some patients with non-MRI compatible metal implants. Carotid artery ultrasonography is currently the most commonly used clinical method to identify carotid plaques. CEUS uses microbubble contrast agents to reveal blood flow and neovascularisation in plaques. Fleiner et al.⁵ found a more significant occurrence of new capillaries in the plaques of symptomatic individuals by comparing 22 patients

This article was accepted: 23 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Nur Hartini Mohd Taib Email: nhartini@usm.my

displaying clinical symptoms with 27 patients having asymptomatic carotid atherosclerotic plaques. Contrast agents are restricted to the microvasculature and can enter the microvasculature network. Therefore, the appearance of microbubbles within the plaque is a manifestation of local neovascularisation. CEUS allows real-time, non-invasive observation of blood flow in plaques using sulphur hexafluoride microbubbles.

A study performed by Sedding et al.⁶ highlighted the connection between neovascularisation in the plaque and the risk of haemorrhage and inflammation, both of which are major contributors to ischaemic stroke. Vulnerable plaque, known as unstable plaque, is strongly associated with ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack (TIA).7 Intraplaque neovascularisation (IPN), characterised by weak, immature vessels, is a marker of plaque instability and increases the likelihood of rupture and bleeding.8 Routine ultrasound examination of the carotid artery can detect the thickness of arterial intima-media and the existence and size of the plaque. However, it cannot show the new blood vessels in the plaque well, and the density of new blood vessels in the plaque is closely related to the stability of the plaque. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) as intravascular tracers can display neovascularisation in plagues, making up for the shortcomings of conventional ultrasound examinations. CEUS is a new technique for evaluating neovascularisation in carotid plaques. Compared to traditional ultrasound diagnosis, CEUS technology significantly increases resolution sensitivity and specificity by enhancing dispersed echoes with contrast agents.9-10 CEUS can display micro-vessels and blood perfusion in real time, reflect the blood perfusion of the neovascular through the degree of contrast enhancement in carotid atherosclerotic plaque, and identify the density of neovascular enhancement in plaques. This study mainly aims to analyse the neovascularisation in carotid plaques with different types of echoes quantitatively based on current technology, CEUS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participant Recruitment

A total of 71 patients with carotid atherosclerotic plaques (95 plaques) who were diagnosed and treated in Yichang Second People's Hospital, Hubei, China, from May 2022 to May 2023, were selected as the study subjects. They comprised 42 males and 29 females; their ages ranged from 47 to 81 years, with a mean of 62.24±8.73 years. Subjects were selected based on the following inclusion and exclusion criteria.

The inclusion criteria are: 1) Carotid atherosclerotic plaque formation with a thickness \geq 1.2mm was found by ultrasonography; 2) Those aged \geq 30 years old. The decision to include patients 30 years old and above only was based on several key considerations. Firstly, there are low prevalence of carotid atherosclerotic plaque in young adults. Secondly, it is based on the institutional patient demographics in which our hospital, a specialized geriatric and chest pain centre, primarily serves an older patient population. As such, the majority of patients presenting to our institution for vascular evaluation are typically older than 30 years of age. Thirdly, we aimed to investigate the clinical implications of carotid plaque neovascularization in a group at higher risk for cardiovascular events, such as stroke and myocardial infarction. While it is acknowledged that early-onset atherosclerosis can occur, it is relatively rare and often associated with specific risk factors, such as familial hypercholestrolaemia or systemic inflammatory diseases. Given the low prevalence and distinct clinical presentation of early-onset disease, it was determined that the inclusion of younger patients would not significantly contribute to the primary objectives of this study.

Whereas the exclusion criteria are 1) Those who had cerebrovascular diseases in the past three months; 2) Those with complete occlusion of the common carotid artery or occlusion of the internal carotid artery; 3) Those with cardiac, pulmonary, and renal insufficiency. Cardiac insufficiency is defined as an ejection fraction (EF) of the left ventricle of less than 50%. Renal insufficiency is defined as elevated blood creatinine, elevated cystatin C, and decreased glomerular filtration rate on laboratory tests; Pulmonary insufficiency is defined as a ratio of first-second expiratory volume on exertion of less than 50 percent of the predicted value on pulmonary function testing; 4) Those who are allergic to ultrasound contrast agents; 5) Those with psychiatric disorders who are unable to complete the study; 6) Those who are pregnant or breastfeeding; 7) Those who have carotid plaque calcifications involving greater than 30% of plaque area. This study obtained approval from the Research Ethics Committee of Yichang Second People's Hospital, Hubei, China. All subjects were informed of the inspection process and signed the informed individual consent forms for the contrast-enhanced ultrasound before the examination.

Conventional US Imaging

An Aplio 500 ultrasound system, as shown in Figure 1 (Toshiba, Canon Medical Systems Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), was used with a high-frequency probe (frequency at 4 - 11MHz), and the mechanical index was set at 0.08, the frame frequency was 12 frames/second, the depth was around 3 - 5cm. During the examination, the individual was examined by lying in a supine position with the head turned 45 degrees to the contralateral side. The American Society of Echocardiography's consensus scanning procedure was used to acquire images.¹¹ The patient was positioned supine to evaluate both left and right carotid arteries, scanning from the common carotid artery through the carotid bifurcations with a focus on the internal and external carotid arteries on both sides using two-dimensional ultrasound.

Each anatomical region was assessed from a variety of angles. The gain and imaging depth were modified individually for each patient to achieve optimal ultrasound images. Plaques were thoroughly checked for presence on both sides. Three images with clear echoes of plaques from both the cross-sectional and longitudinal sections were selected to record the plaque's size, shape, position, echo, and edge, and the images were saved to the system. After the twodimensional images of the plaque were displayed, the probe was fixed on the plaque for local amplification, and the carotid intima-media thickness (IMT) and the length of the carotid artery plaque were measured. The target plaque was counted three times, and the average of three measurements was taken and recorded in the system as a primary measurement before CEUS.

CEUS Imaging

The CEUS imaging was performed using the same ultrasound system mentioned in the previous section. The carotid plaque CEUS examinations were performed by two diagnostic ultrasonographers who had each been trained in both ultrasound diagnosis work for more than ten years and CEUS for more than five years. They jointly confirmed the outcomes and reached a consensus on judgments. The diagnostic ultrasonographers were blinded to the history of all subjects, and they kept the subjects' information strictly confidential. Two Aplio 500 ultrasound systems of the same configuration were used for this study.

A freeze-dried powder contrast agent, SonoVue (Bracco Suisse SA, Milan, Italy), was employed, as shown in Figure 2A. Each bottle contains 59 mg of SF6 (sulfur hexafluoride) gas and 25 mg of freeze-dried powder. The contrast agent powder and 5 ml of normal saline were mixed into a suspension liquid, as shown in Figure 2B. Then, 2.4 ml of the suspension was aspirated and pushed into the patient's body through the cubital vein in 2 - 3 seconds using an 18-gauge intravenous cannula. Then, 5 ml of normal saline was injected to flush the injection channel. The contrast effect was observed within the carotid artery lumen 15 to 30 seconds following injection, allowing for the capture and preservation of high-quality contrast images for approximately 1 minute post-administration.

The area of interest was continuously imaged for approximately 90 seconds using the dual-screen contrast mode of two-dimensional ultrasound and CEUS. The images were saved for further analysis, as illustrated in Figure 3, and stored digitally in DICOM (Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine) format for later offline examination. The quantitative analysis software, specifically the Time Curve Analysis (TCA) function equipped with the ultrasound instrument, was used to generate a time-intensity curve (TIC); if multiple regions of interest were observed in the same patient, the interval between the second CEUS should be at least 15 minutes. Subjects were monitored for 30 minutes before they were allowed to leave in case any complications developed.

Observation Indicators

According to the contrast distribution in the plaque, the semiquantitative visual grading standard for intraplaque neovascularisation is based on the following rules¹²: Grade I: no enhancement, no microbubble contrast agent in the plaque; Grade II: a minor enhancement, a small amount of microbubble contrast agent in the plaque, see punctate, little flake-like enhancement; Grade III: massive enhancement, a large amount of microbubble contrast agent can be seen in the plaque.

Plaques were characterised by their appearance on standard ultrasound images. They were classified according to widely used criteria as follows¹³: (a) Soft plaques with echogenicity lower than that of the surrounding adventitia for over 80% of the plaque area, without acoustic shadowing; (b) Hard plaques with echogenicity equal to or greater than that of the

surrounding adventitia for over 80% of the plaque area, without acoustic shadowing; (c) Calcified plaques containing over 90% circumferential calcification and displaying as bright echoes within the plaque along with acoustic shadowing; (d) Mixed plaques containing less than 90% circumferential calcification or having associated echo-dense and anechoic regions occupying less than 80% of the plaque area.¹³ In this study, we enrolled subjects with soft, hard, and mixed plaques. Because calcified plagues with calcifications involving greater than 30% of plaque area are excluded as they are challenging to analyse by the time-intensity curve (TIC) quantitative assessment.

Then, for quantitative assessment, firstly, a stable continuous dynamic image was chosen. Next, the region of interest (ROI) was selected, with one ROI being placed in the plaque as the evaluation ROI and the other in the lumen as the corresponding match between the two. The plaque's border was traced following its shape to prevent other areas from being covered. A rectangular sampling frame placed in the middle of the carotid lumen where the plaque was located would be the reference area (intraluminal). Then, the timeintensity curve (TIC) was computed and produced by the software.

The main quantitative analysis parameters of TIC were the peak intensity (PI), baseline intensity (BI), enhancement intensity in the arterial lumen, and time to peak is the time from the start of intravenous injection of contrast agent to the time when the maximum intensity is reached in the region of interest (TTP), mean transit time (MTT), plaque enhancement intensity (EI) = PI - BI, Ratio value = EI/enhancement intensity in the arterial lumen. The EI parameter measures the SonoVue intravascular tracer's intensity variations between pre- and post-injections within the plaque ROI.

Statistical Analysis

In this study, data analysis was performed using SPSS 22.0 statistical software (IBM, USA). The normality of measurement data was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk method, and normally distributed data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Group comparisons were conducted using analysis of variance (ANOVA), and pairwise comparisons between groups were performed using the LSD method. Categorical data were presented as counts (percentages) and analysed using the chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. A two-tailed test was used, and differences were considered statistically significant at p<0.05.

RESULTS

A single carotid ultrasound and CEUS examination typically take around 30 minutes. The images of carotid plaque acquired through conventional ultrasound are depicted in Figure 3, while those obtained using CEUS are presented in Figure 4.

Among 71 patients with carotid atherosclerosis, 95 plaques were identified as more than 1.2 mm thick, including 46 soft plaques, 37 mixed plaques, and 12 hard plaques. The enhancement rates (Enhancement rate = (grade II + grade III)/total number of cases \times 100%) of plaques with different echo types were as follows: soft plaque contrast-enhancement

Groups	Numbers	Grade I	Grade II	Grade III	Enhancement rate	χ²	p-value
Soft plaques	46	2	16	28	95.7%*	13.291	<0.001
Mixed plaques	37	5	18	14	86.5%*		
Hard plaques	12	6	5	1	50.0%		

Table I: Semiquantitative visual grading standard for different plaque types and the enhancement rates

Note: Compared with the Hard plaques group, *p<0.05

Table II: Comparison of EI values for different plaque types

Plaque types	Soft plaque (n=46)	Hard plaque (n=12)	Mixed plaque (n=37)	F-value	p-value
El value (dB) P (compared with soft plaque) P (compared with hard plaque)	11.95±3.33*	5.47±1.36* <0.001	7.76±2.21* <0.001 0.013	38.540	<0.001

*Values are stated as mean ± standard deviation

Table III: Comparison of Ratio values for different plaque types

Plaque types	Soft plaque (n=46)	Hard plaque (n=12)	Mixed plaque (n=37)	F-value	p-value
Ratio value P (compared with soft plaque) P (compared with hard plaque)	0.53±0.18*	0.27±0.09* <0.001	0.32±0.11* <0.001 0.320	26.241	<0.001

*Values are stated as mean ± standard deviation

Table IV: Comparison of TTP values for different plaque types

Plaque types	Soft plaque (n=46)	Hard plaque (n=12)	Mixed plaque (n=37)	F-value	p-value
TTP (s) P (compared with soft plaque) P (compared with hard plaque)	18.28±1.98*	26.79±2.11* <0.001	9.44±1.69* <0.001 <0.001	453.039	<0.001

*Values are stated as mean ± standard deviation

Table V: Comparison of MTT values for different plaque types

Plaque types	Soft plaque (n=46)	Hard plaque (n=12)	Mixed plaque (n=37)	F-value	p-value
MTT (s) P (compared with soft plaque) P (compared with hard plaque)	7.65±1.43*	28.03±2.03* <0.001	22.81±3.02* <0.001 <0.001	659.229	<0.001

*Values are stated as mean ± standard deviation

accounted for 95.7%, mainly manifested as grade II enhancement and grade III enhancement, followed by mixed plaques (86.5%); hard plaques accounted for the least amount (50.0%), mainly showing grade I enhancement and grade II enhancement, as shown in Table I. Fisher's exact probability method was used, and the difference in enhancement rates between the three groups was statistically significant, with the Hard plaques group having a significantly lower enhancement rate than the other two groups (p<0.05).

Based on CEUS images, the quantitative parameter values of CEUS images were found to be different in soft, hard, and mixed plaques. The EI and Ratio values of soft plaques were significantly higher than those of hard plaques and mixed plaques (p<0.05); the TTP and MTT of hard plaques were significantly higher than those of soft plaques and mixed

plaques (p<0.05), the TTP of soft plaques was significantly higher than that of mixed plaques (p<0.05), the MTT of soft plaques was significantly lower than that of mixed plaques (p<0.05) as shown in Table II – V.

DISCUSSION

SonoVue has been demonstrated to be safe, as it does not become trapped in small blood vessel networks and does not spread across vascular or micro-vessel walls. There is no evidence of any adverse effects associated with SonoVue.¹⁴ In a 49,100 case study analysing the safety of adverse events with SonoVue, it was noted that SonoVue had a favourable safety profile, with a low incidence of adverse events, most of which were mild and of short onset and duration.¹⁵ In another study conducted on 502 children, Sonovue contrast was found to be safe, feasible, diagnostically reliable, and



Fig. 1: Canon Aplio 500 ultrasound system



- Fig. 2: Contrast agent SonoVue.
 - (A) Freeze-dried powder is a form of contrast agent stored in a bottle. (B) The contrast agent powder is mixed with normal saline.



Fig. 3: Conventional ultrasound of carotid mixed plaque.

(A) Two-dimensional ultrasound image of a mixed echogenic plaque in the longitudinal section of the internal carotid artery. (B) Colour Doppler image of the same mixed echogenic plaque in the longitudinal section of the internal carotid artery.



Fig. 4: Contrast-enhanced ultrasonography of carotid soft plaque.
(A) Longitudinal image of the common carotid artery shows an unobvious contrast agent in the soft plaque using the contrast mode. (B) A large amount of contrast agent (Red arrow) is seen inside the plaque of the longitudinal image of the common carotid artery using the dual-screen contrast mode of two-dimensional ultrasound and CEUS.

effective.¹⁶ Sulphur hexafluoride gas is mainly excreted from the body via respiration through the pulmonary circulation within 15 minutes of injection. In CEUS imaging, microbubbles exhibit a nonlinear response to ultrasound insonification due to their high compressibility and resonance, distinguishing them from tissue's linear response. This distinct behaviour allows for differentiation between tissue and microbubble responses.

Soft plaques are also called unstable plaques, prone to rupture, thrombosis, and myocardial infarction. Hard plaques are also called stable plaques, which are more durable than soft plaques and less prone to local rupture and thrombus formation. Mixed plaques are plaques that have the characteristics of soft plaques and hard plaques, presenting mixed echoes. Among the 95 plagues identified in our study, it was found that there were 46 soft plaques, 12 hard plaques, and 37 mixed plaques, indicating that there were relatively more unstable plaques in patients with carotid atherosclerosis. The distribution of CEUS enhancement grading of carotid plaques of different echo types showed that the lower the plaque echo, the more obvious the CEUS enhancement was, and the proportion of contrast enhancement in soft plaques was the highest, accounting for 95.7%, with grade II and III enhancement as the major part; mixed plaques were the second, with a contrast enhancement of 86.5%, and hard plaques accounted for the lowest proportion of enhancement, accounting for 50.0%, with grade I and II as the major part. The difference in the distribution of CEUS enhancement grades of carotid plaques of different echo types was statistically significant (p<0.05).

This also shows that soft and mixed plaques are more likely to be enhanced by CEUS, while hard plaques are less likely to be enhanced. This is because the interior of soft plaques is mainly composed of lipids and cholesterol, while the interior of hard plaques is mainly composed of calcification. Lipid necrosis can enhance inflammatory activity within atherosclerotic plaques, thereby inducing the formation of new blood vessels. Soft and mixed plaques have more blood vessels than hard plaques, which greatly increases the vulnerability of plaques. Therefore, such plaques need further examination to clarify their stability. Accurately assessing the nature of plaques can better guide the dosage of drugs, this is of great clinical value.

The results of preclinical studies have shown that there is a direct relationship between plague enhancement and neovascularisation,¹⁷ which has also been confirmed in clinical practice. Giannoni et al. (2009) found that plaque intraplaque enhancement was associated with an increase in small immature micro-vessels (20 – 30 mm diameter).¹⁸ The ultrasonic contrast agent caused a rise in the intra-plaque signal intensity. In our study, the enhanced intensity of CEUS for soft, mixed and hard plaques was (11.95±3.33) dB, (7.76±2.21) dB, and (5.47±1.36) dB, respectively. The enhanced intensity ratios were 0.53±0.18, 0.32±0.11, and 0.27±0.09, respectively. The EI and Ratio values of soft plaques were significantly higher than those of hard plaques and mixed plaques (p<0.05). The distribution of CEUS enhancement quantitative parameters of carotid plaques of different echo types also showed that the lower the plaque echo, the more obvious the CEUS enhancement was. This result showed a correlation between visual grading of intraplaque enhancement and quantitative analysis of computed enhancement intensity based on CEUS. Plaques with high CEUS visual grading showed increased EI and ratio values, as displayed in the Tables. These findings are consistent with previous research results.¹⁷

Additionally, our findings indicate that soft plaques exhibit more pronounced contrast enhancement than other plaques. This aligns with the results of prior studies.19 Among the cohort of patients with soft plaques, a more significant proportion exhibited contrast enhancement upon visual interpretation and more pronounced enhancement as evaluated through EI and ratio value analysis. This discovery implies that CEUS has the potential to detect highly vascularised and vulnerable soft carotid plaques. CEUS shows that the formation of neovascularisation in carotid plaques has a good correlation with the results of histological examination, and it is best to use quantitative software to analyse and evaluate. However, its role in daily clinical practice still needs further confirmation.⁴ The TIC can be used to quantitatively analyse the neovascularisation inside the carotid plaque, effectively avoiding the measurement bias caused by subjective factors in the semiquantitative visual grading.²⁰ CEUS quantitative parameters can reflect the pathological characteristics of atherosclerotic plaques. PI can reflect the density of new blood vessels in the plaque, and the higher the PI, the greater the density of new blood vessels.²¹ TTP mainly reflects the perfusion pattern of neovascularisation in the plaque, in which the more minor the TTP, the faster the perfusion rate.²²

Clinical studies have shown that increased intra-plaque neovascularisation is an independent risk factor for the progression of atherosclerosis and an essential feature of vulnerable plaques.⁸ Therefore, the larger the PI, the smaller the TTP, and the higher the plaque vulnerability. In our study, the EI value and Ratio value of soft plaque were significantly higher than those of hard plaque and mixed plaque (p<0.05), the TTP of hard plaques were significantly higher than those of soft plaques (p<0.05), these results are highly consistent with previous studies above.

Our results also confirm that soft plaques are the most vulnerable plaques, which means the TIC curve can efficiently and accurately identify and characterise unstable carotid plaques. Based on CEUS imaging quantitative parameters, a more reliable reference value for clinical diagnosis of the nature of carotid atherosclerotic plaques and plaque vulnerability is offered. Our study has certain limitations, primarily due to its single-centre design. As the hospital where the study was conducted is a geriatric facility with specialised stroke and chest pain centres, most patients are those with underlying conditions such as diabetes, coronary heart disease or hypertension. This may introduce a degree of selection bias in our findings. Therefore, our results may differ from those of large-scale multicentre studies from other academic institutes. Our research is still clinically significant, and further in-depth investigations will be conducted.

CONCLUSIONS

Based on the safety of Sonovue as well as the reasonable scan time of 30 minutes, it was found that performing CEUS imaging of carotid IPN at our hospital is feasible when carotid plaque stability needs to be assessed for clinical benefits. CEUS imaging allowed better identification and quantification of carotid IPN through quantitative parameters, specifically EI, Ratio Values, TTP, and MTT. Quantitative CEUS parameters can provide additional information on plaque vulnerability based on semiquantitative visual assessment, which can help in patient screening and appropriate interventions. CEUS can quantitatively evaluate the intensity of neovascularisation inside plaques of different echo types and thus provide a reference for clinical diagnosis of the nature of carotid atherosclerotic plaques and plaque vulnerability.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

No acknowledgement.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors report there are no competing interests to declare.

FUNDING

This study has been supported by the science and technology plan project of the Hubei Chen Xiaoping Science and Technology Development Fund (2020)36 in China.

REFERENCES

- Naghavi M, Libby P, Falk E, Casscells SW, Litovsky S, Rumberger J, et al. From vulnerable plaque to vulnerable patient: A call for new definitions and risk assessment strategies: Part I. Circulation 2003; 108(14): 1664-72.
- Song P, Fang Z, Wang H, Cai Y, Rahimi K, Zhu Y, et al. Global and regional prevalence, burden, and risk factors for carotid atherosclerosis: A systematic review, meta-analysis, and modelling study. Lancet Glob Health 2020; 8(5): e721-9.
- 3. Sidhu PS, Cantisani V, Dietrich CF, Gilja OH, Saftoiu A, Bartels E, et al. The EFSUMB guidelines and recommendations for the clinical practice of contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) in nonhepatic applications: Update 2017 (long version). Ultraschall Med 2018; 39(2): e2-e44.
- 4. Pereira T, Betriu A, Alves R. Non-invasive imaging techniques and assessment of carotid vasa vasorum neovascularization: Promises and pitfalls. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2019; 29(2): 71-80.
- 5. Fleiner M, Kummer M, Mirlacher M, Sauter G, Cathomas G, Krapf R, et al. Arterial neovascularization and inflammation in vulnerable patients: Early and late signs of symptomatic atherosclerosis. Circulation 2004; 110(18): 2843-50.
- 6. Sedding DG, Boyle EC, Demandt JA, Sluimer JC, Dutzmann J, Haverich A, et al. Vasa vasorum angiogenesis: Key player in the initiation and progression of atherosclerosis and potential target for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. Frontn Immunol 2018; 9: 706.
- Kopczak A, Schindler A, Sepp D, Bayer-Karpinska A, Malik R, Koch ML, et al. Complicated carotid artery plaques and risk of recurrent ischemic stroke or TIA. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022; 79(22): 2189-99.
- Saba L, Saam T, Jäger HR, Yuan C, Hatsukami TS, Saloner D, et al. Imaging biomarkers of vulnerable carotid plaques for stroke risk prediction and their potential clinical implications. Lancet Neurol 2019; 18(6): 559-72.
- 9. Yusefi H, Helfield B. Ultrasound contrast imaging: Fundamentals and emerging technology. Front Phys 2022; 10: 791145.
- 10. Ajmal S. Contrast-enhanced ultrasonography: Review and applications. Cureus 2021; 13(9): e18243.
- 11. Stein JH, Korcarz CE, Hurst RT, Lonn E, Kendall CB, Mohler ER, et al. Use of carotid ultrasound to identify subclinical vascular disease and evaluate cardiovascular disease risk: A consensus statement from the American society of echocardiography carotid intima-media thickness task force endorsed by the society for vascular medicine. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2008; 21(2): 93-111.
- 12. Müller HF, Viaccoz A, Kuzmanovic I, Bonvin C, Burkhardt K, Bochaton-Piallat ML, et al. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound imaging of carotid plaque neo-vascularization: Accuracy of visual analysis. Ultrasound Med Biol 2014; 40(1): 18-24.
- Hodgson JM, Reddy KG, Suneja R, Nair RN, Lesnefsky EJ, Sheehan HM. Intracoronary ultrasound imaging: Correlation of plaque morphology with angiography, clinical syndrome and procedural results in patients undergoing coronary angioplasty. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993; 21(1): 35-44.

- 14. Akkus Z. Image analysis for contrast enhanced ultrasound carotid plaque imaging [Internet]. 2014. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/1765/76950
- 15. Li Q, Yang K, Ji Y, Liu H, Fei X, Zhang Y, et al Safety analysis of adverse events of ultrasound contrast agent Lumason/SonoVue in 49,100 patients. Ultrasound Med Biol 2023; 49(2): 454-9.
- 16. Rosado E, Riccabona M. Off-label use of ultrasound contrast agents for intravenous applications in children: Analysis of the existing literature. J Ultrasound Med 2016; 35(3): 487-96.
- Rafailidis V, Li X, Sidhu PS, Partovi S, Staub D. Contrast imaging ultrasound for the detection and characterization of carotid vulnerable plaque. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther 2020; 10(4): 965-81.
- Giannoni MF, Vicenzini E, Citone M, Ricciardi MC, Irace L, Laurito A, et al. Contrast carotid ultrasound for the detection of unstable plaques with neoangiogenesis: A pilot study. E J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2009; 37(6): 722-7.

- Ling LI, Mei ZH, Li QI. Characteristics of carotid atherosclerotic plaques in contrast-enhanced ultrasonography of neovascularization. J Sichuan Univ (Med Sci). 2014; 45(6): 992-6.
- 20. Cismaru G, Serban T, Tirpe A. Ultrasound methods in the evaluation of atherosclerosis: From pathophysiology to clinic. Biomedicines 2021; 9(4): 418.
- 21. Zhang Y, Cao J, Zhou J, Zhang C, Li Q, Chen S, et al. Plaque elasticity and intraplaque neovascularisation on carotid artery ultrasound: A comparative histological study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2021; 62(3): 358-66.
- 22. Boswell-Patterson CA, Hétu MF, Kearney A, Pang SC, Tse MY, Herr JE, et al. Vascularized carotid atherosclerotic plaque models for the validation of novel methods of quantifying intraplaque neovascularization. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2021; 34(11): 1184-94.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Prevalence and risk factors of myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19: A retrospective study

Siti Nurul Azimah Mat Jusoh, Msc¹, Laily Noor Zuliaty Anuar, Msc¹, Sharifah Shafinaz Sh Abdullah, PhD¹, & Huzairi Sani, MMed²

¹Centre for Nursing Studies Faculty of Health Sciences, Universiti Teknologi MARA Cawangan Selangor Kampus Puncak Alam, Bandar Puncak Alam, Selangor, Malaysia, ²Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Teknologi MARA Cawangan Selangor Kampus Puncak Alam, Bandar Puncak Alam, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The coronavirus disease of 2019 (COVID-19) predominantly impacts the pulmonary system; however, it also has harmful consequences for the cardiovascular system through the occurrence of myocardial injury.

Materials and Methods: This retrospective study analysed 119 COVID-19 patients admitted to AI-Sultan Abdullah Hospital (HASA) from March until December 2020. Demographics, medical histories, admission laboratory results, electrocardiogram (ECG), echocardiogram (echo), were captured from the hospitals' health records. Myocardial injury is an injury to the myocardium that can be diagnosed by elevated cardiac troponin T or I level above the 99th percentile upper reference limit (URL), an abnormal ECG, and an abnormal echo. Data were analysed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 27.

Results: From this study, it was founded that the prevalence of myocardial injury is 36.1% (43 subjects out of 119). The risk factors are older age (odds ratio, 2.347; p=0.028), males (odds ratio, 2.019; p=0.125), Indians (odds ratio, 3.659; p=0.296), hypertension (odds ratio, 2.776; p=0.009), diabetes mellitus (odds ratio, 1.732; p=0.155) and category 4 and 5 COVID-19 patients (odds ratio, 2.325; p=0.038).

Conclusion: Myocardial injury is prevalent among patients affected by COVID-19 and is associated with older age, hypertension and category 4 and 5 COVID-19. The researchers suggested conducting a more thorough investigation of the sizable population in multiple settings and conducting a prospective study where all infected COVID-19 patients have to undergo several tests, such as ECG, troponin T, and echocardiogram.

KEYWORDS:

Prevalence, myocardial injury, COVID-19, risk factor.

INTRODUCTION

COVID-19 is a disease that is spread by the novel acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in Wuhan, China.¹ It is becoming a pandemic and causing an effect on the whole world. SARS-CoV-2 is categorised as a beta coronavirus, characterised by its huge size, spherical shape, enveloped structure, and non-segmented positive-sense single-stranded RNA genome, which spans around 30 kilobases.¹ Despite being largely a respiratory illness, observational studies have demonstrated a close relationship between COVID-19 and cardiovascular disease.² This then triggers the activation of immunological mechanisms, including T-cells and B-cells, which create antibodies, mediators, and cytokines, leading to myocardial inflammation.²

Numerous published studies have indicated a correlation between higher fatality rates in COVID-19 infections and myocardial injury among patients with COVID-19. 28% of patients inflicted with COVID-19 signs of myocardial injury and elevated troponin levels in the blood.³ Additionally, the mortality rates of patients with cardiac damage evidence were higher than those of those without (51.2% vs. 4.55%, p<.001).⁵ The study also found that acute renal failure, electrolyte abnormalities, and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) were complications that frequently occurred in heart injury patients, indicating that the involvement of the heart negatively impacts these patients' prognosis.³

Those who have cardiovascular comorbidity and exhibit high-risk variables, such as being male, advanced age, diabetes, hypertension, or obesity, are susceptible to experiencing cardiac injury and are considered part of the vulnerable group in relation to COVID-19.⁴ It is clear that myocardial injury is a common complication in COVID-19 patients in the severe and critical intensive care units, and that advanced age, arterial hypertension, immunomodulator use, and a high Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score are independent predictors of COVID-19 occurrence and severity.⁵ Cardiovascular problems are also common in these patients, and they are associated with a greater mortality rate.⁵

After conducting research, the researcher found limited published articles about COVID-19-related myocardial injury in Malaysia. The issue of insufficient concentration within a relevant field has been acknowledged and tackled in Malaysia. The researcher intends to conduct this study within the specific context of Malaysia in order to investigate and find risk factors that are linked to the prevalence of myocardial injury among individuals who have received a positive diagnosis for COVID-19.

This article was accepted: 30 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Sharifah Shafinaz Sh Abdullah Email: shasya@uitm.edu.my

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Population

This is a retrospective study that uses solely accessible secondary data. The participants must undergo one of the examinations while hospitalised: following electrocardiogram (ECG), echocardiography (echo), or troponin T. Except for those with suspected symptoms of myocardial injury, these procedures (ECG, echo, and troponin T) are not routinely performed on all COVID-19 patients admitted to Al-Sultan Abdullah Hospital (HASA). These three studies serve as markers for the diagnosis of myocardial injury in COVID-19 patients. The population of the study are 119 patients with positive COVID-19 all categories, Malaysian, age above 12 years old, and both genders.

Research Instrument

The data collection form which consists of five different sections (Demographics, medical histories, admission laboratory results, ECG, and echo) was used as an instrument to collect data from the Al-Sultan Abdullah Hospital (HASA) medical records department.

Sample collection

The UiTM Research Ethics Committee (Ref. number: REC/11/2021 (MR/881)) and the Director of HASA (Ref. number: 500-HUiTM (PT.8/3/1)) have approved this study. The data has been collected at the HASA medical record department. All the data patients with COVID-19 were screened and collected from hardcopy records or database files using the computer in the medical record department. Positive COVID-19 cases were screening from October 2021 until February 2022. All ECG, echo and troponin T results were interpreted and reviewed by a cardiologist who is one of research team members.

Definition

Myocardial injury is defined as injury in the myocardial and can be detected by elevated cardiac troponin T or troponin I greater than the 99th percentile upper reference limit (URL).⁶ In the context of COVID-19, myocardial injury, defined by an elevated troponin level, is caused primarily by non-ischaemic myocardial processes such as severe respiratory infection with hypoxia, sepsis, systemic inflammation, pulmonary thrombosis and embolism, cardiac adrenergic hyperstimulation during cytokine storm syndrome, and myocarditis.7 Any injury to the myocardium can be diagnosed based on increased troponins T or troponin I, electrocardiographic changes in ST segments, and echocardiographic wall motion abnormalities or wall thickening.8 This must be correlated with the COVID-19 symptoms, clinical features, and investigations (ECG, cardiac biomarkers (troponin) and echo). Investigation results were analysed to fit the clinical diagnosis of myocarditis and ruling out other possibilities of elevated troponin.

Statistical Analysis

All respondents' socio-demographic information, medical and health history, were analysed using Statistical Packages for Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 27. Descriptives statistics were used to calculate the prevalence rate. A crosstab test was used to identify the odd ratio contributing to developing myocardial injury among patients with COVID-19 in HASA.

Demographic characteristics of subjects

A total of 119 patients were included from October 2021 until February 2022 at HASA. Table I displays the demographics, clinical characteristics, and laboratory characteristics based on the presence of myocardial injury. Patients with myocardial injury were 81.4% male, with a mean age of 59 years old. COVID-19 patients with myocardial injuries were associated with older age (P=0.028). Most of the myocardial injuries had occurred in those aged over 61 years (27.9 %). Meanwhile, 20.9% of myocardial injuries had occurred in patients aged over 71 until 80 years of age. The predominant racial group in our dataset was Malay, comprising 79% and not being equally distributed among race groups because Malay is the largest race in Malaysia.

Prevalence of myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19

The majority of the myocardial injury had occurred in those in COVID-19 categories 4 (44.2%) and 5 (27.9%). A total of 43 patients (36.1%) had abnormal ECG, abnormal echo and laboratory-confirmed troponin T positivity for myocardial injury during the hospitalisation. The result showed that 3 in 10 patients with COVID-19 might develop myocardial injury (Table I).

Risk factors of myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19 To determine the risk factors for myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19, a crosstab analysis of myocardial injury among COVID-19 patients with clinical data was performed (Table I). The result showed that older age (odds ratio, 2.347; p=0.028), male (odds ratio, 2.019; P=0.125), Indian (odds ratio, 3.659; P=0.296), hypertension (odds ratio, 2.776; p=0.009), diabetes mellitus (odds ratio, 1.732; P=0.155) and category 4 and 5 COVID-19 patients (odds ratio, 2.325; p=0.038) are risk factors associated with the incidence of myocardial injury. Older age, hypertension and category 4 and 5 COVID-19 patients are significant with occurrence of myocardial injury among patients with COVID-19. Due to the small sample size, there is no significant correlation between Indians and the occurrence of cardiac injury.

Electrocardiogram (ECG), Echocardiogram (echo) and Troponin T Characteristics of Patients COVID-19

The ECG was tested in 57 patients (47.8%), and 24 (42.2%) were abnormal. 14 (58.3%) sinus tachycardia, 1 (0.04%) sinus bradycardia, 1 (0.04%) atrial flutter, 2 (0.08%) atrial fibrillation, 2 (0.08%) ST elevation, and 4 (0.16%) ST depression (Table II). 22 (18.48%) did echo, and 19 (86.36%) was abnormal, while 24 (20.16%) underwent testing for highsensitivity troponin T level, and 12 (50%) were raised (>14 ng/L). 13 did ECG and echo, 6 (46.1%) had abnormal ECG and echo, 1 (7.7%) had sinus tachycardia with abnormal echo, 2 (15.4%) had sinus bradycardia with abnormal echo, and 3 (23%) had ST depression with abnormal echo. 21 did the ECG and troponin T test; abnormal ECG and troponin T were 7 (33.33%) ST depression and 2 (28.5%) raised in troponin T, sinus tachycardia and 3 (42.8%) raised in troponin T and atrial fibrillation and 2 (28.5%) raised in troponin T. 5 did echo and troponin T; 3 (60%) had abnormal echo and were raised in troponin T. 3 did ECG, echo, and troponin T; 3 (100%) had abnormal ECG, echo, and were raised in troponin T.

Characteristics	Myocardial injury						
	All (n=119)	With (n=43)	Without (n=76)	p-value (²)	Odds ratio		
Demographic							
Age (years old)							
Younger							
12 - 20	1 (0.8%)	0 (0%)	1 (1.3%)	0.028	0.426		
21 - 30	21 (17.6%)	3 (7%)	18 (23.7%)				
31 - 40	10 (8.4%)	3 (7%)	7 (9.2%)				
41 - 50	16 (13.4%)	7 (16.3%)	9 (11.8%)				
51 - 60	23 (19.3%)	7 (16.3%)	16 (21.2%)				
Older							
61 - 70	28 (23.5%)	12 (27.9%)	16 (21.1%)				
71 - 80	14 (11.8%)	9 (20.9%)	5 (6.6%)		2.347		
81 - 90	6 (5%)	2 (4.7%)	4 (5.3%)				
Gender							
Male	87 (73.1%)	35 (81.4%)	52 (68.4%)	0.125	2.019		
Female	32 (26.9%)	8 (18.6%)	24 (31.6%)		0.495		
Race							
Malay	95 (79.8%)	34 (79%)	61 (80.3%)	0.876	-		
Chinese	21 (17.6%)	7 (16.3%)	14 (19.2%)	0.768	-		
Indian	3 (2.5%)	2 (4.7%)	1 (0.5%)	0.296*	-		
Comorbid							
Hypertension	53 (44.5%)	26 (60.5%)	1 (2.3%)	0.009	2.776		
Diabetes Mellitus	48 (40.3%)	21 (48.8%)	27 (22.7%)	0.155	1.732		
Hyperlipidemia	36 (30.3%)	13 (30.2%)	27 (35.5%)	0.997	-		
Asthma	8 (6.8%)	2 (4.7%)	23 (30.3%)	0.709*	-		
Cancer	6 (5%)	1 (2.3%)	6 (8%)	-	-		
Chronic obstructive	1 (0.8%)	1 (2.3%)	5 (6.6%)	-	-		
pulmonary disease (COPD)	9 (7.6%)	5 (11.6%)	0 (0%)	-	-		
lschemic heart disease (IHD)	3 (2.5%)	1 (2.3%)	4 (5.3%)	-	-		
Chronic kidney disease (CKD)	1 (0.8%)	1 (2.3%)	2 (2.6%)	-	-		
Transient ischemic attack (TIA)	1 (0.8%)	1 (2.3%)	0 (0%)	-	-		
Acute kidney injury (AKI)	1 (0.8%)	1 (2.3%)	0 (0%)	-	-		
COVID-19 categories							
Mild - Moderate							
Category 1	8 (6.7%)	2 (4.7%)	6 (7.9%)	0.038	0.430		
Category 2	31 (26.1%)	6 (14%)	25 (32.9%)				
Category 3	9 (7.6%)	4 (9.3%)	5 (6.6%)				
Severe and critically ill							
Category 4	49 (41.2%)	19 (44.2%)	30 (39.5%)		2.325		
Category 5	22 (18.5%)	12 (27.9%)	10 (13.2%)				
Point prevalence of myocardial injury		3:10 natio	43/119 x 100 = 36.1 % ents with COVID-19 de	evelon MI			
	S. TO patients with COVID-19 develop Mi						

Table I: Demographic	data of patients	with COVID-19 (n=119)
----------------------	------------------	-----------------------

*Fishers exact test

DISCUSSION

In this study, the prevalence of myocardial injury was 36.1% (43 out of 119), indicating that 3 out of every 10 COVID-19 patients developed myocardial injury. A study conducted in China, Germany, and the United States similarly found that myocardial damage is common in COVID-19 patients.⁹⁻¹² These studies covered 42 to 985 participants and reported a prevalence of myocardial damage ranging from 28.9% to 46%.⁹⁻¹²

Older patients, males, Indians, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and COVID-19 categories 4 and 5 are all risk factors for myocardial injury. Consistent with prior studies,^{13,14} the myocardial injury patients in our study were older. Similar to these observations, the researchers also found that patients with cardiac injury tended to be older.^{15,16} Elderly patients were considered "frail" due to increased comorbidities, low cognitive condition, diminished resistance to shocks, and impaired compensatory abilities.¹⁷ Elderly people are more prone to cardiac injury due to vascular ageing, myocardial remodelling, and immunological senescence.^{18,19}

The study also discovered that COVID-19 patients with myocardial injury were more likely to be men. This finding was reinforced by a prior study, which indicated that male COVID-19 patients are at a higher risk of developing myocardial injury.^{13,20-23} Previous research discovered that the clearance function of inhaled particles in small airway sections decreased with age.²⁴ Upper airway size decreases with age, which is especially noticeable in males.²⁵ Furthermore, aged males have fewer immune cells and an inverted CD4/ CD8 T-cell ratio than females, resulting in reduced immune surveillance and clearance.²⁶ However, the study from Italy found different results.²⁷ Their study showed that myocardial injury could be associated with female patients.²⁷

This study was conducted in Malaysia, which has a multiracial population, including Malay, Chinese, and Indian. According to the study, Indian patients with COVID-19 are at a higher risk of developing myocardial injury. A study conducted in the United States discovered that the majority racial group in their sample was white, accounting

Test	Finding Myocardial Injury (n=43)				
ECG	n = 57				
Normal	33 (57.8%)				
Abnormal;	24 (42.2%)				
Sinus Tachycardia	14 (58.3%)				
Sinus Bradycardia	1 (0.04%)				
Atrial Flutter	1 (0.04%)				
Atrial Fibrillation	2 (0.08%)				
ST Elevation	2 (0.08%)				
ST Depression	4 (0.16%)				
Echo	n = 22				
Normal	3 (13.6%)				
Abnormal	19 (86.4%)				
Troponin T	n = 24				
Normal	12 (50%)				
Raised	12 (50%)				
ECG and ECHO	n = 13				
Normal					
Abnormal;					
Sinus Tachycardia	1 (7.7%)				
Sinus Bradycardia	2 (15.4%)				
ST Depression	3 (23%)				
ECG and Troponin T	n = 21				
Normal	14 (66.7%)				
Abnormal;	7 (33.3%)				
Sinus Tachycardia and raised troponin T	3 (42.8%)				
Atrial Fibrillation and raised troponin T	2 (28.5%)				
ST Depression and raised troponin T	2 (28.5%)				
Echo and Troponin T	n = 5				
Normal Echo and no raised in troponin T	2 (40%)				
Abnormal Echo and raised in troponin T	3 (60%)				
ECG, Echo and Troponin T	n = 3				
Abnormal ECG, Echo and raised in troponin T	3 (100%)				
ST Depression	2				
Sinus Tachycardia	1				
Abnormal Echo	3				
Raised in Troponin T	3				

Table II: Electrocardiogram	Echocardiogram a	nd Troponin T	characteristics of	nationts with	COVID-19
				patients with	0010-13

for 79.5% and equally dispersed throughout both categories.²⁸ The findings suggest that non-Hispanics were more likely than Hispanics to have myocardial damage (20.1% vs. 12.4%).²⁸ Another study conducted in the United States discovered that an African American patient with COVID-19 had a 43% prevalence of cardiac injury, which was higher than previously published findings.²⁹ Patients with elevated troponin levels showed a sixfold greater risk of death compared to those without.²⁹

Furthermore, this study discovered a history of comorbidities (hypertension and diabetes mellitus) are high risk to get myocardial injury among patients infected with COVID-19. The previous research also found that hypertension and diabetes mellitus are high-risk factors for myocardial injury.^{22,27,30-32} In this study, patients have comorbidities but no previous history of myocardial injury. Patients infected with COVID-19 may have myocardial injury due to the wide-ranging effects of cardiac inflammation, which appears to be the primary feature of the infection.³³

The researchers found that COVID-19 categories 4 (severe) and 5 (critically ill) are high risk to get myocardial injury. Pneumonia that requires extra oxygen and a catastrophic illness involving several organ failures are the main causes of

cardiac injury in COVID-19 categories 4 and 5.34 Various studies have revealed that categories 4 and 5 patients infected with COVID-19 are more likely to get myocardial injury. A mendelian randomisation research on COVID-19 discovered that severe respiratory symptoms and hospitalisation may increase the risk of myocardial injury.35 Furthermore, myocardial injury and cardiovascular issues were common in patients hospitalised to the intensive care unit with severe and critical COVID-19, and both were related to higher mortality.⁵ A systematic study discovered that myocardial injury appears to be associated with severe COVID-19 illnesses, particularly in hospitalised patients, who should be constantly watched and treated.³⁶

Limitations and recommendations for future studies

This study has some limitations, which the authors have noted. As with much other research in this field, this one was retrospective, and the selection of participants for cardiac troponin testing will have introduced a significant bias. This study is a retrospective study, where the researchers only used the available secondary data from October 2021 until February 2022. Recommendation for future researchers could be included more sample size and conduct a prospective study where all infected COVID-19 patients have to do several testings' such as ECG, troponin T and echocardiogram test. This prospective study could provide conclusive finding regarding the incidence of myocardial injury among infected COVID-19 patients. Apart from study design, the sample size and study duration also have to improve in future study. Due to the small size, the researchers recommended doing an indepth study of the population and setting for a conclusive finding.

CONCLUSION

Research findings revealed that myocardial injury is prevalent in patients affected by COVID-19 and is associated with older age, hypertension and category 4 and 5 COVID-19. This study is concurrent with a previous study where the incidence of myocardial injury occurred among elderly, comorbid and category 4 and 5 COVID-19. A prospective study with a large sample size is needed for future studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to the director of the Hospital Al Sultan Abdullah (HASA) UiTM and all the staff from the Medical Records Department, HASA.

ETHICS APPROVAL AND INFORMED CONSENT

The UiTM Research Ethics Committee (Ref. number: REC/11/2021 (MR/881)) and the Director of UiTM Hospital (Ref. number: 500-HUiTM (PT.8/3/1)) approved this study.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Authors declared no conflict of interest.

FUNDING

600-RMC/FRGS 5/3 (177/2023).

REFERENCES

- 1. Elengoe A. COVID-19 outbreak in Malaysia. Osong public health and research perspectives. 2020; 11(3): 93.
- 2. Driggin E, Madhavan MV, Bikdeli B, Chuich T, Laracy J, Biondi-Zoccai G, et al. Cardiovascular considerations for patients, health care workers, and health systems during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 75(18): 2352-71.
- 3. Shi S, Qin M, Shen B, Cai Y, Liu T, Yang F, et al. Association of cardiac injury with mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Cardiol 2020; 5(7): 802-10.
- Mahajan K, Chandra KS. Cardiovascular comorbidities and complications associated with coronavirus disease 2019. Med J Armed Forces India 2020; 76(3): 253-60.
- 5. Neves AP, Machado MN, Gandolfi JV, Machado LF, Syrio JD, Luckmeyer G, et al. Myocardial injury and cardiovascular complications in COVID-19: a cohort study in severe and critical patients. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva 2023; 34: 443-51.
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA, et al. Executive Group on behalf of the Joint European Society of Cardiology (ESC)/American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA)/World Heart Federation (WHF) Task Force for the Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction. Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). Circulation 2018; 138(20): e618-51.

- Imazio M, Klingel K, Kindermann I, Brucato A, De Rosa FG, Adler Y, et al. COVID-19 pandemic and troponin: indirect myocardial injury, myocardial inflammation or myocarditis?. Heart 2020; 106(15): 1127-31.
- 8. Ammirati E, Moslehi JJ. Diagnosis and treatment of acute myocarditis: a review. Jama 2023; 329(13): 1098-113.
- 9. Dan S, Pant M, Upadhyay SK. The case fatality rate in COVID-19 patients with cardiovascular disease: global health challenge and paradigm in the current pandemic. Current pharmacology reports 2020; 6: 315-24.
- Ganta N, Bonilla HM, Alebna P, Vanaparthy S, Ngwa J, Opoku-Asare I. Myocardial injury in African American patients with COVID-19. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 77(18_Supplement_1): 3166.
- 11. Lala A, Johnson KW, Januzzi JL, Russak AJ, Paranjpe I, Richter F, et al. Prevalence and impact of myocardial injury in patients hospitalized with COVID-19 infection. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 76(5): 533-46.
- 12. Mahabadi AA, Mincu R, Dykun I, Michel L, Küng A, Witzke O, et al. Frequency and prognosis of CVD and myocardial injury in patients presenting with suspected COVID-19–The CoV-COR registry. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc 2023; 45: 101184.
- 13. Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 2020; 395(10223): 507-13.
- 14. Maino A, Di Stasio E, Grimaldi MC, Luigi C, Erica R, Federico B, et al. PREVALENCE AND CHARACTERISTICS OF MYOCARDIAL INJURY DURING COVID-19 PANDEMIC. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021; 77(18_Supplement_1): 3191.
- 15. Zou F, Qian Z, Wang Y, Zhao Y, Bai J. Cardiac injury and COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. CJC open 2020; 2(5): 386-94.
- Barman HA, Atici A, Sahin I, Alici G, Tekin EA, Baycan ÖF, et al. Prognostic significance of cardiac injury in COVID-19 patients with and without coronary artery disease. Coron Artery Dis 2021; 32(5): 359-66.
- 17. Nishihira K, Yoshioka G, Kuriyama N, Ogata K, Kimura T, Matsuura H, et al. Impact of frailty on outcomes in elderly patients with acute myocardial infarction who undergo percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes 2021; 7(2): 189-97.
- Moccia F, Gerbino A, Lionetti V, Miragoli M, Munaron LM, Pagliaro P, et al. COVID-19-associated cardiovascular morbidity in older adults: a position paper from the Italian Society of Cardiovascular Researches. Geroscience 2020; 42(4): 1021-49.
- 19. Imazio M, Klingel K, Kindermann I, Brucato A, De Rosa FG, Adler Y, et al. COVID-19 pandemic and troponin: indirect myocardial injury, myocardial inflammation or myocarditis?. Heart 2020; 106(15): 1127-31.
- Rukwal S, Kaur H, Kaur P, Shrivastava M. Study of troponin-i levels in COVID-19 patients. Int J Med Lab Res 2022; 7(1): 11-9.
- 21. Cheng R, Liu C, Yang J, Yang Y, Chen R, Ding X, et al. Sex differences in the incidence and risk factors of myocardial injury in COVID-19 patients: a retrospective cohort study. Front Physiol 2021; 12: 632123.
- 22. Li L, Zhang S, He B, Chen X, Zhao Q. Retrospective study of risk factors for myocardial damage in patients with critical coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan. J Am Heart Assoc 2020; 9(15): e016706.
- 23. Deng Q, Hu B, Zhang Y, Wang H, Zhou X, Hu W, et al. Suspected myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19: evidence from front-line clinical observation in Wuhan, China. Int J Cardiol 2020; 311: 116-21.
- 24. Svartengren M, Falk R, Philipson K. Long-term clearance from small airways decreases with age. Eur Respir J 2005; 26(4): 609-15.
- 25. Martin SE, Mathur R, Marshall I, Douglas NJ. The effect of age, sex, obesity and posture on upper airway size. Eur Respir J 1997; 10(9): 2087-90.

- Perrotta F, Corbi G, Mazzeo G, Boccia M, Aronne L, D'Agnano V, et al. COVID-19 and the elderly: insights into pathogenesis and clinical decision-making. Aging Clin Exp Res 2020; 32(8): 1599-608.
- 27. Ferrante G, Fazzari F, Cozzi O, Maurina M, Bragato R, D'Orazio F, et al. Risk factors for myocardial injury and death in patients with COVID-19: insights from a cohort study with chest computed tomography. Cardiovasc Res 2020; 116(14): 2239-46.
- Ganta N, Bonilla HM, Alebna P, Vanaparthy S, Ngwa J, Opoku-Asare I. Myocardial injury in African American patients with COVID-19. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021; 77(18_Supplement_1):3166.
- 29. Patel G, Vasavada A, Reddy S, Adak S, Jain S, Regassa H, et al. Prevalence and Outcomes of Cardiovascular Diseases in Patients with COVID-19: A Research Letter. Int J Innov Res Med Sci 2022; 7(10): 540-2.
- Thapa SB, Kakar TS, Mayer C, Khanal D. Clinical outcomes of inhospital cardiac arrest in COVID-19. JAMA Intern Med 2021; 181(2): 279-81.

- Crudo VL, Ahmed AI, Cowan EL, Shah DJ, Al-Mallah MH, Malahfji M. Acute and subclinical myocardial injury in COVID-19. Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J 2021; 17(5): 22.
- 32. Huang S, Vignon P, Mekontso-Dessap A, Tran S, Prat G, Chew M, et al. Echocardiography findings in COVID-19 patients admitted to intensive care units: a multi-national observational study (the ECHO-COVID study). Intensive Care Med 2022; 48(6): 667-78.
- Abbasi J. Researchers investigate what COVID-19 does to the heart. JAMA 2021; 325(9): 808-11.
- 34. CDC. Clinical Presentation [Internet]. COVID-19. 2024. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/covid/hcp/clinical-care/covid19presentation.html
- 35. Liu MJ, Sun XQ, Li LB, Wang G, Shi YF. Serious COVID-19 may have a causal relationship with myocardial injury: A Mendelian randomization study. Front Genet 2023; 14: 1135887.
- Alali AH, Smaisem MS, Alsheikh AM, Alshareef AA, Smaisem FS, Alnahar BW, et al. Myocardial injuries among patients with COVID-19: a systematic review. Infez Med 2021; 29(3): 345.

Exploring musculoskeletal disorders in end-stage kidney disease: A systematic review

Sourabh Sharma, DNB Nephrology¹, Sanjiv Rampal, MS Ortho², Ashish Jaiman, MS Ortho³, Sujana LS, Saravanamuttu MD⁴, Aryaman Jaiman MBBS⁵, Lydia Kamaruzaman, MD⁶, Claudia A Lopes, PhD⁷, Mohammad Arshad Ikram, FRCS²

¹Department of Nephrology and Renal Transplantation Medicine, Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India, ²Department of Orthopaedics, International Medical University, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ³Central Institute of Orthopaedics, Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India, ⁴Hospital Sungai Buloh & Monash University, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ⁵Agartala Government Medical College, Tripura, India, ⁶Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Hospital Canselor Tuanku Muhriz, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ⁷United Nations University, International Institute for Global Health, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: This study focuses on the association between musculoskeletal disorders and chronic kidney disease (CKD), specifically end-stage kidney disease (ESKD). Its primary objective is to explore the spectrum of musculoskeletal disorders and to identify their prevalence rates and symptoms within diverse CKD subpopulations.

Materials and Methods: The screening process yielded 13 studies conducted in various countries and regions. These studies, employing designs such as cross-sectional, cohort, and clinical trials, focused on CKD patients across different stages, including early and late-stage CKD.

Results: The study revealed that musculoskeletal disorders are a considerable concern within the CKD population but are insufficiently explored among ESKD patients. Common musculoskeletal disorders identified include osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, fibromyalgia, carpopedal spasm, and chronic musculoskeletal pain syndrome. The prevalence of these disorders varied, with sub-group analysis revealing higher prevalence among hemodialysis patients compared to preand non-dialysis patients. While musculoskeletal pain remains consistent across CKD stages, potential confounding factors, such as palliative care settings and mobility issues warrant careful consideration.

Conclusion: The study underscores the importance of understanding and addressing musculoskeletal disorders in the CKD population, emphasizing the need for tailored interventions and future research endeavors.

KEYWORDS:

Musculoskeletal disorders, musculoskeletal pain, chronic kidney disease, end-stage kidney disease, hemodialysis patients

INTRODUCTION

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a leading cause of global mortality and has significantly contributed to the increasing burden of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) over the past three decades. As of 2022, it is estimated that CKD affects more than 10% of the global population, impacting over 800 million individuals.^{1.4} This condition is more prevalent among the elderly, women, ethnic minorities, and individuals with diabetes mellitus and hypertension. Globally, CKD poses a substantial burden, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), where the age-standardized prevalence is 10.6% for men and 12.5% for women. Given the high prevalence of CKD and its associated adverse outcomes, there is an urgent need to enhance preventive measures and refine treatment strategies.^{1.5}

Musculoskeletal disorders (MSD) are commonly associated with chronic kidney disease (CKD), including end-stage kidney disease (ESKD). MSD affects the bones, joints, muscles, and connective tissues, posing significant challenges due to altered bone metabolism, mineral imbalances, and other physiological changes linked to kidney dysfunction. Approximately 18 years ago, the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) organization introduced a novel terminology to encompass this broad spectrum of clinical manifestations, termed Chronic Kidney Disease - Mineral and Bone Disorder (CKD-MBD). According to KDIGO 2017, CKD-MBD is characterized by: (i) abnormal metabolism of calcium, phosphorus, parathyroid hormone (PTH), or vitamin D; (ii) abnormalities in bone turnover, mineralization, volume, linear growth, or strength; and (iii) soft-tissue calcifications, either vascular or extra-osseous. Patients with CKD-MBD frequently lack noticeable symptoms and typically present late. Many of these symptoms are nonspecific, with the most frequent presentations including bone pain, arthralgia, proximal muscle weakness, tendinopathy, and spontaneous tendon rupture.6

Alterations in mineral metabolism and changes in bone structure are observable in all patients with CKD. In individuals undergoing dialysis, the entire musculoskeletal system—including bones, joints, muscles, tendons, and bursa—may be affected, with many patients showing signs of multiple types of musculoskeletal involvement.^{7,8} The high burden of musculoskeletal diseases in this group can be attributed to several factors, including peripheral neuropathy, disrupted vitamin D metabolism,

This article was accepted: 12 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Sanjiv Rampal Email: rampalsurgery@gmail.com
hyperparathyroidism, carnitine deficiency, aluminium toxicity, potassium imbalances (both hypo- and hyperkalaemia), acidosis, excessive iron accumulation, and severe hyperphosphatemia.⁹

Renal osteodystrophy, characterized by abnormal bone histology, is a key component of the bone abnormalities in CKD-MBD.⁶ In CKD, abnormalities in bone remodelling, mineralization, and material properties develop, leading to significant decreases in structural strength, fractures, and deformities associated with long-term disease. Bone biopsy remains the gold standard for diagnosing and classifying renal osteodystrophy. Bone abnormalities in CKD can manifest as high turnover bone disease, adynamic bone disease, osteomalacia, and mixed uremic osteodystrophy.⁶ These abnormalities result in increased bone fragility, leading to fractures. Therefore, understanding the prevalence and impact of musculoskeletal disorders in CKD patients is essential for providing comprehensive care and improving patient outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Objectives

This study employs a systematic literature review to achieve two primary objectives (1) to explore the spectrum of disorders including osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, fibromyalgia, bone pain, and other relevant musculoskeletal conditions; and (2) to identify the range of prevalence rates of musculoskeletal disorders and main symptoms within various subpopulations of CKD patients. The secondary objective is to identify gaps and limitations in the current literature on musculoskeletal disorders in ESKD and to propose potential avenues for future research, including studies on novel therapeutic interventions, long-term outcomes of management strategies, and approaches tailored to specific patient subgroups.

Search strategy

A systematic literature search was conducted in the electronic databases PubMed, Embase, Scopus, and Cochrane Library. The search strategy utilised relevant keywords and Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms to comprehensively retrieve studies related to musculoskeletal disorders and ESKD.

Study selection criteria

The inclusion criteria encompassed studies that were published in peer-reviewed journals which involved adult individuals with CKD and/or musculoskeletal symptoms. Both observational studies (cross-sectional, cohort, casecontrol) and interventional studies (clinical trials, interventions) were considered. The exclusion criteria pertained to studies that were not published in English, those focusing exclusively on non-CKD populations, and studies with small sample sizes or incomplete data.

Data extraction, synthesis and analysis

The data extraction was conducted independently by three reviewers using a standardised form. The extraction fields included the study characteristics (author, year, country(ies), objective, design, sample size, patients' demographics), patients' CKD stage(s), musculoskeletal disorder types, prevalence rates, and the most common symptoms. A narrative synthesis approach was employed to summarise and integrate the findings across the selected studies.

Quality assessment

The quality of included studies was assessed using established tools such as the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale for Observational Studies and the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool for interventional studies. This assessment helped ensured the validity and reliability of the evidence synthesized. A critical appraisal was conducted for each study by two authors of this paper.

RESULTS

A Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) diagram of the screening process is depicted in Figure 1.

Study characteristics

The 13 studies selected were conducted in Africa, Western Europe, East and West Asia. Four studies were undertaken in Egypt, and two in both France and Taiwan. Singular studies were conducted in Ethiopia, Spain, Denmark, and Iran. Furthermore, a comprehensive meta-analysis was included, encompassing data from 38 different countries. The predominant research method (11 out of 13 studies) was cross-sectional in nature. Additionally, there was one prospective cohort study and one meta-analysis, which incorporated data from 116 studies involving a total of 40,678 participants across 38 countries. The majority of the meta-analysis studies originated from the United States (18 studies) and the United Kingdom (12 studies). In the remaining 18 studies, the number of participants varied from 377 to 1169.10 The participants were CKD patients over 18 years from both sexes (with a slight bias towards men) and mean ages ranging from 20^{11} to 67.5^{12}

Patients' CKD stages

The 13 studies focused on different sub-populations with varying CKD stages. Seven studies focused on patients undergoing haemodialysis (different vintage),^{12,13,14,15,7} including one study only with ESKD patients.¹¹ Two studies were done with pre-dialysis patients,^{16,13} one study with patients with early and late-stage CKD not undergoing hemodialysis,20 and three studies with patients with different CKD stages undergoing dialysis or not.^{17,19}

Musculoskeletal symptoms

The most common symptom recorded in the 13 studies was musculoskeletal pain which included arthralgia, myalgia, limb pain, and muscle weakness. The prevalence of arthralgia, which was the most common musculoskeletal manifestation, varied from 25.3%¹² to 83%¹³, and it was reported across studies with patients with different CKD stages.

One study¹³ with ESKD patients showed that the frequency of musculoskeletal symptoms increased with haemodialysis vintage, patients' age, and it was higher in men vs. women. Similarly, another study¹² showed, through logistic regression, that musculoskeletal symptoms were significantly associated



Fig. 1: PRISMA diagram of the screening process

with both dialysis vintage (odds ratio (OR) = 1.97; 95% CI 1.004-1.288, p = 0.044) and age (OR = 1.044, 95% CI 1.003-1.08, p = 0.035). The same study suggested that the threshold for the onset of musculoskeletal symptoms is around the seventh year of haemodialysis. Dialysis vintage was associated with the diagnosis of osteoarthritis, fractures, and chondrocalcinosis.

Several studies^{16,20} have indicated that the prevalence of musculoskeletal pain remains consistent across all stages of CKD, suggesting no association between musculoskeletal pain and the risk of CKD progression. A potential confounding factor contributing to this outcome is the inclusion of CKD patients in stage 5 within palliative care settings, where chronic pain is actively managed.¹⁹ Building upon this evidence, another study¹⁰ contributed to further insight, demonstrating that chronic pain exhibits heightened severity in patients with advanced CKD.

Impaired mobility has also been correlated with musculoskeletal pain, as evidenced by a study conducted in Denmark¹⁸ that compared CKD patients without mobility issues to the general population. Upon demographic matching, no difference in musculoskeletal pain was observed between CKD patients with mobility restrictions and the general population (61% and 63%, respectively; p=0.533).

Musculoskeletal disorders

The most common musculoskeletal disorders diagnosed clinically, as shown in the various studies were osteoarthritis $(17.2\%^{13} \text{ and } 53.9\%^{12})$, osteoporosis $(24.5\%^{11})$, fibromyalgia

(11%¹⁹ and 51%¹⁴), carpopedal spasm (50.4%⁷), chronic musculoskeletal chronic pain syndrome (CMP) (38%)¹¹ and carpal tunnel syndrome (14.9%).¹³ The most common radiologically diagnosed musculoskeletal disorders were secondary hyperparathyroidism (SHPT) diagnosed by X-ray¹¹ and Achilles Tendinopathy (67.9%), diagnosed by musculoskeletal ultrasonography (MSUS).¹¹

Except for CMP, all musculoskeletal disorders were diagnosed among the haemodialysis population. One study¹⁷ demonstrated, through logistic regression, that musculoskeletal disorders are most prevalent among women (AOR = 0.49; 95% CI 0.26, 0.94), with ages between 40-49 (adjusted odds ratio (AOR) = 3.34; 95% CI 1.07, 10.44) and CKD stages 3 (AOR = 0.24; 95% CI 0.06, 0.89) and stage 4 (AOR = 0.24; 95% CI 0.06, 0.89). Another study¹¹ similarly found that CMP was more prevalent in women compared to men (49 vs 28%, p<.001).

Prevalence rates

The prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders varied between 38%¹¹ and 90%¹⁵. This broad prevalence range can be attributed to differences in the definitions of musculoskeletal disorders, data collection methods, study designs, the scope of included musculoskeletal conditions, and the varying stages of CKD considered.

A sub-group analysis revealed that the highest prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders was found in studies with patients undergoing haemodialysis ($60.4\%^{13}$ to $90.0\%^{15}$) compared to pre-dialysis and CKD patients not undergoing dialysis ($38.0\%^{9}$ to $64.0\%^{18}$).

DISCUSSION

Musculoskeletal Symptoms

From the literature review, the most frequent musculoskeletal symptoms observed in various research studies were musculoskeletal pain, encompassing conditions like arthralgia ($25.3\%^{12}$ to $83\%^{13}$), myalgia, and limb discomfort reported across studies with patients with different CKD stages.

Chronic pain affects approximately 10–20% of the general adult population²¹⁻²⁴ with a notably higher prevalence among older women, with physical factors (such as obesity and other co-morbidities), emotional factors (like separation, divorce and widowhood), psychological factors (including anxiety and depression), and social factors (education, employment, and income) exerting significant influence.²³ Approximately 50–70% of these pain conditions are attributed to musculoskeletal origins, which would indicate that around 5–14% of the population experiences chronic musculoskeletal pain.²¹⁻²³

Both patients undergoing dialysis²⁵⁻²⁷ and those in the predialysis stages of CKD^{16,28,29} commonly experience musculoskeletal pain. Various factors can contribute to chronic musculoskeletal pain; potential culprits include gout, renal bone disease, and ischemic bone pain.^{16,28} Research has demonstrated a significant connection between calcium × phosphate product levels and chronic musculoskeletal pain. Disruptions in calcium and phosphate balance, deficiency in vitamin D, and hyperparathyroidism have all been established as substantial underlying causes.^{16,30}

Musculoskeletal Disorders

Osteoarthritis

The literature review showed that osteoarthritis was the most common musculoskeletal disorder among CKD patients. Within the CKD population, the prevalence of osteoarthritis surpassed that expected within the general population of similar age groups.^{12,31} In these disorders, the knee joint was most frequently affected, followed by the ankle joint.^{11,12,13,15,32}

Osteoporosis and fracture risk

Osteoporosis, characterized by a reduction in bone mineral density and deterioration of bone microarchitecture, is a significant concern in individuals with CKD. The literature review identified osteoporosis was diagnosed in one in four CKD patients.

The complex interplay of factors such as altered bone metabolism, hormonal imbalances, and mineral disturbances associated with kidney dysfunction contributes to the increased risk of osteoporosis in this population. Therefore, CKD patients are predisposed to fractures, adding a substantial burden to their overall health.

The risk of fractures in CKD is multifactorial, with factors such as mineral and bone disorders, impaired renal function, and comorbid conditions playing pivotal roles. Mineral imbalances, including disturbances in calcium and phosphorus metabolism, can compromise bone strength and integrity. SHPT, commonly observed in CKD, further exacerbates bone fragility. Additionally, the use of certain medications in the management of CKD, such as glucocorticoids, can contribute to bone loss and increase the susceptibility to fractures.³³⁻³⁵ The consequences of fractures in CKD extend beyond the immediate physical impact, often leading to reduced mobility, impaired quality of life, and increased mortality risk.

Secondary Hyperparathyroidism

The most common radiologically diagnosed musculoskeletal disorders in the review was SHPT. The prevalence of SHPT in CKD is well-documented, with estimates ranging from 20% to 80%,³⁶ depending on the severity of the chronic kidney disease. SHPT emerges as a significant complication in the context of CKD, marked by high levels of blood parathyroid hormone (PTH). The development of SHPT in CKD is a result of abnormalities in various biochemical parameters, including elevated serum phosphorus and fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23), alongside reduced levels of serum calcium and vitamin D.³⁵

SHPT emerges as the most prevalent diagnosis of musculoskeletal diagnosis detected radiologically.^{11,16,33,34} Research indicates that anomalous radiographic indicators of SHPT escalate with the duration of dialysis. Common manifestations include sub-periosteal resorption of terminal phalanges, osteosclerosis (notably "rugger-jersey spine"), and the occurrence of brown tumors.^{11,16,33,34}

Tendinopathies

Achilles Tendinopathy was also identified in the systematic review. Tendon tenderness and tendon ruptured have been reported in the literature among ESRD patients. The most common is Achilles tendon tenderness on palpations with prevalence varies between 11.9% to 44%.³⁷⁻³⁸ Achilles tendinopathy was the most frequent condition detected MSUS followed by quadriceps and patellar tendinopathies.¹¹ The ultrasonographic abnormalities findings in Achilles tendinopathy include tendon thickness (>6mm), followed by reduction in echogenicity and the presence of calcified areas.^{11,16} For quadriceps tendinopathy, the most prevalent abnormalities on MSUS were reduced echogenicity, followed by tendon thickness (>6 mm), and the presence of calcified areas.^{11,37,39}

Renal Amyloidosis and Carpal Tunnel Syndrome

Dialysis-related amyloidosis (DRA) is a known dialysis complication with musculoskeletal involvement. In musculoskeletal DRA, there is a chronic accumulation of B2microglobulin in the bone, muscle, periarticular cartilage, ligament and synovium. B2-microglobulin is a middle molecule of uremic toxins excreted in the urine. However, anuric patients on dialysis have a marked accumulation of these middle molecules due to poor removal during dialysis. The typical presentation is carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS), scapula-humeral peri-arthritis, tenosynovitis and bone cysts. Patients typically complain of numbness over the median nerve distribution and shoulder pain.⁴⁰ Jokar et al. reported a CTS prevalence of 24.3% in the haemodialysis population.¹²

Knowledge gaps and Limitations

In recent years, musculoskeletal disorders research in the context of CKD, including ESKD, has gained momentum, shedding light on the complex interplay between renal dysfunction and skeletal health. Despite the growing body of literature, notable gaps and limitations still exist, which warrant further investigation to comprehensively understand and effectively address the musculoskeletal challenges faced by individuals with ESKD.

A key area with a paucity of qualitative research is the realm of novel therapeutic interventions explicitly tailored for musculoskeletal disorders in ESKD. While there has been progress in elucidating the mechanisms underlying bone and muscle abnormalities in ESKD, innovative and targeted interventions to mitigate these issues remain limited. Another gap is the dearth of qualitative studies examining cuttingedge therapy interventions specifically designed for musculoskeletal issues in the ESKD population. This knowledge gap of efficient and focused interventions to address the complex musculoskeletal problems presented by ESKD patients remains because the majority of the published research concentrates on prevalence rates and related characteristics.

Additionally, the long-term outcomes of management strategies for musculoskeletal disorders in ESKD remain relatively under explored. Many existing studies tend to focus on short-term interventions and outcomes, leaving a gap in our understanding of the durability and sustainability of the implemented management approaches. Investigating the extended effects of interventions, and assessing their impact on long-term bone density, muscle function, and overall quality of life, could provide valuable insights into optimising treatment plans and refining therapeutic strategies for individuals living with ESKD-related musculoskeletal issues.

Furthermore, there is a knowledge gap about the implementation of management practices that are durable and sustainable because the majority of the research concentrates on short-term interventions and instant results.

Future Research Directions

An avenue with high potential for exploration is research tailored to specific patient subgroups within the ESKD population. The impact of musculoskeletal disorders can vary according to age, co-morbidities, and dialysis modality. Therefore, targeted investigations into how these factors interact with the musculoskeletal health of ESKD patients could unveil tailored intervention approaches. By accounting for these nuances, researchers can develop more precise and effective strategies to improve the quality of life for subgroups that might be disproportionately affected by musculoskeletal challenges.

Future research projects should give top priority to the creation and assessment of treatments that go beyond conventional management techniques. To address musculoskeletal problems in ESKD, novel treatments like pharmacological drugs, physical therapy, or regenerative strategies must be investigated in order to offer complete and customised solutions. Examining the effectiveness, safety,

and patient compliance with these therapies may expand the range of treatments that are accessible and have a major influence on the quality of life for people with musculoskeletal issues associated with ESKD.

Moreover, future research endeavours ought to give precedence to longitudinal studies that monitor the prolonged impacts of therapies, evaluating their influence on the long-term quality of life, muscular function, and bone density of persons suffering from ESKD. This long-term methodology would offer significant insights into improving therapy approaches and treatment programmes for longterm gains in musculoskeletal health.

Lastly, studies that focus on particular patients' subgroups within the ESKD population are required. Musculoskeletal diseases can have different effects depending on age, gender, dialysis mode, and co-morbidities. Exact research on the interactions between these variables and musculoskeletal health in people with ESKD may provide specific management strategies. Researchers can create more targeted and effective interventions to enhance the quality of life for populations that may be disproportionately impacted by musculoskeletal issues by taking these subtleties into account. This method guarantees that interventions take into account the various demands of the ESKD population in addition to being effective.

CONCLUSION

Musculoskeletal disorders pose a substantial burden on CKD patients, exhibiting varied prevalence rates and associated symptoms across different stages of the condition. This systematic review aims to consolidate existing knowledge regarding musculoskeletal disorders in CKD patients, pinpoint gaps and limitations in current literature, and propose promising directions for future research. By addressing these gaps and exploring avenues such as innovative interventions, evaluating long-term outcomes, and adopting subgroup-specific approaches, the research community can enhance comprehension, management, and ultimately, the quality of life for individuals navigating the complex interplay of musculoskeletal health and CKD.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kovesdy CP. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease: an update 2022. Kidney Int Suppl (2011) 2022; 12(1): 7-11.
- Jager KJ, Kovesdy C, Langham R, Rosenberg M, Jha V, Zoccali C. A single number for advocacy and communication-worldwide more than 850 million individuals have kidney diseases. Kidney Int 2019; 96: 1048-1050.
- 3. Saran R, Robinson B, Abbott KC, Agodoa LYC, Bragg-Gresham J, Balkrishnan R, et al. US Renal Data System 2019 annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis 2020; 75: A6-A7.
- 4. Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet 2020; 396(10258): 1204-22.
- Rhee CM, Kovesdy CP. Epidemiology: spotlight on CKD deathsincreasing mortality worldwide. Nat Rev Nephrol 2015; 11: 199-200.

- Blyth FM, March LM, Brnabic AJ, Jorm LR, Williamson M, Cousins MJ. Chronic pain in Australia: a prevalence study. Pain 2001; 89: 127-34.
- 7. Gran JT. The epidemiology of chronic generalized musculoskeletal pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2003; 17: 547-61.
- Cimmino MA, Ferrone C, Cutolo M. Epidemiology of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2011; 25: 173-83.
- 9. Davison SN. Pain in hemodialysis patients: prevalence, cause, severity, and management. Am J Kidney Dis 2003; 42: 1239-47
- Jokar M, Adle F. Musculoskeletal system involvement in hemodialysis patients. Rheumatol Res 2016; 1(01): 23-26.
- 11. Hsu HJ, Wu IW, Hsu KH, Sun CY, Hung MJ, Chen CY, et al. The association between chronic musculoskeletal pain and clinical outcome in chronic kidney disease patients: a prospective cohort study. Ren Fail 2019; 41(1): 257-66.
- El-Najjar AR, Amar HA, El wahab Selim HA, El sherbiny EM, Ibrahem M, Fouad M. Musculoskeletal disorders in hemodialysis patients and its impact on physical function (Zagazig University Nephrology Unit, Egypt). Egypt Rheumatol Rehabil 2014; 41: 152-159.
- 13. Lambourg E, Colvin L, Guthrie G, Murugan K, Lim M, Walker H, et al. The prevalence of pain among patients with chronic kidney disease using systematic review and meta-analysis. Kidney Int 2021; 100(3): 636-49.
- 14. Ezzat S, Tharwat S, Abdelsalam S, Eltoraby EE. Musculoskeletal Symptoms in Hemodialysis Patients and their Effect on Health-Related Quality of Life. Blood Purif 2020; 49(3): 289-94.
- Fidan F, Alkan BM, Tosun A, Altunoğlu A, Ardıçoğlu Ö. Quality of life and correlation with musculoskeletal problems, hand disability and depression in patients with hemodialysis. Int J Rheum Dis 2016; 19(2): 159-66.
- Caravaca F, Gonzales B, Bayo MÁ, Luna E. Musculoskeletal pain in patients with chronic kidney disease. Nefrologia 2016; 36(4): 433-40.
- Haroon M, Sayed S, Al-Ghitany A, Ezzat H, Gheita TA. Rheumatic and musculoskeletal manifestations in renal hemodialysis patients. Int J Clin Rheumatol 2018; 13.
- Moe S, Drüeke T, Cunningham J, Goodman W, Martin K, Olgaard K, et al. Definition, evaluation, and classification of renal osteodystrophy: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Kidney Int 2006; 69(11): 1945-53.
- 19. Martin KJ, González EA. Metabolic bone disease in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 2007; 18: 875-85.
- 20. Levey AS, Eckardt KU, Tsukamoto Y, Levin A, Coresh J, Rossert J, et al. Definition and classification of chronic kidney disease: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Kidney Int 2005; 67(6): 2089-100.
- Gamondi C, Galli N, Schönholzer C, Marone C, Zwahlen H, Gabutti L, et al. Frequency and severity of pain and symptom distress among patients with chronic kidney disease receiving dialysis. Swiss Med Wkly 2013; 143: w13750.
- 22. Murtagh FE, Addington-Hall JM, Edmonds PM, Donohoe P, Carey I, Jenkins K, et al. Symptoms in advanced renal disease: a crosssectional survey of symptom prevalence in stage 5 chronic kidney disease managed without dialysis. J Palliat Med 2007; 10: 1266-76.

- 23. Murphy EL, Murtagh FE, Carey I, Sheerin NS. Understanding symptoms in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease managed without dialysis: use of a short patient-completed assessment tool. Nephron Clin Pract 2009; 111: c74–80.
- 24. Santoro D, Satta E, Messina S, Costantino G, Savica V, Bellinghieri G. Pain in end-stage renal disease: a frequent and neglected clinical problem. Clin Nephrol. 2013;79 suppl 1: S2-11.
- 25. Sulkova S, Fortova M, Valek M, Svara F: [Renal bone disease]. Vnitr Lek 2003; 49(5): 403-8.
- 26. Neogi T The epidemiology and impact of pain in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2013; 21(9): 1145-115.
- 27. Duncan IJ, Hurst NP, Sebben R, Milazzo SC, Disney A. Premature development of erosive osteoarthritis of hands in patients with chronic renal failure. Ann Rheum Dis 1990; 49 :378-82.
- 28. Dember LM, Jaber BL. Dialysis-related amyloidosis: late finding or hidden epidemic? Semin Dial 2006; 19(2): 105-9.
- Lim LM, Kuo HT, Kuo MC, Chiu YW, Lee JJ, Hwang SJ, et al. Low serum calcium is associated with poor renal outcomes in chronic kidney disease stages 3-4 patients. BMC Nephrol 2014;15(1):183.
- Hruska KA, Teitelbaum SL. Renal osteodystrophy. N Engl J Med 1995; 333: 166-74.
- Murphey MD, Sartoris DJ, Quale JL, Pathria MN, Martin NL. Musculoskeletal manifestations of chronic renal insufficiency. Radiographics 1993; 13: 357-79.
- Lacativa PG, Franco FM, Pimentel JR, Patrício Filho PJ, Gonçalves MD, Farias ML. Prevalence of radiological findings among cases of severe secondary hyperparathyroi- dism. Sao Paulo Med J 2009; 127: 71-7.
- Morein G, Goldschmidt Z, Pauker M, Seelenfreund M, Rosenfeld JB, Fried A, et al. Spontaneous tendon ruptures in patients treated by chronic hemodialysis. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1977; 124: 209-13.
- 34. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD-MBD Update Work Group. KDIGO 2017 Clinical Practice Guideline Update for the Diagnosis, Evaluation, Prevention, and Treatment of Chronic Kidney Disease–Mineral and Bone Disorder (CKD-MBD). Kidney Int Suppl. 2017; 7: 1-59.
- Cunningham J, Locatelli F, Rodriguez M. Secondary hyperparathyroidism: pathogenesis, disease progression, and therapeutic options. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011 Apr;6(4):913-21. doi: 10.2215/CJN.06040710. Epub 2011 Mar 31. PMID: 21454719.
- 36. Drücke TB. Cell biology of parathyroid gland hyperplasia in chronic renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2000; 11(6): 1141-52.
- Murphey MD, Sartoris DJ, Quale JL, Pathria MN, Martin NL. Musculoskeletal manifestations of chronic renal insufficiency. Radiographics 1993; 13: 357-79.
- Abdelomnem SM, Egila SE, Fawzy RM, Mohamed MA, Abdelkader NA. Assessment of tendon involvement in chronic hemodialysis patients: an ultrasonographic study. Egypt Rheumatol Rehabil 2019; 46(3): 154-61.
- Teber MA, Oğur T, Bozkurt A, Er B, Turan A, Gülbay M, et al. Real-time sonoelastography of the quadriceps tendon in patients under- going chronic hemodialysis. J Ultrasound Med 2015; 34: 671-7.
- Dember LM, Jaber BL. Dialysis-related amyloidosis: late finding or hidden epidemic? Semin Dial 2006; 19(2): 105-9.

Recommendations for enhancing research outcomes and the efficacy of transcranial direct current stimulation in post-stroke motor rehabilitation for local settings

Sim Sze Kiat, MS

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Malaysia Sarawak, Kota Samarahan, Sarawak

ABSTRACT

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) has emerged as a potential adjunct therapy for post-stroke motor rehabilitation. While conventional rehabilitation methods remain the primary approach to improving motor function after stroke, many patients experience incomplete recovery, necessitating the exploration of additional interventions. This commentary article examines the role of tDCS in poststroke motor recovery, focusing on its mechanisms, efficacy, and limitations. Herein, the variability in research findings and individual patient responses as well as the recommended methods for optimising tDCS use in local clinical settings are highlighted.

KEYWORDS:

Transcranial direct current stimulation, non-invasive brain stimulation

INTRODUCTION

Post-stroke motor impairment is a common consequence of ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke, affecting millions of people worldwide. Motor deficits, including weakness, spasticity, and impaired coordination, lead to significant disability and reduced quality of life.¹ Conventional rehabilitation, which aims to mitigate these deficits, primarily involves physical (PT) and occupational therapy (OT). However, despite prolonged rehabilitation, many stroke survivors experience limited functional recovery, necessitating adjunctive therapies.

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is an emerging non-invasive brain stimulation technique that has demonstrated the potential to enhance neuroplasticity and motor recovery in stroke patients.² While early research suggests promising outcomes, challenges such as individual variability and inconsistent findings continue to hinder its widespread application.

In Malaysia, the adoption of tDCS as an adjunctive therapy for post-stroke motor recovery as well as the availability of local research on this technique remain limited. To the best of the author's knowledge, this service is currently available in only a few teaching hospitals, private hospitals, and one government rehabilitation centre. However, there is no information regarding its use in Ministry of Health hospitals. To date, only one case series and a technical report from the Ministry of Health have been published, and only one tDCS model for research purposes is registered with the Malaysia Medical Device Authority. This limited adoption and research base highlight the need for greater awareness, resources, and local studies to explore the potential of tDCS in improving stroke rehabilitation outcomes in Malaysia.

ROLES OF tDCS

tDCS is a cost-effective, portable, and user-friendly alternative to transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), enhancing its accessibility for clinical applications. It is generally welltolerated, with minimal reported side effects. Notably, no seizures associated with tDCS have been documented in the literature to date.

tDCS delivers low-intensity electrical currents via electrodes placed on the scalp, thereby modulating cortical excitability.² By altering neuronal excitability, this procedure promotes neuroplasticity and potentially enhances the brain's capacity for motor learning and recovery.^{2,3} Depending on electrode placement and current polarity, tDCS can either increase or decrease the excitability of targeted brain regions, facilitating long-term potentiation (LTP) or depression (LTD), both of which are critical in neuroplasticity.⁴

In post-stroke motor rehabilitation, tDCS typically targets the motor and premotor cortices, aiming to stimulate the areas involved in motor function. Several studies have demonstrated that tDCS can aid in motor recovery by improving the brain's ability to reorganise and form new neural connections, leading to positive outcomes in upper limb mobility, gait, balance, and spasticity.^{1,2,4,7} Notably, combining this procedure with task-specific motor activity has been shown to amplify its effects.^{5,6} For instance, tDCS combined with PT or OT often results in more significant improvements in motor function than when either therapy is used alone.

CHALLENGES

Despite these encouraging findings, several challenges limit the widespread adoption of tDCS in post-stroke motor rehabilitation in Malaysia. Specifically, these challenges can be divided into general and local settings.

This article was accepted: 26 December 2024 Corresponding Author: Sim Sze Kiat Email: sksim@unimas.my

i) Technological and Methodological Gaps

The main challenge faced by most healthcare professionals using tDCS is the inconsistency in research results regarding the overall efficacy of tDCS.⁸ While some studies demonstrated substantial benefits, others reported little to no improvement in patient outcomes. This inconsistency can be attributed to diverse biological and patient factors. Biological differences among patients, such as variations in cortical pyramidal cell orientations and their cortical layers,⁹ as well as synaptic neurotransmitter concentrations,³ could impact how tDCS affects neuroplasticity. Patient heterogeneity, such as differences in stroke location, severity, and time since onset, further complicates the predictability of outcomes.

Procedural differences can also exacerbate these inconsistencies. Variations in study design, such as differences in electrode placement, stimulation intensity, and session duration, can result in variable outcomes. These factors make it difficult to standardise protocols and draw definitive conclusions regarding the effectiveness of tDCS across different patient populations.

Compared to TMS, tDCS offers less spatial and temporal precision, which limits its ability to target specific brain regions with high accuracy. The effects of tDCS are typically more subtle and often require multiple sessions to achieve clinically significant outcomes. To address these limitations, advanced navigation tools such as high-definition tDCS (HD-tDCS) have been developed. HD-tDCS allows for the precise delivery of direct currents to both cortical and deeper brain structures, improving the accuracy and effectiveness of stimulation. Despite its potential advantages, the adoption of HD-tDCS in Malaysia remains limited, primarily due to the substantial costs associated with the technology. As a result, alternative approaches, such as using neuroimaging to enhance the precision of electrode placement, are often favoured.

ii) Limited Availability of tDCS Services in Local Settings

The availability of tDCS services across Malaysia remains limited, particularly within public healthcare facilities. Noninvasive brain stimulation techniques, including tDCS, have yet to gain widespread recognition as a standard component of stroke management. This lack of integration into neurorehabilitation programmes restricts access for many patients who might benefit from its application. The scarcity of accessible tDCS services poses a significant challenge, hindering the delivery of comprehensive neurorehabilitation and limiting opportunities for recovery in post-stroke patients.

iii) Trained Personnel for Administering tDCS

A significant challenge in the utilisation of tDCS is the shortage of healthcare providers adequately trained in its administration. Inadequate training can result in improper application, leading to suboptimal patient outcomes or potential adverse effects, thereby compromising patient safety and undermining confidence in tDCS as a therapeutic option. Furthermore, the effective use of tDCS requires the careful selection of suitable candidates, a process that demands thorough assessments by experienced specialists in the field of neuroscience and brain stimulation techniques. These challenges highlight the need for structured training programs and credentialing systems to ensure that healthcare providers are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to safely and effectively deliver tDCS. Strengthening professional competence in this area is essential for maximizing the therapeutic potential of tDCS while maintaining high patient care standards.

iv) Lack of Local Research and Publications

The scarcity of locally conducted research and publications on tDCS in Malaysia presents a significant barrier to its utilisation in clinical practice. This gap limits the development of evidence-based approaches tailored to the specific needs and characteristics of the local population and makes it challenging to effectively advocate for the adoption of tDCS in healthcare settings. Moreover, the lack of comprehensive studies on cost-effectiveness, long-term outcomes, and safety further impedes its widespread implementation. Addressing this issue requires prioritizing local research initiatives and fostering collaborations among clinicians, researchers, and academic institutions to build a stronger evidence base for tDCS within Malaysia's healthcare system.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Several strategies can be implemented to address these challenges and improve research outcomes and the efficacy of tDCS in post-stroke motor rehabilitation in Malaysia.

i) Patient-Specific Assessment and Protocol

a) Individualised Assessment: Given the biological variability among patients, a thorough evaluation of neuronal damage after stroke is crucial. In the absence of advanced navigation tools in our local clinical and research settings, a strong foundation in neuroanatomy and the interpretation of neuroimaging, such as computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), becomes indispensable placement. electrode Pre-stimulation for precise neuroimaging, combined with comprehensive clinical assessment, should be employed to determine the location and extent of lesions. A deep understanding of neuroanatomy and motor representation, particularly the homunculus, is invaluable in guiding electrode positioning and optimising targeted stimulation, thereby enhancing the likelihood of a favourable response. Moving away from a single standardized, one-size-fits-all approach, such as universally stimulating the contralateral C3 and C4 regions for motor weakness irrespective of the severity of neuronal damage, is essential for achieving better outcomes.

b) Patient-Specific Protocols: Tailoring tDCS protocols to individual patients is vital. Factors, such as stroke severity, time since onset, and specific motor impairments, should be considered when designing treatment plans. Standardised scales, such as the Medical Research Council (MRC) scale for motor strength, the Fugl-Meyer Assessment for motor function, and the Modified Ashworth Scale for spasticity, should be used to document patient progress and employ appropriate treatment adjustments. Accurate documentation of patient characteristics and treatment protocols, including the device used, is also essential for facilitating comparisons between institutions and improving research outcomes.

ii) Combining tDCS with Conventional Therapy

The combination of tDCS with PT or OT can significantly enhance the efficacy of the procedure. Research suggests that the synergistic effect of pairing brain stimulation with active motor tasks amplifies neuroplasticity, facilitating greater functional recovery.^{5,6} Studies have demonstrated that administering tDCS during rehabilitation exercises ('online') or immediately afterward ('offline') optimises recovery outcomes by targeting the brain's heightened responsiveness to therapy during these periods.

iii) Enhance Training and Skill Development

The development and implementation of comprehensive training programs and certifications for healthcare providers, including both medical practitioners and paramedics, are fundamental to expanding the use of tDCS in clinical and research settings. These programs should focus on equipping participants with the theoretical knowledge and practical skills necessary for safe and effective tDCS delivery. Continuous education initiatives, such as interactive workshops, online courses, and hands-on training sessions, are essential to keep providers updated on the latest advancements in tDCS technology, emerging applications, and evidence-based practices. Disseminating new findings and treatment protocols through these platforms will enhance providers' competency and confidence in applying tDCS. Furthermore, fostering international collaboration with global experts and leading institutions can bring advanced training modules and best practices to Malaysia. Such partnerships not only improve the quality of training but also enable knowledge exchange and exposure to innovative methodologies.

iv) Foster Research and Publications

Promoting collaboration among universities, clinical institutions, and international partners is essential to advancing tDCS research and addressing knowledge gaps. Priority research areas should include investigating factors that contribute to individual variability in treatment response, and developing refined, personalised treatment protocols that can be effectively implemented on a larger scale. Moreover, supporting academic publications and disseminating findings through peer-reviewed journals can strengthen evidence-based practices. Where resources allow, advanced imaging techniques, such as quantitative electroencephalography (QEEG) and diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) tractography, could be utilised to better identify the target areas for stimulation, thereby improving the accuracy and outcomes of tDCS interventions.

v) Expand Accessibility to tDCS Services

Expanding tDCS services in public healthcare institutions is essential to improve accessibility for patients. To further broaden the reach of these services, fostering public-private partnerships can play a pivotal role, enabling collaboration between sectors to enhance resource allocation and service delivery. Additionally, the establishment of a national multidisciplinary tDCS task force comprising clinicians and researchers could help address service gaps and define research priorities. Establishing clear referral guidelines to streamline interdisciplinary referrals for stroke patients to receive tDCS treatment will further promote its clinical adoption. Such measures are key to improving accessibility, awareness, and the effective use of tDCS, ultimately enhancing outcomes in post-stroke motor recovery.

CONCLUSION

tDCS represents a promising adjunctive therapy for poststroke motor rehabilitation that potentially enhances motor recovery through neuroplasticity. However, challenges related to inconsistent research findings, individual variability, and limited accessibility must be addressed. By individualised treatment implementing protocols, integrating tDCS with conventional therapies, and fostering greater awareness and training among healthcare professionals, this technique can be effectively incorporated into stroke rehabilitation programs. Continued research and collaboration are essential to optimise its use and provide additional treatment options for functionally impaired stroke survivors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to acknowledge Universiti Malaysia Sarawak for the support provided in facilitating this publication.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dong K, Meng S, Guo Z, Zhang R, Xu P, Yuan E, et al. The effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on balance and gait in stroke patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Neurol 2021; 12: 650925.
- Bao SC, Khan A, Song R, Kai-Yu Tong R. Rewiring the lesioned brain: Electrical stimulation for post-stroke motor restoration. J Stroke 2020; 22(1): 47-63.
- 3. Barbati SA, Podda MV, Grassi C. Tuning brain networks: The emerging role of transcranial direct current stimulation on structural plasticity. Front Cell Neurosci. 2022; 16: 945777.
- Agboada D, Mosayebi-Samani M, Kuo MF, Nitsche MA. Induction of long-term potentiation-like plasticity in the primary motor cortex with repeated anodal transcranial direct current stimulation - Better effects with intensified protocols? Brain Stimul 2020; 13(4): 987-97.
- Wong PL, Yang YR, Tang SC, Huang SF, Wang RY. Comparing different montages of transcranial direct current stimulation on dual-task walking and cortical activity in chronic stroke: doubleblinded randomised controlled trial. BMC Neurol. 2022; 22(1): 119.
- 6. Kashoo FZ, Al-Baradie RS, Alzahrani M, Alanazi A, Manzar MD, Gugnani A, et al. Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation augmented with motor imagery and upper-limb functional training for upper-limb stroke rehabilitation: A prospective randomized controlled trial. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022; 19(22): 15199.
- Wang X, Ge L, Hu H, Yan L, Li L. Effects of noninvasive brain stimulation on post-stroke spasticity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Brain Sci. 2022; 12(7): 836.
- Feng W, Kautz SA, Schlaug G, Meinzer C, George MS, Chhatbar PY. Transcranial direct current stimulation for post-stroke motor recovery: challenges and opportunities. PM R. 2018; 10(9 Suppl 2): S157-S164.
- Sánchez-León CA, Campos GS, Fernández M, Sánchez-López A, Medina JF, Márquez-Ruiz J. Somatodendritic orientation determines tDCS-induced neuromodulation of Purkinje cell activity in awake mice. bioRxiv [Preprint]. 2024; 2023.02.18.529047.
- 10. Kim E, Lee G, Lee J, Kim YH. Simultaneous high-definition transcranial direct current stimulation and robot-assisted gait training in stroke patients. Sci Rep. 2024; 14(1): 4483.

Acknowledgement January Issue 2025

The Editorial Board of The Medical Journal of Malaysia gratefully acknowledge the following individuals for reviewing the papers submitted for publication:

- Dr Aiman-Mardhiyyah Mohd Yazid 1.
- 2. Dr Ain-Nasyrah Ahmad Sukari
- A/Prof Dr AKM Monwarul Islam 3.
- Datin Dr Asmah Johar 4.
- 5. Dr Azlan Helmy Abd Samat
- 6. Dr Badrul Hisham Abd Samad
- Dr Feroze Raghuman 7.
- 8. Dr Haris Abdul Rahman
- 9. Dr Hock Hin Chua
- 10. Dr Jeffery Stephen
- 11. Dr Kavita Jetly
- Dr Mahayuddin Abdul Manap
 Dr Mohamad Iqhbal Kunji Mohamad
- 14. Dr Mohd Aizuddin Abd Rahman
- 15. Dr Mohd Azmi Bin Suliman
- Dr Mohd Shukri Bin Mohd Aris
 Dr Muhammad Safwan
- 18. Dr Myat Moe Thwe Aung
- Dr Nadiah Abd Razak
 Dr Navin Kumar Devaraj
- 21. Dr Nur Amani @ Natasha Ahmad Tajuddin
- 22. Dr Quan Hziung Lim
- 23. A/Prof Dr Sanihah Abdul Hakim24. Prof Dr Shatriah Ismail
- 25. Dr Sheikh Salahuddin Ahmed
- 26. Dr Sherly Deborah George27. Dr Siti Husna Hussein
- 28. Dr Siti Soraya Ab Rahman
- 29. Dr Teng Cheong Lieng
 30. Dr Victor Siang Hua Chan
- 31. Dr Wai Mun Chung
- A/Prof Dr Wan Mohd Zahiruddin Wan Mohammad
 Prof Datin Dr Zunaina Embong